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To
Amma and Aghaji

Sukoon-e-dil ke liye kuch to ehtemaam karoon
Zara nazar jo miley phir unhein salaam karoon

Mujhe to hosh nahin aap mashwara dijiyey
Kahan se chedoon fasana kahan tamaam karoon
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FOREWORD

IT IS WITH FEELINGSOF EXCITEMENT AND JOY THAT I PEN THIS forewordto my husbandÕs autobiography,
narratedby him, after yearsof persuasionby me, to my closefriend UdayataraNayar. It hasalways
beenanarduoustaskto prevailuponhim to talk abouthimself,his life andhis achievements.I under-
standit is neitherpropernor right for meto extol thevirtuesof thebookyou areholdingin your hands
althoughI amtemptedto doso,theprimaryreasonbeingmy widely knownadmirationfor my husband
andtheardentpridewith which I havealwayshungon to everywordhehasutteredto meor to anyone
in my presenceoverthedecadeswehavespenttogetherasacouple.Suchis themagicof hiscommand
over words and language, be it English or Urdu, and I have no doubt I am not alone when I say this.

When a shy 22-year-old son of a Pathanfruit merchantwas selectedby the diva of Indian cinema,
DevikaRani,to starin herBombayTalkiesÕproductionJwarBhata(releasedin 1944),it led to asmall
change of name for the young man. Yousuf Khan became Dilip Kumar.

It wasthebeginningof thearrival of a newlegendin IndiancinemaandHindi cinemaÕs first defin-
itive actorwasborn.Dilip Kumaralmostsingle-handedlyredefinedhistrionicsin onescreenportrayal
afteranotherÐfrom Shaheed(1948),Andaz(1949),Devdas(1955),NayaDaur (1957),GungaJumna
(1961) to Azaad(1955),Kohinoor (1960) and Mughal-e-Azam(1960) Ð and from RamAur Shyam
(1967),Gopi(1970),Kranti (1981)to Shakti(1982),Mashaal(1984)andSaudagar(1991).Dilip Sahab
has,in his illustriouscareer, refinedactingto anart form of exaltedbrilliance.Down thedecadesevery
actorof calibrehasheldhim in high respectasthe referencepoint in acting.He went to no schoolof
actingbut createdhis own methodof emotinglong beforeÔmethodactingÕcameto beknownin India
or abroad.

Fromthewolf-whistling frontbencherto themostseriouscritic of cinema,Dilip SahabÕsvariedrangeof
histrionicshasarousedspontaneousadmirationwhile hehasbeenconsideredtheepitomeof fine acting
for generationsof actorswho lookedup to him for inspiration.His understatedeleganceand,Mashal-
lah, voice modulation have become role models for all of us actors over the years.

Few amonghis countlessfollowers know that Dilip Sahabhas always beena voraciousreader.
Whetherit is novels,playsor biographies,his love of classicliteraturehasbeenforemost.Theclassics
of Urdu, PersianandEnglishliteratureadornthe bookshelvesof our home.WhenheÕs donewith the
library bookshelves,we haveto be readyto offer him a pick of the thousandsof bookstuckedaway
carefully in our hugestorerooms.Down theyearsandall throughthe lifetime I havespentwith him,
thereadinglampthatburnsbright by his armchairhasshonethroughthedarkhoursof thenight to the
weehoursof theearlymorning.Be it athomein Mumbai,* or a remotedaakbungalowin Dachigamin
JammuandKashmir, whereit would beno surpriseto find a hairy bearfrom thewildernesssnoozing
on our verandah,or in Kulu-Manali (in HimachalPradesh),in Switzerlandor in anypartof theworld,
whenhe reads,he is like a child engrossedin his favouritegame,unwilling to put it awayuntil time
andagainI pleadwith him to rest.If not thebiographiesor classicsor masterplot playsby greatwriters
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suchasEugeneOÕNeill,JosephConrad,FyodorDostoyevskyandTennesseeWilliams, he is sureto
be engrossed in the writing of a script or a scene that waits to be picturized the next day morning.

Reading a script.

He took up onefilm at a time andthatwashis absolutecommitmentandfocus.I rememberoncehe
waswriting anddiscussingsceneswith producer-directorSubhashGhai in the freezingcold weather
of Kulu till very lateinto thenightduringtheoutdoorshootingof Saudagarand,afterhesentSubhash
awayto rest in his room, he continuedto examinethe scenepassionately. At about4:30 a.m.Dilip
Sahabhadabright ideaandhedid nothesitateto wakeupSubhashfrom his slumberto exchangethis
newbrainwave!Thenbothof themwerelike busybeesworking on thescenesuntil theywerehappy
with whattheyfinalizedand,mind you, theydiligently startedthemorningoutdoorschedulebangon
time!

With the completionof his autobiographymy happinessis asthougha dreamhascometrue.The
first sectionof this volume,setagainstvarying backdrops,will makeyou part of his journey from
theruggedmountain-hemmedNorth WestFrontierProvincein British India to hilly Deolali in Nasik
district of Maharashtrato glamorousBombay to traditional Madrasto sophisticatedLondon. The
poignantaswell themirthful experienceshenarrateswill give you an insight into themakingof the
legendcalledDilip Kumarwho,asthetitle symbolizes,is theshadowwhile thesubstanceis asimple,
child-like, trusting and genial man called Yousuf Khan.

Indeed,what I canandwould love to sharein this unconventionalforewordarethe unseenandun-
knownfacetsof themanandactorI havebeenlucky enoughto knowandlovedeeplyfrom theageof
twelve when I first set eyes on him.

I want theworld that is full of his admirersto beacquainted,throughincidentsandepisodesin the
book, with Dilip SahabÕs innate simplicity, straightforwardness and immeasurable goodness of heart.

I startedmy life asanadmiringfan, andfortunateamI to marryhim andseethedifferentaspects
andqualitiesof this greathumanbeingwho wasnot like anyof thepeopleI hadmet andspokento
duringmy extensivetravellingalmostall overtheworld with my motherNaseemBanuji from theage
of seven onwards. Such a man as Dilip Kumar Sahab, I would say, walks rarely on this earth.



We are all awareof his brilliance as an actor and an intellectual but, his personatranscends
everythingÐlands,religionsandcastes.His is theunspoilt,innocent,untaintedsmileof ababein arms
Ðhis eyeshavethepurity andhonestyof crystal-clearrunningwaterin a brook.His sternrefusalto
seethenegativeside(flip side)of anyone,or anysituation,hasalwaysworriedmeasalsohis prefer-
enceto turn a blind eyeto theflaws in peoplehechoosesto like andtrust.He would ratherfocuson
thepositivequalitiesandpluspointsin peopleandtideoverthenegativesidebecauseheis convinced
thathehasyet to seea faultless,infallible andperfecthumanbeing.Frommy very first meetingwith
him asashygirl, I knewhewasdifferentandsuperiorto othermen.Hehadthatauraof greatnessand
class,which madehim standout in a gatheringanywhere,be it at homein a family get-togetheror a
grand celebrity-filled film event or amidst royalty and people of high lineage in a royal palace.

His secularbeliefsspringstraightfrom his heartandfrom his respectfor all religions,castes,com-
munities and creeds.

For instance,a group of amazingJain communitychildren who fast sometimesfor thirty days
(knownasMaaskhaman)or sometimesfor eightdays(knownasAtthai) oncewantedhim to beamidst
themandtastethedropsof sugarcanejuice with which theybroketheir holy fasts(in 1980whenhe
wasthesheriff of Bombay)to markthecloseof theirmagnificentabstinencefrom food.Hegladlyob-
liged.His knowledgeof thecontentsof theHoly Quranandhis recitationof theversesretainedinde-
libly in memoryfrom childhoodareno lessbrilliant thanhis knowledgeandrecitationof theSanskrit
versesin theBhagvadGita.ManyhavebeenthetimeswhenhehasamazedUdayatarawith quotations
from theBhagvadGitaanddrawnparallelswith thewordsof wisdomin theHoly QuranandtheBible
during their informal conversationswhile recordinghis narrationof the story of his life. He enjoys
celebratingDeepawaliwith firecrackersandrows of lampslit at our homeby NarmadaGawde,our
Maharashtriancook of forty-odd years,asmuchashe enjoysthe celebrationof Eid with his family
andclosefriendsatourhouse.His azaan(call to prayer)is themostcaptivating,welcominglilt to bow
downto theAlmighty aswe all scrambleto our prayermatshappilyto praytogetherat thecommand
of Allah.

WhenheÔsingsÕa bhajan(asin the1970film Gopi: Sukhkesabhsaathi,dukhmeinna koi, mere
Ram,tera naamÉ), * no Hindu canbelievethat Dilip Kumar is a Muslim or that it is YousufKhan
who is ÔsingingÕthisbhajanwith suchshraddha(reverence)andbhakti(devotion).For instance,there
is afamouspaanwalain Lucknowwhoseshopis coveredandadornedwith Dilip SahabÕsphotographs.
He is not prepared to believe that Dilip Sahab is not a Hindu.

Amongmy husbandÕs closestfriendsareParsisandit is a treatto hearhim speakParsiGujaratithe
way only Parsiscanspeak.Needlessto say, hehaseversomanySardar(Sikh) friends,someof them
havingclosefriendshipswith him from hisKhalsaCollegedays.To saythatheis acitizenof theworld
is certainly no tall claim.
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Imitating Saira.

I wantpeoplealsoto know thatDilip Sahabis a manfull of joie devivre (the joy of living). He is as
mischievousasa child prankster. WhenI stoppedmy work in films andtook overthemanagementof
the house,sometimeafter marriage,my new avatarwasreplicatedhilariously by Dilip Sahaba few
timeshavingmeandmy motherin splits.Hewouldperchapairof spectaclesonhishead,a telephone
diarypressedunderhisarms,andcarryadressoutfit precariouslyfor showingto thetailor in onehand
while keepingonehalf of hispyjamadrawnhighonhis leg(muchlike me)andhewouldromparound
absentmindedly in the house impersonating me. It was a sight.

Anotherhilariousandperfectcopywashis granddepictionof thedancingqueenHelenjiÕs* famous
cabaretitem.It hadto beseento bebelieved!His imitationof theMonica,O mydarling** numberwas
mind-boggling!I wasamazed!Whata superbduplicationhedid of Helenji! He seductivelyprojected
his leg out of the slit of a towel andwith the battingof his thick eyelashesto give that come-hither
look, hepaidhisowntributeto Hindi cinemaÕsmostadorableseductress!I wish I hadfilmed it quietly
to show all of you what a good mimic he is.

Great prankster.

Similarly, heoncedid afantasticcopyof famousKathakdancerstarGopiKrishnafrom V. Shantara-
mjiÕsJhanakJhanakPayalBaaje(1955),depictingGopijiÕs famousbutdifficult steps.To addconvic-
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tion to thedanceperformanceDilip Sahabwould recitethenecessarytablaÔbolsÕ(words)exquisitely,
chantinganddoingchakkers(rounds)like aprofessionaldancer, his tousledmopof hairbouncingin a
frenzyall overhis foreheadandyoucouldnotmisshismischeviouseyesdartingto andfro. Werolled
overon thegroundwith laughter. OnceGopiji himselfwasa sportingwitnessto onesuchspectacle,
when he visited us with the renowned danseuse Sitara Devi.

For meto introducehis admirersto thecountlessÔqualitiesÕof Dilip Sahab,I will haveto write my
own book,narratingmy life experienceswith him over the (Mashallah)wonderfulfour decadesand
more I have been blessed by God to spend with him.

Dilip Kumar, whom theworld hailsasthegreatestactorof all time andis alsoa brilliant oratorand
intellectual,doesnot just play brainychessor bridge,but alsoplayslike a child with thefamily. He is
superbat thegameof dumbcharade,theadeptactorin him leadingusthrougha labyrinthof expres-
sionsto give uscluesto hit uponunlikely namesof films of yorelike PataalKe Neeche, ShinShinaki
Boobla Boo, Hatim TaiandShaque.

He hasalwayswantedto live life to the fullest, neverwanting to miss out on enjoyingany of the
splendoursof natureÕs beauty. He hatesto missa sunset.Earlier, he usedto love to stopat the local
bakerywherewe got freshlyhot roastedbreadthengot a slabof Ôlite-butterÕ,which we slappedonto
the breadanddrovemerrily, munchingalongMumbaiÕs Bandstand,straightinto the greatcrimson
sunset,watchingtheawesomebut humblingsight.Once,whenI wasworking a lot anddid not have
enoughtimeto myselfasI wentfrom my make-uproomwhenit wasdaytimeto thestagefloor for my
shotandthenemergedoutof thesetwhenit wasdarkoutside,Dilip Sahabstoppedmein my tracksin
my madrushto reportfrom onestudioto anotherandheaskedme:ÔSaira,tell me,whendid you last
see a sunset?Õ

He loveshissimplewhitecottonattire,but thesuaveandsophisticatedDilip Kumarloveshisbeau-
tiful collectionof shoes,suitsandtiestoo. I havelearntfrom him thefinestway of maintainingthese
items.Down theyears,I havelovedto mastertheart of going throughthevariousstepsto achievea
goodpolishfor theexquisiteDilip Kumarfootwear, which arethenlodgedin shoetreesandwrapped
in coversto keepoff anymoisture.His clothesarelined up andkeptcolour-wise:ÔWhiteis white and
off-white is off-whiteÕhe hasdriven into our heads.All this looking after of Dilip Sahabwasincul-
catedinto meby my motherandyou will readin thebookthathehasPyarelal,his specialdhobi, who
laundersbetterthanany internationalcleanerandwhom Sahabhasknown sincethe time they were
both young men.

Humility is what I havelearntfrom Dilip Sahab.If everI wasin a mild disagreementwith my much
lovedmother, Dilip Sahabwould gently reproachmeandinducemeto go acrossto her immediately
andprofuselyapologize.Hewouldsay:ÔYoucanneverfulfil thedebtof yourMaawhohasgivenbirth
to you and brought you up in this big world with so much love and sacrifice.Õ

In our homesat Pali Hill in Mumbai we havealwaysslept insideold-fashionednet curtainsaround
our bedsto ward off the onslaughtof so manymosquitoesbreedingamidstthe lush greeneryof our



garden.Oncewe hadtuckedourselvesinto our bed,I alwaysmischievouslyrequestedhim to helpme
geta glassof waterplacedon theothersideof thebed.In my laad (affectionor endearment),I loved
to seehim deftly scrambleout of thenettingandgive me thatprecioussip of water. Neveroncedid
he havea grudgeor makea face;he alwaysgracefullyandlovingly satby my sideuntil he hadthe
emptyglassbackin hishand.I havealwaysblessedhim for hisgestureof lovewith apeckonhisgreat
forehead and it has been a regular ritual between us for all these years.

On oneoccasion,a newrefrigeratorarrivedin thehouseand,on openingit excitedly, I foundone
of theracksinsidethedoorbroken.I wasin tearsthat thenewfridge hada brokenrack.Dilip Sahab
calmedme down andwithin no time he hadshapeda metalclotheshangerinto a rack andfitted it
beautifully. ThatÕs how heis Ðeverthechivalrous,helpful husbandwho hatesto seehis wife in tears
overanything.I wonderhow manystarhusbandsor for thatmatterhow manyhusbandswould try to
dosomethinglike thatto cheerupa tearfulwife! Truly, Dilip SahabÕsgreatnesscanbebestseenin his
unaffected simplicity and the complete absence of ego.

Early in theevenings,he lovedto fly kiteswith thewhole family in tow holding thecharkhi (reelof
thread).We maintaineda treasureof kitesandmanja(specialthreadfor kites) from all over India in
a large trunk. The kites andmanjhaarecarefully wrappedup in paperto preservethemandprotect
themfrom moisture.From surroundingbuildings,friends like actorTabrezBarmavar(FaridaJalal,
my closefriendÕs husband)andotherswould try andcut Dilip SahabÕs kite. It waslike a festival,with
family, friendsandvisitorsall participatingin thehubbub,while theexpertcooksNarmadaandKavita
churnedoutdelicioussnacks!I rememberproducer-director-actorManojKumaralsocomingup to fly
kiteswith Dilip Sahabwhenhewantedto presenttheproposalof his film Kranti (releasedin 1981).
He alsogaveustherecipefor whippingup a specialaachar(pickle) omelette,which Dilip Sahaben-
joyed very much.

Dilip Sahabhadsufferedterriblemigraineheadachesfor yearswhenwe hadto presshis headfor
hourswith thecurtainsdrawnto providedarknessin the roomso thathecouldgetsomerelief. Sur-
prisingly, watchingthe colourful kites soaringin the sky gavehim muchrelief from his headaches.
In the terracekitchen,we would whip up hot bhajias(savouries)andomelettesfor visitors to relish
during the kite sessions.

Sincetime immemorial,my own family hasloved goodpoetry, classicalmusicanddanceandI am
so fortunatethat Dilip Sahabhasbeenlike-mindedin his love of the arts.Our homehasresounded
with the musicof the greatmaestrosof classicaldimensionsuchasBadeGhulamAli Khan Sahab,
who wasa colleagueof my own grandmother, BegumShamshadAbdul WaheedKhan(Ammaji), the
renownedclassicalvocalist,who usedto sing live overAll India Radio,Delhi, andhadrecordedfor
ColumbiaRecords.SitarmaestroVilayat KhanSahab,notedmusiciansandsingerslike GhulamAli
Sahab,UstadMehdi HasanSahab,the Sabri Brothers(the famousqawwals), and Reshma,Kathak
queensSitaraDevi andmy guru,PadmashriRoshanKumari,whohasmostlovingly taughtmeall that
I know of classical dance, and many more illustrious performers have performed at our house.

Onedaywhile Ammaji wasat riyaz (practiceof herclassicalsinging)on thefirst floor of our res-
idence,thedurbaan(doorman)cameto herandannouncedthataÔqawwalÕfakir haddefiedthesecur-
ity at thegateandwantedto havea darshanof Ammaji andtakeheraashirwaad(blessing).He had
comewith his payteebaaja (harmonium),the durbaanadded.Soonenoughwhat do we see?Wear-
ing a simplecottonapparelandgamcha(a kind of scarf) tied tight acrosshis forehead,Dilip Sahab
slowly climbedthestairswith hispayteebaajaandstartedto sing,regalingAmmaji whowasin splits



of laughteruntil tearsof happinessrolled down her cheeks!Suchis my wonderfulDilip Sahab!My
priceless gem! My Kohinoor.

SingingNaseeb dar pe tere aazmane aaya hoonÉ

I leaveyounowto readthestoryof thelife of thiswonderfulanduncomplicatedmanwhois described
asanenigmaby thosewho know him not aswell assomeof his closefriendsandcolleaguesdo. In
thesectionof thisbookwherehisco-starsandadmirershavedrawntheirownportraitsof Dilip Sahab
in theirnarrationsto Udayatara,someunknownfacetsandsomeof hiscontributionsto societyasalso
someof theachievementshehasnevertalkedaboutarebroughtto thefore.Therefore,thereis much
to learnfrom theinsightful personalaccountsin thatsection,too,which, if I maysaysoat therisk of
sounding vain, is as electrifying as the first part.

Ð Saira Banu
*In this book,we haveusedMumbaiandBombayinterchangeablyasalsoMadras/Chennai,Calcutta/
Kolkata and Poona/Pune.
*Actually sung by Mohammed Rafi, composed by Kalyanji Anandji and written by Rajinder Krishan.
*Born as Helen Richardson, she has appeared in more than 500 films.
** From the 1971film Caravan, sungby AshaBhosleandRahulDev Burman,written by Majrooh
Sultanpuri and composed by Rahul Dev Burman.
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INTRODUCTION: A DREAM COME TRUE

I haveconsciouslyneveroversoldor overexposedmyselfto theaudience.WhenI look backI feel
it wasquiterisky to bestarring in onefilm whenotheractorswerebusywith twoor threefilmson
thefloors simultaneously.I determinedlydecidedto work in only onefilm at a time.It wassimply
my confidence in the subjects I chose and the hard work I was ready to put into them.

IT WAS A SULTRY AFTERNOON IN MUMBAIÕS MIDSUMMER. THE year was 2004.

I washelpingSairaBanurearrangethe bookson the bookshelfin her bedroomwhenDilip Sahab
pickedup a book written by an authorwho claimedto haveknown him asno oneelsedid. ÔThisis
supposedto bemy biographyandit is full of distortionsandmisinformation,Õhetold Saira.ÔWhydonÕt
you write the story of your life yourself?ÕSairaqueried,gladly seizingthe opportunityto pursueher
continuous effort to pin him down to write his autobiography.

Sairahasalwaysmaintainedthat the inspiring journeyof a simpleyouth namedYousufKhan,son
of a well-to-do fruit merchantandthe story of his flight to hithertounparalleledheightsof fameand
successasDilip Kumar, who becameIndiaÕs first eversuperstarandoneof theworldÕs greatestactors,
hadto be recounted.The real story, shewassure,would enthuseandmotivateall youngaspirantsin
any walk of life who have chased dreams of making it big in their chosen professions.

After a momentÕs silence, Dilip Sahab spoke, turning to both of us as we waited to hear his reply.
ÔAllright, I will narratemy story. It hasto becompiledby someonewho is enlightenedandreadyto

put in thehardwork thatgoesinto anythingI do andit shouldbesomeonewho knowsusreally well,Õ
he said.

I waslisteningandcontinuingto arrangethe largecollectionof fiction andpoetryworks in English
andUrdu,whichhadbeenreadby Dilip Sahabseriouslyandmeticulously, with pencil linesundersen-
tences that piqued him and notes jotted in green ink in the margins in his elegant handwriting.

ÔShe is right hereÕ, Saira pointed out, looking at me.
Dilip Sahab too looked at me and laughed gently, seeing the disbelief on my face.
ÔWhendo we start?ÕheaskedmeandI couldhearmy heartthumpingawaywith mixedfeelingsof

happinessandfright. Canthis be reality or is it a dream,I askedmyself sinceI wasnot in the fray of
renowned writers who were pursuing Dilip Sahab to tell the story of his life to them.

Beinganextremelyprivateperson,hewasnot alwayscomfortabletalking abouthimselfandhis un-
equalledachievements.He hadunderstandablynot encouragedanyoneto explorehis personallife for
a book.As a result,someof thebooksthatwerewritten by peoplewho claimedto know him andby
writers who culled excerptsfrom publishedinterviewsandgathereddubiousinformationfrom Ôclose
friendsÕ of Dilip Sahab and Saira did not tell the real story.

Sairawas gleefully huggingDilip Sahaband exhortinghim: ÔLetus start today, now, after lunch
Jaan,* before you change your mind.Õ

ÔDonÕt neglectyour jobÕsdemandsfor this.I havechosenyoubecauseyouarecapableof painstaking
work andyou canfollow my thoughtsandexpressionsaccurately. Also, I amassuredyou will not mis-
quote me. We will do it at my pace and donÕt hesitate to tell me if it gets boring,Õ Dilip Sahab joked.

C:\Users\kunal\AppData\Local\Temp\don83A2\OEBPS\Text\..\Text\part0005.html#pc2
C:\Users\kunal\AppData\Local\Temp\don83A2\OEBPS\Text\..\Text\part0007.html#fnt4


With Udayatara Nayar and Saira.

Saira,the perfectionistthat sheis, arrangedfor high-classtaperecordersandwriting padsto take
notesif the recordersfailed. Shesuggestedto Dilip Sahabthat it would be a goodideato sit on the
lawnsin hergardenandtalk to me,knowinghim andhis impatiencein casehis work wasinterrupted
or disturbed.Anywhereelsein thehouse,sheknewthephoneswould ring incessantly. More import-
antly, Sairaknew her husbandÕs love for natureandopenspaces.Sheknew how he disliked talking
abouthimself andhow disinclinedhe wasto do an autobiographybecausethat meant,in his words,
theprofuseuseof capitalI, which heabhorred.And now thathehadagreed,shewantedto makesure
he did not lose interest on any account.

It wasnot theeasiestassignmentof my life for sure.Themoodhadto becreatedeverydayandthat
wassomethingonly Sairacoulddo.Thegentleproddingto gethim to talk abouttheleadingladieswas
againsomethingonly Sairacoulddo. Eventheuntoldstoryof how hedecidedto marrySairain late
1966,who wasthecountryÕs mostsoughtafterandhighestpaidactressat thattime,andthecharming
sequenceof thedignifiedDilip Kumarstylecourtshipthatprecededhisproposalto Sairato behiswife
hadto be gently coaxedout of him. Needlessto say, his accountof the love story is oneof the best
chapters in this book.

WeekafterweekI satwith him, sometimesin theshadeof thelargemangotreein thegarden,some-
timesin thedrawingroom,sometimesat theOttersClub (a sportsinstitution in Bandra,Bombay)on
thelawn facingtheseafrom wherehelovedto watchthesungo down,leavingbehinda trail of gold
andvermillion in thesky. Thetaperecorderaccompanieduswhereverwe wentand,quiteoftenwith
his permission, a video camera, too, followed us unobtrusively.

As the recordingscontinued,the real picturebeganto emerge. I beganto seethe unfolding of his
sagalike thescenesin a movie.While henarratedhis story in his soft voice,I noticedhow muchhe
enjoyedtherecapitulationof hischildhoodyearsin PeshawarandDeolali.I couldequallyfeel thepain
in his heartwhenhe talkedabouthis elderbrotherAyub KhanÕs brillianceandhis chronicill health,
which cut short a promising life.

His wassimply not just the amazingstory of the younggraduateYousufKhan, who excelledin
schoolandcollegesports,seriouslysearchingfor a job in British-ruledIndia andhesitatinglyaccept-
ing the job of anactorfrom thepremierfilm studioof Bombay, BombayTalkies.It wasalsonot just
aboutYousufKhanÕs unrelentinghardwork, which propelledhis riseto superstardomasDilip Kumar
andhis occupyingthepedestalasthe icon of actingin Indiancinemafor morethansevendecades.I
alsolearnt,moreinterestingly, howhesetanexampleby themanagementskills heevolvedby instinct
and native intelligence to manage his career and create his USP.



In the early 1940s,whenDilip Sahabstartedhis career, the conceptof managementhadnot arrived
in India asfar asactorswereconcerned.Actors,asprofessionalsin their own right, hadno needto
acquiremanagementskills or evenunderstandtheconceptof management.Themajorityof actorsbe-
lievedthatanactorÕsbusinesswasto actasinstructedby thedirector, takea feefor thetimeandeffort
put into theirwork andtakenoresponsibilityfor thequalityandsuccessof themovie.Amongthefew
actors who thought differently and worked differently was Dilip Kumar.

As theyoungactorprogressedfrom Jwar Bhata(1944),his first film, to Jugnu(1947),his first hit
at thebox office, hebeganto grasptheessentialsecretof makinga successfulfilm. By his own study
andobservationof theprocessof film makingandmarketingof theendproduct,hearrivedat thecon-
clusionthatanactorÕs responsibilitydid notendwith hiswork asanactor. Theactorhadasmuchof a
stakein thequality andfinesseof a film, which ensuredits commercialsuccess.It meantanefficient
anddedicatedmanagementof the infrastructureandresourcesof theproductionaswell asa creative
management, which started with the writing of the script and the screenplay.

He wasjust twenty-twowhenJwar Bhatawasmadeandreleasedandhe hadquickly understood
thatenterpriseandcourageto think differentlywould payhandsomelyasit did duringhis stint at the
British Army club in Poona.Insteadof just doingthejobsallottedto him by theclub manager, hehad
venturedto seekpermissionto setupasmallsandwichandfruit stall. It notonly helpedhim earnextra
moneyandestablisha rapportwith theBritish officersbut it alsoattractedmorevisitors to theclub;
its revenue showed a marked increase.

Therising starwho hadno oneto showhim theway askedhimself:ÔWhynot think differentlyand
taketheinitiative to get involvedwith thecreativemanagementof thedifferentdepartmentsof a film
to ensure that a quality product was delivered?Õ

In thecourseof oneof ourconversationsDilip Sahabexplainedto mehowhelearnttheartof man-
agingthe creativeprocessesof film making,which wasas importantasthe financial processes.He
pausedto reflectandsaid:ÔS.MukherjeeSahab[moreabouthim later in thebook] usedto give a lot
of thoughtto the productionandmould the projectandnevercalledhimself a director. I decidedto
take after him.Õ

The 1930sand1940swere the decadeswhenHollywood set trendsin the managementof studios.
Talking abouttheWesterninfluence,Dilip Sahabobserved:ÔAbroad,at thegreatmanagementtables,
whenthe financial prophetsselectedthemes,theymeasuredthepotentialof successsincetheywere
businessmenanddid notwanttheirmoneyto sink.Theysetaworld trendandwetoobeganto emulate
them.Õ

Dilip Kumarselectedhisstorymaterialwith utmostcare.It is notdifficult to seethathechoseideas
andconceptsfor scriptsthathadthepotentialto enthralanddelight viewersandwenton to become
blockbusters.At thesametime, healsousedhis wisdomto choosesubjectsthatwould remainfresh
andappealingdecadesthereafter. Takeanyof hissuperhitsandyoucannotmissthecontemporaryrel-
evance.

Not surprisingly, theproducersanddirectorsof his films understoodthatwhateverhewassuggest-
ing in thechoiceof subjector actorsor musiccompositionor cinematographyor art directionwasin
theinterestof theoverallquality of theproduct.ÔNobodytaughtmethis but I cameto theconclusion
that I shouldconsidera film in its entiretyasa product.It wasonly muchlaterwhenI wasreadinga
bookon managementthat I readthat thebasicprincipleof goodmanagementwasto takecareof and
ensure the quality of the final product,Õ Dilip Sahab confided to me.



Nimmi (his co-starin severalfilms) haspointedout, in her remembrancesin this book,a casein
point. Shehasrevealedthat it wasDilip Kumar who suggestedto MehboobKhan to castPremnath
in thenegativerole in Aan(1952).It turnedout a castingsensation;themediahelpedin whippingup
curiosityaboutthefilm from thedayof themahuratitself. Therewasenoughpublicity alreadyabout
thecastingof Dilip Kumarin thefilm astheswashbuckling,sword-wieldingJaiTilak, a villager who
couldtameahorsewithin minutesandvanquishanyonein a fencingcontest.Thetalkingpointwasall
aboutDilip KumarÕs ability to makeanimpactin a totally differentrole after themassacceptancehe
had gained as a tragic hero.

ÔPeoplesaid,Òyehkya ho raha hai, Dilip Kumar ke haathmeintalwar de diÓ?Õ* Nimmi reveals.
Thiswassomethingunthinkableat thatstage.Theresultis history. Aan, IndiaÕs first Technicolorfilm,
wasthebiggestgrosserof 1952andthefirst Hindi film to netRs75 lakh in a year, thenanastronom-
ical amount.

With no professionalmarketingagenciesto createanykind of hypefor films thosedays,it wasleft
to Dilip Kumarto strategizethepromotionof films andhedid it with imaginationandstylein hisown
dignified manner without resorting to cheap publicity gimmicks.

ÔYou know, I haveconsciouslyneveroversoldor overexposedmyselfto theaudience.WhenI look
backI feel it wasquiterisky to bestarringin onefilm whenotheractorswerebusywith two or three
films on the floors simultaneously. I determinedlydecidedto work in only onefilm at a time. It was
simplymy confidencein thesubjectsI choseandthehardwork I wasreadyto put into them.Oversell-
ing is notgoodbusinesspractice.I agreeadvertisingandpublicity arenecessarybutonly to theextent
thatyou promiseto theaudiencea productin which you haveinvestedhoursanddaysandmonthsof
relentlesshardwork andgivenyour best.I thereforeneverappointeda publicistto promotemeor my
work,Õ Dilip Sahab disclosed.

Longbeforemanagementgurusbeganto includehumanresourcesasavital componentof success-
ful businessventures,Dilip Kumar put his finger on the needto mobilize andmotivatehumanre-
sources in a film production unit to deliver quick and satisfying results.

As famousactorDharmendrahassummedup in his pieceon Dilip Sahabin this volume:ÔFrom
the mostexaltedadmirer, PanditJawaharlalNehru,to the lowestpaid studioworker, who waitedto
say[sic] salaamsto him, his warm extensionof his handsin greetingwasthesame.He neverfaked
anythingbe it his appreciationfor anotheractorÕs goodwork or his concernfor a colleaguewho was
in distress.Õ

To aquestionI put to Dilip Sahabregardinghisminglingwith theproductionworkers,heanswered:

All over the world the principlesof managementare the same.Only the applicationsdiffer. You
haveto apply the principlesin a mannerthat anyonecanunderstand.To makea lightmanunder-
standwhatyouwantfrom him in asceneyoucannotdo it by orderinghim. If youorderhim hewill
do it but if you aregoodto him andyou speakto him in his languagehewill go out of his way to
give you the result that exceeds his usual performance.

I do not know how I cameto beknownasa methodactor. Marlon Brando[an acclaimedHolly-
woodactor]wascalleda methodactorÉ. Theepithetwasusedto describememuchbeforeit was
usedfor Brando.The truth is that I am an actorwho evolveda method,which stoodme in good
stead.I learnedthe importanceof studyingthescriptandcharactersdeeplyandbuilding uponmy
own gut observationsandsensationsaboutmy own andothercharacters.It wasalwaysmeaningful
for meto studyeventhosecharacterswho would becloseto meor opposedto me.I waslucky to
haveworkedwith directorswhotrustedmeandallowedmeto work withoutrestraint.Theybelieved
asmuchasI did in thenecessityfor teamwork. Unlike otherartsandcrafts,theart of film making
draws its sustenance from team work.
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Yetanotherlessonto belearnedfrom Dilip Sahabis hisunflinchingawarenessof hissocialrespons-
ibility asastaranda rolemodel.Hehasplainly revealedin thechaptersrelatedto theformativeyears
of his careerthat he chosea film in termsof its totality. He tried evenat that early stageto look for
storiesthathadacertainsocialrelevanceandameaningfulmessage.Healsomadesurehis lovescenes
with heroines did not embarrass family audiences.

In one of his enlightening interviews, he confessed:

I havesincerelytried to bea goodrole model.I stronglysubscribeto thebelief thatanactorshould
beawareandconsciousof his socialresponsibilitiesandcontributeasmuchashecanto build the
characterof theadmirerwho looksup to him andderivesinspirationfrom hiswork andpersonality.

TheDilip KumarI knowis asimplemanwith simplebut fine tastes.At timesDilip Kumaris abit
bewilderedandwondershowheaccomplishedall thatheis creditedwith whenhedid nothaveany
teacheror role modelto guidehim. Yes,Dilip Kumarhada robust,earthyupbringingfrom parents
who told him thatheshouldbe faithful to his occupationwhateverthatmaybeandsincerelyearn
his wages.So, the hardwork anddedicationwereneverlacking.Also a strongsenseof integrity,
commitment and compassion came naturally from the Pathan genes.

Hence,it wasnot surprisingat all that it wasDilip Kumarwho settheexamplefor his contempor-
ariesto takethe initiative to usetheir stardomandpopularityto supportgoodcausesandraisefunds
for the governmentÕs relief work during times of national distress and deprivation.

He led the first troupethat visited the Himalayanborderareasto boostthe moraleof the Border
SecurityForcepersonnelstationedthereafter IndiaÕs humiliatingdefeatin the1962IndoÐChinawar.
He hasdistinct memoriesof onesucharduoustrip whenhis friend MohammedRafi (the renowned
singer)developeda throatirritation in the freezingcold andfelt awful that his voice hadgonefor a
toss.ÔWeconsoledhim andkeptgiving him hotwaterandhoneyathourly intervalstill hegotbackhis
splendidvoice.Rafi wasa teetotallerandwouldnot touchanyof thestrongliquids theothermembers
of thetroupedrankto beatthecold.Needlessto sayhewasthestarattractionwith thejawans[soldiers
who are not officers] and the young newly commissioned officers,Õ Dilip Sahab remembers.

With Mohammed Rafi.

In his recollections,veteranactorChandrashekharspeaksaboutall thestarprocessionsin truckson
thestreetsof Bombay, aboutthemanybenefitcricketmatchesandaboutthelive entertainmentshows
hehadwitnessedwith Dilip Sahabat thehelmandhow Dilip Sahabwasneveron thedaiswhenthe



spotlightwasturnedon.ThefundsraisedunderDilip SahabÕs capableandtirelessmanagement,upon
his insistence, had to be handed over to the chief minister or the prime minister.

Agesbeforetheconceptof corporatesocialresponsibilitymadeits entryinto managementmantras,
Dilip Kumar took theresponsibilityof servingtheNationalAssociationof theBlind asits chairman.
In herheartfeltappreciationof thework Dilip Sahabdid for NAB, esteemedsocialworkerVeeraRao,
who workedenthusiasticallywith him in thefund-raisingefforts for theassociationto becomea self-
sufficient body, describesthejoy with whichDilip Sahablenthissupportto everyoccasionto raisethe
moneyneededto motivate,educateandtrain thevisuallyhandicappedto leadtheir livespurposefully.

Readersareboundto askwhatmadeusaddthesectionto thisautobiographywhereactors,directors
andeminentfriendsof Dilip Kumar, apartfrom relativesandothers,havecontributedtheir personal
andprofessionalexperiencesandprovidedinsightsinto themanandhisworkingstyle.Thereis agood
reasonfor addingthat section,which is ratherunusual.The reasonis thatDilip Sahabdid not speak
to meabouthis achievementsandsocialserviceashis wont. Baskingin self-praisewas,andstill is,
not somethingheenjoys.Whencoaxed,hegavemeagreinformationabout,for instance,his effortsto
geta hugelandallotmentfor theindustryfrom theMaharashtraStateGovernmentfor a film city. Nor
did he wax eloquentabouthis behind-the-scenesspadeworkto preparea solid proposalalongwith
Rajni Patel(a Congressmananda lawyerby profession)to give Bombaya first-classcultural centre
with anadjoiningsciencecentre,which waseventuallynamedNehruCentre(after IndiaÕs first prime
minister:JawaharlalNehru).In hisvery readablebiographyof Dilip Sahab,* Lord MeghnadDesai(an
Indian-bornBritish economistandpolitician) hasbeautifullydescribedDilip KumarasNehruÕs hero.
It is perhaps not too well known that Nehru was Dilip KumarÕs hero and idol as well.

In conclusionI mustsaythat if it werenÕt for the persistencewith which SairaBanuprevailedupon
him to openup andrecountthe story of his life perhapsthis book would not havecomeinto exist-
ence.Also, if it werenÕt for the long associationÐalmosthalf a centuryÐI havehadwith my idols
Dilip KumarandSairaBanu,I would not havebeenchosento put thenarrativetogether. I cannever
everforgettheencouragingwordsDilip Sahabspoketo theformereditorof Screen, S.S.Pillai, after
I wrotea long analyticalarticleon Dilip Sahabin oneof the issues,whenI wasnewin theworld of
cinemajournalism.He told Pillai Sahab:ÔGroomher, makeherwork hardandshewill goplaces.She
hasthepotentialto becomea biographersomeday.ÕThewordswerepropheticandit is anunbeliev-
abletwist of DestinythatI wasunhesitatinglychosento put Dilip SahabÕs eruditewordson paperfor
generations of aspirants in the entertainment industry to read and absorb.

Thank you Dilip Sahab.

Ð Udayatara Nayar
*Saira Banu called Dilip Sahab ÔJaanÕ, which means ÔlifeÕ.
*ÔWhat is happening, a sword has been placed in Dilip KumarÕs hands?Õ
*NehruÕs Hero: Dilip Kumar in the Life of India, Roli Books, New Delhi, 2004.
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1
BIRTH

ÔThischild is madefor greatfameandunparalleledachievements.Takegoodcareof theboy,pro-
tecthimfromtheworldÕsevil eye,hewill behandsomeevenin old ageif youprotecthimandkeep
him untouchedby theevil eye.Disfigurehim with blacksootif youmustbecauseif youdonÕtyou
may lose him prematurely. TheNoor [light] of Allah will light up his face always.Õ

HISTORY HAS RECORDEDMANY NAMES THAT WERE GIVEN TO Peshawar, the main city in the North West
FrontierProvince,whereI wasborn.It wasknownastheCity of Flowers,theCity of Grainandeven
LotusLand.For methePeshawarI took birth in wasa partof India and,like manyof my friendsbe-
longing to differentwalks of life anddifferentcommunities,who werealsoborn in Peshawarin un-
divided India, I am proudof my nativity in the thenIndian city so strategicallysituatedin the region
between Central Asia and South Asia that it came to be known aptly as the Gateway to India.

I rememberthevivid colours,thesmellsandtheseasonsof my homeland.Thearrivalof autumnwas
visible in theorchardswheretheapricottreeswouldturnbright redandorange.In theevenings,asdusk
approached,thetoweringmountainswould somehowseemtaller andintimidatingto meandI canstill
recall my little feet achingwith the momentumof the speedwith which I scurriedhome.Therewere
menwho knewmy parentswalking homeslowly, ruggedlyhandsomemenwith bushybeards,wearing
capswith thesidesrolled up or thetypical skull capor theturban,andtheywould stareat mewonder-
ing why I was running like that.

A latter-day view of Kissa Khwani Bazaar.

Our housewasin the heartof the city, in the KissaKhwani Bazaar, so namedbecausewandering
tradersstoppedthereeitherto tell their own storiesor listento storiestold by thelocal inhabitants.The
imagesof theMahabatKhanMasjid (mosque),theCantonment,thebazaarwhereI wanderedwith the
ladiesof the houseandthe streetwhererosesof varying shadesof pink andred weresold to British
gentlemenwho,perhaps,took themhomegallantlyto their women,oftenappearbeforemy eyeslike a
motion picture when I am in a thoughtful mood.
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Winter in theNorth WestFrontierregionof Peshawarwasunbearablefor its inhabitants,however
strongandaccustomedtheywereto its harshnessandinclemency. During winter, thedaysinvariably
dawnedwithout a hint of sunshineandtherewasno knowingwhetherit wasnight or day if onedid
not ascertainwhat the time was.The mountainsandthe hills that rosemajesticallyin the landscape
came to sight only when a good part of the morning had gone by.

In thewinter monthsthosewho hadrisenearly for Fajr prayers(the first of the five daily prayers
offeredby practisingMuslims)hadto go throughtheordealof breakingsheetsof ice thathadformed
on thewaterstoredin thetankskeptfor wuzoo(ablution)nearthemasjid.Theice-coldwaterandthe
tingle of pain it causedwhen it touchedthe peelingskin of the body arestill fresh in my memory.
Whetherit wasdueto theharshnessof winteror dueto thedistresscausedby theblindingduststorms
thatfrequentlyswepttheplainsin thescorchingheatof thesummermonths,life wasnoteasyfor those
who toiled outside in the orchards and fields.

I havea vivid memoryof ChachaUmmer, my paternalunclewho lived closeby, but spentmostof
his wakinghoursin our houseandwentout with Aghaji, aswe addressedour father, to takestockof
thefruits ripeningin our orchards.He complainedwhenit waswinter andhecomplainedwhenit was
summer. He would havevery muchliked to stayindoorsbut it did not fall to his lot to do so.He was
literally themanwho withstoodall theseasonsandmy parentsandgrandparentsturnedto him when
theywantedsomethingor someoneto befetchedat anyoddtime or in anycomplicatedsituation.He
wasAghajiÕs cousinandI think hequietly enjoyedthepositionhehadacquiredin the family asthe
indispensable man for all purposes.

ChachaUmmerneverstoppedtalking abouttheGoldsmithsÕLane,wherethegoldsmithshadtheir
shopsandworkshops,andaboutthe fire thatengulfedit on thenight I wasborn.Thestreetwasone
of the morebusypartsof the KissaKhwani Bazaarwhereour housewassituated.As it housedthe
prosperousgoldsmithsÕresidencesandtheir workplaces,therewasalwaysthebustleof businessand
personalinteractionsthroughoutthedayandwell into thenightwhentherestof thebazaarhadpulled
downtheshutters.Thefire hadstartedin oneof theworkshopsfrom theembersthatgot fannedby a
galethatunexpectedlysweptthe locality astheshopkeepersbeganclosingtheir businessfor theday.
Theblazespreaduncontrollablyin no timeandtherewasfearandpanicasthemenbeganto gatherin
knotsto hurl bucketsof waterat theragingfire. Theoperationwastoughno doubtasthewaterin the
upperpartsof mostof thewaterstoragetankshadturnedto ice andit took severalstrongPathanfists
to shatter the ice and draw the water in buckets from the lower levels of the tanks.



The house where I was born.

Sincethemenin thehousehadrushedto thelaneto helpin thefire-fighting operationsandChacha
Ummerhadbeenaskedto staybehind,asthewomenwerealonein thehouse,it washewhohadto go
in searchof amidwife whenmy mother(whomI calledAmma)threatenedto bringmeinto thisworld.
He hadto bring the midwife safelyandthenrushto inform Aghaji aboutthe exciting development
at home.ÔYou knowÕ,herelatedto meoncewhenhewasin a recallmood,ÔIwasangryandcursing
myself thatnight becauseit wassocold andthewind wasblowing with a menacingstrength.It was
like apunishmentto beoutaloneandentrustedwith theresponsibilityof savinga life. But theminute
themidwife completedherjob andwegot to seeyou,all ruddyandcherubicandglowingwith health,
I felt strangely rewarded and extremely happy.Õ

ChachaUmmeralwaystook greatdelight in describingmy criesand the exchangeof mubaraks
(congratulations)asthe family welcomedthegrandarrival of the fourth child of MohammadSarwar
Khan and Ayesha Bibi in the midst of all the chaos and scramble in the neighbouring street.

Thewinter monthsÕonly delight for measa child wasthat I couldsit unnoticedamongtheeldersin
front of thefireplaceandlistento their conversations.Theyseldommadesmall talk. Theyeithernar-
ratedbizarrestoriestheyhadheardor recalledspine-chillingeventstheyhadwitnessed.I wasall ears,
especiallywhenthey spokein low voicesandexchangedrecollectionsof nightmares.On onesuch
occasion,I heardmy paternalgrandmother(Dadi) utterAmmaÕs name,Ayesha,in a low whisper, not
knowingI waspresent.I heldmy breathandlistened.Shewastalking in Pushtuandherwhisperwas
hoarse but audible and her beady eyes had widened as wide as they could.

Translatedinto English,shewassayingsomethingfrightening like this: ÔPoorAyesha,shecould
havedied that freezingnight. The menof the houseopenedandshutthe door so manytimeswhile
poor Ayeshabit her lips andsufferedthe acutepain.The blizzardwasragingoutsideand,what was
worse, the GoldsmithsÕ Lane was in flames, blocking normal transport.Õ

Shewastalking in a low voiceto hercuriousaudience.A chill randownmy spine.Whata strange
occurrence! A blizzard and a fire! And my sweet Amma, why was she in pain?

Then,theiron lady, asDadiwasknown,brokeinto tears,lookedupat theceilingandpraisedAllah
profusely. Themidwife wasbroughtsafelyin thenick of time, sheinformedhereagerlisteners,who
thenrelaxedandheaveda sigh of relief. ÔAurAyeshaka sonabetaYousuftashreeflaaya,Õ* shean-
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nouncednow in hernormal,sturdyvoicestartlingeveryonein thegathering.My small jaw dropped.
She was yet one more person talking about my birth!

Not justDadi,butalsoeverymemberof thefamily of MohammadSarwarKhanandAyeshaBegum
tirelesslynarratedthestoryof my grandarrival at everyopportunityasif it wasanuncommonevent.
The datewas11 December1922.I suspectthe dateis mentionedsomewherein somechronicleof
PeshawarÕs historynot becauseI wasbornon thatdramaticdaybut becausefire hadguttedthegold-
smithsÕworkshops.Neverbeforeandneverafter thatdismallycold dayhadanysuchdisastershaken
up the Kissa Khwani Bazaar as the fire in the GoldsmithsÕ Lane had.

As a small boy in Peshawar.

In DadiÕsopinion,my arrival in themidstof theblizzardandthefire meantsomethingsignificant.Her
belief wasnot takenseriouslyby my parentstill oneordinaryday, whenI wasplaying in the front
roomof our house,a fakir cameto thedoorseekingfood andsomemoney. It wascommonpractice
in the houseto give goodfood anda little moneywheneverfakirs andwanderingminstrelssinging
balladsin theirowntonguecameto thedoor. Ammahurriedinsideto packthefoodwhile my Dadisat
lazily in her armchair.

I stoppedplayingasI could feel themanÕs gazerivetedon me.In a loud voice,which madeDadi
sit up andlisten,he askedher to bring me in front of him. Shehesitatedfor a momentbut the man
wasall excitementandwasquiveringwith someemotionbuilding up within him. I wasnow standing
beforehim, fright andcuriosityalternatingin my five-year-old head.He announcedthat I wasnot an
ordinarychild. I shutmy eyesandpretendedI hadnot heardhim. First thedramaticfire andblizzard
at my birth andnow this remarkthat I wasnot ordinary! I waswonderingwhathewasgoing to say
next.

He fixed his stareon my faceandtold Dadi: ÔThischild is madefor greatfameandunparalleled
achievements.Takegoodcareof theboy, protecthim from theworldÕs evil eye,hewill behandsome
evenin old ageif you protecthim andkeephim untouchedby theevil eye.Disfigurehim with black
sootif you mustbecauseif you donÕt you may losehim prematurely. TheNoor [light] of Allah will
light up his face always.Õ



I openedmy eyes,relievedthathedid not sayanythinguntoward.I wasnow looking at him andhe
wassmiling a soft benevolentsmile.Dadi gatheredme in herarmsinstinctivelyasif shewould lose
me if she did not hold me close to her. The man took the food and money Amma brought and he left.

After heleft, I ranoutof thehouseto join my cousinswhowereplayingandwereunawareof what
hadoccurred.Little did I anticipatethenwhatwasto beginfrom thenextday. Dadi tookit uponherself
to protectme from theevil eyeof theworld. Shehadmy headshavenandeveryday, whenI started
for school,shemadea streakon my foreheadwith sootto makeme look ugly. Amma tried hardto
convincehernot to makeherchild sougly thatotherchildrenwouldpokefun andgivehim acomplex.
Aghaji tried to reasonwith his stubbornmotherabouttheconsequencesof whatshewasdoingto me.
But Dadi wouldnÕt budge.Her love andprotectivenesstowardsmeweretoo overwhelmingfor herto
accept their pleadings.

Needlessto say, I wasa spectaclewhenI arrivedin the schooleverymorning.The murmursand
sniggersthatgreetedmeon thefirst dayamplifiedin my subconsciousandmademefind reasonsnot
to go to schoolthenextday. I gaveventto my unhappinessandnarratedthederisionI facedfrom my
classmatesandolderboysof theschoolwho werealwaysreadyto seizeoccasionsto havefun at the
expenseof anyjunior whowaseasypreyto theirpranksandjokes.Amma,whorarelyarguedwith her
mother-in-law, appearedextremelypainedwhenshepulledmecloseto herandtold Dadi:ÔYoucannot
do this to my child. See how miserable he is.Õ

Dadi wasaghast.ÔMaineaisa kya kiya, Ayesha?Aap ne bhi sunawoh fakir kya kehraha tha. Us
nesirf Yousufko chunkebaatki thi. Hamareghar kebachchesabtheuskesaamne,Õ* shewasalmost
shouting.It wasplain thatshebelievedshewasright. Shetried to drawmecloseto her to sootheme
andcomfortmeandexplainto mewhy shewasdisfiguringme.I wassoangryandhurt thatI pushed
herawayandburiedmy headin AmmaÕs lap trying hardnot to let my sobsbeheardlestmy cousins
geta chanceto makefun of me for that too. Pathanboysaretold from early childhoodthat it is not
manly to weep.Evenwhenwe hurt our kneesandelbowswhile playingandstingingmixtureswere
appliedon the wounds,we weretold to bearthe pain like menandnot wail like womenat the drop
of a hat.Tearsrolling down the cheekswerefine but not audiblecrying. Thoughthe dark streakon
my foreheadwaslesspronouncedthe next day, the routinedid not stop.I becamea loner at school
andplayedvery little. I choseto stayquiet andplay with the colouringbooksthat wereavailablein
thesmall library of theschool.A coupleof kind teachersurgedmeto go out andplay but I wasloath
to listento them.InsteadI foundmyselfgettinglost in themake-believeworld of thepictorial books
with increasing interest. I was not more than five years old then.

My phoopis, chachisandchachas** dotedonmefor two reasons.First, I wasahealthyrobustbaby
and,second,I gavelittle troubleto my Ammabecauseof my friendly natureandmy willingnessto be
passedon from oneauntto theotherwhile Ammawentaboutherchores.As I grewup andbeganto
comprehendtheconversationsthat I heard,my little mind oftenweighedwith concernfor my Amma
whousedto besummonedby my despoticDadiandgiventasksto dowhile herowndaughtersrelaxed
anddid not do anything.I rememberAghaji askingAmmaonemorningwhy shewastoiling single-
handedly in the kitchen when there were other women in the house who could share her chores.

I canstill heartheechoof my motherÕs soft,gentlevoiceasshehushedmy fatherandexplainedto
him that shewasassignedthe kitchenchoresbecausethat washer forte andshewashappythat she
wasgivenchargeof makingendlesspotsof teaandall thedelicaciesthatwentwell with it becauseno
otherladyof thehousecouldequalherin thatactivity. PhoopiBabjan(AghajiÕssister)would turn red
in thefacewheneversheheardthis explanationandshewould takemy motherasideto chideher for
the camouflage.
*Can be roughly translated as Ôand AyeshaÕs handsome son Yousuf arrivedÕ.
*WhathaveI donewrongAyesha?You tooheardwhatthefakir said.HesingledoutYousufto talk to
while the other children of the house were also in front of him.
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** Paternal aunts, paternal unclesÕ wives and paternal uncles, respectively.
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2
THE MATRIARCH AND HER BROOD

É therewasa divinepurposein theepisodeof Dadi blindly believingthefakir andgiving methe
uglyappearancethatmademethebutt of unpleasantremarksin school.It wasthepain I endured
asthealienatedchild in schoolthat surfacedfrom mysubconsciouswhenI wasplayingtheearly
tragic roles in my career and I had to express the deep mental agony of those characters.

IT WAS NOT FOR NOTHING THAT DADI WAS REFERREDTO AS THE ÔironladyÕ.Shehad a commandingair
abouther, which my eldestsisterSakinaAapainheritedgenetically. Dadi sharedall her thoughtswith
Aghaji andoftenlistenedto his accountsof whatwasgoingon in thecountrywith herbrowsknit and
hergazefixed onhersonÕshandsomeface.It wasadaily routinewhenhereturnedhomefrom themar-
ket, oftenafterMaghrib(theeveningprayer).He alwayswentstraightto Dadi, who would bewaiting
for him in herroom,rockingmajesticallyin thewoodenarmchairthatwasexclusivelyreservedfor her
use.Her lips wouldbemovingandweknewshewasmutelysayingherTasbeeh(therepetitionof short
sentences glorifying Allah).

Shewastall andbroadshoulderedandsheappearedto completelyfill thearmchairwhenshesatin
it. Shewore loosePathansalwarsandlong, flowing kameezes,which madeher look moremasculine
thanfeminine.Herheadwasalwayscoveredwith adupatta(a longpieceof clothusuallyusedto cover
headandthe bosom).For somereason,shealwayswrappedaroundherselfa large shawl,which was
almostthesizeof asinglebedsheet.WhenI choseto hidefrom Aghaji or Ammaaftergettinginto some
mischief,I invariablyfoundrefugein thefoldsof hershawl,whichshewouldopenfor melike amagic
tent to engulfmeandhidemefrom whoeverwasindignantlysearchingfor me.I enjoyedthemystery
andthesuspensethewholeexercisetriggeredin thehouseholdwhenlittle Yousufwentmissing.Fewin
the largehouseholdcouldguessthat I wasconcealedwithin DadiÕs shawlwith my headburiedcosily
in thecleavageof herenormous,heavingbosom.Thedelightfulpartof theescapadewasthatDadiwas
sucha sportthatshesimply satwith hereyesshutwhile AmmaandPhoopiBabjansearchedtheroom
several times muttering where on earth Yousuf was.

Dadi lovedmefor morereasonsthanone.ThefakirÕspredictionwasonereasonbut themoreimport-
antreasonwasthatI wasverydifferentfrom NoorBhai,my eldestbrother. Hewasaneternalbundleof
troubleashegot into scuffles with our cousinsandtheboysin theneighbourhood.Thoughtheywere
notseriousbrawls,still complaintsreachedDadi from parentsin thelocality. However, NoorBhai,with
his light eyesandcharmingways,hadthesupportof theladiesin thehousewhenhefeignedinnocence
andartfully casttheblameon theboyswho camewith thecomplaints.Dadi wasno fool to fall for his
pretencebut it mustbesaidto hercredit thatsheneverrebukedNoor Miyan in front of theboysor the
parents. She took him to task when they were out of earshot and his wails were only for our ears.

SakinaAapastayedout of DadiÕs way and the matriarchchosenot to intervenein the arguments
betweenSakinaAapaandothersin the house.In her heartof hearts,I think sheknew whereSakina
AapaÕs obstinacy and quarrelsomeness came from.

Ayub,whowaselderto meby ayearandahalf, wasaquietfellow andhispresencein thehousewas
felt only whenheandI playedtogetherandchasedeachotherup thestairwayor playednoisily in the
aangan(courtyard).He wasthe onewho wasprivy to a secretI kept for a long, long time evenafter
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wemovedoutof Peshawar. I wasoncetold by my paternalgrandfather(Dada)thatI couldkeepcoins
that I wishedto saveinsidea crevicewherea tile hadpartially comeoff beneaththestaircase.Dada
hadmadeup thestory that thecrevicehadthemagicpowerto doublethecoinsandcreatea fortune
for the one who kept it a secret and placed the tile back over the crevice with a wish to let them grow.

I hadlistenedto DadaÕsstorywith asenseof aweandthrill andsohadAyub.Togetherwehadpulled
off the tile whenno onewasaroundandI hadburieda coupleof coinsin the crevicereverentially.
Dadahadtold us thatwe shouldlet thecoinsbefor aslong aswe could to let themmultiply. ÔIfyou
keepopeningit themagicwill cease,Õhehadtold usominously, without battinganeyelid,in a hoarse
whisper, his face taut with a serious expression.

Indeed,I forgot all aboutthecreviceandthecoinsafterwe shiftedto Bombay(now Mumbai) till
Ayub remindedmeof themduringoneof our visits to Peshawarduringschoolholidays.Thesizzling
storystill hadits credibility eventhoughby thenDadawasno moreanda moundof dustandheaps
of unwantedthingshadcoveredthe areaunderthe staircase.Ayub andI hadtiptoedin the dark one
nightandunearthedthehiddencoinsonly to realizethatit wasDadaÕsfableto entertainusandnothing
more.We felt awful not becausethecoinshadnot doubledbut with therealizationthatDadawasnot
thereto laughwith usandstrokehis flowing beardandtell uswith his sparkling,beadyeyeshow he
had fooled us.

PhoopiBabjanwastheonly friend Ammahadin thefamily andshewasgenuinelyfond of herbroth-
erÕs loving wife. Shelived in therearsideof ourhouse,whichwasskirtedby acanalfull with flowing
water, beyondthe large courtyardandthe expanseof vacantland stretchingup to the walls of other
similar houseson that side.PhoopiBajbanlived in oneof thosehouses,while ChachaUmmer too
lived in ahousenearthecanal,whichhadtheappearanceof a lakewhenseenfrom adistance.Though
theyhadtheir own residences,theywerealmostalwayswith usin our house,which wasa largetwo-
storeyed,well-constructeddwelling put togetherby menwhosesoleconcernwasto providesecurity
to the occupants from the harsh variations of the climate and from petty thieves.

Thetruth wasthatmy Dadi wasknownandfearedfor herauthoritarianwaysandsheensuredthat
theheavierresponsibilitiesof thehouseholdwerenot sharedby herdaughters.My Dadi knewabout
PhoopiBabjanÕs fondnessfor Ammaandtherewasno dearthof occasionswhenthis bold,outspoken
daughtergavehermotheraverbalbashingin thepresenceof shocked,butdelighted,family members.

I mustconfessthat the isolationI sufferedat schooldid not affect my activitiesat home.My eldest
sister, SakinaAapa,wentto a schoolfor girls. Shebeingtheeldest,wasAmmaÕs aideandI foundher
mostlywith Ammaor my paternalaunts.Sheexercisedherauthorityastheeldestsibling andI could
seemy elderbrothersNoor andAyub plotting innocentmischiefbehindherback.They tried in vain
to frighten her with spidersandinsectsthat scaremostgirls. SakinaAapawasmadeof sternerstuff
evenasa twelve-year-old andsheneversparedan opportunityto catchthemandour cousinswhen
theywereup to mischiefandreportthematterto Dadi,whowastheacknowledgedrulerof thehouse-
hold. SakinaAapaleft mealonebecauseshewaswiseenoughto know that I wasmy grandparentsÕ
favourite child and was not party to the conspiracies against her as my interests were different.

As for me,I derivedgreatpleasurein trailing behindAmma,seizingherflowing dupattawith which
shecoveredherheadatall times.Shewouldwalk briskly from oneroomto theotherin thesprawling
housewe lived in. Shenevertired of answeringDadiÕs calls from wherevershewasandshewould
flurry to find out thatDadi wantedherto listento somegory gossipshehadheard.I would behiding



justbehindherandsherarelynoticedmy presencewhentheywouldconverseabouthappeningsin the
neighborhood that were sometimes spooky and sometimes silly.

OnemorningDadi calledAmmaurgentlyand,asusual,I wasrunningbehindherunnoticed.Dadi
wasunusuallyseriousandshewasnot in a moodto whisper. I could seethat shewassadanddis-
turbed.ÔGoimmediately,Õshewasloudly telling Amma.ÔThebodiesmaynot be therefor long. It is
a casethe police havebegunto investigate,you know. Poorparents.May Allah give themstrength.
Come back soon.Õ

Thehousesin Peshawarwereconstructedin a mannerthattheterraceswereinter-connected.If the
ladieswishedto visit neighbours,they just hadto crossa terraceor two. The buildingswereso de-
signedasto give theladieswhoobservedpurdahthosedaysthemobility theyneededwithout coming
out of their houses on the streets to walk to the house they wished to visit.

In an instant,Ammawashurryingacrosstheconnectingpassagefrom our houseto anotherhouse
somedistanceaway. ShewasunawarethatI wasfollowing hernoiselessly. Shereachedahousewhere
therewasgloomandanominoussilence.Shestoodbesideaplumpwomanwhowaswailing inconsol-
ablyandtried in vain to comfortherwith gentlewordsof solace.Then,shewalkedinto a roomwhere
threedeadbodieslay in a row coveredin white cloth andtherewasbloodoozingout from thesides,
stainingthe cloth andflowing out to the floor like a red ribbon.The stenchwasunbearable.Amma
wascoveringhernosewith herhand.Shewasin purdahbut I couldseehereyesbrimmingwith tears.

Ammahadno clue that I hadfollowed her to thehouseandto the roomwherethebodieslay still
andcold.Theinvestigatingofficerswalkedin andout talking in Pushtuto eachotherandoneof them
hadawriting boardandhewastakingnotesof whattheseniormostamongthemwasaskinghim to re-
cord.It wasapparentthattheyweresoabsorbedin thebusinessof jotting downtheirobservationsthat
theydid not noticeAmma.Suddenly, anEnglishofficer pushedboththedoorswide openandwalked
in making a lot of noise with his boots and with his loud conversation with the local police officers.

I was completelyengrossedin the movementsof the uniformed men, especiallythe way they
walked,talkedandgrimacedat thesightof thedeadbodies.I did notnoticeAmmaÕsabsenceor realize
whenshehadslippedoutof theroom.TheEnglishmanwalkedoutwith thelocalpolicemenfollowing
him andsuddenlythe door slammedshutandI found myself alonein the room crouchingbehinda
table not far from the bodies.

Terrorandpanicgrippedmeasthoughtsbeganto whir in my mindaboutthepossibilityof spending
the night in the room if no onecameto know that I wastrappedinside.I reasonedwith myself that
evenif nooneelsemissedme,surelymy DadaandDadiwouldnoticemy notbeingin theliving room
when the family gathered at home in the evening for tea.

Thehigh teaeveryday in the living roomwasanelaborateaffair and,astheeveningpassed,I did
not missmy chanceeverto takea ride on DadaÕs backwhile hemovedon all fourspretendingto be
a horse.It washis way of entertainingthegrandchildrenand,sinceI washis favourite,I got a longer
ride and he did not mind my holding on to his beard with both my hands.

It wasacomfortingthought(my beingmissed)but thenwhoknowsI thoughtto myself.It mayjust
happenthatDadamaynot beat homefor the teagatheringandDadi too maynot be in theroomfor
somereasonof herown.Who will missmethen?Surelynot Amma,becauseshewould betoo preoc-
cupied with the preparation of the snacks and the tea in the kitchen.

The moremy mind worked,the more frightenedI becameand,thoughthe room wasnot cold, I
foundmyself shiveringslightly. Thewindow of theroomwasopenandthewind unexpectedlyblew
thewhiteclothawayfrom thefaceof oneof thevictims.HewasayouthI hadoftenseenin themarket
placeandit waschilling to seehis ashenface.I felt for a momentthathis eyelidsmovedandI would
have screamed if my throat had not run dry and my voice had not been stifled by the dryness.



The only thing I could do waspray andpray ashardas I could. Justthen the door openedwith
someforceandthesameEnglishofficer bargedin. His eyesfell on menow. He staredat meandthen
shouted: ÔWho is this boy? What is he doing here?Õ

I wasnow shakingwith fear. Two policemencameup to meandphysicallylifted meandtook me
out. It wasstill bright outsideandI felt relieved.Thereweremenstandingin thecorridorwho recog-
nized me as the son of Sarwar Khan. The officer asked me: ÔHow did you get in there my boy?Õ

Now thatI wasoutsideandbreathingtheair freely I foundmy voiceandI told thepolicemenhowI
hadfollowedAmmaandhadgotshutinsideaccidentally. Thereweresomemorecivilianswhorecog-
nizedmeandtheEnglishofficer wasconvincedby my explanationto let mego. I took off asfastasI
could.

At homethe tablewasbeingsetfor the teagatheringof the family. My Dadi sawmefirst andshe
guessedfrom my facial expressionandfrom thefact thatI hadneitherbathednorchangedfor teatime
that I musthavebeenout for a fairly long time. Shewascuriousto know what I wasdoingall after-
noon.I avoidedtelling her the truth but Dadi wasnot oneto buy anyconcoctionfrom meor anyone
for thatmatter. Shepossessedanuncannyability to getto thebottomof anyunusualhappeningin the
house.Whensheheardwhat I hadexperiencedshecalledout to Amma andbeganscoldingher for
not beingin theknow of my movementsanddoings.Fortunately, Aghaji arrivedandhediffusedthe
situation.

At tea, the talk wasall aboutthe brotherswho hadgot into a physicalencounterwith menof a
family that hada scoreto settlewith the eldersof the boysÕfamily. Blood spilling wasnot unusual
betweenwarringandfeudingfamiliesin thelocality butseldomdid it endwith thefinality of death.A
normalPathanfamily comprisedat leasta dozenchildrenandit wasnot sucha big losswhenoneor
two sonsdiedin suchencounters.Quitepractically, theparentsconsoledthemselvesthattheystill had
sonswho couldbecounteduponassons.As a matterof fact, thequick arrival of offspringoneafter
the other at intervals of two years was a must in a Pathan Muslim family for this very reason.

On mostdayswhenthe family gatheredfor tea,it wasa pleasantoccasionwith the ladiessitting
togetherand making meaninglessconversationand the men indulging in seriousdiscussion.Dadi
presidedandshequite enjoyedher queenlypositionandthe fact that her daughters,barringPhoopi
Babjan,andher sonsdid not dareto questionher or opposeher whenshespokeon domesticissues
or anythingthat concernedthe family. It painedme to seeAmma not at the tablebut in the kitchen
makingpotsof teaon clay choolas(stoves)emittingfire andsmokethatmadeherfeel uncomfortable
andbreathlessat times.Therewasunstintedpraisealwaysfor the delicaciesshepreparedfor meals
andat teatimebut therewasnooffer of helpfrom hersisters-in-lawandmother-in-law. Theonly help
that she got occasionally was from Phoopi Babjan.

WhatI remembermostaboutAmmain my childhoodyearswasherungrudgingsloggingin thehouse.
It wasnÕt asif therewereno servantsto helpherbut Ammapreferredto do thework assignedto her
in herown fastidiousway. Shealwaystold thosewho askedherwhy shewasnot leavingthe taskto
the servantsthat sheliked doing whatevershewasdoing andDadi hadgiven her the responsibility
becauseit washerforte.Shestayedcalmandunruffled all thetimeandit madelife easyfor Aghaji as
heneverhadto hearcomplaintsabouthisyoungwife or intervenein squabblesthatusuallyaboundin
joint familieswith innumerablemembers.Ammahailedfrom anaristocraticfamily. Her parentsand
sisterswho camevisiting werealwayswell dressedandtheycamein horse-drawncarriageswith an
attendantor two carryingbagsof silk cloth or sweetsor whatevertheybroughtasa gestureof good-
will. Theyknewtherewasnodearthof fruits anddry fruits in ourhouse,sotheybroughtfreshlymade



sweetsandnamkeens(savouries).Ammafound time to sit andchatwith them,especiallyhersisters
who were beautiful and delicate unlike AghajiÕs sisters who were broad shouldered and sturdy.

WhenAmmatook a break(perhapsjust once)from thedrudgeryof our householdchoresto spend
time with herparents,it wasfor themarriageof oneof hersisters.SinceI wasonly five or six years
old then,shetook mealong.I did not know aboutmy goingwith her to hermaika(motherÕs house)
till I returnedfrom schoolandI heardDadi telling Aghaji thatheandAmmashouldtakeextracareof
meandnot let mego out with otherchildren.Sheremindedthemof thefakirÕs words.I wasno doubt
delightedat the opportunityI wasgettingto undertakea shortjourneywith Amma andAghaji but I
shudderedat the thoughtthat I would standout in thecrowdwith my foreheadcoveredwith soot.It
wasPhoopiBabjanwho cameto my rescueandquietly advisedAmmato sparemethehumiliationat
least for the time I was in her own parental domain.

I hadsucha wonderfultime beinganunobtrusivelittle observerof all thegaietyin thatquarterof
thesprawlinghouseexclusivelyoccupiedby thewomenwho hadcometo attendtheweddingaswell
asthedaughtersanddaughters-in-lawof thehouse.It wasasharpcontrastto thedictatorshipI wasfa-
miliar with in thehouseI hadcomefrom. My NaniandNana(maternalgrandmotherandgrandfather)
wereanythingbut severeand,for the first time, I wasseeingAmmabeingattendedto andgiven the
rightful positionat thetableduringmealtimes.It gavemegreathappinessto seeAmmalaughingand
beingverymuchapartof themerrimentthatwasgoingoncontinuouslytill it wastime to hit thebeds
covered with silk quilts.

How I wishedAmmacouldget thesamecarefreelife backat thehouseshereturnedto assoonas
thefestivitiesof theweddingwereover. I returnedwith all theblackstreakson my foreheadmuchto
DadiÕs pleasureandtriumphthatherordershadbeenobeyed.Without a murmuror eventheslightest
sign of resentment, Amma resumed her chores in the kitchen.

I wentbackto schoolandneitherAghaji norAmmanoticedthatI wasbecominganintrovert.I was
filled with adeepsenseof unworthinessandloneliness.I waitedto getbackhomewhereI took refuge
in thesecurityof AmmaÕsgentle,comfortingpresence.In retrospect,I feel therewasadivinepurpose
in the episodeof Dadi blindly believingthe fakir andgiving me the ugly appearancethat mademe
thebutt of unpleasantremarksin school.It wasthepainI enduredasthealienatedchild in schoolthat
surfacedfrom my subconsciouswhenI wasplaying the early tragic rolesin my careerandI hadto
express the deep mental agony of those characters.

Thehumanmind, I havecometo understand,hasthefascinatingcapacityto storeexperiencesand
fertilize the imaginationwith thosestoredexperienceswhenan occasiondemandsit. As I attained
manhood,I learnedto voluntarily keepmy mind opento thoughtsand experiencesthat I thought
shouldbe kept in the inner recessesof the mind for recollectionat a later day. I alsolearnedto pull
down the shutterswhenI did not want to addthoughtsor experiencesthat would only augmentthe
burdenof themindandservenopurposewhatsoever. It is a featthatcanbeachievedonly whenoneÕs
mindhasmaturedwith educationandlearningfrom theschoolof life. But, asachild, however, I could
notdoanythingaboutexperiences,goodandbad,finding theirway into my subconsciousandstaying
there.



3
ESCAPADES AND ADVENTURES

I havelittle doubtthatmysenseof storytellingwasignitedduringmychildhoodyearsin Peshawar
É. EveryeveningI heldAghajiÕsfinger andwalkedwith him to thesquareto listento theunfold-
ing of a narrative by oneof the maulanasÉ I enjoyedthe narrative and my fertile imagination
conjuredup the charactersand situationsin my mind so graphically that I wenthomeand tried
enactingthecharacterswith thelinesspokenby themaulanaÉ whocouldhaveforeseenthatsev-
eral years later I would be participating in storytelling exercises for a medium called cinema!

I WAS NOT AN EXCEPTIONALLY STUDIOUSCHILD BUT I WAS A curiousandobservantone.Beinganintrovert,
I liked beingalone,left to my own devices.I left my cousinsandotherchildrenalone,not wantingto
get into senselessargumentswith them.I rememberI usedto askDadawhy thebrooknearthehouse
flowedceaselesslyandwhereall thewatercamefrom andwhereit all went.Heusedto laughandhoist
meonhisbroadshouldersandwalk to thebrookandstandandstareat thewater. I waitedfor ananswer
but it nevercame.I realizedhe hadno answerfor me. I onceoverheardhim tell Aghaji that I asked
him questionsthatweredifficult for him to answerandthathewishedhehadsomeanswers.He also
jovially mentionedto Aghaji that I wasnot like the otherboysin the family who neverwonderedor
asked difficult questions.

I took keenpleasurein roamingaroundtheopenspacesin theafternoonson hot summerdayswhen
Dadi, aftera sumptuousmeal,restedin her room.Therewereno electricfansthosedays.Therewere
only manuallyoperatedpankhasmadefrom thick canvaswith feather-lined cloth wrappedover them,
which theservantsof thehouseknewhowto loosenfrom theclaspsonthewalls.Whentheytuggedthe
strings,thepankhasmovedto andfro to createthemovementof air. It wasastrenuousexercisebut the
menwhoweregiventhetaskwerequitefit to do it. All of uschildrenof thefamily weremadeto sleep
in theafternoonsasit wasnotadvisableto gooutandwanderin thelonelystreets.I alwayspretendedto
sleepand,at times,whenI sawthepankhawalasandtheothersin theroomsleepingsoundly, I stepped
out stealthily into the streets.

Thestreetswerenarrowandsomeof themwerecobbled.I usedto makemy way throughtheminto
theopenspaceswherethereweretreeswith berriesthatnooneate.Wewerealwaystold thattheberries
wereno goodandthey shouldbe left for the birds andinsectsto feedupon.Being the curiousone,I
onceclimbedoneof thetreesandbeganto pluck theberries.I hadjustbegunto shovetheberriesI had
pluckedinto thepocketof my kurta,whenI heardthevoicesof menandoneof themwaschasingthe
other. I recognizedtheonewho waschasingwhile I heldmy breathandsatquietlyon thebranchI was
perchedon.ThemanI recognizedwasGhaniwho wasthecaretakerof theorchardsmy family owned.
He wasa manof incrediblephysicalstrengthandheight.Fromtheway theywerearguing,it seemed
that Ghani had caught the man snooping around one of the godowns where the dry fruits were stored.

I wasscaredthatif Ghanilookedup at thetreeandsawme,hewould reportmy escapadeto Aghaji.
Fortunately, the two partedamicablyafter the manapologizedto Ghaniprofusely. I heaveda sigh of
relief and scampered home, happy that I had had a lucky escape.

My cousinsand I were frightenedof Ghani.Most times when I met him in the orchard,he was
friendly andheliked lifting meandkeepingmeononeshoulderwhile ahugebasketof freshlyplucked
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badams(almonds)andgrapesoccupiedtheothershoulder. Thegrapesweresentby Dadi in basketsto
theKissaKhwani Bazaarmarketsquareto begivenawayto thepoorandneedywho cameaskingfor
food.Therewasaninterestingway thegrapesweregivenasfood to thepoor. Themenwhorolledout
rotisandnaans(Indianbread)usedto makepoucheswithin thelargenaansby slitting themneatlywith
a sharpknife andthey stuffed handfulsof grapesinsideandslammedthe slits deftly to closethem.
Each such naan made a substantial and nutritious meal for a poor, hungry man.

Ghaniusedto stridetowardsourhousewith easeandunloadmeandthebasketgleefullyat thedoor.
Dadi waskind to him andshealwaysgavehim moneyandofferedhim food. The frighteningthing
abouthim wasnot his demonicappearancebut thementalconditionhesufferedfrom. He wasin the
habitof goinginto a tranceandhowling like a wolf on full moonnightswhile dutifully keepingvigil
at theorchard.He couldnot bequietenedby anyoneandhadto bechainedandlockedin a roomall
night.Somenightswhenhecouldnot bequietenedby anybodyandhadto bechainedandlockedin a
roomall night,someoneelsekeptvigil at theorchard.Sometimes,hebecameall right by themorning
andwentabouthiswork asif nothinghadhappenedand,sometimes,theseizurelastedfor acoupleof
days. Since he could get violent on such occasions, no one went near him.

GhanihadeverybodyÕs sympathyandtherewereall kinds of interpretationsabouthis condition.
Somesaidhe hada spirit visiting him on full moonnightsandthe spirit could be chasedawayby
someonewho practisedexorcism.Otherssaidhe wasmadandneededtreatment.Whateverit was,
nobodydid anythingto rid him of his strangebehaviouron full moonnightsandit wenton unabated
till he became very ill and died suddenly on the bed he was chained to.

After hedied,peopleliving aroundtheorchardsaidtheysawhim movinglike ashadowin thenight,
especiallyon full moonnights.It wasfrighteningeventhoughabsurd.The storiesdid not scareme
becausemy surreptitiousoutingswerein the afternoonsandnow that Ghaniwasnot going to catch
me, I felt free to continue with my exploration of the plains.

One afternoonI set out and my first halt was at the godownfrom whereI grabbedhandfulsof
badamsandpistachiosandfilled my pocketswith them.Hardly hadI takenmy handout of thepock-
ets,whenI sawa gun carriageapproachingthe godown.I immediatelypulled the shutterdown and
crouchedonthegroundwatchingthecarriagefrom aslit in theshutter. I wasinsideandtheactionwas
right outside,socloseto thegodown,thatI beganto getnervous.Therewerevolleysbeingfired from
the carriage and I saw some tribals falling prey to the bullets.

Themenin theguncarriagewereEnglishsoldiersandtheywereyelling andchallengingothertri-
bals,who werehiding nearthegodown,to comeout. Their gunswerepointedin thedirectionof the
godownandthereI washopelesslycaughtin yet anotherperiloussituation.After sometime, themen
got tiredof waiting for thetribalsof thehills to comeoutandtheyturnedthecarriageto goback.Now
my fearwashow to facethetribalsif theywerereally hiding thereandif theysawme.I wassensible
enoughto know thatthehill tribeswerea dangerouslot andtheywereoutlawswho cameto loot and
plunder.

ThedaylightoutsidewaswaningandI hadto returnhomesoon.Thespirit in meevenat thattender
ageeggedmeon to takea risk. I briskly raisedtheshutterandranout, sprintingat a speedthatsur-
prisedmewhenI reachedthedoorstepof ourhouse.Breathlessandexhausted,I just raninto AmmaÕs
arms.SheandDadihadbeenprayingandasearchpartyhadbeensentto find me.Ammaheldmeclose
andI couldhearhermurmurprayersof gratitudeto Allah for havingbroughthersonhomewithout a
scratch.Thenewsof the firing nearthegodownhadreachedthehouseandits neighbourhoodwhen
Amma realized that I was not inside.

I told themwhatI hadseenfrom thecrackin theshutter. Therewasangerat first whenAghaji and
Dada heard what I had narrated, but the fact that I was safe diluted the anger.



Aghaji wastall, broadshoulderedandhandsome.Hehadanimpressivemoustache.HeandDadawere
both hairy andthat explainsmy hairiness.Aghaji walkederectandhe wore his Pathanpyjamasand
kurtaswell. Theyweremadeof goodcottonandstitchedby experttailors.He preferredpastelshades
and was fond of white.

He lovedAmmavery muchbut heseldomdemonstratedhis affection in front of the family mem-
bers.Whenhe boughtsomethingfor Amma,he gaveit to her quietly in the room they occupiedin
theupperfloor. SinceI wasalwayshoveringroundAmma,I usedto seehim takeout a dupattaor an
Englishtalcumpowderandgive it to herquietly. Shewould takeit matter-of-factly from him, put it
away in the almirah and steal out of the room quickly, lest she be seen alone with hermiyanby Dadi.

Ammawasfrail, fair andpetite.By thetime I wastwo, my youngerbrotherNasirhadarrivedand,
by thetime I wasfour, shewasexpectingmy sisterTaj. I wasawestruckeachtime a sisteror brother
joined the line-upandit irked mesomewhatto seeAmmaall wrappedup with eachnewarrival, al-
mostforgettingtheelderoneswho becamepassŽ,soto say, for everybodyin thefamily. I did not quit
following herunderanycircumstanceandit remainedmy prerogativeto find spaceby hersidewhen
we sleptat night. At times,in thesummermonthson moon-lit nightswe slepton chattais(mats)on
theterraceandI would bestunnedby theserenebeautyof my AmmaÕs faceasthe light of themoon
fell on her. Shewould besoundasleep,tired afterall the toil during theday. My unmarriedphoopis
(fatherÕssisters)wouldalsobesleepingthereasalsothehealthyPersiancats,whichwerekeptaspets
largely because they were needed to warm the beds on winter nights.

Winter nights assuredgreat fun for the children of the house.The family membersfrequently
gatheredon thelargeterracewith a bonfirelit insidea largesigdi (brazier)placedin thecentre.All of
uswould sit aroundthesigdi, which providedsufficient warmthto keepthenight youngandspirited.
Quilts werebroughtalongby eachmemberto coverthe body from the legsright up to the waist. It
wascustomaryfor everymemberto tell astoryor to singasong.If it wasastoryit hadto beonewith
a moral and not anything with adult content because the children were listening.

Dadi wasindeedthe first censorI cameacrossin my life. Shecouldabruptlycurtail a story if she
felt it wasnot goodenoughto be told in thepresenceof thewomenandchildren.Oneof my khalas
(maternalaunts)wasmarriedto a manwho hada penchantfor telling storiesthat could havemade
DadaKhondke* feel awkward.Whenhe tried unleashingoneof his stories,hewasinstantlytold by
Dadi to goandsleepin hisownroomandnotcomeupagainon theterrace.It wasabanfor a lifetime.

Dadiwelcomedthenarrationof storiesof valourandnobility anddid notmindaweebit of romance
thrown in. If it wasan eveningof songs,the melodieshadto be of cleanfolk versesor ghazalsof
eminentPersianpoets.It waslike the antakshari** of todayexceptthat the continuity dependedon
content.If thethemefor theeveningwaslove, thenit hadto belove all throughthenight or if it was
a spiritual themeit hadto continueto besoall night. I wasnot oneto sit quietly on onelap all night.
If it wasaninterestingstory, I listenedwith raptattention,if not, I movedfrom onelap to anothertill
I fell asleepquite unknowinglyaschildrendo. I would wakeup the next morningon my warm soft
bedandrub my eyesandwonderwho got me there.While thesingingandstorytellingwenton, the
Persiancatswould bemadeto sleepon thebedsto keepthebedswarmfor theoccupants.Thatwas
something peculiar to Peshawar.

I havelittle doubtthatmy senseof storytellingwasignitedduringmy childhoodyearsin Peshawar.
It wasnot just thewinternightsontheterracethatstimulatedmy imagination.Themainmarketsquare
in KissaKhwani Bazaarwasknownthosedaysfor thegatheringof tradersandshopkeepersafterthe
Maghribprayersin thequadrangleof thesquarefor someaustereentertainment.EveryeveningI held
AghajiÕsfingerandwalkedwith him to thesquareto listento theunfoldingof anarrativeby oneof the
maulanas,menknownfor their piety andreligiousknowledge.Thestorieswereinterestingandwere
told with appropriatepausesandvoice modulationsby the narrators.The voice would rise to a high
pitch whenthestory took a dramaticturn andit would fall to anaudiblelow notewhenthenarrative
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movedon to somethingtenderandtearful.I enjoyedthenarrativeandmy fertile imaginationconjured
up the charactersandsituationsin my mind so graphicallythat I went homeandtried enactingthe
characterswith the lines spokenby the maulana.I would be aloneby myself in somecornerof the
housewherenoonewouldcomelooking for me.I feelamusednowwhenI reflecton thosewonderful
eveningswhenI satwith open-mouthedwonderby AghajiÕsor DadiÕssidein thebazaarabsorbingthe
twistsandturnsin thestories.Who couldhaveforeseenthatseveralyearslaterI would beparticipat-
ing in storytelling exercises for a medium called cinema!

Yet anotherpastimeI indulgedin solitudewas imitating the ladiesandmenwho camevisiting my
parents.Ammacaughtmeat it onedayandchidedmegently, sayingit wasnot goodto makefun of
elders.I wasmimicking KhalaMariamwhenshecamein unexpectedlyandsawwhat I wasup to. I
did not tell AmmathatI wasnotmakingfun of KhalaMariambut I wastrying to beKhalaMariamfor
a few momentsbecauseshewassuchan intriguing character. May beunconsciouslyI waspreparing
for what was in store for me in the years to come.

KhalaMariamwasthenightingaleof thefamily. Shehadagoodvoicefor singingandall of usgrew
up from infancy listeningto the lullabiesshesangto put us to sleep.Shewasmarriedto a manwho
wasa dandyanddressedup flamboyantlyandcolourfully. He wasthemanDadi hadbannedfrom her
terracewhenhe begantelling a story that hada naughtyslant.He wasvery differentfrom the other
menin thefamily in thathehadscantregardfor thedecorumandetiquettetheothermembersobserved
andhebroughtcigarsfrom somewhereandsmokedthemwhile all theothermensmokedhookas.He
arguedwith Dadathatit madenodifferencewhatyousmoked.KhalaMariamwasquitegoodlooking
andshetoo smokedcigarettesheld in a holder. Sheandher husbandhadmanydifferencesbetween
themandtheyspoketo eachotheronly to get into a squabble.He hada chestof drawersin theroom,
which washis prizedpossessionandheprotectedit zealously. Sheoftenmockedhim saying:ÔYou sit
on that chestof moneyandtreasureslike a cobrawith its hoodunfurledÉ takeit with you to your
grave.Õ He laughed a wicked laugh whenever she said that.

It wasnothingbutentertainmentfor meatthatagewhentheylockedhorns.Therealdramaoccurred
whenKhala Mariam wasconfinedto an isolatedroom on certaindaysbecauseshewould get pos-
sessedby a spirit. I hid myself in theroomonedayandI heardhervoicechangeinto thatof a manas
sheravedaboutsomethingI couldmakenothingof. Shestoodup andtoreherhair andlookedcom-
pletely different from what shewasotherwise.I rememberAmma comingrushinginto the room to
takemeawaywhensherealizedI wasupto my usualexplorationof theunknownandwasin theroom.
Khala Mariam suddenlyturnedsoft andgentleandsaid:ÔDonÕt hurt the child, let him be.ÕAmma
muttered something and quickly whisked me away.

By thenextday, shewasnormalandbehavedasif nothinghappened.Shewascloseto Ammaand
confided in her about her husbandÕs wanton ways.

OnFridaystheladieswentout to themarketandI rememberAmmaalwayswaitingfor KhalaMari-
amwho took longerto dressup.Ammaworesimplesalwarsandkameezesthatwerelong andloose.
Her headwasalwayscoveredandwhenshesteppedoutsideshewasso completelyin purdahthat I
would havehaddifficulty in identifying herif it werenÕt for hersmallbuild andherpetitestaturethat
madeherstandoutamongthesturdy, almostmasculinePathanwomenwhoswarmedtheshopsselling
womenÕs garmentsandburkhas.Therewassomethingshekeptchewing,anelaichi (cardamom)per-
haps.

I wasalwaysfollowing herto themarketplaceandshekeptawatchonmy movementsknowingmy
propensityto getlost in thecrowd.KhalaMariamandPhoopiBabjanwerenot very cordialwith each
other, thoughbothwerevery fond of Amma.Theydressedup in silks while Ammapreferredcottons



with smallprints.I seldomsawherbuythingsfor herself.Shewasalwaysbuyingthingsfor thehouse.
ThemarketwascrowdedonFridaysbecausethementoomadetheirpurchasesaftertheJumaprayers
in themainmosque.WhenAmmawantedmeto getherfavouritebathsoap,shewouldcall out to me,
saying: ÔYousufmeraPears soapsaboon laana.Õ That was how she referred to the soap she used.

One side of the market was lined with eateriesthat served chapli kebabs with anardana
(pomegranateseeds)androtisbesidesricepreparationsandlight snacks.Therewasalwaysacrowdat
theeateriesbecausethe temptingaromaof graviesandkebabswaftedto thenostrilsof passersbyso
strongly that it was difficult for the susceptible to resist a bite.

Therewereshopsthatsoldbeautifulsilks andcottons,lacesof all colours,dupattasandparandhas
(braidtassels).Wewereliving in undividedIndiaat thattimeandtherewasasizableHindupopulation
andthemenfolkaswell asthewomenmingledfreelywith Muslimsin themarketsquarewishingeach
otherandexchangingpleasantrieseversocheerfully. Aghaji hadmanyHindu friendsandoneof them
wasBasheshwarnathji,whoheldanimportantjob in thecivil services.His eldersoncameto ourhouse
with him afew timesandhestunnedtheladieswith hishandsomeappearance.ThatwasRajKapoorÕs
father Prithviraj Kapoor.

Basheshwarnathjiwasvery friendly with Aghaji andI oftenheardthemdiscussan impendingwar
(theSecondWorld War) andwhatwasin storefor theinhabitantsof Peshawar. I listenedto their talk
intently but I could not fathomwhat they weretalking about.They weretalking abouta city called
Bombaywherebusinessopportunitiesweremany. ThenonedayI heardAghaji tell Dadathathewas
going to Bombayto exploresuchopportunitiesandhe intendedto go alonefirst. Thewar wasinev-
itableandit wasboundto impactthe fruit businessastransportationof marketableproducefrom the
orchardsin Peshawarto marketselsewherewould becomedifficult. Before I knew it he wasoff to
Bombay one morning.

WhenAghaji wasawaysomethingsilly occurred.As alwaysI wasthecentreof theexcitementthat
mountedoneafternoonin thehouse.I vividly recallthatafternoonwhenacousin,whowassomewhat
older thanI, wasinjured in the eyeby somethingthat hadhit him while he wasout in the orchards.
He wasbroughthomeby theservantsandall my auntsrushedto inspecthis injury. It wasfoundto be
minor but my auntsdecidedto treatit with their own prescription.I wasplayingquietly in oneof the
roomsin thehouseandwasstartledby anauntcominginto the roomto dragmeout. ÔYou canplay
later,ÕsheorderedmeasI reluctantlywalkedby herside,herhandholdingmy armin a tight grip. She
took me to the terrace,mademe standnext to an earthenwarepot andcommandedme to pull down
my pyjamasandunderwearandtold meto urinateinto thepot. I wassoterrified that it wasall out in
a jif fy straightinto thepot with my auntwatchingovermewith satisfaction.Shethentook thepot to
theotherauntswhowerewaiting to washmy cousinÕswoundedeyewith thepreciousexcretion.I was
overwhelmedby a strangefeelingof fear, shameanddisgustand,for daystogether, avoidedmy aunts
and the cousin who had benefited from me.

As mentionedearlier, theeldestof my parentsÕoffspringwasmy sisterSakinaBegum.Shewasmost
unlike Amma in her natureanddemeanour. Whenwe were in Peshawar, shewasquite young.She
wasattractivein herownway, thoughnotblessedwith theserenebeautyof Amma.Shewasstubborn
anddifficult by nature.I canrecallnow thatshedisagreedwith Ammaoftenandtherewasa mild but
ceaselessconflict brewingbetweenthemall the time. Aghaji took little interestin their altercations
andI think he feignedignoranceonly becausehe felt that womenhadtheir own way of solving the
internal riddles in their family life without external help.

My elderbrotherswereNoorandAyub.NoorSahab(asI wassupposedto call him) wasagoodfive
yearsseniorandAyub Sahabwasjust a yearanda half older. Noor Sahabwasa colourful character



right from his juvenile yearsandhe dazzledme andmy cousinswith his escapades,which cameto
light from time to time and provoked Aghaji to use a cane on him.

Evidently, Aghaji didnÕt believein sparingthe rod andspoiling his son,but, from whateverI can
rememberof thoseyearsin Peshawar, all theblowsshoweredon Noor Sahabhadonly a transientef-
fectonhisunbridledenergy andenthusiasmto exploreforbiddenterritories.After eachepisode,Noor
Sahabwouldbequietfor awhile. HeÕdwait for Aghaji to gooutonhisbusinessandbackhewouldgo
on his promisesto him. As theeldestson,Noor Sahabhada rightful senseof seniority, which, rather
unrightfully, gave him the feeling that he could boss over all of us who were younger than he.

Thanksto theagedifference,I wasseldomin his company. He summonedmeoccasionallyto run
anodderrandfor him in themarketplaceandI docilelyobeyedhim, knowinghim to bequiteabully.
Without doubt, he irritated Amma who tried relentlessly to curb his mischief.

I wascloseto Ayub.Sincehewasjusta little olderI keptcallinghim AyubandI wasrebukedoften
for that.I hadto addresshim asAyubSahabin thepresenceof my parents.HedidnÕt go to schoollike
therestof us.I couldneverfathomwhy hewastutoredat homein Urdu andheneverreceivedform-
al schooleducation.I guessedhewasnot healthylike meandNoor Sahab.Therewassomeintrinsic
problemI wasnot fully awareof and,quiteunderstandably, not madeawareof. Thedivine compens-
ationwasthatAyub Sahabwasblessedwith anamazingintellectandsensibilitiesthatwerefar from
ordinary. He was very specially gifted and my parents were very proud of him.

AghajiÕsabsencewashardlyfelt in thehouse.I knewhehadgoneto Bombaybut I did notknowwhy.
I rememberaskingAmmaandshesimply told mehehadto go therefor an importantreasonandhe
would be backsoon.Shewasasusualbusyandattendingto somethingDadi hadaskedher to do. I
wasneveroneto troubleAmma with questionsthat shehadno time to answer, so I heardher reply
without pausing to think too much about it.
*DadaKhondke(realnameKrishnaKondke)wasanactorandfilm producer. His films werefamous
for their double entendres.
** Antakshariis a gamein which eachparticipantbeginswith the consonanton which the previous
participantÕs song has ended.
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4
OFF TO BOMBAY: A NEW CHAPTER BEGINS

In BombayI wasenrolledat the AnjumanIslam High Schooland therewasno moreshavingof
my pate.I now wore my skull cap over a thick growth of black hair, which elicited compliments
fromall theladieswhovisitedAmma.Theywouldruffle myhair andsaysomethingto herandshe
would wait for their departureto performthe ritual of shooingawaythe evil eyecaston meas
instructed by Dadi.

ASMENTIONED EARLIER, AGHAJI HAD GONETO BOMBAY TO explorethebusinesspotentialtherein thewake
of the newsaboutthe impendingworld war. He knew that the transportationof marketableproduce
from theorchardsin Peshawarto traditionalmarketsoutsidewould becomedifficult oncethewar star-
ted.

Travelwaseasythosedaysby theFrontierMail. Ticketswerepurchasedat therailwaystationon the
dayof the journeyitself andnot bookedin advance.During his stayin Bombay, heoften took a stroll
alongtheApollo Bunder(on theseafront)to while awaytime in theevenings.Oneevening,hesawa
child in a pramwith a healthyappearanceandrosy cheeksandhe wasinstantlyremindedof me.As
I mentionedearlier, I wasregardedasa handsomechild andAghaji wasquiteproudof my appealing,
cherubiclooks.He pickedup thechild in thepramspontaneouslyandtheparentsof thechild panicked
andrantowardshim. It wasanaturalreactiononseeingastrong,sturdyPathanimpulsivelypickingup
a happy, gurgling child without introducing himself formally to the childÕs parents.

Aghaji often recalledthis incidentat family gatheringsamidstmuchlaughter. He apologizedto the
childÕs parentsandtold themabouthis family in Peshawarandlittle Yousufwho wasasgood-looking
as their son.

I would like to believequitejustly thatI wasresponsiblein a largemeasurefor thefamilyÕs moving
to Bombay. Had it not beenfor the incidentat Apollo Bunder, Aghaji wouldnÕt havereturnedto Pe-
shawarto takeAmma andthe sevenchildrento Bombay. Back homein Peshawar, it wasDadawho
sensedAghajiÕs lonelinessin Bombay, especiallywhenheheardabouttheamusingencounterwith the
baby at Apollo Bunder.

ThoughDadi didnÕt quite agreewith her sonÕs moveto shift the family to Bombay, for onceDada
stood firm on his decision to give his daughter-in-law the right to live with her husband.

We travelledby the FrontierMail to Bombay. I canÕt recall whenexactlysinceI wasquite young
then,but I think it wassometimein themid-1930s.If I remembercorrectly, theterminalthosedayswas
in Colaba.It wasour first train journeyandwasvery exciting for all of us.At someof thestationson
theway, friendsof my parentscameto meetuswith refreshmentsthatwe couldconsumeon theway.
Someof themwereHindus.I recallnow theboxestheybroughtfor uscontainedvegetarianitemslike
purisandstuffed brinjals.Thetrain spedpastgreenpasturesandvalleysand,at times,darkmountains.
Thevisualsarestill vivid in my mind,especiallythegrandeurof themountains.Whenthetrainstopped
atstations,thereweremencarryingcasksof teaandwaterin potscallingout:ÔHinduchai,Hindupaani,
Muslim chai,Muslim paani.ÕMy parents,I remember, took little noticeof thedifference.Theydrank
waterandteawithoutdiscriminationandsodid manyothersin thecompartment.Thetrainhadadining
car, which was meant only for the English officers and their wives.
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In BombaywealightedatColaba.It wasin themorninghoursandmy youngersiblingsweresleepy.
Aghaji hadarrangedfor a tonga(a horse-drawncarriage)to takeus to the househe hadrentedout.
It wasthebeginningof a newchapterin our lives aswe steppedinto analtogethernewenvironment
filled with excitement and wonder.

Theapartmentrentedoutby Aghaji wasin afour-storeyedstructurecalledAbdullahBuilding onNag-
devi Street,nearthebustlingCrawfordMarket,wherehehadsetup his fruit businesson a wholesale
basisat first. Our apartmentwason thetop floor andthoughwe missedthespaciousnessof our home
in Peshawar, all of us settleddown quite well in the fairly large spacewe got over the entire floor
with individual roomsfor uschildrenandaseparateroomfor Aghaji andAmmabesidesaguestroom.
Therewasa terrace,which wasa luxury, becausetheotherhousesin theneighbourhooddid not have
one. All of them had flat roofs.

Ammainitially facedonly oneproblemÐshecouldnÕt speakHindi. But it wasamazinghowshemade
friendsin the neighbourhood.In fact, soonafter our arrival in the locality, we werebeingdiscussed
as the nice Pathanfamily that hadoccupiedthe fourth floor of the Abdullah Building. Amma with
herchiselledfeatures,flawlessrosycomplexion,slightbuild andgentlesmileradiatedinstantwarmth.
Aghaji, strong,well-built andvirile like mostof his clan,wasalreadyknown asa gentlemananda
pious Pathan.

Ammahadtwo friendsonNagdeviStreet,whowerecloseto her. How theycommunicatedwith her
wasalwaysa mysteryto Aghaji becauseshedidnÕt speakHindi. Oneof themhada sonwith whom
my eldestbrotherNoor Sahabstrucka rapport.Noor Sahab,with his adventurousnature,hadbecome
popularon NagdeviStreetin a shortspan.He hadbegunexperimentingwith cigarettesasdid other
boysof hisagegroup.It wasall donecovertlywith thatspirit of discoveryandbravadocommonlyfelt
in adolescence among boys who are in a hurry to attain manhood.

Oneafternoon,therewasbadnewsfor Amma.Her friendÕssonhadbeenstifled to deathwith apil-
low in his room and the mother of the lad was naturally inconsolable.

I wasconfrontedonceagainby thedreadof seeinga deadbodyandthecomingandgoingof po-
licemen. Being somewhat older now, I was less terrified. But Amma was shocked beyond belief.

We grewup quitehappily in the largeapartmenton NagdeviStreet.Aghaji seemedsatisfiedwith his
fruit business,which wasprospering.He didnÕt haveto go to thefruit stall at CrawfordMarketevery
dayashehademployedmento receivetheconsignmentsanddeliverthemat themarketbesidesman-
agingthe daily sales.He only paid a visit oncea day to seeif all waswell. As such,he hadtime to
spend with us and with his friends who enjoyed his company and visited him regularly.

We hada family doctorwho wastall andwell built andI canvividly recallhis visits to our house
andour visits to his clinic in the eveningwhenhe would examinepatientsandprescribemedicines.
Aghaji oftengifted him fruit baskets.Somethingfunny happenedoneeveningwhenAghaji took me
alongto hisclinic to getamedicinefor AyubSahab.I wascarryingarubberball, which I playedwith,
bouncingit on the floor andtestingmy ability to catchit without a miss.At the clinic after Aghaji
hadhada good ten-minuteconversationwith the doctor, he cameout to get the mixturesfrom the
compounder. I wasplayingwith theball in thecorridoroutsideand,on seeingAghaji comeout of the
doctorÕs chamber, I missedtheball, which fell on the floor androlled into thedoctorÕs cabin.While



Aghaji wasexchangingpleasantrieswith thecompounder, I hurriedlyventuredinto thedoctorÕscham-
ber to find theball. I wason all fours looking for theball, sothedoctordid not hearor seemy entry.
I found theball andI alsowitnesseda sight I describedto Ayub Miyan whenI returnedhometo his
greatamusement.The doctorÕs nurse,a fair, plump womanwith light eyesanddark brown hair tied
up high in a knot stylishly, wasseatedon the doctorÕs lap andthey weretalking andlaughingabout
something.I quickly crawledoutbeforetheywenton to somethingthatcouldhavebeenoutrageously
bold, considering that the door was not locked and anybody could have walked in.

I grewup in anatmosphereof warmthandaffection. I wasextremelyshybut not unhappy. There
wasnopressureonmy parents.AmmaÕswork loaddecreasedconsiderablyin Bombaywheresheonly
hadto carefor herchildrenandherhusband.Shelookedhealthierandhappierthoughsheoftenspoke
nostalgicallyaboutPeshawar. Sheworkedquietly andhappily. I wasenrolledat the AnjumanIslam
High Schoolin thefifth standardin 1937andtherewasno moreshavingof my pate.I now woremy
skull capovera thick growthof blackhair, whichelicitedcomplimentsfrom all theladieswhovisited
Amma.Theywould ruffle my hair andsaysomethingto herandshewould wait for their departureto
perform the ritual of shooing away the evil eye cast on me as instructed by Dadi.

Today, in my ninety-secondyear, my wife Sairaperformsthesameritual everytime a visitor says
somethingaboutmy looks or my goodhealthor whenwe go to a galaeventanddozensof people
come to take my signature in their autograph books and praise my work.

Noor Sahabhadhis own setof friends in the locality. Diametricallyoppositeour apartmentwas
the residenceof a BohraMuslim businessman.His daughterbecameNoor SahabÕs heartthrobandI
becamea participantin their juvenile affair and,sadlyenough,the climactic separationbetweenthe
loverswasalsoprecipitatedby me. I mustnarratethe love storybecauseit is a chapterin my child-
hood that I have retained in my memory more for its bathos than for its romance and humour.

Noor Sahabhada way of orderingmeto run errandsfor him. He wasanassertiveyoungmanand
hespenta lot of timewith his friendswhostayedin theneighbourhood.Whenthefriendsvisitedhim,
hetook themup to theterracewhereneitherAmmanor SakinaAapacame.His friendsoftenbrought
cigaretteswith themandNoor Sahabdid not like to acceptthecigarettestheyofferedhim. He would
summonme andsendme out to get cigarettesfor himself andhis friendsÐhis favouritebrandwas
CavenderÐandhewould tell me to go asquickly asI could to get thecigarettes.At othertimes,he
sentmeto fetchbananasfor him whenhewasaloneandthenhesweetlytold meto takemy own time
to bring the bananas. I obliged without a murmur.

By andby, I foundout whathewasup to. At a specifictime in theeveningwhenNoor Sahabwas
aloneon the terrace,his heartthrobin the oppositeapartmentwould takea positionat a window fa-
cing our terrace.I wasnot old enoughto know what washappeningbut I neverfailed to noticethe
glancesexchangedfrom our terracewhenthecharmingneighbourtook herplaceat thewindow to do
hersewing.Thatwasthetime whenthebananaerrandwasorderedby Noor Sahabto keepmeout of
theway. Heusedto thrusta little notewrittenonapagetornoutof anexercisenotebookandaskmeto
give it to heron theway back.I wasimmenselypleasedwith herbecausesherewardedmeeachtime
I sprintedacrossthe streetto her housewith a poeticoutburstfrom Noor Sahab.Shewould quietly
thrustpeppermints,lemontoffeesor chocolateswrappedin gleamingsilver paperinto my handsand
affectionatelyrun her fingersthroughmy hair but neverspokea word. My little mind wascertainly
awarethat Noor Sahab,who washandsomeandhadlight eyesthat twinkled with sprightliness,was
conveyingsomethingsecretto herandvice versa.A few times,I mischievouslychoseto surprisehim
by doublingthespeedof my sprintandcompletingtheerrandin recordtime andtakingthestairstwo
stepsata time to reachtheterracehuffing andpantingonly to spoil his flirtation throughglanceswith
thegirl. He hadturnedto mewith annoyanceon thoseoccasionswith a look thatsaid:ÔOk,you think
you can outsmart me, I will show you!Õ



Thenexterrandwould be to getchana(chickpeas)from a vendorwho hadhis stall somedistance
away. Not oneto bevanquished,I usedall thestaminaI hadto run andget thechanain recordtime!
On eachsuchoccasion,I couldseethegirl chucklingandgiving Noor Sahaba naughtyglance.This
silent love storyenactedthroughglancesandlooksaswell asthenotesI carriedwasdestinedto end
very soon.

OneafternoonI wason the terracesilently enjoyinga toffeeshehadgivenmewhenAmmacame
searchingfor me andfound my mouthfull. Shewantedto know at oncewhereI hadgot the sweet
from. I told her the truth.

Needlessto say, therewasuttercommotionasthe lid flew openandNoor SahabÕs secretdalliance
cameto light. Thegirl disappearedthenextdayandNoor Sahabwasa pictureof desolation.He was
not annoyedwith mebecauseheknewI hadnot spoiledhis romanceintentionally. It wasaninnocent
childÕsconfessionand,asdayswentby, heresignedhimselfto therealizationthatreal-life lovestories
donÕt always end happily.

Shewasbundledoff to Surat(now in Gujarat)whereshemarriedandsettleddown. Her parents
continuedto meetAghaji andAmma cordially. And Noor Sahableft the pastbehindto everybodyÕs
relief and began to look for new sources of excitement.



5
THE GROWING UP YEARS

I havegoneinto all thisdetailing[given later in thischapter]for a specificpurpose.It is meantto
inform thosereaders,whomayhavebeenmisledinto imaginingthat Raj KapoorandI only pro-
fessedfriendshipwhile a deepprofessionalrivalry brewedbetweenus, that ourswasnot merely
a friendshipof two individualsin thesameprofessionbut a bondingthat grew from well-placed
trust and respect.

AS AYUB SAHAB GREWUP, HE DEVELOPEDA RESPIRATORY disorder, whichnecessitatedourmovingto Deo-
lali (ahill stationin Maharashtra,locatedabout180km from Bombay).Thefreshair in Deolali andthe
availability of medical care there made it the ideal location for his treatment and recovery.

Beinganarmystation,Deolalihadgoodeducationalinstitutions,andoneof themwasBarnesSchool
whereI wasadmitted.ThereweresoldierswhodidnÕt seemto beof Indianorigin at thearmycentres.I
learned later that they were Turkish, who were captives of war.

Deolali is of significancein my life in morethanonerespect.First, it wasat Deolali that I learned
theEnglishlanguageandbecamequiteproficient in it. Secondly, it wasduringour stayin Deolali that
I began to take keen interest in soccer.

Aghaji visited us oncea weekfrom Mumbai.He loved my brotherAyub andwasvery concerned
about his progress.He found me reading and writing English and that was also somethingthat
gladdenedhis heart.TherewasanEnglishpoemthatI learnedin school,which I recitedbeforeAghaji
oneday andhe wasso happythat he mademe reciteit beforeall his distinguishedEnglish-speaking
friends. The poem ran as follows:

I have two eyes.
And I can see the door
The ceiling, the wall
And the big blue sky
Bent over all.

During schoolvacationswhenwe went to Peshawarto spendtime with our DadaandDadi, there
usedto be socialgatheringsto mark our visits. At eachgatheringI wasmadeto standon a platform
andvigorouslyeggedon to recitethepoem.It gaveAghaji greatprideto tell theworld thathissonwas
conversantwith Englishandall his Pathanfriendswereequallyjoyousabouttheachievement.If there
happenedto beanEnglishofficer of somerankin thelocal administrationin thegathering,it madethe
scenarioevenmorethrilling. Eachtime I completedtherecitationtherewouldbeencores.Therewould
be cries of Ôshabash[well done]YousufÕ. Each time I had to start all over again.

The encorescameagainand I would straightenmyself, takea deepbreathandbegin reciting the
same poem once again.

Therecitationwentonendlesslytill I wastiredandjustcouldnotcontinue.Forme,it wassomething
I alwaystriedto wriggleoutof. As ashy, reticentyoungster, publicattentionwasthelastthingI wanted.
But I think Destinyhadalreadybegunto chartout the life I hadto lead.I hadto obeyAghajiÕs orders
on suchoccasionsand,thoughit wasdifficult to recitethepoemin theopenair Ðno door, no wall, no
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ceilingÐI think I wasstimulatedto performby theapplauseandencoresI received.It wasasif I could
seea door, a wall anda ceiling whenI recited.I hadmy first brushwith themake-believeworld into
which I was to make my fateful entry years later.

At Deolali,AyubSahabhadnooptionbut to spendhiswakinghoursreadingwhateverUrdu literature
hecouldlay hishandson.Healwaysliked to readthelatestnovelsandhedevourednewspaperarticles
andshortstorieswith greatdelight. To makehim happy, as I grew up andprogressedin my study
of English, I readthe short stories(in translation)of the nineteenth-centuryFrenchwriter, Guy de
Maupassant,andnarratedthemto him. That wasmy first introductionto publishedliteraturefrom
abroadandI wasfascinatedby theplot structureandstorytellingability of theauthor. In a latentsort
of way, I wasdevelopinga keennarrativeskill by readingthe works of EnglishandotherEuropean
authors that I found in the library of Barnes School.

I canÕt recall whenexactlybut Ayub Sahabsuffereda spinal injury after he fell from a horsein
KashmirwhereAghaji hadtakenhim andNoor Sahabon oneof his businesstrips.Fruitsthatwereof
typical Kashmirorigin hadinterestedAghaji andhemadequitea few trips in a yearto negotiateand
makearrangementsfor their transportto Bombay. As a resultof theinjury, Ayub Sahabhadto stayin
bedor just sit in a wheelchairfor almosta year. Orthopaedictreatmentwasnot asadvancedasit is
today and such injuries took time to be healed.

I rememberhow Aghaji usedto sit by Ayub SahabÕs sideandlook at him with moisteyesthatbe-
trayedhis pain within. Herewasa songifted with unusualintelligenceandcreativeenergy andhe
just couldnÕt movefrom his chair. Relativesof my parentswho visitedusat Deolali werenot many.
Amongthem,I rememberanuncle,GhulamMohammad,whoseemedwell acquaintedwith Urdupo-
etry and spent time with Ayub Sahab appreciating the Urdu verse that Ayub Sahab penned.

I hadaclassmatewhowastheschoolbully. Hewastwicemy sizeandhemadeit apoint to threaten
meandmy smallcircle of friends.On theway to school,therewasa plateauwherewe played.I had
a cycle,which I rodeto schoolsometimesand,at othertimes,I just ran to school,taking off on my
feetswiftly with thebreezeasif onewasbeingairlifted from theground.It wasanexperienceI really
enjoyed.

To getbackto theschoolbully, hewasthe local bakerÕs son.Thebakeryownedby his fatherwas
well known.Onedaywhile I wasreturningfrom school,hesprangon meandbeganpunchingme.I
was alone and I took the beating without attempting to retaliate.

Dayslater, my friendsandI corneredhim andreally gaveit to him. It becamea majortalking point
amongsttheboys.Whathedid to meonly I knewbutwhatweÐmy friendsandI Ðdid to him became
known to all.

His father was away at that time. So we knew that the news hadnÕt reached the principal.
The sameweekend,Aghaji wasexpectedandI wassentby Amma to fetch him from the railway

station.At thestationmy opponent,thebully, waswaiting for his dadwhowastravellingby thesame
train.

WhenAghaji alighted,the bakeralsosteppeddown. I walkedsilently behindAghaji, a strapping
six-footerwith broad,heavyshoulderswhile thebully walkedsheepishlybehindhissmall-builtfather.
Thenextmorning,whenI encounteredhim onmy way to school,heseemedto bein ahurry to goout
of my sight.He quickenedhis paceandstartedto run.He wasbehavingasif hewasafraidof me.My
friendswho werewalking with me noticedthe changein him. That afternoon,aswe madeour way
home,my friendsandI founda placeto hideat the foot of a hill. We waitedfor him. He hadstayed
backin theclasspretendingthathehadsomethingto do.After a few minutesof waiting we sawhim



coming.He wasalone.As hecamecloserI could feel my heartbeatquickening.Thenext instantwe
surrounded him. There was the kind of fisticuffs that children have with their opponents at that age.

I returnedhomefeeling triumphantbut unusuallysilent. I heardAghaji askingAmma what was
wrong with me.ÔWhyis he so quiet?Justfeel his brow andseeif heÕs alright,ÕI heardhim saying
afterhepassedmy roomandenteredhis roomwhereAmmawasfrantically searchingfor something
she had misplaced.

Amma,of course,knewbetter. ÔIhopeyouÕvenot donesomethingyou wantto hidefrom me,Õshe
saidin herusualgentlevoice.I simply shookmy head,keepingmy gazeon thefloor till sheleft. As
always, she had some work in the kitchen or the garden or the backyard to attend to.

I imaginedwhatwould transpirein schoolthenextday. Theprincipalwould geta complaintandI
would besummonedalongwith my friends.I sincerelywishedI hadnÕt behavedasI did. My peace-
loving consciencewasin a turmoil. Moreover, thePathanin mewasratheruncomfortableaboutthe
way we caught him alone, unawares, and retaliated.

I reachedschoolsomewhatearly thenextday. I sawthebakerandhis sonin theprincipalÕs room.
After anexchangeof words,theycameout andtheboy wasaskedto go to his class.In a little while I
sawAghaji walking,straightanderect,ratherbriskly towardstheprincipalÕsoffice. He tooexchanged
afew wordsandcameout.I waitedbreathlessly, wonderingwhathadbroughtAghaji to my school.To
my surprise,theprincipal,too,cameoutandtheywereall talkingandshakinghands.TheboyÕsfather
wasall respectashestoodbeforeAghaji, listeningto whateverAghaji wassaying.In theend,Aghaji
patted the baker on his shoulder and they walked out of the school together.

I wentto my classroomandtookmy seatin thefirst row. I lookedatmy friendsandtheyseemedto
behappy. I thenlookedat theboyand,to my surprise,hesmiledatme.Whenschoolbroke,hewalked
home with us, laughing and talking as if nothing had happened.

As a boy I wasextremelyhappyin the greensurroundingsin Deolali. Having spenta free, spirited
childhoodin Peshawar, wanderinggleefully in openspaces,breathingfreshair, stoppingby thebrooks
andstreamsin thevalleys,it wassheerdelightto bein Deolali.Whenwe hadarrivedthere,I hadthis
strangefeeling that I may just relive my happychildhoodin Peshawar. The earth,brown andred in
parts,smeltasgoodastheearthbackhomeandthehills, craggyandverdantin themonsoons,filled
my boyishheartwith nostalgia.Theclimatewasperfectandwe hadflowersandfruits in thetreesin
ourgarden,whichwastendedto by ajovial maaliandhiswife whospokeaUP(thenknownasUnited
ProvincesandlatercalledUttarPradesh)dialect,which fascinatedme.Manyyearslater, whenI began
to work on thedialoguesof thefilm GungaJumna(releasedin 1961),it wasthis dialectthatcameto
my mind and ears repeatedly.

Ammaoftensentmeto themaaliÕs houseto eithersummonhim urgentlyor to delivera portionof
thegoodiesAghaji would bring from Bombayfor us.Ammawasalwaysgeneroustowardsthosewho
servedus.Shealwaysspokegently andkindly. Evenwhenshegot annoyedandreprimandedthem,
she did so without hurting their self-esteem.

Deolali, asa picturesqueplace,figured prominentlyin my imaginationwhenwe got down to de-
tailing locationsin thescreenplayof GungaJumna. Thehills, theplainsandthethick grovesmadeup
of all varietiesof woodlandtreeslining thebanksof thewinding streams,sprangup beforemy eyes
whenI picturedthe locationsfor GungaJumnain my mind. In retrospect,I feel Deolali providedas
muchimpetusto my creativethoughtsasthelandsandforts,mountainsandvalleysof Peshawarwhen
I sketchedthe ruggedsettingof GungaJumnaÕs coreconflictsanddramaticscenes.I am inclined to
subscribeto the belief that childhoodimagescling to the subconscioussurreptitiouslyandthey can



emergebeforeyoureyesquiteunexpectedlylike anunexpectedvisitor whosneaksin throughtheback
door to give you a lovely surprise.

During our searchfor theoutdoorlocalesof GungaJumna, I visitedsomeof my childhoodhaunts
and,thoughagreatdealhadchangedin theenvirons,I felt extremelyhappytakingdeepbreathsof the
familiar air.

Thecantonmentwasunchanged.I instantlyrecalledhowI usedto gazeat theofficersin their smart
uniformsandsometimeswonderedhow theymountedthehorsessoquickly androdethemwith such
poiseandconfidence.I wasfascinatedby thehousesof theEnglishofficerswith theirwell-keptlawns,
trimmedhedges,mangotrees,wild raspberryandblackberrybushes.TherewereEnglishflowering
plantsandthe Indianhibiscusasalsorosesof varioushuesandsizes.Our own housewaslargeand
wehada flower gardenin front andakitchengardenin therear. Like theEnglishladieswhosatin the
verandahof their houseswith their knitting, Ammaandtheauntswho camevisiting from Peshawar,
too, satin theverandahof our houseenjoyingthewarmthof theafternoonsunin thewinter months
doing embroidery or crisscrossing fine needles and producing beautiful lace.

Deolali andPoona(now Pune;locatedabout150km from Bombay)areof specialsignificancein my
life. If Deolali restoredthe abandonof my early childhoodin Peshawarwith its plainsandhills and
valleys, Poona gave me a sense of self-assurance and the initial opportunity to develop my character.

Whenthedoctorsfelt AyubSahabwasdoingbetter, Aghaji shiftedusbackto Bombayandwewere
backin ourhousenearCrawfordMarket.Ammawasonceagaincleaningupthebig apartmentthough
shehadservantsnow to helpher. Therewereadditionsto thefamily also.My youngerbrotherNasir
wasfollowed by Mumtaz.Oneby onemy siblingsarrivedwith gapsof a yearor a yearanda half.
Amma was suffering from asthma and she had frightening bouts of breathlessness off and on.

It wasnot just for my educationthatAghaji hadto find resources.All my youngerbrothersandsis-
tershadto beeducatedaswell. Therecessionwassettingin asI beganattendinghighschoolandthen
KhalsaCollegeatMatunga(a locality in centralBombay).It waseasyto walk to AnjumanIslamfrom
homebut theonly way to reachKhalsaCollegewasby takinga tramride. I do not remembernow as
to whereI boardedtheelectrictrameveryday, perhapsit wasat CrawfordMarket,but I havelovely
memoriesof the tram journeysterminatingat Dadar(anotherlocality in centralBombay).I think it
wasoperatedby theBEST(BombayElectricSupplyandTransport),which alsoran thebusservices
on the roads.I enjoyeda tram ride morethana busride for the leisurelyway it meanderedthrough
its routeandmadea lot of noisewhenit pickedup speed.I hadfriendsin collegewho travelledby
trameverydayandsomehowevadedtheconductorwho gavethe ticketsfor the journey. Theywere
very triumphantaboutit. Thetramconductors,unlike thebusconductors,wereusuallylaid backand
conscientiouscommuterslike me hadto go to the conductorwho could be dozingin his seat,wake
him up,getanangrystareandbuyaticket to thedestination.I thereforedid notblamemy friendswho
commutedticketless.ThereweredayswhenI ran on the roadkeepingpacewith the tram, the wind
beating against my face, for the mere fun and joy of it.



With my brothers. (L to R): Aslam, Noor Sahab and Ahsan.

Whenthedecisionto do awaywith thetramservicein Bombayappearedin thenewspapers,I was
amongthethousandsof citizenswhofelt apangin theheart.A largenumberof peoplereportedlylined
thestreetsbetweenParelandDadar(bothlocalitiesin centralBombay)to bid farewellto thelasttram
on thefateful day(31 March1964)it madeits last journey. HadI not ceasedto betheyoungYousuf
Khan,who travelledin theelectrictramsof Bombay, andbecomethestarDilip Kumar, I would have
been one of the spectators of the tram serviceÕs swan song.

For somereasonAghaji hadgreatdreamsfor me.He wantedmeto pursuemy educationandacquire
impressivedegrees.His ultimatedesirewasto seeOBE (Orderof theBritish Empire)attachedto my
name. (India was then ruled by the British.)

ÔHeis capableof muchmorethanyou think,ÕI overheardhim chidingmy Ammaonce.ÔHeshould
notbesellingfruits. Heshouldbestudyinglaw. Hemustgoabroadandstudythere.Hehasthepoten-
tial to become somebody.Õ

I washappyto know from AmmawhatAghaji thoughtof mebut it scaredme,too. Will I beable
to measureup to his expectations?I wasindustriousanddiligent by nature.I wassureI could be a
successfulsoccerplayerif giventheencouragementandsupportto becomeoneÉ but theOBE?How
would I get that?

I wasanavid reader. I enjoyedreadingEnglishandUrdu authors.I wasshyandreservedby nature
butI madefriendseasilywith selectcollegemates.At theKhalsaCollegeI metRajKapoorafteryears.
RajÕs grandfather, DewanBasheshwarnathKapoor, usedto visit us in Peshawar, asnotedearlier, and
thetwo familiesmetin Bombayaswell with thelingeringwarmthandgustothatPathansarefamous
for. Thejoy of speakingthesamelanguage,Pushtu,wasitself somethingspecialfor thetwo families.
Aghaji hada flair for pickingup languages,a forte I haveinheritedandhoned.HecouldspeakPushtu
andthePunjabispokenby thePunjabiresidentsof LahoreasalsoPersianandUrdu besidessufficient
Englishto beunderstoodby hisanglophonefriends.Whenwemovedto Bombay, hebecameconvers-
ant with HindustaniandGujaratiwhich his MemonandBohrafriendsspoke.(MemonsandBohras
are ethnic Muslim communities in western India.)



With Amma.

Ourresidencein Bombaywaslike anopenhousefor AghajiÕsandAmmaÕsfriends.Closeto thebuild-
ing wherewe lived on NagdeviStreet,therewerethe two-storeyedhousesoccupiedby Memonand
Bohrafamilies. The ladiesfrom thosefamilies werevery friendly with Amma andmy eldestsister
Sakina.TherewasoneMemonlady, Baisabi,who regularlyvisited us in the afternoonsandcarried
on long,endlessconversationswith Amma,punctuatedby interludesof heartylaughter. Shewasvery
fond of Amma and she embarrassed me frequently by complimenting me about my looks.

Thefact is I couldnevergetovermy shynessevenafterI enteredmy twenties.I enviedRajwhohad
by thenbecomea friend asthefamilieshadonceagainbecomeclose,carryingforwardthefriendship
of thePeshawardays.Raj wasalwaysat easewith thegirls in thecollegeandhis extrovertnatureand
naturalcharmearnedhim considerablepopularity. If therewasanythingimpressiveaboutmeat that
stage, it was my performance in sports and my acquaintance with English and Urdu literature.

On thefield, while playingfootball or hockey, I wascompletelyat easeandfocusedto thepoint of
forgettingeverythingelse.It wassoccerthat I lovedandwantedto play seriouslyandprofessionally.
I savedeveryrupeeof my pocketmoneyto buy expensiveandcomfortablesportsshoesfrom a shop
nearMetro Cinema(in southBombay).I usedto walk to thegroundsbehindMetro wherewe played
andalsohadourpracticesessions.Aghaji did notmind if I wentaftercollegeto watchafootballgame
at theCooperagegrounds(alsoin southBombay)or wherevertherewasa matchbeingplayedandif
I askedfor extramoney. He washappywith the thoughtthat this sonon whomhehadpinnedhopes
of high educationandthe OBE wasspendingasmuchtime in librariesandseldommissedlectures
in college.He hadmadefriendswith lawyers,doctorsandprofessorswho visited his fruit shopand
he felt proudwhentheycamehomeand,whentheyspoketo me,I conversedfreely andarticulately
with them.Hewouldsendmeto their residenceswith choicefruits andtheirwiveswoulddropin with
home-madesweets,biriyani andotherpreparations.I neverfailed to noticethe respectthey hadfor
Aghaji who was,indeed,morethana fruit merchantto themandto all thosewho camein his contact.
Thoughheneverhadaccessto formal education,which wasabsentduringhis boyhoodandyouth in
Peshawar, hewasa manof nativewisdomandculture.In poise,demeanour, refinementandprudence
in speechandthought,he wasequalto them.Thoughhe wasnot a nativeof Bombayand,assuch,
wasanoutsider, hailing from a socialmilieu thathadlittle in commonwith theurbansophistication
andmoresof that city, Aghaji wasalwaysconfidentandassuredin thecompanyof his friendsfrom
differentwalks of life. He stoodout amongthemwith his impressiveappearance.He hada bodily
presenceandagaitwith his headheldhigh thatcommandeddeference.Hewasalsofull of thePathan



robustnessandcharmthatmadehim standoutamongthelocalMuslimswhenwegatheredat theJuma
Masjid (nearCrawfordMarket) for our Fridayafternoonprayers.Sincethebuilding we stayedin had
four floors, we could seethe terracesof the two-storeyedbuildingsnearbyasalsothe JumaMasjid,
which was close by.

Ourswasa predominantlyMuslim locality but Aghaji hadHindu andChristianfriendswho had
their officesandshopsin nearbyplacessuchasBhendiBazaar, MohammadAli Road,Masjid Bunder
and Pydhonie market.

TherewasonegoodParsifriendof Aghaji whohadashopin thevicinity of CrawfordMarketfrom
wherehepurchasedcrockeryfor thehouseaswell asfor our relativesin Peshawar. He wasa genial,
good-humouredmanwho enjoyedAghajiÕs companyandwasa frequentvisitor at our houseon days
when the market was closed.

Therewasalsoanotherkind friend who hada shopwherekitesof all sizesandcoloursweresold.
He gavetheboysin the locality the liberty to bargainandpick up kitesat throwawayprices.He had
other shops and other businesses and was quite prosperous.

Januarywasthemonthin whichthenewkitesarrivedin hisshopandweneverwastedtimein form-
ing our kite-flying groups.It wasa sportI enjoyedvery much.Theterraceswould befull of enthusi-
astickite-fliers in theeveningsandit wasalwaysgreatfun to bea participantin theaerialcombatsof
kites.Therewasa tingling senseof achievementwhenmy kite sailedpastthat of an adversaryand,
aftera stiff testof manoeuvringskills, succeededin sendingthecompetitorÕs kite to theground.Each
time I was hailed for my victory, I felt buoyant and ecstatic.

My love for kitesandkite-flying continuedevenafterI hadbecomebusyasanactorandthefamily
movedto ahousein Bandra(a locality in westBombay).Amongthemanybig trunksin thebasement
of our houseis onethatcontainstheexquisitekitesI hadpurchasedfrom small townsin Gujarat,Ra-
jasthan, Tamil Nadu and Andhra Pradesh.

At KhalsaCollege,I hadvery few friends.Raj Kapoorbecamea closepal andheusedto takemeto
his housein Matungawherehis fatherPrithvirajji andhis demurewife kept the doorsof the house
openall thetime asthesonsaswell asPrithvirajjiÕs brothersandherbrotherskeptcomingandgoing
constantly. PrithvirajjiÕs imposingpersonalityandhiswarm,agreeablenaturemadehim apopularres-
ident of the locality. In fact, I felt completelyrelaxedwith RajÕs family. The liberal andinfectiously
friendly Kapoorshadno hesitationwhatsoeverin sharingtheir heartinesswith whoeverwaswilling
to absorbit. I would find myself voluntarily participatingin the feastingandmerrimentamongthe
youngunclesandnephewswithout a traceof my shyness.As in all goodIndianfamilies,therespect
Prithvirajji commandedasthe headof the family wasneverlessenedby the freedomhe gaveto his
sonsandbrothersto betheir own selves.He did not wantthemto pretendto bewhathewishedthem
to be.Heobviouslybelievedin lettinghissonsgrowupasindividualswith their individualpersonality
intact.

I havegoneinto all this detailingfor a specificpurpose.It is meantto inform thosereaders,who
may havebeenmisledinto imaginingthat Raj KapoorandI only professedfriendshipwhile a deep
professionalrivalry brewedbetweenus,thatourswasnotmerelya friendshipof two individualsin the
same profession but a bonding that grew from well-placed trust and respect.

RajÕsyoungerbrothers,ShammiandShashi,werein schoolthen.Rajhadonly thatmuchinterestin
soccerasmostothersin thecollege.Themajority of my collegefriendswereinterestedin cricketand
Raj, too,wasmorea keencricketplayerthana soccerplayer. But heplayedsoccertoo,andwasvery
encouragingwhenhenoticedmy dedicationandenthusiasm.With his handsomeappearanceandthe



twinkle in his blueeyes,hehadmadefriendswith manygirls andheplayedwith unusualŽlanwhen
the girls cheered him. He was a born extrovert and charmer.

Whenheintroducedmeto thegirls from thecollegeandfrom his class,I spokelessandpreferred
to let themtalk. I alwaysadmiredtheeasewith which Raj conductedhimself in their companywhile
I hesitated to be in their midst for too long.

I rememberanoccasionwhenRaj testedmy gutsby telling methata beautifulgirl studyingin the
collegewantedto be introducedto meandhepointedto onestandingsomedistanceaway. He urged
meto goandspeakto her. Therewerequitea few boysandgirls aroundusandRajkeptonurgingme
to walk up to her. I wasextremelyembarrassedandI told him I couldnot do thatwith somanyeyes
staringat me.He thensaid:ÔOkay, let us go to the canteen.ÕHe signalledto the girl to cometo the
canteenand,to my dismay, shewasright thereat thetablethatRaj wasleadingmeto. I hadto speak
to herandI think sherealizedshewouldbewastinghertime if shechosemeto beherfriend.Shejust
got up and left after a few minutes.

With Raj Kapoor Ð lifetime friends.

Raj wasdeterminedto rid meof my shyness.Oneeveninghecameover to my houseandinsisted
ongoingto Colabafor awalk on thepromenadeoppositetheTaj MahalHotel. I readilyagreed.When
we alightedfrom thebusneartheGatewayof India, hesaid:ÔLetus takea tongaride.ÕI agreed.We
boardeda tongaandjust whenthe tongawalawasaboutto prod the horseto get going,Raj stopped
him. Henoticedtwo Parsigirls standingon thefootpath.Theywerewearingshortfrocksandgiggling
aboutsomething.Raj cranedhis neckandaddressedthemin the Gujarati that the Parsisspeak.The
girls turnedto him. Very chivalrouslyandpolitely heaskedthemif hecoulddrop themsomewhere.
TheymusthavethoughthewasaParsi,his fair complexionandgoodlooksbeingsuch.Theysaidthey
wouldappreciatea lift to thenearbyRadioClub.Heaskedthemto hopin. I washoldingmy breathin
suspense not knowing what he was up to.

The two girls got in andoneof themsatnext to Raj while theothersatnext to me in theopposite
seat.I madeamplespacefor thegirl to sit comfortablywhile Raj did nothingof thesort.He hadthe
girl sitting very closeto him and,aftera minute,theyweretalking like long-lostfriends.Raj hadhis
handaroundthe girlÕs shoulderandshewasnot in the leastbothered.While I beganto squirmwith
embarrassment, Raj was chatting away merrily.

Theyalightedat theRadioClub andI heaveda sighof relief. It wasRajÕs way of gettingmeto feel
relaxedin thecompanyof women.Hewasanaturalcharmerandhewasanythingbut shy. Yethewas
not disrespectful or uncouth. He was plain mischievous.

As PrithvirajjiÕs sonhe hadan auraaroundhim andwaspopularin the collegecampus.He knew
hewasheadingfor a professionin which therewasno roomfor reticenceor shyness.I did not havea
clueaboutwhatwasin storefor me.All I wantedthenwasto becomethecountryÕsbestsoccerplayer.



Playing cricket with Mohammad Umar Mukri as the wicketkeeper.

I wasindeedveryseriousaboutpreparingfor asportscareer. Everyeveningaftercollege,it became
a routinefor me to go to the groundsbehindMetro Cinema(wherethe HomeGuardsDivision now
hasits headquarters)andplay football with otherswho werealsoequallyseriousaboutpursuinga ca-
reerin thesport.Therewasa shopnearMetro from whereI purchasedmy sportsshoesandmy first
cricketbat.Althoughsoccerwasmy first love, I playedcricket too with passion.Theathleticsideof
mewasalsostrongwhenI participatedin schoolandcollegeathletics.I emergedvictoriousin every
200 metres race.

Aghaji wasproudof my interestin sportsandhepattedmeonmy backwheneverI broughthomea
trophyor acertificatefor my achievementsin thatfield. Hewasfine with all thatbuthisdreamwasto
see me in a profession like law or in the civil services.

I personallyfelt it wasprematurefor meto discloseto Aghaji thatI hada desireto becomeeithera
soccerchampionor acricketer. I wasawareof hisdreamsfor me.I thoughtmaybeI couldtry my hand
at business.In a smallway I alwaystried to helpAghaji in keepingrecordsof theinflow andoutflow
of revenues.It wasnot knownto methen,asit is with all mortals,thata destinywasbeingcarvedfor
me by the Almighty.



6
THE POONA INTERLUDE

AsI satalonein myroomthat night, I kepthearingthe jailorÕswordsin mysubconsciousanda
senseof pride built up within methat I had spenta night in jail with GandhijiÕsfollowersand,
evenif it wasfor a fewfleetingmoments,I wasunafraidof expressingmypride aboutmycountry
and my compatriots.

I DONÕTREMEMBER WHEN EXACTLY BUT I WAS IN MY TEENSWHEN I impulsively setout for Poona(now
Pune)from Bombayaftera mild disagreementwith Aghaji. We did not exchangeharshwordsor any
suchthing.He lost his temperoversometrivial matterandI still do not know whatgot into meat that
moment.Noneof usdaredto look into his eyeswhenhewasangryand,on that fateful day, I decided
to leave home quietly with more hurt and humiliation in my heart than anger or spite.

TheSecondWorld War wasragingandthefamily wasgoingthrougha crisiscausedby diminishing
incomefrom thefruit business,which wasbecomingdifficult to maintainasthesupplyfrom theNorth
WestFrontierhaddwindleddueto strict wartimecurbson tradeandtransportof non-essentialcom-
modities.This wasbecausethetrain bogieswerebeingusedfor carryingammunitionandsoldiers.All
our orchardswerein Peshawarandwe hadno landherethatwe couldcall our own. I couldsensethe
insecurityAghaji was feeling aboutthe future. We werea large family comprisinga large broodof
daughtersandsons.My sweetandkind-heartedAmma wasailing alreadywith symptomsof asthma
andmy brotherAyub Sahabwasbeingtreatedfor the bonedislocationhe hadsufferedwhenhe fell
off a horsewhile looking aroundfor freshsuppliesof applesin Kashmirandhadbeenbedriddenever
since.Also, two auntsfrom AghajiÕs sidehadbecomepermanentfixtures in our homein Bombayas
well. Theycontinuedto wallow in comforthere,too, astheydid in Peshawarwhile Ammasloggedin
the kitchen.

I wishedto beof somehelp to Aghaji by generatingsubstantialincomebut I hadno ideahow I could
do so. My eldersister, SakinaAapa,wasof marriageableageandit wasa constantworry to Amma
thatshelackedthefemininesoftnessthatmadeyoungwomenattractiveto prospectiveparentslooking
for bridesfor their sons.SakinaAapawasliterally theruler of thehouseandhadperhapsinheritedthe
despoticwaysof my Dadi (paternalgrandmother).Shearguedendlesslywith Ammaoversilly matters,
only to have her way and emerge triumphant.

I couldseethatAghaji wascarryingtheburdenof anuncertainfuturein his mind andI shouldhave
not behavedtheway I did on thatmorning.I left homewith just forty rupeesin my pocket,boardinga
train to Poonafrom Bori Bunderstation.I foundmyself seatedamidstall sortsof menandwomenin
a crowdedthird-classcompartment.I hadneverbeforetravelledthird classandI hopedno oneknown
to Aghaji hadseenmeat the railway terminalboardingthatcompartmentbecausehewasalwaysone
to give his sonsthebestin everythingandall of ushadfirst-classpassesfor our local travel.I choseto
travelby third classthatmorningbecauseI hadto conservethelimited moneyI hadwith metill I found
myself gainful employment.
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WhenI alightedat the Poonarailway station,I wasstill hurting insideandwasat a lossto figure
out why Aghaji hadgot angrywith metheway hedid. Hadthehurt lessenedduringthejourney, may
beI would haveboughtmyselfanotherticket andreturnedto thecomfortof my homeandto my dear
Amma who I knew would go crazy with worry over my disappearance.

As Destinywould haveit, I wasdeterminedto proveto Aghaji thatI couldsurviveawayfrom these-
curity of ourhomeandtheeasylife hehadprovideduswith. Strangely, my elderbrother, NoorSahab,
neverfelt theway I did. He took it for grantedthatAghaji would betherealwaysto give him money.
It did not botherhim at all how hardit wasfor Aghaji to makethekind of moneythatwasneededto
keepusall in comfort.He wasof theopinionthat thegirls in thefamily did not haveto go to school
andcollege.He tried to convincemethatI waswrongwhenI endorsedAghajiÕs decisionto sendour
sisters to school and later college to study the subjects they were interested in.

In retrospect,I think I wasreally adventurousto leavehomeandheadfor a city whereI knewno
oneandhadno ideaof theemploymentopportunitiesthere.In Poona,I went first to an IraniancafŽ,
whereI orderedteaandcrisp khari (salty) biscuits.I wasfeeling happythat I hadchosena city far
awayfrom homewhereI would beanonymousandcouldseekanykind of employment.In Bombay,
I couldnot havedonethataspeoplewould haveknownmeasSarwarKhanSahabÕs sonandit would
have hurt AghajiÕs pride if I had taken up a job not befitting our social status.

I spoketo the Iranianownerof the cafŽin Persian,which madehim very happy. I gingerly asked
him if heknewanybodywho wanteda shopassistantor something.He told meto go to a restaurant
that was not far from his cafŽ and meet the owners, an Anglo-Indian couple.

It wasa beautifulwinter morningandthesunwasshiningthroughthecloudsthatseemedto move
with hasteasif they hadto get somewhereurgently. I pausedoutsidethe IraniancafŽto takein the
beautyof theday, warmingup to thecityÕs bustle,which wasof coursenothingcomparedto whatwe
see now in the happening second metropolis of Maharashtra.

It wasmy habit to walk briskly, so I reachedthe restaurantin no time. It wasa quaintrestaurant
with its doorsopenfor peoplewho camethereregularly, I guessed,for a goodEnglishbreakfast.The
tableswerenot too closeto eachotherandwerecoveredwith cleancloth.Therewasonly onewaiter
who bustledfrom onetableto another, carryingomelettesandslicesof bread.Being an ardentom-
elettelover evenat thatyoungage,thearomawasinviting but I decidedto pursuemy objectivefirst.
I spottedthecouplehavingananimatedconversationat thecashcounter. I walkedup to thembut for
a few minutestheydid not noticeme.Theyweretalking abouta regularcustomerwho hadnÕt shown
up for some days and I could guess they were talking about a soldier of the British Army.

Whentheynoticedme,I quickly introducedmyselfwithoutrevealingmuch.I referredto theIranian
cafŽownerwho haddirectedmeto them.Thelady wasplumpandmatronly. Shesmiledhesitatingly
throughthedimplesin herfreckledcheeksandnudgedhertall sturdyhusbandsaying:ÔTheboyspeaks
good English. Send him to the canteen contractor.Õ

Mr Welsely, as I understoodhis namewas, lookedat me carefully, payingscantattentionto his
wifeÕsrecommendation,andaskedmeif I hailedfrom theNorthWestFrontierProvince.WhenI mur-
muredin the affirmative, he told me that he knew the army canteencontractorwho wasa nativeof
Peshawarandhadsettleddownin Poonaandwasamuchrespectedperson.ThiswassomethingI was
dreading.Anyonefrom Peshawarwould know Aghaji andthat would leadto trouble for me asthe
newswould reachhim aboutmy job huntingin Poona.Brushingasideall thewild thoughtscrowding
my mind, I told Mr WelselyI would begratefulif hecouldput in a word for me.He agreedandthe
nextthingonmy agendawasto find aplaceto stay, aroommaybein ahotelthatcouldgivemedecent



comfortslike a cleanbedanda bathroomwith hot water. I askedMr Welselyif hecouldsuggestsuch
a hotel. He sent me to one that had the amenities I had mentioned.

Alone in my room that night, I felt the first pangof separationfrom my parents,especiallyfrom
Amma. I could imagineher simmeringgrief andher helplessness.I knew shefelt Aghaji shouldnÕt
havegot so furiouswith mebut it wasnot in hernatureto questionhim or opposehim. I neverever
sawthemexchangingendearmentsor sitting closeto eachother. Theirswasa relationshipthat had
layersof implicit understanding,trust,respectandlove. Much of what theywishedto tell eachother
aboutimmediateconcernsÐbe it aboutthe financialneedsfor runningthekitchenof a home,which
hadits doorsopenall dayfor visitorswho enjoyedAghajiÕs companyandhis hospitalityor thesocial
interactions of Noor Sahab Ð remained unspoken.

I couldnot sleepfor a long time becauseI wasfeelingsorryfor Ammaandmissingthesoft lullaby
shesangfor mewhenI couldnot fall asleepeasily. However, my determinationto standon my feet
andearna goodincomewasforemostin my mind andthatsenseof purposehelpedto dispelall my
sadness. Before long I fell asleep.

Thenextmorning,I walkedto theoffice of thecanteencontractorwith a prayerthatheshouldnot
recognizeme. Lo and behold! I found myself standingin front of the youngerbrotherof AghajiÕs
friend from Peshawar. He waspolite andheaskedmeto beseated.Thegentlemanin front of mewas
Taj MohammadKhan andhis elderbrotherwasFatehMohammadKhan OBE (Orderof the British
Empire).Therewasno sign of recognitionwhenI introducedmyself rathervaguelyasa job seeker
from Bombay. I wasfully awareof hisbackgroundsinceAghaji hadoftenmentionedhisnamein con-
versations with friends who came from Poona to visit him.

Taj MohammadKhan hadthe usualawe-inspiringbearingof a Pathanandhe did not askme any
questions.Hegavemeasheetof paperandapenanddictateda letterto thecanteenmanagerrequest-
ing him to employmeashisassistant.I took thedictationobedientlyandcorrectedtheEnglish,which
betrayedhis not havingmuchfamiliarity with thelanguage.He wasimpressedbut hedid not wantto
show it to a rank outsider, I surmised.

Themanagerwasindeedin searchof anassistantwho could takechargeof someof themoreirk-
someburdenshe wasshoulderingin the daily managementof the canteen.He wasextremelyhappy
thatI couldconversefluently in English.He showedmemy roomandconfirmedmy appointmentby
shakingmy handvigorously. Therewasno talk of wagesbut I presumedit would bedecentandsuffi-
cient to sustain myself.

My immediateneedof gettingemploymentwasfulfilled andit gavemeagreatsenseof achievement.
HereI wasin acity, whereI wasastranger, andI hadnotonly founda job butdecentaccommodation
aswell. ThealienationI felt thepreviousdaywaslesseningalready. Therewasmuchto look forward
to andI thoughtI could proveto Aghaji that I wasnÕt asworthlessashe hadmademe feel with his
ranting on the day he lost his temper.

My job entailedseveralresponsibilitiesbundledtogetherunderthe head:generalmanagement.I
hadto checkthestockof fruits, grocery, vegetables,eggs,milk, cheeseandbuttereverydayandget
freshstock from the market,taking carenot to buy old stock that shopkeeperstried to palm off as
new. I hadto ensurethat thekitchenandits environmentwerecleanandhygienic.Thepoolsideand
thecleanlinessof thewaterin thepool alsohadto beattendedto. Thebar thatArmy Club members
frequentedin thesummerafternoonshadto bewell stockedwith barrelsof beerandotheralcoholic
beveragesfor themenandfruit punchesfor theladies.Finally, I hadto maintainregistersandaccount
booksfor cashinflows andoutflows.By the time thecanteenmanagershowedmearoundandlisted
my responsibilities,I hadhalf amind to askhim whatwasleft for him to doasmanagerif I wasbeing



entrustedwith all the taskshe hadenumerated.BetterwisdomprevailedandI followed him meekly
while he talked in a jumble of English and Urdu, which was exasperating for me as a listener.

I startedoff with greatconfidencesinceI could judgethequality of the fruits, vegetables,cheese,
butter, eggsandso on with ease.Therewassomethingfishy going on betweenthe vendorsandthe
manageraboutwhich I cameto know by andby whenI rejectedsomeof thestuff thatwasof lesser
quality but wasbeingpurchasedat a higherprice.Thebeerin thebarrelswasbeingmixedwith buck-
etsof ice andcold waterto augmentthequantityandI broughtthematterto themanagerÕs attention
dutifully. He advisedme to overlook it and,without stoppingto explainwhy, he went aboutdoing
whatever he was pretending to do.

It did not takelong for meto realizethatI shouldkeepmy distancefrom whateverthemanagerwas
doing,legitimatelyor illegitimately. I think heappreciatedmy feignedignoranceof his doingsand,in
return,hewasextremelyniceto me.He did not mind theattentionI got from thecolonels,brigadiers,
majorsandcaptainswho frequentedtheclub andorderedsnacksduringthedayandreappearedin the
eveningsfor drinks.A partof theclub wasopenonly to theofficersandanotherpart in therearwas
opento theTommies(British soldierswhowerenotofficers).Theladieswhoaccompaniedtheofficers
sometimeschangedto swimwearandplungedinto theswimmingpool. Initially I did not know what
to do ÐwhetherI shouldbe aroundor not whenthe ladiesin their swimsuitssplashedaroundin the
pool. I camefrom a conservativebackground,from a family wherethe ladieswerevirtually covered
from headto toe andshowedonly their beautiful facesandhands.I realizedthat the ladiesdid not
mindmy presenceatall andtheofficerswereunawareof my embarrassment.Theywereall very fond
of meandcalledmeChicoÐa namemy wife Sairastill useswhenshewantsto flirt with me in her
own refined manner. I learned that Chico in Spanish meant a youngster or a lad.

Therewereofficerswhocalledmeby my name,YousufKhan,pronouncedwith astrongBritish ac-
cent.Theywereat first very curiousto know how I couldspeakEnglishtheway thelanguageshould
bespoken.Theyliked theway I dressedimmaculatelyin clean,ironedtrousersandfull-sleevedshirts.
Fromthetime I canrememberI hada fetishfor wearingwell-stitchedtrousersandfull-sleevedshirts
of goodquality material.The friendlinessof the officers gaveme solaceanda wonderfulfeeling of
belonging.

I mingledfreely with theofficersandtheTommies.I observedthat theTommieswould getdrunk
andthey did not evenknow that the beerwasdiluted. Therewerebathroomsat the club wherethe
Tommiesusedto batheandit wassuchashockfor poormeto seethemundressin front of oneanother
without theslightesthesitation.Theywould oftenstandstarknakedundertheshowerwith thedoors
open.Theywould often tell me to comealongandjoin them.Onehot summerday, oneof theTom-
miesgot sozzledandhedraggedmeto thebathroomandforcedmeto takeoff my clothesandtakea
shower.

It wasa bit of a shockanda hugeembarrassmentbecauseI wasextremelyconsciousof my hairy
body, especiallythehair on my hands,which would fall limp on onesidewhenwaterfell over them
andsowouldall thehairon therestof my body. Hence,I neverliked theideaof exposingmy body. It
is for this very reason that I have had a preference for long-sleeved shirts.

My hairinesswasalsothe despairof mosquitoes,which got entangledin the thick clusterson my
handsandlegs.I would seethehelplesscreaturestrying to escapefrom whatcouldbelike anAfrican
jungle to themandI alwaysfelt sorry for thepoor insectsandhelpedthemfly out. So in all fairness
to theunsuspectingmosquitoesandtheaestheticsensesof whoevermight seteyesonmy ape-likeap-
pearance in a swimming pool, I had sensibly decided not to ever descend into one.



Therewasalot of camaraderiein therankandfile of theBritish Army while theofficerswerereserved
andextremelygentlemanly. An ideaoccurredto meonedaywhentheregularchefwasabsentandthe
manageraskedmeif I couldcomeup with somethingasa majorgeneralwashavinga few important
guestsfor tea.I told him I couldmakesandwicheswith reasonablesuccess.He askedmeto go ahead,
but warnedme to becarefulto usefreshbreadandbutterandotheringredients.I assuredhim that I
would makesureeverythingwasfreshevenasI wonderedhow I couldensurethatwith all thecon-
niving going on between him and the vendors.

Fortunately, thesandwicheswerea hit. Theguestsof themajorgeneralpraisedthemanager, who
receivedthecomplimentssmiling broadly. Thatwaswhenthe ideaoccurredto meto requesthim to
getsanctionfrom thecontractorandtheclubÕsoffice bearersto let mesetupasandwichcounterat the
club in theevenings.Sincehewasvery pleasedwith meandheknewI hadknowledgeof whatwas
goingon betweenhim andseveralsuppliers,hesentmy requestto theconcernedauthoritieswith his
recommendation and permission was granted.

My sandwichbusinessopenedvery successfully. All thesandwichesweresoldout in no time and
the latecomersweredisappointedwhenthey foundout that thesandwicheswerevery tastyandthey
hadmissedthe chanceto enjoy them.On the secondday, I broughtout a large tableandcoveredit
with white, starchedcloth andlaid out freshfruits that I hadselectedcarefully from themarketalong
with sandwichesandchilled lemonade.Theseconddaywasabiggersuccessand,in lessthanaweekÕs
time,I wascountingtherewardswith asenseof joy thatcomeswhenoneÕshardwork yieldsunexpec-
ted results.

The officers werenow friendlier andthey would askme aboutmy family andit astonishedthem
thatAmmacoulddeliversomanychildrenandstill bealive. WhenI beganmakingmoneyfrom the
sandwichbusiness,I foundthecourageto senda telegramto my brotherAyub Sahabinforming him
that I wasin Poonaandhe may pleasetell Amma that ÔIam well andworking in the British Army
canteenÕ.My telegrammusthavegivenAmmamuchrelief. Thefollowing week,Ayub Sahabarrived
without prior intimationandhebroughtdry fruits andsooji (semolina)halwapreparedby Ammafor
me.He hadalsobroughtsomemoney, which Ammahadsavedfrom herhouseholdallowances.I was
sohappyto seeAyubSahab,whocouldnÕt hidethetearsglisteningin hiseyeswhenheandtheattend-
ant who came with him met me at the reception counter of the club.

I told Ayub Sahabthat I wascomfortableanddoingwell andI did not needthemoneyAmmahad
sentthroughhim. He could seefor himself how everybodyknew me and I waswell fed, haleand
hearty. If therewasanythingI did not have,it wasthewarmthof my family. I wasalwaysvery com-
fortabletalking to Ayub Miyan. He andI shareda brotherlybondthatwasstronganddeep.I poured
outmy heartto him, talkingto him while sittingonabenchin aparknearbyasthesunwentdowninch
by inchonthehorizonin ablazeof orangeandgold,while thebirdsflew hurriedlyinto thebranchesof
treescreatinga cacophonyof twittersandscreeches,perhapssignallingto oneanotherthatonemore
day wasdone.I recountedto Ayub Sahabhow I hadsetout impulsively andhow I felt remorseful
aboutnot confidingin him or Amma.I told him how muchI wantedto beof supportto Aghaji, given
thedifficult situationhewasin. Ayub Sahabunderstoodand,sensitiveashewas,hejust listenedand
spoke little.

Hereturnedto BombaythenextmorningandI wentbackto work afterseeinghim off at therailway
station,somewhatlessburdenedandmorerelaxed.At theclub a surprisewasawaitingme.Corporal
Marlowe, who wasknown to me at Deolali, hadarrivedon duty in Poona.As I seteyeson him in
the club, standingat the bar with his drink in hand,looking assevereashe alwaysdid, a torrentof
gruesomememoriesflashedbeforemy mind. At Deolali hewasknownasÔthedogmanÕ.My school
friendsandI took to our heelswhenwe ran into him becausewe imaginedhe wassomekind of an
ogreandnot a humanbeing.His stockyfigure,evenin thedistanceaswe returnedfrom schoolin the
lateafternoons,frightenedus.Thereasonwasthathehadthe regularhabitof aiminghis revolverat



anystraydoghesawandshootingthepoor, unpreparedanimaldeadin oneshot.After thedogstopped
breathing,hewould takea knife out of a baghekept in therearof his jeepandtiptoeup to thedead
animal, cut its tail and put it into the bag.

I wastooyoungto beconvincedabouthisactionwhenChachaUmmerexplainedto methathewas
doingsobecausestraydogswerenotallowedto wanderin thecantonmentpremisesandin thevicinity
andthathewascuttingthetails to keepa countof thedogshehadshotandto accountfor thebullets
hehadused.It wasaneeriememorythatI hadsuccessfullyerasedfrom my mindasI grewupandwe
moved back to Bombay.

Whenthe bar tendercalledout to me to introducethe corporal,I felt the sametingle in my spine
thatI usedto wheneverI boltedto hideandwatchhim drivepastin his jeeponDeolaliÕsruggedroads.
He greeted me without a smile and walked away.

Initially, thecorporalhadno intentionof beingfriendly. However, hebeganto showsignsof thaw-
ing asthedayspassedand,beforelong,we wereon very friendly termsasherealizedthatall theof-
ficers liked meandtreatedmewell. His obsessionwith killing of straydogscontinuedin Poona,too,
but it wasnot asregularasit wasin Deolali sincestraydogscouldrarelybesightednearthecanton-
ment.He stayednearbyandI noticedhehada prettydaughterwho camewith him to theclub often.
The girl hadsomethinggoing with a junior officer who gaveher enoughencouragementto be seen
with him aloneat latehoursoutsidetheclub. I knewwhatwasgoingon andkepta discreetdistance
from them.

My room within the club premiseswasnice andcomfortable,thoughsmall. It hada glasswindow,
which provideda clearview of thehall wheretheofficersgatheredin theeveningswhentherewasa
partyhostedby oneof theseniors.Therewould bemusicandI couldseetheofficersandtheir wives
dancingto it. Theofficerswould bewearingelegantsuitswith smartIndiansilk tiesthatwerebought
at exclusiveshops.I wonderedif I would everpossessonesuchsuit. Little did I know thenthatone
day I would possessthe finest suits a man of good tastecould buy and own! I sometimesreflect,
whenI seethearrayof garmentsin my wardrobe,perhapsmy preferencefor suitsasformal wearhas
something to do with the longing I had during the Army Club days.

Oneday, after I closedmy sandwichstall, I decidedto go to my roomfor a nap.I walkedtowards
my roomlazily and,to my surprise,I foundthedoorof my roomhalf open.A coupleof daysearlier
therehadbeena burglary, which createda commotionandthepolicehadto becalledto investigate.I
fearedthesameburglar hadbrokeninto my roomperhapsandmadeawaywith my hard-earnedsav-
ings. I quickenedmy paceandwalkedto my room.Thesightbeforemewasunbelievable.Thecor-
poralÕs daughter was sprawled on my bed completely naked!

I stoodfrozenat the door andshesawme from the inviting positionshehadtakenknowingly. I
turnedandalmostranto themanagerÕs cabin,my heartalmostburstingwith anger, disgustandfear. I
informedhim aboutwhatI hadseenandheimmediatelyaccompaniedmeto my room,giving ventto
his suppressedsuspicionsaboutthegirl, herclandestineaffair andherweird mentalstate.Fortunately
for me,heknewmewell by thenandwascertainthat I wastelling thetruth. By thetime we reached
my room,thegirl wasgone.Themanagerlookedat me,his eyebrowraisedquestioningly. I heldhim
by hiselbowandmadehim turnaroundandwalk backwith me.I hadthis lurking feelingthatshehad
headedfor the poolside.We reachedthe pool andthereshewas,standingon the raisedboardabove
thepool sansherclothesandwasswayingasif shewason a dancefloor. Thewind wasblowing her
hairoverherfaceandthesightfrightenedthemanagerasmuchasit scaredmebecauseshecouldhave
fallen headlonginto thepool andcreateda panicsituationwherethewholeclub would haveunneces-
sarily comeinto thespotlight.Fora teenager, I think I hadquitesomematurityasI remainedcooland



nudgedthemanagerto actfastandgetherdownfrom thespringboardwhereshewasstandingalmost
on the edge.Broughtup strictly by God-fearingPathanparentsandgrandparents,the only womenI
knewweremy Dadi, Amma,my sisters(includingcousins)andmy aunts,who werealwayscovered
from headto toein thetypicalattirethattheMuslim womenof theNorthWestFrontierworevirtually
throughouttheday. HereI wasstaringatanudegirl in theflushof youthasonecouldsee.It wasnÕt as
if I wasnot libidinousasmostyoungchapsareat thatage.It wasjust that thewholeepisodeevoked
embarrassmentandshockmorethanall thenormalresponsesof youthandapproachingmanhoodin a
robust teenager.

Themanagerhadthepresenceof mindto sendtwo womenstaff members(whowerein thepremises
doingthecleaning)to bringherdownwith ablanketwrappedaroundher. Shewascompletelyunaware
of whatwashappeningandsubmittedherselfto betakenawayby thecleaningwomen.I donÕt know
wheretheytookherandwhathappenedto herafterthatincident.Themanagerdid not tell meanything
and I did not ask him any questions because I thought it best to close the chapter and forget about it.

As mentionedearlier, it waswartimeandthereusedto bediscussionsamongtheseniorofficersabout
IndiaÕs neutralstandin thewar. Oneeveninganofficer askedmeto give my opinionon this topic and
asto why we werefighting for independencefrom British rule sorelentlesslywhile we choseto stay
unalignedin thewar. I gavehim what I thoughtwasa goodreply andheaskedme if I would make
a speechbeforetheclub membersthenexteveningwhentheattendancewould be full. I agreedand
spentthe night preparingmy speech.I hadstudiedthe British Constitutionasa studentat Anjuman
IslamSchoolandput thatknowledgeto goodusein preparingaspeechthatoutlinedoursuperiorityas
a nation of hard-working, truthful and non-violent people.

While makingmy speechin theclub, I emphasizedthatour strugglefor freedomwasa legitimate
oneandit wasthey, theBritish administrators,whowereconsciouslymisrepresentingthecivil lawsof
their Constitution and creating the consequences.

My speechevokedgenuineapplauseandI felt elatedbut theenjoymentof my successwasshort-
lived. To my surprise,abunchof policeofficersarrivedon thesceneandhandcuffedme,sayingI had
to bearrestedfor my anti-Britishviews.I wastakenawayto theYerawadaJail andlockedup in acell
with somevery decent-lookingmen,who I wastold, weresatyagrahis(followersof MahatmaGandhi
whoofferedpassiveresistance).Onmy arrival, thejailor referredto measaÔGandhiwalaÕ;I couldnot
figure out why hewasusingthis termfor metill I heardthepolicemenrefer to all the inmatesof the
cell as Gandhiwalas. It was their way of herding us together as followers of Gandhiji.

I exchangedpleasantrieswith my fellow inmatesandthey told me that SardarVallabhbhaiPatel
(oneof theprominentleadersof thefreedommovement)wasin oneof thecellsandtheywereall on
a hungerstrikealongwith him. I donÕt know why, but I too felt I shouldfastwith them.SoI refused
thefood thatwasbroughtfor mein anuncleanplate.Thenightwaslongandpangsof hungerkeptme
awaketill dawn.In themorning,I heardthesoundof bootsapproachingmy cell andsoonthe jailor
wasstandingbeforemeaccompaniedby anarmymajor. ÔHereis yourGandhiwala,Õhesaidsarcastic-
ally. Themajorhadcometo releasemeandtakemeback.Hewasagoodchapwith whomI hadplayed
badminton when I could find time for the sport on an occasional Sunday.

As soonasI reachedthe club, I askedfor food andit amusedeverybodyaroundme whenI told
themI hadfastedall night. It might havesoundedfunny to thembut for meit meantbeinga Gandhi-
walaat leastfor onenight. As I satalonein my roomthatnight, I kepthearingthe jailorÕs wordsin
my subconsciousandasenseof pridebuilt upwithin methatI hadspentanight in jail with GandhijiÕs
followersand,evenif it wasfor a few fleetingmoments,I wasunafraidof expressingmy prideabout
my country and my compatriots.



7
THE RETURN OF THE PRODIGAL

Hewashappythatoneof hissonshadtheacumento carry on thefruit trade.However,something
insidemewasgiving methe feeling that it wasall very well to takeover the mantlefrom Mo-
hammadSarwarKhan,thesuccessfulfruit merchant,andcarry on the family trade,but this was
not what I was made for.

AS THE WAR SITUATION WORSENED,SOME INEVITABLE CHANGES occurred.The office bearersof the club
changedandthecontractor, Taj MohammadKhan,wasreplacedby someonewhomthenewexecutive
committeechose.The managertoo did not wish to continueandhe advisedme to moveon. By that
time,I hadearnedabundleof currencynotes,which I countedfor thefirst time.I hadagoodfive thou-
sandrupees,which wasa greatdealof moneythosedays.Themonthof Ramzaan(whenMuslimsare
supposedto keepa rozaor fast from sunriseto sunset)wascomingto a closeasI foundout from the
maulvi sahab(religiousscholar)andothersI kept in touchwith at the local mosque.I thoughtit was
time to returnto Bombayandseeka job thatAghaji would approveof or assisthim in therunningof
thefruit business.I wasnow a far moreconfidentandfree-spiritedyoungmanthanI wasearlierandI
wonderedhow I would explainmy goingawayto Aghaji. I wascertainthathewould beunforgiving
till Amma pacifiedhim in her own gentleway. In fact, hadI not goneawayin a huff over the trivial
incidentandAghajiÕsrageoverit, thewholesituationwouldhavereturnedto normalthenextdayitself,
with AmmaÕs winsomepersuasiveabilitiescomingto the fore in blowing thecrisisover. It wassheer
Destiny that I did not give her or myself a chance to normalize the situation.

I wasnow happythatI hadventuredout on my own andgainedsomevaluableexperiencebut,asI had
tasteda little bit of ÔfreedomÕ,I wasunsurewhetherI would beableto continueto submitto AghajiÕs
will and do everything as he wished.

I returnedto Bombaya few daysbeforeEid-ul Fitr, which is celebratedwith gaietyandbonhomie
after a monthof roza on the sightingof the crescentmoon.My elderbrotherAyub Sahabknew the
dateof my arrival but he kept it a secretto give a surpriseto Amma.My youngerbrotherNasir and
my sisterswerealsoawarethat theprodigalwascominghomebut theytoo remainedtight-lipped.My
youngestsisterwasstill a child andknewnothingmorethanto cry for herfeedswhenshewashungry.
WhenI climbedthestairsto our houseon the fourth floor, I couldhearmy heartbeatsloud andclear.
The familiar soundsof the street,the nosyneighboursstaringasthey alwaysdid andthe screeching
hornsof the few carsthat plied on the streetandbeggedcool, indifferentpedestriansto moveout of
theway wereall sowelcomingandlovely for once.I realizedhow muchI hadmissedall thesesights
andsoundswhile I wasawayin a city whereI imaginedI wasrevelling in my anonymity, whereas,
in reality, I wassubconsciouslypining for thewarm,indescribablesecurityof my family andfamiliar
surroundings.

WhenI enteredthe house,my youngersistersfirst sawme andthey ran to give Amma the news.
ShecameouthurriedlyandI stoodtransfixedwhereI was,unableto takeastepforwardbecauseI was
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tremblingwith relief andhappiness.In thenextinstant,while I embracedAmma,who wastalking in-
audiblyin thedin my sistersandbrothersweremaking,I heardfootstepsnearthedoor, which I feared
wereAghajiÕs. It turnedout to beChachaUmmerwhohadheardfrom themenon thefirst floor about
my reappearanceandhadcomeup to verify. To put it briefly, the reunionwasof thenatureonesaw
in thegoodfamily films we usedto makeat onetime exceptthatnobodyknewwho wassayingwhat
to whomandwhy somebodywaslaughingandsomebodywasclamouringto beheard.AmmaÕs sobs
turnedto gentlelaughterandthenher habitualconcernsurfacedassheaskedme if I wason roza. I
wasnot, I told her. Therewasno way I could observethe fast in the club wherethe disciplineand
abstinenceexpectedof oneduringtheholy monthof Ramzaanwerehardto observe,thanksto their-
regular hours of work.

I soonfoundmyself sitting with Ammain her roomafterall themonthsof separationfrom her. It
took mesomemomentsto believethat I wasactuallybackhomeandsitting by AmmaÕs sideon her
nice,big bed.Shewaslooking paleandtired, her lace-bordereddupattacoveringher jet-blackhair
combedbackneatly. I rememberedthat it was the samedupattathat wascoveringher headon the
day that I hadsetout for Poona.I hadgot her the lacefrom a placecloseto CrawfordMarket from
whereEnglishandParsiladiesboughtbordersandlacesto addeleganceto their attire.Amma was
leastbotheredaboutthe glamourof her dressbut my auntswereextremelychoosyandthey always
pickedon meto go to thecloth storesandget themyardsandyardsof silk andcottonfor their attire.
They liked my selectionsbut they alwayscomplainedthat I broughtthe bestcoloursfor Amma and
not for them.The fact wasthat I alwayschosecoloursthat suitedAmmaÕs complexionand,despite
her indifference to what she wore, she always looked elegant and beautiful.

As I satby herside,I thoughtit wastheright time to takeout themoneyI hadearnedandgive her
a surprise.I openedmy bagandtook out theneatpacketcontainingall themoneyI hadearnedandI
placedit in hersoft handswhile shelookedat mecuriously. I waitedanxiouslyfor herto expressher
happinessassheuntiedthepacketcarefully. Shelookedat thebundleof currencynotesandlookedup
at me with worry and fear writ large on her face.

ÔWhatis this?Wheredid you get it from?Õsheasked,her low voice betrayingher anxiety. I was
hardly preparedfor this reaction.I told her it wasthe moneyI hadearnedby dint of hardwork and
enterprise.Shestaredhardat me and,without sayinga word, shewent up to the mantelshelfwhere
theHoly Quranwaskeptandbeckonedto me.Sheaskedmeto swearon theQuranthatit wasmoney
earnedhonourablyby me.Smartinginsideandtrying hardnot to let my hurt show, I put my handon
the holy book and took a solemn oath. I could see that she was satisfied.

Aghaji camehomeasusualin theevening,in time to breaktheRamzaanfastwith thefamily. I wasin
my roomby then,bathedandwearingmy crispwhite trousersandshirt, readyfor therepastmy moth-
er hadprepared.I couldhearhertelling Aghaji that I wasbackandI heardhim sayheknewaboutit.
It wastypical of Aghaji to pretendto beunemotionalanddetached.His warmthandconcernsurfaced
only oncewhenAmmahadaseriousattackof asthmaandshewaschokingandgaspingfor breath.He
beganyelling for someoneto rushandfetchthedoctorwho lived acrossthestreet.His facewasthena
pictureof helplessalarmandI still canrecall thetall strappingfigure bendingto hold my frail Amma
in his arms.

If you canrecall the famousscenein Mashaal,* I musttell you that,while going throughmy re-
hearsals,I drewmy emotionsfor therenderingof thescene,shotover four nightsin a row, from the
memory of that episode and the agony of Aghaji in his urgency to get instant medical help.

Aghaji andI metcordially asif nothinghadchanged.It wasa relief to me,to saythe least.In less
thana weekafter Eid, which we celebratedwith the usualcamaraderieby inviting our friendsfrom
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othercommunitiesto sharea festivemealwith us,Aghaji wastalking to meaboutanappleorchardin
Nainital** thatwason sale.He wantedmeto go thereandseeif I couldnegotiateandclosethedeal
for a certainfigure. It wasa welcomesituationfor mebecausethis wasthe first time my fatherwas
talking businesswith me.ThoughheandI neverexchangeda word aboutthePoonaepisode,it was
obviousfrom theway heengagedmein theconversationaboutfinding neweravenuesfor procuring
fruits for thebusinessthathenow felt I hada yenfor business.He alsodiscussedan ideahehadfor
canning peaches and exporting them.

Indeed,I waspersonallyconvinced,aftermy successwith thesandwichstall, that I coulddo busi-
nessandearnhandsomeprofits.As I listenedto my fatherÕs ideaof buyinganorchardin Nainital that
wasapparentlygoingfor asong,I wasalsotoyingwith theideaof takingupacompletelynewline of
business:featherpillows. I hadmadecontactwith amanwhowasreadyto makemeapartnerandgive
mea substantialcommissionfor sellingsuchpillows to thegentry. I acceptedhis offer anddeposited
the earnest money.

After losing somemoney, I found out soonenoughthat the businessof selling pillows wasnÕt up
my alley andthoughtit wasa betterideato go to Nainital anddo asmy fatherwantedmeto. I went
thereandmet the ownerof the orchard,a kind manwho respectedAghaji andwaskeento sell his
land andtreesto us. I could seethat morethanhalf the orchardhadbeendestroyedby locustsand
whatremainedwashardlyworthbuying.I told him wewouldhaveto negotiatetheprice.Hesaid:ÔOf
course,I understand.ÕI hadno ideawhatpriceto quoteandsensingmy inexperiencein thebusiness,
hetold me:ÔSon,I will takea rupeefrom you astokenandwe will closethedeal.After you go back
Khan Sahab can offer me whatever he deems good for the property.Õ

I returnedhomewith the rupeeandtold Aghaji aboutthe property. He wasvery pleased.He was
nowgettingthefeelingthatI wasagoodbusinessmanandaskedmeto keeptheaccountsandmaintain
registersanddo all thathethoughtI wascapableof doing.He washappythatoneof his sonshadthe
acumento carryonthefruit trade.However, somethinginsidemewasgiving methefeelingthatit was
all verywell to takeoverthemantlefrom MohammadSarwarKhan,thesuccessfulfruit merchant,and
carry on the family trade, but this was not what I was made for.
*Film makerYashChopraÕs Mashaal(1984).Thescenedepictsmeon a rainy night desperatelyseek-
ing help to takemy seriouslyill wife (playedby WaheedaRehman)to hospitalby trying to stopany
vehicle that comes along, but in vain.
*A hill station then in United Provinces and now in the state of Uttarakhand.
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8
THE TURNING POINT

His dark hair wascombedbackand he smiledthroughhis eyesat me.DevikaRani introduced
me,sayingI had just joinedasan actor. He heldmyhandin a warmhandshakethat markedthe
beginningof a friendshipthatwasto lastanentirelifetimebetweenus.HewasAshokKumar,who
soon became Ashok Bhaiyya (brother) to me.

ONE MORNING, I WAS WAITING AT THE CHURCHGATE STATION from whereI wasto takealocal trainto Dadar
(in centralBombay)to meetsomebodywhohadabusinessoffer to maketo me.It hadsomethingto do
with woodencotsto besuppliedto armycantonments.There,I spottedDr Masani,a psychologistwho
hadoncecometo Wilson College,whereI hadbeena studentfor a year. Dr Masanihadthengivena
lectureon vocationalchoicesfor artsstudents.At Churchgate,I wentup to him andintroducedmyself.
He knewmewell sincehewasoneof AghajiÕs acquaintances.ÔWhatareyou doinghereYousuf?Õhe
askedme.I told him I wasin searchof a job but sincetherewasnonein sight,I wastrying to do some
business.He saidhewasgoingto Malad(in thewesternsuburbs)to meettheownersof BombayTalk-
ies(a moviestudio)andit would not bea badideaif I wentwith him andmetthem.ÔTheymayhavea
job for you,Õhementionedcasually. I ponderedfor aninstantandthenI joinedhim, giving up theidea
of going to Dadar.

I hadarailwayfirst-classseasonticketonly upto Bandra.(Maladis about18km beyondBandra.)Dr
Masaniknewtheticket checker, who gavemeanextensionchit up to Malad.ThoughBombayTalkies
wasnot very far from theMaladstation,he,nevertheless,took a cabto thestudiosinceit wasalmost
lunchtimeandhewasafraidthatMrs DevikaRani,thebossof BombayTalkies,maygohomefor lunch.

I hadnevereverseena film studioin my life, not evenin photographs.I hadheardof BombayTalkies
from Raj Kapoorwho spokeaboutit asthestudiowherefilms starringhis fatherPrithvirajji wereshot.
BombayTalkieswasa completesurprise.It wasspreadoverseveralacresandtherewasa gardenwith
a fountainin it. The office building lookedmorelike a lovely bungalowandlesslike a typical office
structure.WhenDr Masanientered,therewaswarmrecognitionfrom DevikaRaniwho offeredhim a
seatandlookedatmewonderinglywhile I waitedto beintroduced.Shewasapictureof elegance,and,
whenDr Masaniintroducedme,shegreetedme with a namasteandaskedme to pull up a chair and
beseated,hergazefixed on measif shehada thoughtrunningin hermind aboutme.Sheintroduced
usto Amiya Chakraborthy(a famousdirector, asI latercameto know),who wasseatedon a sofa.She
askedmeif I hadsufficient knowledgeof Urdu. I repliedin theaffirmative andDr Masaniintervened
to give hermy background,goingbackto my antecedentsin Peshawarandtold heraboutAghaji and
thebusinesswe werein. Shelistenedwith interestandI observedher face,which hada naturalglow
andtheflush of goodhealth.I wonderedwhatsortof a job shewasgoingto give mesinceshewasso
keen to know about my proficiency in the Urdu language.

Sheturnedto me and,with a beautifulsmile,askedme the questionthat wasto changethe course
of my life completelyandunexpectedly. Sheaskedme whetherI would becomean actorandaccept
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employmentby thestudiofor a monthlysalaryof Rs1250.For a momentI did not know whatto say.
I lookedat Dr Masani,who wasequallysurprisedbut wasnot showingit. He merelyshruggedand
I knew it wasa silenthint for me to takea call andgive hera reply. I wasneveroneto losetime in
futile thinking.SoI returnedhercharmingsmileandtold herthatit wasindeedkind of herto consider
mefor thejob of anactorbut I hadno experienceandknewnothingabouttheart.WhatÕs more,I had
seenonly onefilm, which wasa war documentaryscreenedfor the army personnelin Deolali. She
wasquickwith herreasoning.Sheasked:ÔHowexperiencedareyou in thefruit tradeof your family?Õ
I told her thatasI waslearning,I couldnot claim muchexperience.Shethensaid:ÔThereyou are.If
youcantakepainsto learnaboutfruits andfruit cultivationyoucansurelytakepainsto learnthecraft
of film makingandacting.I needayoung,good-looking,educatedactorandI canseethatyoupossess
the qualifications to become a good actor.Õ

Devika Rani.

It wassoonlunchtimeandsheaskedusgraciouslyif wewouldcareto join her. Dr Masanideclined
politely andwe took leaveof her. On theway back,Dr Masanidid not talk much.Therattling sound
of thespeedingtrain andtheconjecturethat I neededto contemplateover theoffer thatwasleastex-
pectedby both of us musthavesilencedhim. It no longerworried me that I did not know anything
aboutcinemaandacting.As the train rockedmeto a stateof relaxation,I wasactuallyfeelinggood
and thankful that a job with a handsome remuneration was waiting for my acceptance.

On reachinghomeI told Ayub Sahababouttheoffer. He foundit hardto believethatDevikaRani
hadofferedme Rs 1250per month.He saidit mustbe the amountshewould pay annually. He said
he knew that Raj Kapoorwasgettinga monthly salaryof Rs 170. I felt Ayub wasright. How could
shegive mesucha whoppingamounteverymonth?And, if it wasfor a year, I felt it wasnot worth
acceptingas it would not easeAghajiÕs burden.It wasof utmosturgencyfor me to earnenoughto
augment AghajiÕs income from the fruit trade.

Apart from AyubSahab,nobodyin thehouseknewabouttheepisode.NoorSahab(my eldestbroth-
er) wasleastconcernedandlived in a world of his own.He wasseenin thehouseonly at mealtimes.
I thoughtit would bedecenton my part to tell Dr Masaniaboutmy decision,so I went to his house
at Churchgateandtold him that Rs 1250annuallywasrathermeagrefor all the travelling I had to
do everyday to Malad by the electrictrain andfor all the painsI hadto taketo initiate myself into
a challengingprofession.Dr Masaniwascertainthat the salaryofferedwason a monthlybasis.He
volunteeredto ascertainthefigure from DevikaRaniandmadea phonecall to herand,from thenods
andsmileshewasgiving asheheldthereceiverto hisear, I couldunderstandthatshewastelling him
somethingthatpleasedhim immensely. Whenheput thereceiverdown,hetold meshehadmadethe
offer of Rs1250permonthandnot annuallybecauseshethoughtI heldgreatpromiseandsheshould
make an offer that I would accept gladly.



ThenextdayI metDr Masaniat theChurchgatestationafterlunch.Theyearwas1942andtheday
wasa Friday (I cannotrecall the date).I left homequietly after prayersanda goodlunch. Nobody
knew where I was heading.

The gatesof BombayTalkiessomehowlookedmore inviting andwelcomingthat afternoonas the
watchmanopenedthemfor our taxi to enter. In heroffice, DevikaRaniwasalone,seatedat thedesk,
which wasalwayscleananduncluttered.Theconversationwasbrief becausesheknewI hadcometo
accepttheoffer. Shesaidtheemploymentformalitiesandthepaperwork wouldbedoneby oneMr Iy-
er, herassistant.ShewasemphaticthatI shouldjoin at theearliestandgetinto thestrideof thejob.She
saidit wouldbeniceif I couldcometo thestudiothenextdayandmeetsomeof thepeopleI wouldbe
working with. My hesitationto talk aboutmoneypreventedmefrom reconfirmingthesalary, though
theprospectof earningthefour-digit figure, which wasa big achievementthosedays,haddrawnme
to a professionI knew my fatherhadlittle respectfor. On morethanoneoccasionI hadheardhim
tell Raj KapoorÕs grandfather, DewanBasheshwarnathKapoor, jokingly that it wasa pity his sonand
grandsons couldnÕt find anything other thannautanki* as their profession.

Teaarrivedfor usin a tray coveredwith a starchedwhite cloth borderedwith Englishlace.Thetea
cupswerehandedto usby aneatlydressedoffice boywhosegoodtraininghadtaughthim to pourthe
brew andthe milk with a steadyhandwithout spilling a drop anywhere.It waswonderful to seean
Indianboyhandletheservicewith thefinessethatEnglishbutlersandvaletsthoughttheyalonecould
manage.

WhenI returnedhomelatein theevening,I told AmmaI hadfoundmyselfa job thatwouldgetme
a paypacketof Rs1250everymonth,which would takecareof herkitchenexpensesaswell asthe
educationof my youngerbrothersandsisters.Therewerea lot of miscellaneousexpensesandsome
moneycouldbesetasidefor that, too. Shewantedto know what job it wasthatwassopaying.I as-
suredher it wasa respectablejob andI hadgot it becauseof my strongproficiencyin theUrdu lan-
guage.Sheseemedhappywith thatreplysinceit soundedlike a job of someconsequenceif it required
proficiencyin Urdu especiallyduring the turbulenttimeswe wereliving in, whentheSecondWorld
War was raging and our freedom struggle had gathered great momentum.

Thenextdaydawnedlike anyother. I gotdressedandleft homequietly. I reachedthestudioontimeat
9 a.m.DevikaRaniwelcomedmeandtook mepersonallyto thefloor wherepreparationfor a shoot-
ing wasgoingon. Sheled meup to a manwho wasvery well dressedandlookeddistinguished.He
lookedfamiliar andI recalledhavingseenthehandsomecountenanceon postersandhoardingsnear
CrawfordMarket.His darkhair wascombedbackandhesmiledthroughhis eyesat me.DevikaRani
introducedme,sayingI hadjust joinedasanactor. Heheldmy handin awarmhandshakethatmarked
thebeginningof a friendshipthatwasto lastanentirelifetime betweenus.HewasAshokKumar, who
soon became Ashok Bhaiyya (brother) to me. (He passed away on 10 December 2001.)
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With Ashok Kumar Ð lifelong friends.

Ashok Kumar cameout of the floor andcalledout to oneof the boysto openhis make-uproom.
As theboy ranto fetchthedoorkeys,I recognizedanotheryoungmanwalking towardsus.Thatwas
Raj Kapoor, who wasjustly shockedto seemethere.He washis wonderfuljovial self ashegathered
from methatI hadjoinedthestudioasanactor. ÔDoesyour fatherknow?Õheaskedmemischievously.
I did not replybecausebothAshokBhaiyyaandDevikaRaniwerestandingby oursideandtheywere
pleasantlysurprisedto learnthatRaj andI kneweachother. Raj gavea shortaccountof our football
daysat KhalsaCollege,which madeDevikaRaniobserve:ÔThatÕs indeednice.ItÕs a gameI wishedI
could play like the boys at school.Õ

Devika Rani left us to chatwith oneanotherandwalkedbriskly backto her office. Therewasan
informality in thewayAshokKumarandRaj interacted,which I liked. It wasnot like anoffice where
you addressedsomebodyseniorasÔsirÕandspokeonly whenspokento. HereRaj wastalking con-
tinuously, describingour escapadesat KhalsaCollegeandI thoughthe would give awaythe secret
thatI hadjoinedthestudiowithoutAghajiÕsknowledge.It wassomethingI did notwantthepeoplein
thestudioto know just thenbecauseit would havecreatedanimpressionof my doingthingssecretly.
Fortunately, hedid notbringupthesubjectandI wasrelieved.TherewasnodoubtthatRajwashappy
to seemeandwelcomemeinto theprofession.Heknewhowpainfully shyI usedto bein collegeand
he must have wondered how I would fit into a profession that was not for shy, reserved people.

At the studio the next day, I was introducedto oneShahNawazKhan. He cameacrossasa crude,
roughmanto me.He askedme if I wasa PathanandwhenI repliedin theaffirmative, hebellowed
andlaughedasif I hadtold him somethingincrediblyfunny. Hesaidheknewaboutmy beingaPathan
from thecolourof my cheeksandmy aloofness.So, if heknew it, whatwasso funny thathehadto
laughlike a neighinghorse,I wantedto askhim. He nextaskedmehow manybrothersI had.I told
him I hadfive. He went into a fit againandI wassureI waswastingtime with a crazyman.He said:
ÔTumagar chhebhai hoteto merakyabigaadlete?Õ(This canberoughly translatedas:ÔEvenif you
aresix brothers,whatcanyoudo to me?Õ)Now it wasgettingtoomuchandtoopersonal,soI justgot
up andwentto seeDevikaRaniandtold herhow stupidlythemanhadspokento me.Shedid not say
anything; she simply patted me on the back and sent me home.



After my departure,shemusthavegiven him a pieceof her mind because,the next day, he was
apologeticandsaidhewasnÕt meaningto offendme.Suchjibeswerecommonat BombayTalkies,he
added.I wonderedif hewastelling methetruthbecausethepeopleI hadmetlike AshokBhaiyyaand
David Abraham(a notedcharacteractor)wereeversocivilized andsoft-spoken.I realizedthatDavid
knewwhatShahNawazhadtold me.We werea few daysawayfrom Bakhri Eid. ÔDoyou exchange
greeting cards on Eid?Õ David asked us when he saw me avoiding Shah Nawaz.

On thedayof Eid, I receivedagreetingcardfrom ShahNawaz.It wasaccompaniedby asmallyel-
low packetwith a tiny note:this is for your pubichair. I wasspeechlesswith horror. At first, I wanted
to go andshowthenoteto DevikaRani.ThenI thoughtit would bevery stupidof meto do so.I did
not showanytraceof angerandI just left for home.WhenI arrivedat thestudiothenextday, I went
up to David andI left thesmallyellow packetwith my pubichair on his tablealongwith thecardand
thenote.WhenDavidsawthematerialsonhis table,hecalledShahNawazandshowedhim themess.
They laughedandlaughedfor quite a while. After that,ShahNawaztold me: ÔNowyou areoneof
us.We thoughtyou neededsomeraggingto makeyou overcomeyour reticence.ÕHe spontaneously
embraced me and assured me that there wouldnÕt be any more ragging.
*Nautankiis a drama form from Uttar Pradesh. It also means acting.
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9
LIGHTS, CAMERA, ACTION!

I É becameawarethatanactorneededto strengthenhis instinctsbecausethedualitybetweenthe
real andunrealcannotbesortedoutby themind,whichis moreconcernedwith truth andlogic in
anynormalsituation.Themindwill alwaystell youthis is nonsenseÉ. It is only instinctthat will
helpyouto absorbwhatyouhaveto absorbfromthescriptanddriveyouto rendera performance
coated with realism and conviction despite the knowledge of it all being fiction and drama.

BOMBAY TALKIES WAS THE BESTTHING THAT HAPPENEDTO ME at that juncturein my life. I couldnÕt have
founda betterjob thantheoneofferedto meby DevikaRani.Sure,I hadno cluewhatactingin front
of a camerawas.It wassomethingto be studiedandlearnedandpractised.What wasdelightful was
the ambienceof the studio,which wasa mix of what onewould seekandfind in a universityor any
educationalinstitutionandwhatonewould expectto find in a fantasyworld straightout of oneÕs fer-
tile imaginationof houses,fa•ades,artefacts,streets,gardensandsoon, which I got to know werethe
permanentsetscreatedfor theshootings.It interestedmeto know how all that I wasseeingwould be
usedin shootinga film. So, for the first two months,Devika Rani madesurethat I waspresentat all
the shootings.I arrivedat the studioeveryday in the morningandwent straightto thosesetswhere
shooting was going on.

AshokBhaiyyawasshootingfor thefinal portionsof Kismet(releasedin 1943)thosedaysandthere
wasa lot of activity goingon asGyanMukherjee,thedirector, andhis assistantsmovedtheequipment
on the setsaccordingto the lighting pattern.Ashok Bhaiyyawasa very successfulstaras I cameto
know from the assistants.His 1941film Jhoola, oppositeLeelaChitnis, hadbecomea hugesuccess
andthe samedirectorwasmakingKismet. So, the excitementwaspalpableandit wasall so new to
mebecauseI hadno ideahow a film becamea hugesuccessandearnedmoneyfor thestudioandthe
producer.

I realizedI wasin the presenceof a very well-known starwhenAshok Bhaiyyacameon the setand
begantalking cheerfully to the director, Gyan Mukherjee,and the producer, ShashadharMukherjee
(popularlyknownasS. Mukherjee),with whomheappearedto beat ease.Whenhesawme,hecame
up to meandbegantalking informally asif we hadknowneachotherfor years.He saidheknewwhy
I wasthere.ÔItis all very simple,Õhecontinued,ashewalkedwith meto thedoorandsteppedinto the
openareaoutsidethestudiofloor. He calledfor chairsandthestudiohandscamehurriedlyto attendto
him. He wenton: ÔYou area handsomemanandI canseethatyou areeagerto learn.ItÕs very simple.
You just dowhatyouwoulddo in thesituationif youwerereally in it. If youactit will beactingandit
will look very silly.Õ

He noticedtheconfusionon my faceandbeganto laugh.Therewasgenuinewarmthin his laughter
andhis wordsgraduallybeganto makesenseto me.In thescenethat I hadobservedthepreviousday,
sitting unobtrusivelywith theassistantsof thecameramanbehindthecamera,hehadlaughedexactly
the way he had just done. He reacted to a response very naturally as he just did to my puzzled look.
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AshokBhaiyyasoonintroducedmeto ShashadharMukherjeeSahab,who washis brother-in-law.
(AshokBhaiyyaÕssisterSatiDevi wasmarriedto MukherjeeSahabandthatexplainedtheinformality
betweenthem.)AshokBhaiyyaÕs naturewassuchthathedid not resistfriendshipwith strangersand
wentall out to makethingseasyandcomfortablefor everybodyin thestudiofrom thecanteenboy to
thetechniciansandactorswhoworkedwith him. I methim everydayandhetreatedmelike ayounger
brotherwho hadto be led andprotected.My shynessandreticencebeganto recedein his company
andhis friendlinessandaffection for me werea fillip for me to be on the setswhile the shootingof
Kismetwas going on.

I quite liked what I waswatchingandI thoughtit wasmoreinterestingandabsorbingthanoffice
drudgery or the work Aghaji would have given me to do in the fruit business.

AshokBhaiyyalived nearbyandsodid S.MukherjeeSahab.It wasa periodof transitionfor Bom-
bay TalkiesasDevika Rani, who hadbeenmanagingthe studioafter the deathof her husbandand
co-founderof thestudio,HimanshuRai (on 16 May 1940),wasplanningto marrythefamousSoviet
painterSvetoslavRoerichandleavethemanagementof thestudioin thehandsof S.MukherjeeSahab
and Amiya Chakraborthy.

Sheusedto visit thesetsduringshootingsandgivepertinentsuggestions.Shehadsubstantialknow-
ledgeof everythingrelatedto film making,havingworkedasa traineeat the UniversumFilm Ak-
tiengesselschaft(UFA) in Germany. Shewasnot only trainedin actingbut wasalsowell versedwith
theart of make-up,setdesignandcostumedesign.Always elegantlyattired,sheradiateda dignified
charmwhensheinteractedwith all of us.ShewashappyI wasbondingverywell with AshokBhaiyya
andS.MukherjeeSahab.Most of thepersonnelkeptquietwhenshemadeherentryduringthebreaks
in filming andtheGermancameramen,who werehandlingthecinematography, talkedto her in their
mother tongue and it was delightful to hear her reply in the same language.

Ashok BhaiyyawaslearningFrenchthosedaysasa pastimeto addto the growing list of foreign
languageshecouldconversein. Heusedto join in theconversationbetweenDevikaRaniandtheGer-
man cinematographers while S. Mukherjee Sahab and I would stand by silently.

By now I hadestablisheda reasonablerapportwith S. MukherjeeSahabwho wasa refinedandpol-
ishedgentleman.He askedmeoneafternoonif I couldreciteUrdu poetrywell. I repliedthat I could
recitePersianversestoo with easesinceI hadgrownup in anenvironmentwheremy educatedaunts
andunclesenjoyedpoeticexchangesin PersianandUrdu whentheygot togetherin our housein Pe-
shawar. He noddedandsaid:ÔToday, whenwe meetfor teaafter pack-upI am going to eggyou on
to recitesomePersianandUrdu verses.You obligemecasually. I want to seehow hereacts.ÕI knew
S. MukherjeeSahabwasreferringto AshokBhaiyyaandthepurposeof it all waspurefun sincehe
sometimesoverdidhis linguistic showingoff. Thateveningasthesunbeganto slip inch by inch be-
hind thelargetreesthatlined thestudioÕscompoundboundaries,AshokBhaiyya,S.MukherjeeSahab
andI satdownon canechairsoutsidethestageaswe alwaysdid. S.MukherjeeSahabthenaskedme
to recitesomeUrdu verses.ÔItÕs sucha beautifulevening.Yousuf,let ushearsomeUrdu poetryfrom
you,Õhesaidcasually. I wasnaturallyreadyandI recitedthelinesthatI oftenusedto whenmy broth-
er Ayub Sahabwasconfinedto bedafterhis accidentalfall from a horsein Kashmir. AshokBhaiyya
listenedattentivelyand,surprisingly, it wasS.MukherjeeSahabwho wasmoreengrossedandlost in
my recitation.

After I hadfinished,AshokBhaiyyarosefrom his chair to give mea standingovationand,to my
surprise,S.MukherjeeSahabalsostoodup to applaudme.As expectedAshokBhaiyyawasclamour-
ing for lessonsin Urdu from me.He saidhe waspreparedfor a deal.He would teachme whatever
FrenchandGermanheknewand,in return,I shouldteachhim Urdu.Weagreedmutually, but thesur-



priseelementwasthereactionof S. MukherjeeSahab.He saidhewantedmeto meetall thewriters,
especiallythosefrom Bengal.ÔIwant you to be thereat all our story meetingsandbe a part of our
writing teams.You havethegraspof the languagethat is wantingin our Bengaliwriters,Õhepointed
out.

I thoughtit would be awkwardfor me to be participatingin the discussionspertainingto the dia-
loguesfor thestorieswrittenby sucheminentdirectorsasAmiya ChakraborthyandGyanMukherjee.
However, it wasnÕt so.At leastS. MukherjeeSahabhadmadeit botheasyandfriendly for themand
mein his own genialway. It wassomethingI hadleastexpected.Here,I was,a ranknewcomerwho
hadnÕt evenfacedthecamerafor a trial shot,andI wassitting with experiencedwritersasanequal.
Theywerebrilliant in theirmothertongue,Bengali,andtheyweregraciousin theiradmissionthatdue
to their lackof proficiencyin Urdu theyneededthefine-tuningthatI couldoffer to thedialogueswith
my knowledge of that language.

Everybodyin the studiorespectedS. MukherjeeSahab.He washeld in high esteemfor his superior
academicqualificationsand for the facility with which he communicatedin English.He had been
broughtto thestudioby HimanshuRai,thefounderof BombayTalkies,whohadmethim accidentally
in BombaywhereS. MukherjeeSahab(a brilliant professorof physicsat the AllahabadUniversity)
hadcometo meetanacademicianwhohadtherequiredinformationandcontactsto gethim admission
in thefaculty of his choicein a foreignuniversity. HimanshuRai wasthenon thelookoutfor a quali-
fied personto setup thesounddepartmentatBombayTalkiesandhefelt S.MukherjeeSahabwasthe
manhe waslooking for. He convincedthe scholarlyBengaliprofessorto abandonthe ideaof going
abroadfor higherstudiesin physicsandbecomeapartof hisdreamto setupaprofessionallymanaged
film studioin India on the linesof theUFA Studiosin Germanywherehehadworkedasa producer
andwastheonly Asianto bein chargeof anentireproductionunit with directorslike Fritz Langand
Josef von Sternberg.

S. MukherjeeSahabalwaysdrewparallelsbetweenour individual destiniesthatbroughtus to a pro-
fessionthatwasnot in ourwildestimagination.Hewasaproductof Westerneducationhavingstudied
in the Englishmediumfrom his schooldaysin Jhansi(now in Uttar Pradesh)andso wasI with my
schoolingat the BarnesSchoolat Deolali, which wasvery, very English in its curriculum.He con-
versedmostly in Englishexceptwhenwe werewith theBengalis,of whomtherewerequitea few in
thestudio.My regularwitnessingof shootingsandmy interactionswith AshokBhaiyyawereprepar-
ing mefor my debut.I hadbegunto observeAshokBhaiyyacloselywhenhewould berehearsingor
facingthecamera.I noticedthathehadmadecalculatedmovementsbeforethecamera,which hehad
workedout all by himself.For example,he would hold a cigarettebetweenhis lips without lighting
it andhewould look aroundsearchingly. He would thentakethecigaretteoff from his lips, walk two
steps,thenput the cigarettebackbetweenhis lips andlight it andspeakthe given dialoguelooking
into thecamera.It wasall very fascinatingfor meandI couldfigure out whathemeantwhenhetold
methatthesecretof agoodrenderingof ascenewasnot to actbeforethecamera.AshokBhaiyyahad
hit uponthesecretof Ônon-actingÕbuthehadadefinitecalculationin hismindwhenheperformedand
thearithmeticof thatcalculationwasentirelyhis. I beganto understandthatI would haveto arriveat
my own approach to the whole business of simulating feelings and emotions.

WhenI gotachanceto speakto S.MukherjeeSahabalone,I mentionedmy observationto him and
hesuggestedthatI go andview asmanyfeaturefilms asI couldsothatI couldobservehow different
actorsattainedtheir levelsof competencebeforethe camerain renderinglong-windedanddifficult



scenes.I thoughttherewasa point in whathewassayingbut it wasdifficult to go straightfrom the
studioto a cinematheatreandwatcha film andgo homelate in the night. Besides,if someonesaw
megoingto a theatreandreportedit to Aghaji, it would raisequestionsin hismindbecauseheknewI
hadno interestin theamusementofferedby films. In hiseyes,I wasanathleteandapassionatesoccer
playerwho derivedpleasureandthrill from a goodgameof socceror cricket in any opengroundin
the city.

I would leavefor homeeveryeveningat aboutsix, takinga local train to Churchgatefrom Malad.
I hada second-classseasonticket,which gavemethecomfortof travellingwithout beingelbowedby
passengersgettingin andout.FromChurchgate,I boardedabus,andalightedatCrawfordMarketand
walkedto our residenceat NagdeviStreet.On theway, everyday, I metfriendswho askedmecasual
questionsaboutthejob I wasdoingandI alwaystold themit wasa companythatwasdoingwell and
hadaround1500employeesandI waslearningtheropes.I neverwaitedto prolongtheconversation
and pretended to be in a hurry to get home.

At home,Ammawouldbebustlingaroundto give thefamily or thevisiting relativeswhateverthey
desired.I donÕt rememberseeingherevertakinganapor sittingpretty, makingfrivolousconversation.
Sheaskedmeacoupleof timesaboutthework I wasdoingandI gavehertheimpressionthatit wasa
good,honourablejob andI wasquitehappy. Shewassopreoccupiedwith theresponsibilitiesof run-
ning thelargehouseholdthatshedid notquestionmeanymore.My eldersister, SakinaAapa,wasthe
curiousone.Shewasnosyenoughto getdeepinto everythingthateverybodydid, be it in our home
or in theneighbourÕshome.Sheseldomextendedhelpto Ammain thekitchenandAmmanevercom-
plainedfor fearof provokingasenselessargumentwith SakinaAapa.EverytimeSakinaAapatried to
probe,I told herdifferentthingsandsuccessfullyconfusedheraboutmy employment.Shewashappy
whensheheardaboutthesalaryI wasgoingto bring homeandgenerallyremainedcontentwith that
knowledge.

My brotherAyub Sahabwaswell awareof what I wasdoingbecauseI hadconfidedin him. Ayub
Sahabwasverycloseto meandwesharedabondthatwasinseverable.As notedearlier, hewasanex-
tremelyintelligentandsensitivepersonwhosevoluminousreadingof Urdu andEnglishliteraturehad
madehim a kind of scholarandlittŽrateur. He wasexcitedaboutmy job but healsofearedwhetherI
would besuccessfulin my vocationbeingtheshy, reservedpersonI was.More thananythingelse,he
wonderedwhatwouldbeAghajiÕs reactionwhenhewould learnaboutmy job. I assuagedhis fearsby
telling him whatI tell anybodywho worriesabouttheoutcomeof somethingheor sheis aboutto do.
I told him I would not think too muchaboutwhatcouldhappenbecausethatcoulddistractme from
my efforts to do my job to the best of my ability.

I wasnot the leastnervousor anxious.Onemorning,asI enteredthestudioI wasgiventhemessage
thatDevikaRaniwantedto seemein heroffice. I wonderedwhatit couldbe.I wascertainit couldnÕt
be for expressinganydispleasurebecauseshewasalwayscourteousandpleasantwhenevershemet
me and enquired how I was doing. So what could it be?

WhenI walkedinto heroffice, shewasseatedatherdesklookingstunninganddignifiedasalways.
Shesmiledwarmly andaskedme to takea seat.I satdown andlookedcuriouslyat her. Shebegan
with theusualcourtesiesof askingmewhetherI would carefor someteamadespeciallyfor herfrom
leavesshehadpurchasedfrom the Englishstorein the city. I waswonderingwhat shehadin mind
whenshecameto thepoint, speakingin English,thelanguageshewasmostfluent in. Shesaid,quite
matter-of-factly: ÔYousuf,I wasthinking aboutyour launchsoonasanactorandI felt it would not be
a badideaif you adopteda screenname.You know, a nameyou would beknownby andwhich will
beveryappropriatefor youraudienceto relateto andonethatwill bein tunewith theromanticimage



youareboundto acquirethroughyourscreenpresence.I thoughtDilip Kumarwasanicename.It just
poppedup in my mindwhenI wasthinkingaboutasuitablenamefor you.How doesit soundto you?Õ

I wasspeechlessfor a moment,beingtotally unpreparedfor thenewidentity shewasproposingto
me.I saidit soundednicebutaskedherwhetherit wasreallynecessary. Shegavehersweetsmileand
told me that it would be prudentto do so.Sheaddedthat it wasafter considerablethoughtthat she
cameto theconclusionof giving mea screenname.With hercustomaryauthority, shewenton to tell
me that sheforesawa long andsuccessfulcareerfor me in films andit madegoodsenseto havea
screenidentity thatwould standup by itself andhavea secularappeal.I wasquick to appreciateher
concernbut I told her I neededto think aboutit a bit. Sheresponded:ÔFineÉ comebackto mewith
your thoughts.Õ

ÔWe arenow readyto beginpreparationsfor your debut.Sowe musthurry up,Õshesaidbreezilyas
I rose from my seat to leave.

I spenttherestof thedayaspermy routinebutwith thenameDilip Kumarringing in my mindÕs in-
nerrecesses.S.MukherjeeSahabnoticedthatI wasrathercontemplativethatafternoonasweordered
lunchfrom thecanteenandsharedsomefried fish thatcamefrom AshokBhaiyyaÕshouse.After lunch,
whenwork startedon theshootingstage,heaskedme if therewassomethingdisturbingmeandif I
couldsharewith him. It wasplain to all of usthatS.MukherjeeSahabwastheNumber2 manin the
studioÕs managementhierarchyandthegeneralfeelingwasthathewould takeoverthereinsof man-
agementsoon.I haddevelopeda rapportwith him becauseI foundhim to bea manof considerable
worth not only in termsof thetechnicalknowledgehehadpainstakinglyacquiredby regularinterac-
tions with the foreign techniciansandconsistentreadingof relevantliteraturebut alsoin a personal
sense as a friend one could trust and rely upon.

I told S. MukherjeeSahababoutthesuggestionthathadcomefrom DevikaRani.He reflectedfor
a secondand,looking mestraightin theeye,said:ÔIthink shehasa point. It will be in your interest
to takethenameshehassuggestedfor thescreen.It is a very nicename,thoughI will alwaysknow
youby thenameYousuflike all yourbrothersandsistersandyourparents.Õ(I latercameto knowthat
Ashok Kumar was the screen name of Kumudlal Kunjilal Ganguly.)

I wastouchedandit wasavalidationthatclearedmy thoughtsthenandthere.I decidednot to speak
aboutthenewnameto anyone,not evento Ayub Sahab.Thedaysthat followed wereprettyhecticat
thestudiobecauseKismethadreleasedto agreatopeningresponsein 1943andwason its way to cre-
atingbox-office records.AshokBhaiyyawasa superstarnow but heremainedcompletelyunaffected
andbehavedasif nothinghadchangedin his life. He beganto takea keeninterestin themanagement
alongsideS.MukherjeeSahabandhewasdelightedthatI wasgoingto belaunchedwith a film titled
Jwar Bhatato be directed by Amiya Chakraborthy.

I hadbeenearlier interactingwith Amiya Chakraborthybut now we werespendingtime moreas
directorandactorashe preparedfor startingthe shootingof Jwar Bhata. A strangetruth wasthat I
wasnot evenslightly nervousor excitedaboutthe fact that I wasgoing to face the camerafor the
first time whenthe D-day arrivedfor my first shot.I wasgiven a simplepantandshirt to wearand
Devika Rani cameon the setsandlookedat me andfound me asunruffled asever. Shewasa great
expertin make-upandknewwhatexactlysuitedthe lighting of thesetandthenatureof thesceneto
beshot.Shecheckedthelight strokesof make-upgivento meandaskedwherethecamerawould be
placed.Shewasquitesatisfiedwith everythingexceptmy bushyeyebrows.Sheaskedmeto sit down
on a chairandshecalledfor tweezersfrom themake-upmanandvery deftly pulledoff someunruly
growthof stragglinghair from my eyebrowsto give thema propershapewhile I heldmy breathand
enduredthepainit wascausing.Shesmiledwhenshesawthetearsbrimmingin my eyesasaresultof
thetweezingandvery jovially suggestedthatI takea look at my facewhile themake-upmanquickly
appliedsomecreamto easethe painful sensationson my poor eyebrows.Sheleft after wishing me
luck.



My first shotwasexplainedto meby Amiya Chakraborthy. Hemadeamarkon thegroundandtold
me:ÔYouwill takeyourpositionhereandyouwill runwhenI sayÒACTIONÓ.I will first sayÒSTART
CAMERAÓbut that is not for you. ÒACTIONÓis for you to startrunningandyou will stoprunning
whenI sayÒCUTÓ.ÕI askedhim verypolitely if I mayknowwhy I wasrunning.HerepliedI wasrun-
ning to savethe life of theheroinewho wasgoing to commitsuicide.Satisfiedwith theexplanation,
I told him I wasready. It wasanoutdoorsceneandthecamerawassomewherein thedistance.It was
a brandnewgadgetimportedfrom Germanyandit wasbeingusedfor the first time. I stoodwhereI
wasshownto takemy stand.I hadbeenanathleteat collegeconsistentlywinning200-metreraces,so
it did notperturbmeatall whenI wasaskedto runup to thecall for ÔCUTÕ.I wasmightypleasedthat
it was something so easy and simple!

TheshotwasreadyandtheminuteI heardÔACTIONÕ,I took off like lightning andI heardthedir-
ectorscream:ÔCUT, CUT, CUT.ÕI sawhim gesticulatingandtrying to tell me somethingI couldnÕt
figure out. I stoodrootedto thespotI hadreachedin a flashandAmiya Chakraborthyambledover,
lookinghighly displeased.He told methatI ransofastthatit wasablur thatthecamerahadcaptured.
I clarified that I hadno ideaof thespeedI wassupposedto maintain.He thensaid:ÔNevermind; we
will do it againbut keepthepaceslower.ÕIt wasa bit perplexingfor mewhenhe told meat first to
slowmy pacebecauseI thoughtit wasimportantfor meto runasfastasI couldandsavethegirl who
wasgoingto endherlife. However, whenAmiya Chakraborthyexplainedtheactionassomethingthat
shouldregisteron the film in thecamera,which would moveat a particularpace,I understoodin no
uncertaintermsthat I faceda big challengeandthebusinessof actingwasanythingbut simple.The
shot was okayed after three or four calls for ÔCUTÕ.

I amoftenaskedwhatI thoughtof my first performanceandmy first film, whichwasreleasedin 1944.
Honestly, thewholeexperiencepassedby withoutmuchimpactonme.I did whatI wastold to doand
it wasnot easyat times,or mosttimesrather, to cometo termswith thefact that it wasall unrealand
unrelatedto oneÕs real self andrealexistence.To expresslove to someonecompletelyunknownand
unattachedto onein reality was,at thatageandtime, a toughdemand.I think Amiya Chakraborthy
understoodmy predicamentbut he waspersuasiveenoughto get a reasonablygoodoutputfrom me
in theromanticscenes.WhenI sawmyselfon thescreen,I askedmyself:ÔIsthis how I amgoing to
performin thefilms thatmayfollow if thestudiowishesto continuemy services?!ÕMy responsewas:
ÔNo.ÕI realizedthatthiswasadifficult job and,if I hadto continue,I wouldhaveto find my ownway
of doing it. And the critical question was: HOW?

I think I wasreally lucky to havestartedworking at an early agein the stimulatingenvironmentof
BombayTalkies.ThewritersÐwholeft NewTheatresin Calcutta(nowKolkata)to join BombayTalk-
ies,whichenjoyedtheprestigeof beingthestudiothatproducedhighly successfulfilms, mostof them
havingAshok Bhaiyyain the leadÐwerevery creativelygifted but they would turn to me for Urdu
vocabularyonS.MukherjeeSahabÕsadvice.I benefitedfrom my interactionswith themandit became
obviousto methatthescreenplaywasthebackboneof afilm. I alsobecameawarethatanactorneeded
to strengthenhis instinctsbecausetheduality betweentherealandunrealcannotbesortedout by the
mind,which is moreconcernedwith truthandlogic in anynormalsituation.Themindwill alwaystell
you this is nonsense:thiswomanyouareaddressingasÔmaaÕis notyourmotheror thatyouarenot in
lovewith thegirl whois flutteringhereyelashesandlookingatyousoulfully. Youknowthatyourown
motheris a lovely womananddoesnot haveteethstainedby paanchewingandyou donÕt evenknow
who thegirl is. It is only instinct thatwill helpyou to absorbwhatyou haveto absorbfrom thescript



anddrive you to rendera performancecoatedwith realismandconvictiondespitetheknowledgeof it
all being fiction and drama.



10
NEW ASPIRATIONS, NEW EXPERIENCES

ThesilencewasbrokenbyAghajiwhenhecamehomeoneeveningaftera visit to a family friendÕs
housewherehe had heardpraisesaboutmeand my emergenceas the star of Jugnu[1947]. He
sawmecomingin and he called meas he alwaysdid and begantalking to mewith ease.I was
relievedand happy,consideringthat he wasalwaysupfront in giving expressionto his thoughts
andsentiments.Hesaidquitematter-of-factlythathehadcometo termswith thereality that I had
chosen a profession he had least expected me to enter.

I BEGAN TO VIEW MOVIES REGULARLY, BRAVING THE POSSIBILITY of beingcaughtby someoneknownto my
family. I mustconfessthatthenewidentityasDilip Kumarhada liberatingimpactonme.I told myself
Yousufhadno needto seeor studyfilms but Dilip surelyneededto accumulateobservationsof how
actorsreproducedtheemotions,speechandbehaviourof fictitious charactersin front of a camera.So
I startedseeingfilms, onefilm a day, at two successiveshows.It wasnecessaryto view thesamefilm
at the3.30p.m.and6.30p.m.showsbecausein the first viewing somethingthat caughtmy attention
could be reviewed closely in the second viewing. Hence, I had to leave the studio early for a few days.

With Meera Mishra inMilan (1946).

I startedgettingthehangof it asI watchedHollywood actorsandactresseslike JamesStewart,Paul
Muni, Ingrid BergmanandClark Gablebut it did not takelong for me to realizethe essence,which
wasthatanactorshouldnot imitateor copyanotheractorif hecanhelp it becausetheactorwho im-
pressesyou hasconsciouslyandevenpainstakinglymouldedan overt personalityand laid down his
owngroundrulesto bring thatpersonalityeffectivelyon thescreen.I understoodveryearlyon,while I
wasatBombayTalkiesitself, following suchfilms asMilan (1946),thatI hadto bemy owninspiration
and teacher and it was imperative to evolve with the passage of time.
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S. MukherjeeSahabwasa greathelp whenI discussedwith him suchtopicsasthe evolutionof an
actoror the elusivephenomenonof stardomthat actorsaspireto attain.Ashok Bhaiyyawasa phe-
nomenallysuccessfulstarat thattimebuthewassounaffectedby hisstardom.I rememberanevening
whenhe decidedto travel with me andP. Jairajji (a senioractoranddirector) to Churchgateby the
local train. We hadpurchasedticketsfor a film andhe wasinsistenton going to the cinemahall by
train.At theMaladstation,whenpeoplesawhim andrecognizedhim, therewasa waveof adulatory
attentionbutheseemedunmindfulof thegaspsof admirationashetalkedto us.Whenthetrainarrived
a crowd got into the compartmentthat we boardedandpeoplestartedtalking to him aboutKangan
(1939)andJhoolaandKismetandherespondedwarmlyandwittily . I waswitnessingthephenomenon
of stardom, which was quite baffling for me then.

I narratedthewholeincidentto S.MukherjeeSahabthenextdayin thepresenceof AshokBhaiyya.
Ashok Bhaiyyalistenedto my narrationand,looking seriouslyat me,said:ÔItis a previewof what
you aregoingto experienceon a muchbiggerscalein thefuture.A handsomemanlike you will have
troublekeepingthe womenaway.ÕHe sawmy expressionandlaughedheartily becauseit waswell
known by then at Bombay Talkies how shy and formal I was in the presence of women.

S. MukherjeeSahab,who wasin agreementwith Ashok Bhaiyya,waslaughing,too. I thoughtit
wastheright time to talk to bothof themaboutstardomandwhat it entailedaswell asthe impactit
couldhaveonanactorÕsmindandpersonality, especiallyif hehadadualimageÐhis realselfwith his
real nameandpersonalandsocialbackgroundjuxtaposedwith his screenimagewith anothername
and personality, which changed from one fictitious character to another and from one film to another.

AshokBhaiyyanotedthathewouldgivestardomandsuccesslittle importancebecausefor him they
werenot thebe-allandend-allof his existence.ÔIt[stardom]shouldneverbemoreimportantfor you
thanyour self-respectandyour will to do whatyou wantto do in themanneryou wantto doÕ,heem-
phasized.I knewwhathewasmeaningto sayandhisattitudewasobviousin thetrainwhenhejostled
with thecommonfolk who werehis ardentfans.He wasinteractingwith themastherealAshokKu-
mar, completely divorced from his screen image and his stardom.

It wasS. MukherjeeSahabwho gaveme an answerthat haslingeredin my mind sincethen.He
pointedout to me that the distinctionwaseasyto achieveif oneunderstoodthat Ôtheactor is more
importantthanthestar. Thestaris a creationof marketingandstardomis theresultof thehardwork
of theactorwhenit finds massacceptanceandadulation.Whenfanswill cometo you someday, re-
membertheyarecomingto seeyou andfeel you becausetheyhaveliked your actingandaretouched
by it. You should know that it is Dilip Kumar they are clamouring to meet.Õ

It wasS. MukherjeeSahabÕs wont to talk seriouslyandanalyticallywhena topic arousedhis in-
tellectualinterest.The professorin him surfacedat suchtimes.He wasin manywaysmy guru and
a sourceof inspiration.He could explainto me in the simplestof termsthe grammarof cinema.He
took painsto takeme behindthe cameraandshowme how the cameraseesthe actor in front of it.
He would makeme view the way he would simulatethe gait of a womanin front of the camera.It
would bea funny sightbut seeingtheact throughthecameralensgavemethemuch-neededhelp in
understandingthe relationbetweenthe cameraandthe actorfacing it or turning his backto it under
thelight thatis falling onhim. Healwaysliked to showhisactorsby performingwhathewantedthem
to portray. He wasvery sharpin noticingnot only technicalflaws but alsoflaws in dialoguedelivery
andfacial expressions.Above all, he hadgreatrespectfor writers andbelievedthat cinemaÕs prime
objective was to engage the viewer with imaginative storytelling.

My formative yearsat Bombay Talkies were memorablefor the lovely time I spentwith Ashok
BhaiyyaandS.MukherjeeSahab.Theylived closeto thestudiothosedaysandI wasalwayswelcome



in their homesto havehot bhajias(a savouryfried dish)preparedby AshokBhaiyyaÕs wife, Shobha
Bhabhi. It wasalsowonderful to be in the companyof Raj Kapooragainafter our KhalsaCollege
days.Raj washappyto know I hadseriouslyenteredtheprofessionof film acting.ÔItold you,didnÕt
I?Õhe said,huggingme like a little, excitedboy whenI wasreadyfor my debut.Whenwe wereat
Khalsaheusedto tell mein Punjabi:ÔTusiactorbanjao. Tusihobadehandsome.Õ(Youshouldbecome
anactor. Youareveryhandsome.)I thoughtthenit wasnotmy cupof tea.It wasfine for him because
his Papaji(Prithvirajji) wasa greatactorandoneof themosthandsomeandvirile menI hadseenon
the screen.Naturally, Raj andhis youngerbrothers,ShammiandShashi,wereall geneticallygifted
with talentandexceptionalgoodlooks.It did notseemagoodpropositionfor mewith thebackground
I came from.

At BombayTalkies,Raj wasregardedwith respectanda measureof awebecausehewasPrithvira-
jjiÕsson.Therewasnoactoror, for thatmatter, anyonewhohadanythingto dowith theperformingarts
who did not admirePrithvirajji whosecommandingpresencein theplaysstagedby Prithvi Theatres
inspiredawe.Raj neithershowedoff nor leveragedhis fatherÕs eminenceto get specialtreatmentat
thestudio.HeandI oftenslippedoff to AshokBhaiyyaÕshousefor agameof badmintonin whichBh-
abhiji alsojoinedus,playingthegameby herownrulesandfilling theair with herchatterandgiggles.
Sheenjoyedthegameandtherelief shegot from theboredomof beingalonein a largehouse.After
thegame,shewouldaskmeandRaj to stayon for teaandbhajias. AshokBhaiyyasometimesarrived
while we weremunchingthebhajiasandwe would think it wastime for us to leavebecausehewas
homeaftera longdayÕswork. However, AshokBhaiyyawouldhavenoneof it. Hewouldchideusand
sayjokingly: ÔYou bothshouldbeashamedof yourselves.You comehereandflirt with my wife, eat
suchnicebhajiaswithout meto give you companyandyou wantto leavewithout giving mea chance
to playagamewith youguys.ÕWewould thensheepishlystaybackwhile Bhabhijipromisedmorehot
bhajiasand hot tea. After such a frontal attack, we had no option but to acquiesce.

AshokBhaiyyawasanagilebadmintonplayer. Rajwasasplendidrefereewhenwehadplayedsoc-
ceron thegroundsoff KhalsaCollegeandhelookedsorobustwhenhestoodon thefield, whistle in
hand,andrefusedto budgefrom hisdecisions.Hegoteasilytiredwhenweplayedbadmintonbecause
hewasleastinterestedin thegame.Hewastheremorefor thedeliciousbhajias. BothAshokBhaiyya
andRaj found my staminaincredible.I could only attributeit to the dry fruits I grew up on andthe
indomitablewill powerI inheritedfrom Aghaji. ThereweredayswhenS.MukherjeeSahabjoinedus.
He andAshokBhaiyyacarriedon a continuouspowwowin Bangla,which is a typical Bengalihabit.
Whentwo Bengalisgettogethertheymakenobonesaboutbringingtheirpersonallives into theambit
of their conversationin their mothertonguewhile otherswho arein their companywonderwhatthey
are so engrossed about that they are talking and chuckling nonstop.

OnepersonwhowasasteadyfriendatBombayTalkieswasJairajji.Hewasverydifferentfrom the
otherpeoplelike ShahNawazKhanandhetookakeeninterestin my work andgavemeusefuladvice
in hisquietmanner. Jairajji andDavidAbrahamweregoodfriendsandtheyexchangednaughtyjokes,
someof which they let me into andothersthey told me werenot for my earsyet. The notablefact
wasthat all the wonderfulpeopleI got to know andsharegreattimeswith wereolder thanI except
Raj Kapoor. I wasbarely21 whenI facedthe camerafor my first shotand it was indeedmy good
fortunethatseniorprofessionalsin theactingdepartmentandwriterslike PanditNarendraSharmaand
BhagwaticharanVermawerethere.Jairajji wasvery protectiveand,eventhoughwe madevery little
conversationwhile travellingfrom Churchgateto Maladby train,wewereverycloseasprofessionals.

BombayTalkieswasin the processof changinghandsat that junctureasDevika Rani wassureshe
did not want to continuewith themanagementof thestudioafterhermarriageto SvetoslavRoerich.



By the time I hadmademy debutin 1944shewascontemplatingvoluntaryretirement.Shehadap-
pointedS.MukherjeeSahabandAmiya Chakraborthyto takecareof all theproductions.Shewould,
nevertheless,takeherroundsof thestudioandtalk to everybodywarmly. Shewassostunningin her
appearancethateveryonein thestudiostoppedto look at herwhenshemovedaround.Shemadeit a
point to askaboutme if I wasnot aroundand,if I ran into her, sheaskedme how I wasdoing and
aboutmy progressasa learner. AshokBhaiyyawastheonly onewhojokedwith herandS.Mukherjee
Sahab was the one she consulted about every step she took in the running of the studio.

Sheintroducedme onceto SvetoslavRoerich,the famousSovietpaintershewasgoing to marry.
Shetold mehow muchSvetoslavlovedtheKulu Valley (now in HimachalPradesh)andshetold him
aboutmy familyÕs fruit businessand how we got fruits from the valley: apples,cherriesand juicy
pears.I looked at Roerich,who had a statelygait and a twinkle in his eyesexactly like Aghaji. I
thought she would be very happy with him the way Amma was with Aghaji.

As 1945rolledby, theSecondWorld Warwascomingto anendandthefreedommovementwasgain-
ing momentumin thecountry. At thestudioeveryday, AshokBhaiyyaandS.MukherjeeSahabwould
engagein discussionsaboutwhat they hadheardor read.They would seriouslydiscussMuhammad
Ali JinnahÕsspeechesandaskmefor my opinion.HavinghadaÔmemorableÕexperiencewhenI spoke
my mind at the Wellington SoldiersClub in Poona,I thoughtit bestto maintaina discreetsilence.
At home,Ayub Sahabusedto be extremelywell acquaintedwith the developmentson the freedom
movementfront andhewouldholdforth beforeawedlistenerswhowerefriendsof Aghaji andChacha
Ummer. Aghaji would feelveryproudof AyubSahabÕsaccomplishmentandhis fluencyin Urdu,both
spokenandwritten.Personally, I wasequallyawedby AyubSahabÕsability to speakandwrite well in
EnglishandUrdu despitenot havinghadformal schooleducation.As mentionedearlier, hehadbeen
taughtathomedueto ill healthasaboyandhewasstudiousandpainstakingasahome-boundstudent.

By thetimeI finishedmy work in Jugnu, ourcountrywasheadingfor its emancipationfrom British
rule. I rememberthedayÐ15 August1947Ðvividly whenindependencewaswon for usby thegreat
menandwomenwhofoughtfor it tenaciouslyandrelentlesslyfor decades.I waswalkingonthepave-
mentnearthe Churchgatestation,quite unnoticeddespitehavingactedin threefilms ÐJwar Bhata
(1944),Pratima(1945)andMilan (1946)ÐwhenI noticedpeoplewererushinghomewardswith joy-
ousexpressionson their faces.It wasonly whenI reachedhomeandI sawthewholefamily together
for a changewith everyfaceshiningwith happinessthat I realizedit wasindependenceday. I wasted
no time in being a part of the celebration of the independence of India.

With Noor Jehan inJugnu(1947).



Jugnuwasreleasedin late1947.Thefilm becameahit andthehoardingswereputup in manyplaces,
includinga sitenearCrawfordMarket.Onemorningwhile Aghaji wassupervisingtheunloadingof
a consignmentof applesat his wholesaleshopin the market,RajÕs grandfather, Basheshwarnathji,
walked in and the two greetedeachother warmly as always.They had beenfriends for yearsand
Aghaji usedto tell him jokingly that it wasno usetwirling his impressivemoustachebecausehis son
andgrandsonwerein theactingbusiness.Aghaji felt theKapoorboyswereworthy of beingin gov-
ernmentservice,which wastheaspirationof mostfathersfor their sonsthosedays.He knewRaj and
I werestudyingin thesamecollegeandthosedaysgettinga collegeeducationandacquiringa gradu-
ation certificateat a convocationheld by the BombayUniversity was a big event.He was mighty
displeasedthereforethatRaj hadchosento beanactorandnot an importantgovernmentofficial like
Basheshwarnathjiwho hadheld a high positionasa commissionerin Peshawar. Basheshwarnathji,
however, wasnot at all unhappythathis sonPrithvirajji hadchosento becomeanactorandwasvery
famous already and his grandson Raj had begun to follow in the footsteps of Prithvirajji.

It wasAghajiÕs ambitionthat I, too, would find a respectablegovernmentjob andI would attain
suchanimportantpositionthatI would haveOBE asa suffix to my name.Aghaji hadseenthatsuffix
somewhereandit fascinatedhim asa markof esteemandhonour. WhenI startedgoingto college,he
felt proudandheconfidedto methathis big dreamwasthatI shouldwrite my nameasYousufKhan
OBE.

That morningBasheshwarnathjihada naughtysmile playing beneathhis moustache.He twirled
his moustacheandtold Aghaji hehadsomethingto showhim: somethingthatwould takehis breath
away. Aghaji musthavewonderedwhatit couldbe.Basheshwarnathjitook him out of themarketand
showedhim thelargehoardingof Jugnuright acrosstheroad.He thensaid:ÔThatÕsyoursonYousuf.Õ

Aghaji told melateron thathecouldnot believehis eyesfor a momentbut therewasno mistaking
mefor someoneelsebecausethefaceheknewsowell wasprintedlargeandtheblurbon thehoarding
washailing thearrivalof abrightnewstaron thesilverscreen.ThenamewasnotYousuf.It wasDilip
Kumar.

Basheshwarnathji,whowasstandingnextto him, wasgleefullyobservinghisexpressionandtelling
him that therewasno needto be dismayedbecauseI hadadoptedanothernameto keepthe family
honourintactand,whatwasmoreimportant,I wason my way to big stardom.All thosewordswere
not musicto AghajiÕs ears.He describedto memuchlater, afterheacceptedmy choiceof career, the
awful feelingof disappointmentthatoverwhelmedhim at thatmoment.He wasnaturallyvery angry.
Aghaji did not revealhis angerandhurt pride throughharshwordsor anyotherform of resentment.
Hewasveryquietfor somedaysanddid notspeakto me.Evenatothertimes,whenwespoketo each
otherin monosyllables,I did notdareto look him in theeye.Soon,thesituationbecameawkwardand
I did not know what to do.

Thethick layerof icehadto bebrokensomehow. I confidedin Rajandhesaidheknewthiswasgoing
to happenandthebestpersonto mediatewasPrithvirajji. And hewasright. Prithvirajji paida casu-
al visit to our homeoneday. Ammatold mewhenI got homein theeveningthat thepowwowwith
Prithvirajji haddoneconsiderablegoodandshenoticedthatAghaji wasa lot morerelaxedandcheer-
ful. I still did not have the courage to go up to him and start a conversation.

Thesilencewasbrokenby Aghaji whenhecamehomeoneeveningafteravisit to a family friendÕs
housewherehehadheardpraisesaboutmeandmy emergenceasthestarof Jugnu. He sawmecom-
ing in andhecalledmeashealwaysdid andbegantalking to mewith ease.I wasrelievedandhappy,
consideringthathe wasalwaysupfront in giving expressionto his thoughtsandsentiments.He said
quitematter-of-factly thathehadcometo termswith thereality thatI hadchosena professionhehad



leastexpectedmeto enter. He alwaysspoketo mein Pushtuandhis speechwasclearandpreciseand
neverwantingin goodtaste.He wasneverloud andI donÕt haveevena faint recollectionof anyar-
gumentbetweenmy parentsin front of us.If theyhadto sortout anythingbetweenthem,theydid it
without our knowledge.He spoketo methateveningwithout angeror unhappiness.He wasenjoying
thehookah,whichheusuallysharedwith hisfriendswhovisitedhim.Theverygestureof askingmeto
sit downbeforehim while heaskedfor theflavouredtobaccoto bebroughtandfilled into thehookah
by the lad who attendedon him indicatedto me thathewasnot in a badmoodandit wassufficient
for me to know that he hadforgiven me for keepingit all underwraps.I could sensefrom the easy
mannerin whichheconversedwith methatevening,ashetookpuffs of thehookah,thatheno longer
disapproved even if he did not feel good about the development.



11
BETWEEN THE PERSONAL AND THE PROFESSIONAL

WhatDevikaRani had told mewasalso a lessonI havebornein mind and appliedto my work
sometimesto thesurpriseof mydirectors.Shehadpointedout thata directormaybesatisfiedwith
theshotanactorhadgivenbut it is for theactor to discernfor himselfwhetherhehadreally given
hisbest.Theactor,shetold me,waswithin his rights to requestfor anothertakeif hefelt hecould
do better.

MY HAPPINESSWAS, HOWEVER, SHORT-LIVED. AYUB SAHAB SOON took ill seriouslywith a lung ailment.
Thebestdoctorswereunableto prolonghis life with themedicinesI managedto get from abroad.He
knewhewasnot going to bewith us for long, soheoften requestedmeto takehim to MarineDrive,
wherewe could sit andwatchthe sungo down inch by inch into the sea.He usedto tell me that he
neverceasedto wonderhowthesuntookawayall thebrillianceit spreadin theskywhenit wentdown,
making way for the night to fall.

OnedayI camehomeearlierthanusualandnoticedthatAyub Sahabwaslooking paleandwashav-
ing difficulty in takingevensmallbreaths.I sentChachaUmmerto bring Aghaji from themarketand
alsofetchadoctor. I tookmy brotherin my armsandhewascalmandsmilingatmeasI lookedhim in
theeyefearingtheworst.ChachaUmmerbroughtAghaji andhurriedoff to fetchthedoctor. Aghaji sat
closeto Ayub SahabandI couldseehis handtremblewhile hetook his sonÕs handin his.Ayub Sahab
wassmiling and,thoughhewasstrugglingto breathe,therewasanunusualradianceandcalmon his
handsomeface.Beforewe knew it, like the radianteveningsunhe loved to watch,he went in a few
moments, even before the doctor could arrive, taking away all the brilliance with him.

My contractwith BombayTalkieswascomingto anendandtherewerechangestakingplacein thestu-
dio management.AshokBhaiyyahadmovedoutandsohadS.MukherjeeSahabto form Filmistan.As
wewerenolongerfetteredby foreignrule,therewasasurgeof creativeactivity andspiritedunravelling
of thecommunicativepowersof themedium.Movieswerebeingmadewith a senseof introspection,
patriotismandsocialpurposeby manytalentedanddedicatedfilm makers.V. Shantaramhadalready
madeDuniyaNaMane(1937),Admi(1939),Padosi(1941),Shakuntala(1943)andDr KotnisKi Amar
Kahani(1946),whichwerewell receivedandappreciatedfor thefocusonsocialissues.BaburaoPaint-
er hadmadeRamJoshi(1947).SohrabModi wasmakingfilms with historicalstoriesandhis Minerva
Movietonewasin thenewsalreadyasthefilm Sikandar(1941,with Prithviraj Kapoorin thetitle role)
hadstirredacontroversy* andPukar(1939)hadbecomeahugehit. MehboobKhanhadmadeNational
Studiosfamouswith his association.Therewasno dearthof job opportunitiesfor meandotherswho
had been nurtured by Bombay Talkies.

Thestampof quality andprestigethatwasinherentin thename,BombayTalkies,madeit easyfor
mostemployeesof thestudioto find worthy openingsin productionsgoingon the floors in otherstu-
dios.I did not hesitateto acceptS. MukherjeeSahabÕs invitation to work in thepicturesto bemadeat
Filmistan.The beneficialaspectwasthat he did not talk abouta contractor agreementrestrictingme
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to work only in his pictures.As it was,thestudioemploymentsystemwasinevitablybeingreplaced
by managementsseekingservicesof actorsandtechniciansonafreelancebasiswith varyingremuner-
ations commensurate with experience, expertise and track record.

My preferencefor Filmistan,however, wasnotdrivenby themonetaryincrementit offered.Thepay
packetI wasreceivingeverymonthatBombayTalkieswassufficient to takecareof someof themore
critical expensesthatAmmahadto manageeverymonthin thehousewith its growingpopulationof
visiting family membersfrom Peshawarandall twelveof herchildrenbesidesChachaUmmerandtwo
of AghajiÕs sistersanda never-endingstreamof visitors.A substantialincreasein the earningswas
no doubtwelcome,but I wasfirm in my resolvethatmy choiceof work andmy careermoveswould
not bedeterminedor dictatedby monetarygainsandthetrappingsof transientsuccess.It wasa hard
decisionto takefor a youngmanon the thresholdof a successfulcareer. I considerit a blessingthat
I wasableto harnesstheequilibriumacquiredfrom yearsof uprightbreedingto remainlevel headed
andnot besweptawayby theillusionaryglory andgrandeurthatsurroundanactorwhenheacquires
the label of a star. Thereweremanyproducerswho hadnoticedme thenandhadcalledme over to
talk aboutthe films theywereproposingto makewith mein themalelead.S. MukherjeeSahabwas
awareof this developmentandherespectedmy decisionto work in his ventureat Filmistan.Thefilm
wasShaheed(releasedin 1948).Thesubjectfired my imaginationandI felt it wasa wisedecisionto
makea patriotic film at that juncturewhenwe hadall gonethroughtheexperienceof witnessingthe
strugglefor freedomfrom British rule andthe sacrificesmadeby freedomfighterswho belongedto
differentreligions,castes,agegroupsandsocialstrata.I wascompletelyin synchwith thecharacterin
Shaheedbecauseof thesocialandpolitical climateprevailingat thattime andmy own patrioticsenti-
mentswereseekinganoutlet,whichwastherefor theaskingin thewell-writtenscenesanddialogues.
Thoughthefilm wasdirectedby RameshSaigal,it wastheinspirationwe got from S.MukherjeeSa-
hab that fleshed out the performances and added momentum to the movement of the narrative.

With Kamini Kaushal inShaheed(1948).

I hadan understandingand facile co-actorin Kamini Kaushalwho wasvery attentiveto the de-
mandsof the directorandhadthe intelligenceto graspthe intrinsic sensitivityof someof the more
poignantsituationsin the script. Shewasan artistewho could performwith the requiredauthority
when needed.Shewas not new to the profession,having actedin ChetanAnandÕs NeechaNagar
(1946)earlier. Moreover, shewasaneducatedpersonwith whomonecouldhavean interestingcon-
versation.Shehada noticeablefluencyin speakingEnglish,which wasunusualthosedaysfor anact-
ressandthatdelightedS. MukherjeeSahabwho generallypreferredto talk in that language.In fact,
afteradayÕs intensework onscenesthatcalledfor seriousemoting,we formedasmallcircle for some
nicelight-heartedconversation,in whichoccasionallyAshokBhaiyyaalsojoined.RameshSaigalwas



a goodconversationalistandhe wasthe first oneto addressKamini Kaushalby her real nameUma
(Kashyap) and all of us followed suit.

Shaheedmet with deservingsuccessat the box office. My pairing with Kamini Kaushalin that film
got anencorefrom theaudiencesandFilmistanhadusteamingup in NadiyaKe Paar (releasedlater
in 1948)andShabnam(1949),which becameevenbiggersuccesses.As far backas the 1940s,the
gimmick of pleasingthe massaudienceby bringing togetherartisteswho werebelievedto sharean
attractionfor eachotherin the life they lived outsidetheir work environmentwasascommonasit is
today. The differencewasthat we conductedourselveswith dignity andwe did not makeheadlines
in newspapersandmagazinesor let our privatelives becomethetargetof public debateandderision.
Thereweresnoopyjournalistseventhen,althoughtelevisionwasyet to makeits appearance.If we
wereemotionallyinvolved, therewasno public exhibition of it andthe decorumat work wascon-
sciously maintained.

I wasin my twentieswhenI actedin Shaheed, NadiyaKePaarandShabnam. I wasnosuperhuman
being.Cinemathendid not attracteducatedladiesandbeingin cinemawasnÕt a distinctionfor a girl
or a woman.ComingasI did from a family thathada literarybentof mind and,havinggrownup in a
housethathadsuchdistinguishedvisitorsasMaulanaAbul KalamAzad(ascholarandcloseassociate
of MahatmaGandhiandJawaharlalNehru),SadatHasanManto(anacclaimedwriter) andMirza Ghu-
lamAhmed(anothernotedwriter), who talkedfreelywith Aghaji and,at times,with meandAyubSa-
hab,I preferredthecompanyof colleagueswho wereeducatedandwell informed.Stardombothered
me more than it pleasedme andI guessI wasdrawnmore intellectually thanemotionallyto Uma,
with whomI couldtalk aboutmattersandtopicsthatinterestedmeoutsidethepurviewof ourworking
relationship. If that was love, may be it was. I donÕt know and I donÕt think it matters any more.

Yes,circumstancescalledfor us to discontinueworking togetherandit wasjust aswell because,
after a few films together, star pairings generally tend to pall on viewers, which is bad for business.

A questionI haveoftenbeenaskedis thesomewhatintrusiveonewhetherit makesadifferenceto the
potencyof theemotionsdrawnfrom within oneselfin anintimatelovesceneif theactorsareemotion-
ally involved in their real lives. My honestansweris both yesandno. In the love scenes,especially
the scenesinvolving emotionalwarmthandphysicalproximity, a certaintemperatureis expectedto
becreatedby thedirectorfrom boththeactorsandthattemperatureneednot necessarilybegenerated
by thefamiliarity betweentheartistesoutsidethework environmentbecause,asactors,wegetusedto
performingsuchsceneswith the full knowledgethatwe arefeigningtheemotionfor thecameraand
thereis no truth or reality in it. On theotherhand,it is quitepossiblethat thefamiliarity betweenthe
artistesdueto their emotionalinvolvementwith eachotherin real life maygive anedgeto theemo-
tional intensityandraisethetemperatureof theactto thatelectrifyinglevel thatis notcontainedin the
script per se.

I havebeenaskedthis questionspecificallywith referenceto thescenesI hadto do asPrinceSalim
in Mughal-e-Azam(releasedin 1960)with Madhubala* asSalimÕs belovedAnarkali andto thatI will
reply as honestly as decency permits in one of the chapters to come.

To continuewith my story, it becameimperativenowfor usto shift our residenceto asuburbthatwas
closerto Goregaon(in westernBombay),wheremanyfilm studioswere(andare)situated.Aghaji now
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visited the fruit marketonly oncea weeksincemy incomewasquiteadequateto supportthe family.
He would not stopgoing to themarketfor two reasons.First, hewould not hearof letting mebethe
solebreadwinnerandwantedto contributewhateverhecouldgetfrom thedwindling businessto the
runningof the householdand,secondly, he hadfriendswhosewarm greetingsandconversationshe
missedwhenhestayedawayfrom thebustleof themarketfor toolong.With someearnestconvincing,
Aghaji agreedto shift to Bandra(alsoin westernBombay).We took a bungalowat Pali Mala in the
midst of a cluster of dwellings owned by Goan Christian settlers.

AmmaÕs asthmaticconditionneededregularmedicalattentionandthe physiciantreatingher was
accessibleat a stoneÕs throw from our newresidenceat Pali Mala. Ammanevergot over thepassing
of Ayub. Shedid not weepin front of Aghaji or us but I knew shespentmanynightscrying softly
into her pillow. The grief wasgnawingat her from within andit beganto tell on her health,which
wasdecliningsteadilydespitethebesttreatmentwewereprovidingfor herathomenowthatwewere
in Bandra.Shefoughtagainstthedebilitatingconditionandput on a bravefront beforemy younger
sistersandbrothers,whoneededherandturnedto herfor eventhesmallestrequirementsin their lives.
It wasonly whenI wasalonewith her that shespokesoftly aboutthe inevitability of deathandshe
would noticethepainon my faceandswiftly changethesubject.Aghaji wasawareof AmmaÕs trust
in meandthefact thatshesharedherthoughtsanddreamswith mein herown quietway. Onedayhe
emergedfrom their roomandsawmegettingreadyto go out. He beckonedto meandtold meto go
andsit by AmmaÕsbedside.ÔBewith her,Õhesaidandleft thehouseto bring thedoctorfrom hishome
across the road.

From the cornerof my eyeI could seehim controlling his surging emotions.I hurried in, taking
quick strides.Ammawasrelaxedbut theextremepallor on her faceindicatedthatsheneededimme-
diatemedicalattention.I took my seatat thebedstead,raisingherheadto my chestasI alwaysdid. I
heldhersofthandandraisedit to my lips in asilentgestureof love.I hadalumpin my throatandtears
werewelling up in my eyes.Thepremonitionwasunmistakableand,at thatpoint,all thatI prayedfor
wasthestrengthto give herthesenseof assuranceandsecurityshewasseekingfrom me.As always,
sheunderstoodmy feelingsand,whenAghaji returnedwith thedoctor, shewascomposedandbravely
trying to look well. Somehow, Aghaji knew that we weregoing to loseher soon.He madearrange-
mentsto moveherto our housein Deolali sothatshecouldfeel betterin theunpollutedenvironment
of thehill station.At Deolali, he lookedgauntandblearyeyedandheseldomwentout of thehouse.
Thoughhewasnotexpressingit in words,it wasobviousthathis innervoicewasdisturbinghim with
anxiousthoughtsandthedreadof losing thequietcompanionfrom whomhehadderivedsolaceand
strength for years.

In afew days,on27August1948,shewasgonefrom ourmidst,passingpeacefullyfrom theturmoil
of life to eternaltranquillity. I did not let my pain show, concealingit from Aghaji andmy siblings
theway I did whenAyub Sahabhadpassedaway. All thosewho knewherandAghaji cameto offer
condolenceswhenwe returnedto Bombay. Therealmournerswerethepoorwho lived in theneigh-
bourhood. She never let anyone who came to our door go away empty-handed.

A regularvisitor wasour dhobiÕs (washermanÕs) wife who camewith her youngsonPyarelaland
left thehousewith goodiespackedfor him. Pyarelallearnedtheartof launderingfrom hisparentsand
becamemy personallaundererafterhis parentsdied.He is now in his seventiesandhe is servingin
our houseasthemasterdhobi, takingcareof my white trousersandshirtsasonly hecanbesidesthe
beautifulclothesSairawears.To this day, Pyarelalremembersthe halwasandothergoodiesAmma
usedto packfor him to takehomeandsharewith his youngerbrothers.All this wasin additionto the
sumptuous meal she would serve to him and his mother in the kitchen.



It took meall my strengthandwill powerto suppressthepainanddeepsenseof lossI felt andstand
up manfully beforemy brothersandsistersandgive themthe implicit understandingof beingboth
motherandfatherto themsinceAghaji spokevery little andkeptmoreandmoreto himselfnow. One
daywhenwewerealoneheexpressedawish:hesaidit washiswish to belaid to restatDeolali,close
to where Amma rested.

I boughta Fiat car (sometimein the late 1940s)not so muchbecauseI neededit but morebecause
my sistersrequireda vehicleto go out.My first drive wasto theBrabourneStadium.A cricketmatch
wasgoingon andit musthavebeenthesecondday. I no longerstoodin a queueto getanadmission
ticket to watcha matchasI wasnow somewhatrecognizedin public. I hadgot to know theacecrick-
eterVijay Merchant,who hadbeenintroducedto meby Dr Masani,who washimselfa greatcricket
enthusiast.I askedmy driver to takeme to Churchgate,from whereI pickedup Dr Masaniandwe
reachedthestadiumin time to beusheredto theenclosuremeantfor specialinvitees,which I usedto
eyelongingly wheneverI took my seatin the standsat a lofty heightfrom whereonecould seethe
playersby craningoneÕsneckandinviting acrick if onewasnotprudent.I foundmyselfseatedbeside
animpressivelooking manwearinganunbuttonedjacketoverhis shirt.He wastalking to a leanman
seatedon his right, tilting his broadframeto hearwhat the leanmanwastrying to tell him on seeing
me.I took my seatandsincebothof themsmiledat meI thoughtit fit to greetthem.Theywereob-
viously my co-religionistsbecausetheywerein theMuslimsÕenclosure,so I saidÔSalaamAlaikumÕ
(peace be upon you), and they returned my greeting warmly.

After thematchstartedandprogressed,theimpressivelooking manfelt heshouldspeakto me.He
introducedhimselfasMehboobKhanandintroducedhis friend asNaushadMiyan. It wasthebegin-
ning of two enduringfriendshipsandprofessionalrelationshipsin my life andcareer. NaushadMiyan
(basicallyamusiccomposer)hadwritten thestoryof whatbecamethefilm Melaandheinvitedmeto
meethim andthedirector, S.U. Sunny, thefollowing week.BothNaushadMiyan andMehboobKhan
had seenShaheed.

My meetingwith NaushadMiyan tookplacein SunnyÕssmalloffice wherehenarratedto mebriefly
the story of Mela. He alsotold me that they hadrecordedthe title songwith which they would like
to starttheshooting.It wasa bit awkwardfor meto askquestionsaboutthedetailsof thestorybut I
thought it would be a risk if I did not know enough to be in a position to accept the film.

I mustmentionherethatmy work choicesfrom theverybeginningwerenotgovernedby theremu-
nerationI wasoffered.This wassomethingI learnedfrom Nitin BoseandDevikaRaniwho weremy
first andmostinfluential teachers.While workingwith Nitin Boseduringthemakingof Milan (1946),
I understoodhow vital it is for anactorto getsocloseto thecharacterthat the thin line betweenthe
actorÕsownpersonalityandtheimaginedpersonalityof thecharactergetsruthlesslyrubbedoff for the
time whenyou areinvolved in theshooting.To get thatcloseto thecharacterit is very importantto
know everything about the character and his mind and emotions.

While I wasdeeplyinvolvedwith Milan, onedayNitindaaskedmewhetherI hadseriouslyreadthe
novelNaukaDubi (written in Bengaliby theNobelLaureateRabindranathTagore).I told him that I
hadreadthetranslationgivento meand,of course,thescript,which wasvery detailed.We werepre-
paringto shootthescenein which thecharacternamedRameshhastravelledall nightby trainandhas
reachedVaranasi(now in Uttar Pradesh),wherehehasto immersethemortal remainsof his mother
in theGanga.He performshis duty with a heavyheart,tired andweather-beatenasheis boundto be
aftertheovernightjourney. Nitindaaskedmeif I hadgivensufficient thoughtto thestateof RameshÕs
mind andhis feelingsduring the journeyby train sitting up all night holding theurn securelyso that
thelastremainsfrom it did not spill out.Nitinda alsoaskedmeto think overthescene,imaginingthe



disturbedstateof RameshÕsmindashesatlookingat theurnandrememberinghismotherwhousedto
talk to him affectionatelyandservehim food andwakehim up in themorningswith a cupof hot tea.
He finally askedme:ÔDonÕt you think Rameshwould havethoughtto himself,this is my motherwho
hasbeenreducedto ashes,my motherwho hadsuchsoft handsandsuchgentleeyes?ÕI told Nitinda
frankly that I hadnot thoughtso deeplybecausesuchdepthwasnot in the script.Nitinda of course
understoodbut hegavemea valuablelessonthathasstoodmein goodstead.He mademewrite four
to five pagesexpressingmy feelingsasRameshduring the journey. I satup half thenight andwrote
andrewroteuntil I wasovercomeby sleep.The next day the scenewas to be shotat a location in
Ghodbunderin Bombay. Whenthecamerastartedto roll I wasinto thesceneemotionallyandtheex-
perience was satisfying for me and Nitinda.

Thatwashow Nitinda groomedme.He explainedthata goodscriptalwayshelpedanactorto per-
form effectively but therewereareasbeyondwhatwasgivento him in thescript thatwerewaiting to
beexploredby onewho wishedto riseabovethegivenareasin his performance.WhenRabindranath
TagorewroteNaukaDubi, hewould neverhavethoughtthatthefine literary work would becomethe
baseof a featurefilm. So it wasentirely up to the script writer to takethe work to anotherlevel as
a visual experiencewith the characterscomingalive andliving throughall the experiencesnarrated
in the book. ÔThereis no stoppingyou if you asan actor felt emboldenedto discovernichesin the
characterÕsemotionalmake-upthatyouwould like to bring to theforeevenif theyarenot therein the
script,Õ he advised me.

He agreedthat it wasnot easyfor anactorto riseabovethescript,but it wasnot impossibleeither
if the collaboration among the writer, actor and director worked well.

What Devika Rani had told me wasalsoa lessonI havebornein mind andappliedto my work
sometimesto the surpriseof my directors.Shehadpointedout that a directormay be satisfiedwith
the shotan actorhadgiven but it is for the actorto discernfor himself whetherhe hadreally given
his best.Theactor, shetold me,waswithin his rightsto requestfor anothertakeif hefelt hecoulddo
better.

I havenot only borneall this in mind wheremy own work is concernedbut alsorespectedmy co-
actorsÕwishesif theywantedanothertakewhenit seemedfine for thedirectorto cantheshot.Devika
Ranihadadvisedmeandall theactorssheemployedat BombayTalkiesthat it wasimportantto re-
hearsetill a levelof competenceto performwasachieved.In theearlyyears,it wasanecessityfor me
to rehearse,but,evenin thelateryears,heradvicestayedwith mewhenI hadto matchabenchmarkI
hadmentallysetfor myself.In fact, I amawarethatI amknownfor thenumberof rehearsalsI do for
even what seems to be a simple scene.

With Nargis and Ashok Kumar inDeedar(1951).



Let me give an example.Therewas a situationin Nitin BoseÕs Deedar(1951), in which Ashok
BhaiyyaandI hadlines to deliverandthecuefor his lineshadto be takenfrom my lines. In our re-
hearsalswe hadmutuallydecidedthat theword ÔmulayamÕ(meaningsoft) in my dialoguewould be
his cueto speakandturn his facetowardsme.Beinga BombayTalkiesman,AshokBhaiyyahadas
muchof a fetishfor rehearsalsasI hadandsowe hadalreadyhadalmosteight to tenrehearsals.The
directortold usto bereadyfor thetakeandhecalledfor action.WhenI spokemy dialogue,quite in-
advertently, I replacedtheword ÔmulayamÕwith ÔnarmÕ(alsomeaningsoft) andAshokBhaiyyawas
thrownoff track.I donÕt know whatwentwrongwith methatday. Thedirectorcalled:ÔCUTÕ;andI
neednot tell you what followed. Thoughnot oneto losehis temper, AshokBhaiyyagavemea piece
of his mind and said gruffly: ÔOK, now we will stick to ÒnarmÓ.Õ
*The film was releasedwhen the political atmospherewas in turmoil, in the wake of Mahatma
GandhiÕs call for civil disobedience.Sikandarstirredup patriotic feelingsandnationalistsentiments.
The screening of the movie was forbidden in some British Indian Army cantonments.
*Madhubala was born as Mumtaz Jehan Begum Dehlavi on 14 February 1933.
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12
REEL LIFE VERSUS REAL LIFE

K. Asifwasseriouslytrying to mendthesituationfor her [Madhubala]whenmattersbeganto sour
betweenus,thanksto her fatherÕsattemptto maketheproposedmarriagea businessventure.The
outcomewasthat half way throughtheproductionof Mughal-e-Azam, wewerenot eventalking
to eachother.Theclassicscenewith thefeathercomingbetweenour lips, whichseta million ima-
ginations on fire, was shot when we had completely stopped even greeting each other.

GETTING BACK TO MELA (RELEASEDIN 1948),I REMEMBERdriving to FilmistanStudioswith S.U. Sunny,
discussingthestoryon theway. Whenwe reachedthestudioandwalkedon to thestage,thetitle song
wasbeingplayed.ThedescriptionI got from thedirectorof theproposedpicturizationwasabsolutely
flat. I suggestedchangesin thesituationandthepicturization,which wereappreciatedby thedirector
and Naushad Miyan, the music composer.

Thestorylineof Melawasasketchyoneand,havinghadthegoodfortuneof gettinginvolvedin stim-
ulatingdiscussionswith suchthought-provokingwritersasBhagwaticharanVerma,NarendraSharma,
GyanMukherjeeandNabenduGhosh,I wasableto sensetheabsenceof meatin it for theactorsand
I felt it hadto bebroughtto thedirectorÕs attentionat thevery outset.He agreedwith me,which was
very goodnot only for me but for the otherartistesaswell. We hadsomehealthybrainstormingses-
sions,which helpedus to adddepthandintensityto thestorybesideslogic. We alsomanagedto give
the characters more emotional sensitivity and depth.

In Mela (1948).

Melastill evokessomewonderfulmemoriesof thepastthatI mustshare.Firstof all, it wasthefirst film
Aghaji watchedin a cinemahousebecauseNaushadMiyan persuadedhim to view it. He musthave
gonefor a matineeshowwith ChachaUmmerandoneof his friends.He wasseatedin thefront room
of our new housein Pali Mala whenI returneda little early that day becauseI hadto get somenew
medicinesthedoctorhadprescribedfor my motherandsomehowgetherto gulp downthemixtureshe
disliked.I greetedhim asI alwaysdid andheaskedmeto sit nextto him. ChachaUmmerwasalready
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seatednearhim andhehadamischievoussmileplayingroundhis lips. SoI wonderedwhatwasgoing
on.Then,ChachaUmmercameoutwith it. Hedisclosedtheyhadgoneto acinemahouseandwatched
Mela andit wasa revelationthatsomanypeoplehadactuallyboughtadmissionticketsandhadfilled
the hall. He elaboratedthat it wasa very enjoyableexperienceandit wasincrediblethat I wasright
thereon thescreenbehavingandtalking very differentlyandwonderedwhateverhadhappenedto all
theshynessandthereluctanceI hadshowngenerallywhenit cameto makingfreeconversationwith
theoppositesex.He now waitedfor Aghaji to takeup theconversation.Aghaji lookedat meandhis
expressiveeyesshowedhisconcernfor somethingthatwasgoingon in hismind.He thensaid:ÔLook
if you really want to marrythatgirl, I cantalk to herparents.Justtell mewho sheis. You donÕt have
to be so unhappy.Õ

For a moment,I failed to fathomwhatwasbeingspokenby bothof them.Thenit dawnedon me
thattheywerespeakingaboutNargis,* theheroinein Mela, carriedawayastheywereby thestoryand
the performances.I could clearly seetheir inability, asfirst-time viewersof a featurefilm, to accept
andenjoyit all asmake-believe.I couldnothelplaughingto myselfbut I knewit wasanimpressionI
hadto correctimmediatelylestAghaji andChachaUmmertakestepsto find Nargisandput mein an
embarrassing situation.

Secondly, thepicturewasmemorablefor theenduringfriendshipthatbeganbetweenmeandNaush-
ad Miyan and betweenme and Nargis. With Nargis it was a no-holds-barredfriendship.It was as
thoughwewereof thesamegenderbecauseshewasnotatall hesitantto join themenfolkin their talks
andwasnot oneto beshockedif a bawdyremarkwasmadein front of her. Her mother, JaddanBai,
hadbecomefriendly with Ammaandmy eldersisterdueto her frequentvisits to our homeandlater
Aghaji cameto knowNargiswasanactresswhofeignedemotionswhile actingwith meandtherewas
nothing but a healthy friendship between us.

Nargis wasno doubta very capableactresswho wasgettingbetterwith everyfilm. I couldseethat
shehadimprovedvastlywhenwe werecastin MehboobKhanÕs Andaz(1949).It wasa delightful ex-
periencedoingAndazbecauseRaj Kapoorwastherein thefilm andit waslike thetimeswe spentat
KhalsaCollegewhenwe playedsoccer. He usedto standred facedin the blazingsunlight,shouting
and yelling in Punjabi when I scored a goal for my team.

With Nargis and Raj Kapoor inAndaz(1949).

RajandNargissharedachemistrythatmadeagoodequationfor theirscenestogether. With Nargis,
in front of thecamera,I sharedadifferentequation,andI felt all throughthemakingof Andazthatshe
wasthereandyetnot therewhenweemotedscenesthathadto haveacertaintemperatureÐto usemy
own coinage to describe the intensity that holds an emotional scene between two artistes.
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For instance,AshokBhaiyyaandNalini Jaywantwereableto build that temperaturepossiblydue
to their knowingeachotherwell. Nargis andRaj couldbring up the feelingsdemandedof themand,
consequently, theydid their sceneswith ease.I wasableto attainthateasewith Madhubalain Tarana
(1951),which hasremained,for manyreasons,oneof thefilms I would countamongthememorable
onesI havedonein theearlyyearsof my career. Shewasa vivaciousartisteandwassoinstantaneous
in herresponsesthatthescenesbecamerivetingevenwhentheywerebeingfilmed. Thesceneswould
moveat a brisk speedwhenwe rehearseda few timesandwhenwe went for the final take.And that
wasbecauseshewasanartistewho couldkeeppaceandmeetthelevel of involvementdemandedby
the script.

I felt instantaneouslycomfortablewith MehboobSahab.Therearesomepeoplewith whom one
startsfeelingrelaxedandsecureasthoughonehasknownthemfor ages.With MehboobSahabit was
thatkind of comfort from dayone.He gavemethefreedomto talk to him abouttheway I wantedto
performa sceneandhe let meshowhim how I intendedto do it beforehetold mehow hehadvisu-
alizedit. He liked healthydebatesandbelievedthat it wastheendresultthatmatteredandthetrivial
question of whose idea it was had no relevance in team work.

Weheldourmeetingsin MehboobSahabÕshouseor atNaushadMiyanÕsresidenceandit wasin one
suchmeeting(I think in the early 1950s)that I disclosedmy intentionof switchingover to comedy
sinceI hadbeenclinically advisedto do soby oneDr W. D. Nicholswho hadbeenintroducedto me
by DameMargret RutherfordandDameSybil Thorndikewith whom I hadlong discussionswhenI
had met them through a drama coach in London.

With Madhubala inTarana(1951).

Dr Nicholswaskind enoughto spenda goodonehourwith mewhenI calledon him. I sharedmy
fearswith theeminentpsychiatristandheassuagedmesayingit wasnotacausefor worry sincemany
of his celebritypatientsfrom the actingprofessionhadcometo him with the samefearsandhe had
told themwhathewasgoingto tell me.He suggesteda quick changeof thegenreof films I wasdo-
ing. He explainedto methatmostactorswho repeatedlyworkedin thesamegenreof films found it
difficult to overcomethe dichotomythat confrontedthembetweenthe two lives they were leading.
Theunrealsometimes,or rathermosttimes,becamesooverpoweringthattherealcalledfor protection
from cavingin andgettingsubmerged.I hadbeenplayingcharacterswho wereill-fated anda morbid
outlookhadseizedmeasa resultof my extremeinvolvementandmy living thecharacterbeyondthe
working hours.

Dr NicholssaidhewascertainthatI tookmy work homein my subconsciousandturnedthespoken
lines andthe scenesover andover in my mind in my bid to review the work I haddoneduring the
day. I wasnaturallyappalledby his accuracyin diagnosingmy condition.He addedwith utmostser-
iousness:ÔMydearyoungman,you arenot alonein this crisis.It is a similar conditionthata student



who gearshimself for excellenceandtop rankinggoesthrough.Theonly way out is to go for variety
in your work. Spend more time in leisure that you enjoy or with friends you feel happy to be with.Õ

I understoodwhathemeant.Indeed,I hadgot soinvolvedin thework I wasdoingthatI hadunin-
tentionallydistancedmyselffrom my brothersandsisters,seeingthemonly for ashorttimeonreturn-
ing home every night and I had almost stopped playing football and cricket with my friends.

It is not asif I did not realizethatwhateverI wasdoing in the films wasunrealanddiametrically
oppositeto my reallife andmy realself.But thesituationwassuchthatpeoplecameandtalkedabout
someof the tragic scenesI haddoneconvincinglyor abouta film that hadattractedthemto view it
repeatedlybecauseadeathscenein it wasbeautifullyperformedandthatmademethink aboutit even
if I didnÕt want to. It wasgoodto hearthe compliments,especiallyat a stagewhenonewas in the
processof evolvingasanactorbut theimpactwasoverwhelmingto saytheleast.I wasbarelyin my
twentiesandI wasdoingtragedy. Renownedtragediansin Westerncinemalike Sir JohnGielgud,for
example,hadneverdonetragedyatsuchanearlyimpressionableage.Theywerein their thirtieswhen
they played tragic roles.

I spokeat lengthandI rememberboth MehboobSahabandNaushadSahabjust staredat me.They
wereunableto graspmy dilemmaandmy needto getacomfortingapprovalfrom them.Theythought
I wascrazyto goandseekadvicefrom psychiatristsanddramacoachesin England.Theynamedother
actorswho werestickingto thesamegenreandhadno problemswhatsoever. I wenthomesomewhat
distraught.

ThenextdayI wentoverto meetS.MukherjeeSahabandI told him I hadseenaTamil film,* which
a producerfrom Madras(now Chennai)hadarrangedfor me to see.The producerSriramuluNaidu
wantedto makeit in Hindi andit meanta completechangeof screenimageif I choseto do it. K. Asif
(thedirectorof the1960Mughal-e-Azam) alsohappenedto bepresentwhenI wastalking to Mukher-
jeeSahaband,smiling provocatively, hesaid:ÔKarkedikhaiye.Õ(LetÕs seeyou do it.) AsifÕs look was
like agauntletthrowndownfor me.MukherjeeSahabhadnosecondthoughtsaboutthedecisionI was
waiting to take.He said:ÔGoaheadanddo it. An actorÕs businessis actingandit shouldnot matterto
him whether he is doing tragedy or comedy. What counts is the actorÕs ability and enterprise.Õ

I returnedhomewith a feelingof confidence.I knewthatcomedyrequireda broadbaseandanex-
ceptionalsenseof timing, which wasa carefullyhonedskill morethana gift or flair. Initially, my fear
waswhetherI possessedthatskill. Now it wasa challenge,a necessitythatcriedout for somedaring
on my part.

Azaad(releasedin 1955),in manyways,wasthefirst film thatgavemethemuch-neededconfiden-
ce to forgeaheadwith a feelingof emancipationandsenseof achievement.I wasin Mahabaleshwar
(ahill stationin Maharashtra)on theopeningday, deliberatelystayingawayfrom homeandfriendsin
Bombay.
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In Azaad(1955).

I waswokenupby V. V. PurieSahab* atmidnightandhewascalling from Delhi to tell methegreat
newsthat thefilm wasa hit. We keptcongratulatingeachothertill we hungup out of a sheerneedto
get some sound sleep.

The delirious caller to wake me up early next morning was SriramuluNaidu and I felt ever so
happyfor him becausehehadsuchconfidencein methathegavemeabsolutefreedomto incorporate
whateverideasoccurredto me to makethescript andscreenplayentertaining.It wasalsoa pleasant
experienceworkingwith MeenaKumari,** for whomthefilm offeredawelcomeswitchoverto light-
heartedactingfrom theseriousactingshecameto beknownfor with Baiju Bawra(1952)andParin-
eeta(1953).Shewasa sprightlypersonwho got alongvery well with everymemberof theunit and
enjoyedtaking lessonsin Tamil from Naiduwho wasforeveron a Tamil instructionspreeduring the
indoor shooting we did in Coimbatore and Madras.

NaiduandI hit it off quiteunexpectedlyfrom thevery first dayof shooting.He wassohappyabout
thestartof theproductionthatheinsistedonhostingalunchatahousein Madras,whichbelongedto a
wealthyChettiar(abusinesscommunity),to introducemeto all thefamouspeopleheknewwell in the
southernfilm industry. Thelunchwaslaid out for all theinviteeson bananaleavesasis customaryin
theSouthon festiveoccasions.It wasthefirst time I wasbeingtreatedto a typical SouthIndianmeal
servedin four courseswith threedifferentdessertscomingoneafter theotherastheclimax. After a
wholeseriesof vegetableswereservedon theleaf in anorderthatseemedfixed andunchangeable,a
moundof rice wasservedin the middle of the leaf andsambhar(a kind of broth) wasaddedto it. I
wasseatednext to a gentlemanwho hada beatific smile on his faceandtook it uponhimself to tell
mein detailwhateachof thevegetabledisheswascalledin Tamil andhowI shouldproceedfrom one
dishto theotherto gettheright combinations.I did exactlyasheinstructed,notwantingto disappoint
him andthehost,Naidu,who wasseatedoppositemeandengagedin ananimatedconversationwith
someone he seemed to know well.

All waswell till therasam, which resemblesa waterysoup,camein a ladleandthemanwho was
servingstoodanxiouslyby my side,directinga curioussmile at me. I wasat a lossandcompletely
takenby surprise.I hadseenmy friend seatednext to metaketherasamin his cuppedpalmeverso
casually and slurp it down with relish. I was certain I couldnÕt manage that!

As the manstoodwaiting for me to cup my palm andtakea ladle full of the temptingliquid, an
ideacrossedmy mind. I madea small well in the rice mound,madea damaroundit for safetyand
to arrestits flow, andaskedhim to pour it there.He obligedwith a knowingsmile,which I returned.
I waspleasedwith myself for havingartfully got out of a tricky situationandhastenedto finish the
meal. The real test, however, was yet to come.

After theheartymeal,we retiredto a drawingroomwherelargesofaswaitedfor theinviteesto be
seatedasrelaxingly asdecencypermits.Therewasa lot of chatterin Tamil andTeluguandI could
gatherthat they wereall thinking aloudaboutNaiduÕs madnessto makethe film in Hindi andcourt
failure. Naidu hada soleally in L. V. Prasad(a well-known producer-directorfrom the South)who
kept on speakingencouraginglyandshakinghis hand.All the inviteeswerepolite andnice to me,
though.

Theclimax of theafternooncamewhena largesilver bowl arrivedon a platewith a semi-thickli-
quid in it. Thevaletwho broughtthebowl into thedrawingroomwent from oneinvitee to theother
andI watchedeachof themtakea scoopandrub it all over thebelly, lifting up their shirtsandthen
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coverthe smearedpastewith the shirt backin its placeasif therewasnothingon the belly. I could
distinctly get the fragrance of sandalwood, so I knew it was nothing but sandalwood paste.

I did not askanyquestionswhenthebowl cameto me.I took a scoopandsmearedit on my hairy
belly anddecidedto forgetaboutit. But sureenough,it wasnÕt easyfor meto forgetaboutit. Thepaste
beganto dry up andthe hair on my belly wasbeginningto get taut andit wasbecomingpainful for
me.I could feel a hundredpinprickson my belly andthediscomfortwasdistracting.Whatdoesone
do in sucha periloussituation?I excusedmyself andheadedstraightfor thewashroom.I boltedthe
door andremovedmy shirt andbanian(vest).I soakedthe banian in runningwater from the wash
basinandwipedout thedriedpastewith it. Thefeelof coldwatergavemeagreatrelief. I sawanopen
window at therearendof thelargewashroomoverlookinga garden.I flung thebanianout,woremy
shirt andreturnedtriumphantlyto thedrawingroom.No onethereapparentlynoticedmy absenceand
no onecameto know abouttheChaplinesqueepisode.Thegardenercertainlywould havewondered
thenextdayaboutthebundledbanianhewould havefoundbeneathoneof thebushesandhewould
have dismissed it as someoneÕs mischief.

I did not feel theneedto tell Naiduabouttheepisode.I tried to avoid formal lunchesanddinners
afterthatandNaiduimaginedit wasthelanguageproblemperhapsthatdeterredmefrom participating
in suchsocialactivities.In truth,it wasquitethecontrary. I discovereda latentflair in meto assimilate
both Tamil andTeluguasspeedilyasI hadlearnedBengali from Ashok BhaiyyaandS. Mukherjee
Sahab.Besides,all thewonderfulpeopleI cameto know in southerncinemacapitalwerecapableof
speakingEnglishwith adequatefluency. Wewill go into thattopicwhenI takeyou throughmy south-
ern experiences.

If I presentedmyself with my first car after the successof Shabnam(1949),AzaadÕs success,which
gavemeatruesenseof achievement,mademethink abouthavingmy ownresidencein thecity, which
wascarvinga very specialplacein my heartasmy homeland,eventranscendingmy sentimentalat-
tachment to my birth place, Peshawar, in the North West Frontier.

It hadbeenmy earnestdesireto give Ammathesecurityandcomfortof beingin a housethatshe
couldcall herown whenshewasalive. Her healthhadbeenfailing andshehadto willy-nilly let go
of the managementof the household,which SakinaAapatook over happily. As alreadymentioned,
in temperamentandattitudeSakinaAapawasmorelike my Dadi (paternalgrandmother)whoseHit-
lerianauthoritypervadedthehouseadministrationin Peshawar. I hadno doubtthatmy eldersisterÕs
high-handednesswaswhatpsychologistscall ÔlearnedbehaviourÕ.But thenthe logical questionwas:
Why did shenot learnfrom AmmaÕs gentleandkind behaviour?I guesssomequestionsarebestleft
unanswered.

Memoriesarehardto erasefrom the mind. Often,whenI wasalonein my room I recalledhow on
mostevenings,I returnedto my houseaftera dayÕs exactingwork to find Ammastrugglingwith her
asthmaticcoughandfeigning to bewell. ShehadbeenextremelyconcernedaboutAyub SahabÕs de-
terioratinghealthcondition.Ayub Sahab,sheknew, wastheclosestto meamongmy brothers.Soshe
hadneverfailed to askme curiousquestionsaboutAyub SahabÕs lung functioning,which hadbeen
impaired since he fell from a horse. I was aware how much she missed him when he passed away.

I could not forget how Amma usedto look up at me whenI would tiptoe to her room after I had
bathedandchanged.Shewouldbeckonto mewith herbeautifuleyesandI would takemy usualplace
at thebedsteadsothatshecouldrestherheadon my chestwhile I talkedsoothinglyto her. Whenshe
would be fatiguedwith the effort of breathing,I helpedher to breatheeffortlesslyby giving support



to herribs,pressingwith handsupportthenletting go.Sometimes,whenshewantedto getup andsit
on a chair in the room, I just carriedher in my arms,amidstprotestsandgentlelaughterfrom her,
andplacedher in the chair. Aghaji, in jest andto makelight the atmospherewould say:ÔItna shauq
hai meri biwi ko uthakar ghoomaneyka, to apni biwi lao!Õ(If you aresofond of lifting my wife and
going around with her, then find your own wife!)

My eldestbrother, Noor Sahab,wasforever in the companyof his friends.My youngerbrothers
werebusywith their studiesandso weremy youngersisters.They hadSakinaAapaÕs watchful eye
over themandtheyhadbeenso disciplinedby her that if theywantedsomethingtheydarednot ap-
proachmedirectlyasit annoyedAapawhohadmadeherselfthesoleauthorityin thehouse.My aunts
too fearedherandmadeuncomplimentaryremarksbehindherback.Theonepersonwhodid not treat
herwith awewasChachaUmmer. He madeall sortsof harmlessandjolly remarksabouttheheroines
I workedwith, muchto AapaÕs irritation. Every time hemischievouslysuggestedmatrimonyfor me
with oneof theladiesI teamedwith, sheeitherpolitely askedhim to goandfind himselfsomethingto
door shestormedoutof theroomindignantly. I sensedthatshedisapprovedof mostof theactressesI
wasworkingwith, thoughshewasverycivil andcordialwhentheyvisitedourhome.I felt thatshegot
alongwell with Nargis whosemother, JaddanBai, wasvery fond of meandaffectionatelyaddressed
me asPrince.It amusedme whenAapaaskedme oneeveningwhetherI knew what wasgoing on
betweenRajandNargis.I told herthatsheshouldaskRajwhousedto dropin unexpectedlyandmake
his presencefelt in our quiet houseby talking to everyoneanddemandingthe aromaticmilklesstea
that Aapa made specially for him.

It wasnot in my natureto intrudeinto anyoneÕs personallife. I rememberhavinglunchwith Askok
BhaiyyaandNalini Jaywantoneafternoonin FilmistanStudiowheretheywerealsoshootingon an-
otherfloor. After we finishedeating,AshokBhaiyyaheadedfor thewashroomto washhis handsand
Naliniji followed him. Quiteunsuspectingly, I followed too becauseI hadto quickly getbackto work
after washingmy hands.In a moment,I realizedhow foolish I wasto havefollowed themlike that.
I shouldhaveknownbetteror at leasthavetried to makesomesoundto alert them.However, I nev-
er took the liberty to makeany referenceto that embarrassmentin any of our conversationsthough
I knewAshokBhaiyya,beingthecarefreemanhewas,would not havetakenit amissandhewould
probably have laughed it off.

Thegossippress,evenin thoseyears,wasquickto smellanyemotionalinvolvementbetweenactors
andthe leadingladiestheyworkedwith andsplashexaggeratedandimaginarynewsin thecolumns
of their publications.Thespotlightthen,asit is now, wasalwayson thesuccessfulactorswho hada
following andwhoseprivate lives interestedtheir readers.Initially, I wasannoyedby this invasion,
which wasvery unbecomingat times.I felt it wasnot fair to theladiesandit would causethemneed-
less worry about their public image getting tarnished.

I spenttime with someof the leadingwritersof gossipto impressuponthemthe role theyshould
play ascinemajournalists.I tried to explainto themthatactorswerelike anyotherprofessionalswho
did a job from nineto five or two to tenor whatevertheschedulewas.Theonly differencewasthatwe
enteredanunrealworld asunrealpeopleeverydaywhenwe got downto work unlike otherworking
menandwomenwhoremainedthemselvesandexpressedrealemotionsin their interactionswith their
colleagues.In ourworld of mimic laughterandtears,asactorsemotingintensefeelingsfor eachother
in closephysicalproximity, we sometimeslost consciousnessof the slenderline separatingthe real
and unreal.

Did it happenwith me?WasI in love with Madhubalaasthenewspapersandmagazinesreported
at that time?As ananswerto this oft-repeatedquestionstraightfrom thehorseÕs mouth,I mustadmit
thatI wasattractedto herbothasa fine co-starandasapersonwhohadsomeof theattributesI hoped
to find in awomanat thatageandtime.Wehadviewersadmiringourpairingin Taranaandourwork-
ing relationshipwaswarmandcordial.She,asI saidearlier, wasvery sprightlyandvivaciousand,as



such,shecoulddrawmeout of my shynessandreticenceeffortlessly. Shefilled a void thatwascry-
ing out to befilled Ðnot by anintellectuallysharpwomanbut a spiritedwomanwhoselivelinessand
charm were the ideal panacea for the wound that was taking its own time to heal.

With Madhubala inMughal-e-Azam(1960).

Theannouncementof our pairingin Mughal-e-Azammadesensationalnewsin theearly1950sbe-
causeof the rumoursaboutour emotionalinvolvement.In fact, K. Asif (the filmÕs director)wasec-
staticwith the wide publicity andtradeenquirieshe got from the announcement.It wasnot anticip-
atedor plannedthat it would bein productionfor sucha long periodasit wasandAsif wasawareof
MadhuÕs feelingsfor mebecauseshehadconfidedin him duringoneof their intimatetalks.And, he
wasequallyawareof my natureasa manwhomadenohastein takingcritical personalor professional
decisions.As washis wont,hetook it uponhimselfto actasthecatalystandwentto theextentof en-
couragingherin vain to pin medownsomehow. He wenton to adviseherthatthebestway to drawa
commitmentfrom anhonourableandprincipledPathan,broughtup on old-world values,wasto draw
him into physical intimacy.

In retrospect,I feel hedid whatanyselfishdirectorwould havedonefor his own gainof creating
riveting screenchemistrybetweenactorswho areknown to be emotionallyinvolved.Also, I sensed
Asif wasseriouslytrying to mendthesituationfor herwhenmattersbeganto sourbetweenus,thanks
to her fatherÕs attemptto maketheproposedmarriagea businessventure.Theoutcomewasthathalf
way throughthe productionof Mughal-e-Azam, we werenot eventalking to eachother. The classic
scenewith the feathercomingbetweenour lips, which seta million imaginationson fire, wasshot
whenwe hadcompletelystoppedevengreetingeachother. It should,in all fairness,go down in the
annalsof film historyasa tributeto theartistryof two professionallycommittedactorswhokeptaside
personaldifferencesand fulfilled the directorÕs vision of a sensitive,arrestingandsensuousscreen
moment to perfection.

Asif andI weretemperamentallyandintellectuallypolesapart.Thoughasfriendswe sharedanin-
formality in our interactions,heknewhewasnot welcometo sharemy thoughtsunlessI invited him.
Frankly, I hadmoreconcernsoccupyingmy thoughtsthanthelove scenesin thefilm. I hadvery little
textualreferenceto studythepersonalcharacteristicsof PrinceSalim.It wasimperativefor meto es-
tablisha mentalbondwith thecharacterandI knewfrom themomentI agreedto play therole that it
was going to be a lone journey of research and discovery from whatever material was available.



Interestingly, Asif hadwantedme to play PrinceSalim in a projecthe hadstartedway backwhenI
wasworking in NadiyaKe Paar (1948).He hadinvited me over to his houseandintroducedme to
hiswife, theKathakdanseuseSitaraDevi, with whomaninstantrapportdevelopedaswetalkedabout
classicalHindustanimusicanddanceforms.As ourconversationprogressedandshehadservedustea
andsnacks,SitaraBhabhihesitatinglyaskedme if shecouldcall meBhaijaan(brother)asshefelt a
sisterly affection for me and she had only one brother and had room in her heart for one more.

Asif remainedquietandobservantwhile SitaraBhabhitalkedseamlesslyaboutdance,music,films,
weather, food, servantsandwhat haveyou. Finally, Asif got a chanceto get in a word. He saidhe
liked everythingaboutmebut hefelt I wasrathertoo youngto play PrinceSalimat that juncture.He
remarked:ÔYou havetheroyal bearingof a princebut I wantanolder look.ÕI told him hewasright.
Ratherprophetically, he thendeclaredthat in the futurehewould makea film relatingthe love story
of SalimandAnarkali on a scalethatwould inspireaweandhewould castmeastheromanticprince.
I wassomewhatamusedby his overweeningsenseof supremeconfidencebut I hadenoughsensenot
to revealmy amusement.He announcedthefilm shortlywith Sapruji(D. K. Sapru.who laterbecame
a character actor) in the lead but due to financial curbs he could not go beyond a few reels.

So whenhe approachedme yearslater with the proposalof Mughal-e-Azam, it waslike a dream
cometruefor him. I hadby thenmoveduptheechelonsof stardomandourfriendshipandmy fraternal
ties with SitaraDevi had continueduninterrupteddespitetherebeing no talk of work betweenus.
Then,oneday, he cameto meetme with a twinkle in his eyesand,after the usualpleasantries,he
beganto recall our first meetingandhe remindedmeof thepromisehehadmadeto himself to film
thestoryof AnarkaliandPrinceSalimonascaleof grandeurandopulencethatwould inspireaweand
I wouldplay theprince.I rememberedtheepisodevividly andcouldnÕt helpmarvellingat thewaysof
Destiny.

I workedonSalimÕspersonalityby fine-tuningmy instinctsappropriatelyto createascreenpersona
who closelymatchedthe descriptionsI readin somefine booksI got hold of in the AnjumanIslam
schoollibrary. I couldalwaysdependon my friend MohammadUmarMukri (a short-staturedcharac-
teractor)to helpmeoutonsuchoccasions.Herummagedthroughbookshopsandgotmewhateverhe
could lay his handson. To cut thestoryshort,I think I moreor lesssucceededin approximatingmy
get-upandscreenpersonaof PrinceSalimto thepictureI hadformedin my mind. I knewat thevery
startof theprojectthatI wasnotgoingto getmuchhelpfrom Asif. Hehadnumerousconcernsto deal
with asthedirectorandin his typical mannerhe laughedawaymy worriessaying:ÔJustbeyourself.
You are Prince Yousuf.Õ
*Nargis was born as Fatima Rashid on 1 June 1929.
*The film wasMalaikallan (1954), featuring M. G. Ramachandran (MGR) as the hero.
*V. V. Purie, then a film financier, was the father of Aroon Purie ofIndia Todayfame.
** Meena Kumari was born as Mahjabeen Bano on 1 August 1932.
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13
MADHUBALA

I did feelsorry for Madhuandwishedshehadthewill to protecther interestsat leaston thepro-
fessionalfront without thoughtlesslybowingto her fatherÕswishesall the time.Suchsubmission
had an adverse impact not only on her professional reputation but also on her health needlessly.

MADHUBALA WAS NO DOUBT THE RIGHT CHOICEFORTHE ROLE of Anarkali.Shegraspedtheessenceof the
characterin no time with her agile intelligence.Yes,therewastalk of our marriagewhile the shoot-
ing of Mughal-e-Azamwasin progressin the1950s.Contraryto popularnotions,her father, Ataullah
Khan,wasnot opposedto hermarryingme.He hadhis own productioncompanyandhewasonly too
glad to havetwo starsunderthesameroof. Had I not seenthewholebusinessfrom my own point of
view, it would havebeenjust whathewanted,that is, Dilip KumarandMadhubalaholdinghandsand
singingduetsin hisproductionstill theendof ourcareers.WhenI learnedabouthisplansfrom Madhu,
I explainedto bothof themthat I hadmy own way of functioningandselectingprojectsandI would
not showanylaxity evenif it weremy own productionhouse.It musthavetilted theapplecartfor him
andhesuccessfullyconvincedMadhuthatI wasbeingrudeandpresumptuous.I told herin all sincerity
andhonestythat I did not meananyoffenceandit wasin her interestandmineasartistesto keepour
professionaloptionsawayfrom anypersonalconsiderations.Shewasnaturallyinclined to agreewith
herfatherandshepersistedin trying to convincemethatit wouldall besortedoutoncewemarried.My
instincts,however, predicteda situationin which I would betrappedandall thehardwork anddedica-
tion I hadinvestedin my careerwouldbeblownawayby ahaplesssurrenderto someoneelseÕsdictates
andstrategies.I hadmanyupfrontdiscussionswith herfatherandshe,not surprisingly, remainedneut-
ral andunmovedby my dilemma.Thescenariowasnot very pleasantandit washeadinginevitably to
adeadend.In thecircumstances,therefore,it seemedbestthatwedid notdecideto marryor evengive
eachothera chanceto rethink becausemy resolveby thenhadbecomestronglyagainsta union that
would not be good for either of us.

With Madhubala in a romantic scene fromMughal-e-Azam(1960).
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I wastruly relievedwhenwe partedbecauseI hadalsobegunto getan inkling that it wasall very
well to beworking togetherasartistesbut in marriageit is importantfor a womanto bereadyto give
morethanreceive.I hadgrown up seeingAmmaÕs steadfastdevotionto the family andher flawless
characterasa woman.I wasnow increasinglyseizedwith the feeling that I wasletting myself into a
relationshipmoreonthereboundthanoutof agenuineneedfor apermanentcompanion.WhatÕsmore,
I did not want to sharea lifetime with someonewhosepriorities weredifferentfrom mine.Besides,
shecertainlywould havebeendrawnto othercolleaguesin theprofession,asI foundout,andtheyto
herbut thatwasnÕt an issuebecauseI wasmyselfsurfacingfrom anemotionalupheavalat thatpoint
of time.

Thepartingof waysdid notaffectmeaswasconcoctedby writersin themedia.Journalistswerenotas
rashastheyarenowbut theywerejustasunmindfulof factualaccuracywhentheywroteaboutactors.
Someof themwroteÔauthoritativelyÕin their gossipmagazinesandattributedmy choosingto remain
abachelorall my life to theassumedheartbreakof notmarryingMadhubala.Thestoryhadsentiment-
al appealfor readers.Nobodybotheredto checkout the factsand,at thatpoint of time, I wasfar too
absorbedin my work andmy family responsibilitiesto give clarifications.Let mestatecategorically
that I choseto remaina bachelorbecauseI hadyoungsistersto bemarriedoff andfor methetaking
care of, and ensuring the happiness of, my brothers and sisters were paramount.

Theabsolutetruth is that I hadmentallystayedall thoughtsof sharingmy spacewith a spousebe-
causeI hadtakenontheresponsibilityof settlingmy sistersandbrothers.As mentionedearlier, Amma
wasailing with an acuterespiratorydisorderandAghaji wastrying hardto hide the debilitatingim-
pactof advancingagefrom all of us.He wasnot oneto askfor a helpinghandto risefrom a chairor
descenda steepstaircase.He wasdressedandreadyeverymorningto visit his fruit shop.Theprema-
turedeathof Ayub Sahabhaddealtanemotionalblow, from which my parentscouldonly pretendto
recover. Anotherwidespreadcanardwasthat the break-upbetweenMadhuandme causedthe heart
conditionthatfinally claimedherlife. Theheartconditionthatwasdiagnosedwascongenitalin her. It
wasunfortunatethatshebeganto succumbto theconditionandhadto discontinuethecommitments
shehadmadeto producers.Unfortunately, medicalfacilities thenwerenot asadvancedasthey are
now in the area of cardiology.

I hadbecomea starby the early 1950sandAghaji wasreconciledto the truth that whateverhe had
wishedfor mein all hisprayershadbeengrantedby Allah. Theinitial unhappinessandhurtpridethat
he experiencedwhenhe cameto know that the sonon whom he hadpinnedhopesof achievements
asa high-rankingbureaucrator statesmanhadbecomean entertainerhadgiven way to gratefuland
humble acceptance of the will of Allah.

Amongmy brothersandsisters,I knewI wastheonewhombothAghaji andAmmatrustedimpli-
citly for shouldering,in eversomanyunspokenandunanticipatedways,theresponsibilityof educat-
ing andsettlingthedaughtersandsonswho wereyoungerthanI. Noor Sahabhadmarriedandmoved
out with his wife. My eldestsister, SakinaAapa,remainedunmarriedand,asAmmaoftenfelt, it was
providentialthatshewassingleasherunyieldingcharacterwasnot suitedfor a successfulmarriage.
As shegrewolder, shemellowedandbecamesofterin herrelationshipwith Ammabutwilful shestill
was.It wasalwaysworrying for Ammahowhereldestdaughterwould live herlife alonein theworld
and whenever she spoke of it, her moist eyes would search for an assuring whisper from me.

I loved Amma deeply. Shewasthe fountainheadof all the meritsandvirtueswe Ðher childrenÐ
possessed.Shedealtwith all the exigenciesof life with a quiet poiseandcalmnessof mind. I took



pleasureevenasa child in observingherwhensheprayed.As I grewup I beganto feel that thetime
shetook off from herchoresfor namaazwashertime in herown spaceto meditateandattaincontrol
overhermind andthoughtsandachievethatnearnessto theSupremeBeing,which is a rareachieve-
ment. She appeared frail and delicate but she was strong and invincible inside. Aghaji and I knew it.

Let megetbackto themainnarrative.MadhubalaÕs father, in a bid to showmehis authority, got her
entangledin a lawsuitwith producer-directorB. R. Chopraby suddenlymakinga fussaboutthelong
outdoorwork scheduledfor NayaDaur (eventuallyreleasedin 1957)giving herheartconditionasa
reasonfor herwithdrawalfrom thefilm. He cameup with anexcuseabouthis daughterÕs inability to
work at theoutdoorlocationsin BhopalandPoonafor thefilm aftersomereelswerecanned.Chopra
Sahabwasupsetandveryangrybecauseit wasmadeclearat theveryoutset,whenthescriptnarration
wasgiven to the artistes,that it wasan outdoorfilm. Therewereall sortsof conclusionsdrawnby
peoplewho did not know thesequenceof eventsandthe truebackgroundwhenChopraSahab,who
heldabachelorÕsdegreein law beforehetook to journalismin Lahorein thepre-independenceperiod,
took legalstepsto challengethewhimsicalityonMadhuÕspart.As a fellow artiste,I coulddo little but
fall in line with the producerÕs decisionto replaceMadhuwith Vyjayantimala,whenall sincereand
genuineefforts on my part to negotiateaneasycompromisewithout makingthe issuepublic became
futile. I did feel sorry for Madhuandwishedshehadthe will to protecther interestsat leaston the
professionalfront without thoughtlesslybowing to her fatherÕs wishesall the time. Suchsubmission
had an adverse impact not only on her professional reputation but also on her health needlessly.

All throughmy careerI respectedtheproducerÕsright asanemployerto disciplinethecastandcrew
anddemandcooperationfrom themoncethe contractwassigned.VyjayantimalaandI hadworked
with a fair measureof respectandunderstandingin Bimal RoyÕs Devdas(1955)andChopraSahab
hadliked herwork. (Shehadplayedtherole of Chandramukhi,a tender-hearteddancinggirl.) He had
heardfrom hisownsourcesthatshewashardworkingandmalleableasanartiste.ChopraSahabwent
aheadwith the replacementof Madhubalaby Vyjayantimalawithout wastingtime oncehe accepted
thesituationthatall theshootingdonewith Madhubalawouldhaveto go into coldstorageandtheloss
of time andsubstantialfundswould haveto bereconciledwith. Theannouncementof therenewalof
the projectandthe startof freshshootingfor NayaDaur createda stir in the media.Much of what
appearedin themediawasmisreportingby gossipwriterswho twistedandtwirled factsto makethem
palatableto readers.Like ChopraSahab,I took it all in my stride,thoughit causedangerandpainat
timeswhenI wasmadeto appearasif I hadgot Madhuout of the film while the truth wasthat her
father pulled her out of the project to demonstrate his authority.



14
DEVDAS, NAYA DAUR AND BEYOND

It wasduring themakingof NayaDaurthat I noticedVyjayantiÕsability to feigna rustic charac-
terÕsmannerismswith conviction.WhenI wasscriptingGungaJumna, I felt shewouldfit therole
of Dhannoif shetookpainsto rendertheBhojpuri dialect(usedin thefilm) with theright accent
andinflexionsÉ. It wasduring theproductionof NayaDaurthat I beganto formthestoryideaof
GungaJumnain mymind.I decidedtoo that if I wentaheadandmadeGungaJumna, I wouldcast
Vyjayanti in the lead.

BEFOREI MOVE ON TO NAYADAUR AND VYJAYANTIMALA , I MUST dwell on Devdas, thefirst of theseven
films with her as my leading lady.

WhenBimal Roy(popularlycalledBimalda)approachedmesometimein 1954with theideaof play-
ing the title role in the film Devdas, neitherhadI seenthe earlier1936K. L. Saigalstarrernor hadI
readSharatChandraChattopadhyayÕs famousnovelof thesamename.In fact,Bimaldadid not tell me
at once,whenhe visited me, that his intentionwasto discussthe film he wasso keento make.After
somepleasanttalk helet our mutualfriend Hiten Choudhury(basicallya producer),who accompanied
him, bring up thesubject.It wassomethingI hadnot anticipated,so I askedfor a few daysto think it
over. He noddedandsmiled.Then,ashewasleaving,hesaidvery quietly, Ôreadthenovel,I will send
you a fine translation.Õ

Bimaldawasa manof few words.He left andI receivedthetranslationthenextday. I wonÕt go into
detailsbut it troubledmeinitially to experimentwith therenderingof a characterwho carrieda heavy
measureof painanddespondencyundertheskin andcouldmisleadthemorevulnerableyouth to be-
lieve that alcoholismofferedthe bestescapefrom the pain of losing in love. As I reflectedover the
subject,which hadalreadybeenfilmed very successfullywith K. L. Saigalin thetitle role, I felt that it
couldbecomeamemorablefilm andfind itself aplaceamongtheiconic films of all time if I playedthe
part with appropriate discretion.

TodayÕs cinemaandits audience,sadly, donÕt havethekind of emotionalgive andtakethatthecinema
of the 1950shad.The basicreasonwasthat cinemawasthe main sourceof entertainmentthosedays
and,moreoftenthannot, its contentwastakenseriouslyby mostviewers.I amemphasizingthisaspect
to givecreditto thedirectorswhoshoulderedseriousmoralresponsibilityin our timeswhentheychose
to make films that had deep social relevance and implications for the audience.
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With Motilal in Devdas(1955).

I think Bimaldaknew from his own sourcesthat I wasa stickler for makingthe writing baseof a
film strong.Sohemadeit comfortablefor meto participatein thewriting work alongwith his formid-
ableteamcomprisingNabenduGhoshandRajinderSinghBedi,amongothers.Thelinesfrom Devdas,
I mustmentionhere,aresomeof themostresponsibleandsensitiveeverwritten for aHindi film hero.

In fact, the dialoguesof Devdasarerepletewith a hauntingsensitivity, spontaneityandmeaning.
Theycamefrom thepenof RajinderSinghBedi,oneof thoserarewriterswhosesyntaxwassoperfect
thatthesimplelineshewroteinspiredactorsto build up deepemotionsin their rendering.Beingmy-
self not given to superfluousspeech,I appreciatedthe precisionand brevity of the lines he wrote
for Devdas. They werelines of profoundmeaningat times,but they wereso simply andsensitively
worded that generations of viewers have found pleasure in repeating them lovingly.

VyjayantiandI carriedforwardtheprofessionalunderstandingandbonhomiewe haddevelopeddur-
ing Devdasto the six films we worked in thereafter. Sheemergedasa capableartisteanda quick
learner. After Devdas, whenwe cametogetherfor Madhumati(releasedin 1958),shehadmadecon-
siderableprogressin her renderingof scenesanddialogue.Shewasdiligent andtook painsto grasp
thepaceandcomplexityof thesituations,especiallywhenthesurrealisticandmetaphysicalscenesand
situations were given to her for study before we went before the cameras to filmMadhumati.

It was not easy for me or, for that matter, for Pran and Johnny Walker,* my co-artistesin
Madhumati, to know whetheror not Bimalda liked the shotshe had takenwhenwe wereshooting
outdoorsandindoorsfor that film. He wasonedirectorwho neverexpressedhis delightor approval
vocally or throughfacial expression.If heliked theshot,hejust movedon to thenextshot,implicitly
conveyingto us that he hadgot what he hadvisualized.We, PranandI, nevergaveup trying to get
anexclamationof satisfactionfrom him whenwe gavea brilliant takebut Bimaldajust wouldnÕt suc-
cumb.He would simply say:ÔLetusmovethecamerasfor thenextshot.ÕThen,hewould ambleover
to cinematographer Dilip Gupta to get the next shot going.
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With Johnny Walker and David Abraham among others.

Thewonderfultrait in Bimaldawashisserenityandhisrefusalto getexcitedaboutanything.Which
wasvery unusualfor a Bengali.His exemplaryvirtue washis willingnessto help his artistesif they
failed to understandhisvision.Heoncetold mein hisowngentlemannerthatthepainhehadendured
in his personallife whenhewasthrownto thewolvesasa youthandhehadto fend for himselfand
his mother had been an experience that taught him not to ever inflict pain on anybody.

Bimaldahada silhouetteof Madhumatiin his mind whenwe wereconcludingour work on Devdas
andhehadvaguelymentionedit to me.Later, whenhegavemehis first narrationalongwith Ritwik
Ghatak,a talentedfilm makerandscript writer, I could sensehis unflinching confidencein the sub-
ject. Thereweresomepeoplewho told him it would be a risk to makea film that hadmetaphysical
layers,which maynot beeasyfor theviewerto absorb.Therewereotherslike HrishikeshMukherjee
(or Hrishida),* I think, who encouragedandsupportedhis belief in himselfandeggedhim on to try a
genre that offered splendid cinematic possibilities.

With Hrishikesh Mukherjee.

BimaldaandDilip Guptaspenthoursin conversation,often with paperandpencil, to sketchand
visualizetheatmospherethathadto becreatedfor someof thescenes.Bimaldagaveapatienthearing
to anyone who had a suggestion.
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All thethreefilms, Devdas, MadhumatiandYahudi(1958)thatI did underBimaldaÕsdirectiongave
me the pleasureof knowing a manwho believedin perfectionandhardwork asmuchasI did. He
appreciatedmy styleof working andthepainsI took to endowlife to thecharacters.Personally, I felt
Madhumatiwasa cleverandingeniousscript.In thevery first draft itself, I couldseethepossibilities
thescriptoffered.After DevdasI thoughtthispicturewouldgiveusthemuch-neededrelief especially
since we would be shooting a sizable part of the film outdoors.

It wasneverthe role thatwasof paramountimportancewhenI agreedto do a film; therewereother
factors.Everyrole I playedhadits distinctmeritsandprovocations.In Madhumatithe incentivewas
the constructionof the narrativeandthe layersof unpredictabilityin it. It appearedrathertricky for
meto bethepivot of asuspensefulnarrativethatalternatedbetweenthepastandpresentandthrewup
grippingsituationsfor theaudience.Noneof my previouscharactershadto getconnectedto a life that
waslived in a previousbirth. Thatwastricky for meandmoresosincemy characterwasthepivot of
the filmÕs evolution and dramatic appeal.

I havealwaysenjoyedoutdoorwork. In Madhumatithe outdoorwork wasto becomethe coreof
the film andthat alonefilled me with the excitementof a child who is promiseda long vacationat
a destinationof his choice.To usÐPran,JohnnyWalker, Bimalda,HrishidaandmeÐthe time after
Ôpack-upÕwasvery interesting.We got over thepressureof thedayÕs work by spendingtheevenings
in cheerfulconversationandpoeticexchangeswhile the cooksin the unit readiedour dinner. Pran
andI got alongfamouslytalking in Punjabiwhile BimaldaandHrishidatried to outdous in Bengali
with their conversation.It usedto bea little awkwardthe following daywhenPranhadto brim with
hostility asthe negativecharacterin the script. I mustsayhe wasamazinglytrue to the characterof
Ugranarayan.

With Vyjayantimala inMadhumati(1958).

I haveneverconsideredany particularfilm crucial to the progressof my career. Eachfilm gaveme
thevaluableexperienceof discoveringmy own potentialandaddingto my understandingof thead-
vancingmedium.As I haveoftensaid,we, who workedduring theformativeyearsof Hindi cinema,
hadto treada difficult terrain.In the caseof Madhumati, therewasthe latentfear that the audience
may just not identify with a reincarnationconcept.Sowe workedwith a commonpurposeof taking
thepictureto thegoalof box-office success.And we weresuitablyrewardedasthefilm turnedout to
be a success.



ThesongsÐpennedby Shailendraandcomposedby Salil ChaudhuryÐandtheirpicturizationwere
a greatsuccess.Whereveronewent thosedays,oneheardthesongson radiosandpublic speakersat
communitygatherings.It wasan exhilaratingexperiencefor Bimalda I felt, thoughhe remainedas
quiet and as unaffected as ever.

Peoplewho tried to find fodderfor gossipmills wereactivelyseekinga liaisonbetweenmeandVy-
jayantiwhenI selectedherto play Dhannoin GungaJumna(releasedin 1961)afterworking together
in four well-receivedfilms prior to it. (Thefourth film wasS.S.VasanÕs Paigham, 1959.)Thereality
wasthatI hadbeenobservingherpainstakingefforts to raisethescaleandtemperatureof theemotions
demandedby thechallengingscenesshehadto do with mefor Devdas. Shenevercomplainedabout,
or tired of, theumpteenrehearsalsI askedfor beforewe wentfor a take.I would particularlymention
thescenesin which Devdasis deeplytroubledandmortified by the irresistibleattractionhefeelsfor
herandshe,knowingit all with herfemininesixthsense,makesnobonesaboutboldly unravellingher
bruisedfeelingsasthewomanheneedsbut doesnot want to love. Thecomplexebbandflow of the
responseswe hadto give eachother, themodulationandtiming of thepithy dialoguewe weregiven
to speakwhile keepingin mind thebriefsgivenby KamalBose,thebrilliant cameramanwhousedhis
expertisein lighting to heightenthetemperatureof suchsensitivescenes,neededcommittedrehears-
als.I noticedthatshehadthepatienceandthepassionto achieveperfection.A virtueshehadevidently
acquiredasa keenstudentof BharataNatyam(a classicaldanceform thatoriginatedin SouthIndia)
under fastidious teachers.

As aco-star, shewasverywell manneredandspokerespectfullyto thesenioractorsandunit mem-
bers.Shecameto thesetswith hergrandmother(YadugiriDevi) who dotedon herandmadesureshe
got startreatmentfrom her producers.Following her grandmotherÕs instructions,no doubt,to assert
herstarstatus,shehardly lingeredon thesetsafter theshootingandpreferredto remainundisturbed
in the make-up room and enjoy the vegetarian cuisine she brought along.

Her aloofnesssuitedmeandotherunit members.We wereunableto fathom,though,how sheused
thelitres andlitres of milk hergrandmotherorderedeachdayfirst thing on herarrival at theshooting
venue.Did shewallow andbathein it like Cleopatra?We wondered.My brotherNasir, who liked to
play pranks,oncebroughta milk-ladenbuffalo, while we wereshootingoutdoorsfor GungaJumna,
andhewantedto tie it to a poleoutsidethespecialmakeshiftmake-uproomwe hadput up for Vyjay-
anti. I got to know of it in good time and I rebuked and stopped him, averting a perilous situation.

By herself,Vyjayantiwasnotunsportingor unnecessarilyorthodox.Nor wasshegivento believing
or imagining that shewasa biggerstar than I was.Sheknew the factsbut shesimply agreedwith
her grandmotheron all mattersand,for practicalreasons,neverquestionedher authority. Whenever
we shotoutdoors,shejoined me andothermembersof the unit for a gameof badmintonwhile her
grandmotherwatchedher proudly. Shewasa fine playerandsheoften gaveus, the menfolk, tough
competition with her nimble defences and serves.



With Vyjayantimala inPaigham(1959).

On oneoccasion,whenwe werefilming Paigham, at GeminiStudiosin Madras,Vyjayantiandher
grandmotherfound it appropriateto join us at a tablethatwaslaid out for tif fin, which usuallycon-
sistedof SouthIndiansnackslike meduvadas(fried, disc-shapedsavouries),upma(a semi-soliddish
madefrom semolina)andchundal. Thelastmentioneditem alwaysinterestedme.It wasboiledchick
peasgarnishedwith finely choppedonions,curry leavesandmustardseedsthathadcrackledin thehot
oil thatwasused.ForVyjayantitherewasalwaysseasonalfruits andof coursemilk. Hergrandmother
satby her sideon suchoccasionsandurgedher to eatthe orangesshewould peelfor her while she
talkedaboutMadrasandthegreatcultureof thecity. Vyjayantispokeonly whenshemanagedto geta
word in.

Oneevening,seeingtheflutter aroundthetablearisingfrom thenewsthatPanditJawaharlalNehru,
theprimeministerof India, wasgoing to visit thesetsof Paighama dayor two later, beforedriving
off to theairportafteranengagementin theneighbourhood,MadamYadugiriDevi choseto recallan
eventin Delhi wherePanditjiwasthechief guestandVyjayantiwascentre-stageastheperformerof
theeveningat a culturalgathering.Thateveningandthenexteveningall we heardwasaboutPanditji
andPapa(Papa,meaningbabyin Tamil, wasVyjayantiÕs petname)andall theunit memberslistened
to the PanditjiÐPapa story with curiosity.

Thebig dayarrivedandS. S. VasanSahab,the founderof GeminiStudios,got usall togetherand
told ushow Panditjiwould bereceivedandusheredto his office. He wantedmeto headthereception
line-up but I told him that Panditji knew Vyjayanti andadmiredher, so I suggestedthat sheshould
takemy place.I wassupportedby all thosewho hadheardthePanditjiÐPapastoryandVasanSahab
agreed. I took my position at the tail end of the line.

Panditjiarrivedon scheduleand,asis customaryin Madras,hewaswelcomedwith a rosegarland
andsprayedwith fragrantwaterfrom asilver jar with aspout.Heacknowledgedit all with hiswonder-
ful simplicity. VasanSahabstoodby hissideandI think hewaswaiting for Panditji to greetVyjayanti
whowasright therein front of hiseyes.Suddenly, PanditjiÕssearchingeyescaughtaglimpseof meat
thefar endof theline. Hewalkedbriskly towardsme,saying:ÔYousuf,I heardyouwerehereandI de-
cidedto dropin.ÕVasanSahabhurriedbehindhim and,in a second,PanditjihadreachedwhereI was
standing,stretchinghis armovermy shoulderaffectionately. I wasleastpreparedfor the recognition
andit took aninstantfor meto realizethat I waswalking with thecountryÕs mostlovedandadmired
leader.

Panditjispentaquarterof anhourin thestudio,talkingmostlyaboutthepotentialof themediumto
awakensocialintrospectionandthedesireto changestagnantcustomsandconventionsin society. He
hadlittle time to watchnewfilms buthecameto knowa lot from peoplehemetandinteractedwith in
his personal circle. After that, we never heard the PanditjiÐPapa story from VyjayantiÕs grandmother.



S. S. VasanSahabwasa genial,unassuminggentleman.We liked eachotherandbecamefriendsin
no time. He wasthebossof thesprawlingstudioandwasa respectedfigure in theSouthIndianfilm
industry. He liked chattingwith meandtelling metalesthatmayor maynot havehadanythingto do
with his own life. He narratedto methestoryof a little boy who spenthis dayson a railway platform
with his motherwho soldmagazinesandnewspapersto passengerswho alightedat thestationto pur-
chasethem.He relatedto me how the boy carriedmagazinesandnewspapersandran from oneend
of the platform to the otherscreamingout their namesto sell themto passengersseatedin the com-
partments.By thetime thetrainbelchedout of thestationÐI think hesaidChingelpat(now knownas
Chengalpattu,locatedin north-easternTamil Nadu)Ðtheboywouldhavesoldmostof thematerialhe
hadwith him andthemotherwould havesoldmostof therest.Betweenthearrival of thetrainsthere
usedto beampletime for theboy to resthis agilefeetandsometimesor mosttimeshis mothertook a
nap,restingherheadonthebagshecarriedeveryday. Theboycouldneversleep,sohereadthenews-
papersandmagazines,oftenwith difficulty becausehedid not possessa greatTamil vocabulary. He,
nevertheless,absorbedenoughto enhancehis generalknowledge.By theeveningthemotherandson
would returnthecoupleof unsoldmagazinesto theagent,collecttheir commission,go to avegetarian
food stall and have a snack, which never quite filled the boyÕs stomach.

I do not know why thestorywasnarratedto mein greatdetail.I rememberlisteningto him in rapt
attentionbecausehe wasa greatstoryteller. If you askme the mostsuccessfulfilm makersin India
or anywhereelsein the world aremenandwomenwho know how to tell storieswithout letting the
listenerÕs mind strayevenfor a split second.VasanSahabhadgreatknowledgeabouteverythingand
an imagination that came to the fore when we discussed scenes forPaigham.

He took mewith him everywherehewentandit wasa greatpleasureto bein his companybecause
hehadsomuchknowledgeaboutMadrasPresidencyandthehistoryof thetempleswepassedby when
we drovearoundin theearlyhoursof thedayor in theeveningswhenthestreetswould befilled with
working peoplereturninghomewith their purchasesfor their householdslike vegetables,groceries
andsoon.Someof thestreetswerelined with flower stallsfrom wherewomenpurchasedtheflowers
that adornedtheir hair. VasanSahabenjoyedtalking andI enjoyedlisteningto him. We often spoke
aboutthenextdayÕs work andheusedto askmemy opinionabouta scenehehadconceivedandhe
would ask for my inputs unreservedly.

I rememberI wastravellingwith him by train to Madurai(about460km southof Madras,famous
for its Meenakshitemple)wherehe wasto inspecta printing presshe wantedto buy. In the train he
told me he wasunsureof the developmentof the scenewe wereto shootthe next day for Paigham
asit wasa tricky onewheretheheroinewould musterup all her feminineguile to find out theheroÕs
feelingsfor her. He saidhehadbeenapplyinghis mind to createa humoroussituationbut it wasjust
not happening.

Thetrain wasspeedingpastfields wherewomenin bright colouredsarisweretoiling to earntheir
dayÕswagesunmindfulof theheatof theafternoonsun.Wewerein anicefirst-classcoupŽandVasan
Sahabwaslooking at meexpectantlywhile hepouredout hot aromaticcoffee into cupsfrom a flask
the train attendant had brought in a minute ago.

I told him I hadseena foreignfilm in which theheroandheroinemeeton theterraceof a building
wheretheyhopeto sharesomequietmoments.Theheroineaskstheheroif hehaddatedanygirls or
desiredanyonebeforehemetandbefriendedher. He tellsherhewill not revealall thatbecauseit will
upsether. Shetells him donÕt be silly, we aregrown-upsandthereis no questionof my gettingup-
set.Her hair keepsfalling overherfaceandheleansforwardandmovesthehair backto seeherface
clearly. Thenhebeginsto tell herabouta girl É. He seesthecolour recedeon her faceandhereyes
betrayher anxiety. Finally he tells her: ÔSee,I told you É.Õ Sheis almostin tears.He thentells her
that the girl he was describing and talking about was none other than the girl sitting in front of him.



I suggestedto VasanSahabwecoulddothesceneabit differently. Theherowoulddoall thetalking
andtheheroinewould respondwith expressions.Hewouldgoon telling heraboutthewomanheis in
lovewith andarouseherenvyandcuriosity. Shewould try hardto hideherreactionsbut theaudience
canseethatsheis gettingedgyandjealousfrom theexpressionsthatflit acrossherfaceinvoluntarily.
ÔYou think it can be managed?Õ Vasan Sahab asked me. I assured him that we could do it.

Hewasveryexcitedwhenhedescribedthesceneto Vyjayantithenextdayin thestudioandI could
seeVyjayantiÕshelplessgazeturn to mebecausethelineswerenotwrittenandshedid not knowwhat
I wasgoing to say. How wassheto prepareherexpressionsif shedid not know what I wasgoing to
speak?

I thentold VasanSahab:ÔLetÕs do somerehearsalsÕ.He wassurprisedthat I hadmy lines ready. I
told him that I hadthe lines in my mind in the train itself whenwe haddiscussedthe sceneandfi-
nalizedit. I think VasanSahabcouldnÕt containhis happinessandexcitementabouttheway thescene
turnedout. Thatdayandfor manydaysafter thathewasburstingwith delightand,sureenough,the
scene turned out to be one of the highlights in the film.

VasanSahabhadimmenserespectfor writersandgoodwriting. He wasa writer himselfandwrote
shortstoriesandnovels.He wasthechief editorof a Tamil magazine(AnandaVikatan), which hada
hugereadership.It wasthanksto him thatI tooka liking to Madras,whereI desiredto moveandsettle
down in later years.

It wasduring themakingof NayaDaur that I noticedVyjayantiÕs ability to feign a rusticcharacterÕs
mannerismswith conviction.WhenI wasscriptingGungaJumna, I felt shewouldfit theroleof Dhan-
no if shetook painsto rendertheBhojpuri dialect(usedin thefilm) with theright accentandinflex-
ions.

The makingof NayaDaur is a small story by itself. WhenB. R. Chopracompletedthe story on
paper, he took it to MehboobSahabto get an opinion.Thosewerethe post-independenceyearsand
screenwriterswerebrimmingwith nationalprideandwerein theflush of a movementto give Indian
cinemaa platformat internationalfilm competitionsby exploringplots thathaduniversalrelevance.
MehboobSahabreadthe story andfound no meatin it for entertainment.He told ChopraSahabit
couldbemadeinto a fine documentaryon thedoomsdayawaitingthelabourforcein thecountryonce
machines replaced them but, as a feature film, it was not a great idea.

With Daisy Irani and Vyjayantimala inNaya Daur(1957).



ChopraSahablistenedto theseniorfilm makerÕsopinionrespectfully, buthehadmadeuphismind
thathewould makethefilm if I agreedto act in it. He told methis emphaticallyafterhegavemethe
ideain a nutshell.I liked the ideaexceptfor theclimax in which originally thebuswasto bebeaten
by the tonga(a horse-drawncarriage)by somekind of manipulation.It did not seemlogical to me.
However, I kept the thought to myself since there was no chance of my accepting the film.

Initially, it seemedasif ChopraSahabandI werenot destinedto cometogether. WhenChopraSa-
habcameto mewith theNayaDaur script,I wascommittedto a film GyanMukherjeehadspecially
writtenwith mein mind.SoI told ChopraSahabthathisprojectwouldhaveto wait till GyanMukher-
jeeÕsfilm wentonthefloorsandhecompletedtheshooting.I liked thebasicpremiseof theNayaDaur
storyandtheintent,but it wasnot possiblefor meto work on two scriptssimultaneouslybecausethat
would leadto overlappingof thoughtsandideas,which couldaffect thecontentof boththefilms ad-
versely.

I explainedto him thatit wasfor thisvery reasonthatI hadnotwelcomedtheideaof doingPyaasa
(when offered to me by producer-director Guru Dutt) becauseI was then involved in Devdasand,
thoughthesubjectof Pyaasawasvery inviting for a seriousactorlike me,I felt therewasa similarity
in theshadesof thecharacterof Devdasandtheheroof Pyaasa. Thelogic wasquitesimple:if I had
acceptedPyaasaunthinkingly it would havebeenreleasedcloseon the heelsof Devdasandoneof
themwould haveovershadowedthe other. It madebadbusinesssenseto me. (Guru Dutt eventually
played the hero inPyaasa, which was released in 1957.)

ChopraSahabwasvisibly troubledbut heagreedto wait. As Destinywould haveit, GyanMukher-
jeeÕs film did not take off due to some financial hassles and I was ready to considerNaya Daur.

The wonderfulmemoryI haveof the outdoorshootingof NayaDaur is the friendshipthat deve-
lopedbetweenmeandtheChopras.BaldevRaj, theelderChopra,andYashandDharam,theyounger
brothers,hadonecommonlove: Food! It delightedme immenselyto know this. Dharamwascon-
stantlybusywith the cameraassistantsandthe lightmenasit is alwaysquite unpredictablehow the
natural lights on a location would turn out as the day begins and progresses towards sundown.

Yashwasassignedby hiselderbrotherto bewith meandtakecareof my needs.Hediscoveredsoon
enoughthatheandI hadthesameneeds:a manÕs breakfast,a manÕs lunchanda manÕs dinner. So it
wasagreedbetweenus thatwe would getour own breakfastreadybecausewe both lovedomelettes
andwe knew the cook wasa faint-heartedlocal chapwho might just faint if he countedthe number
of eggswe consumed.So,on mostdays,we got theeggsfrom themarketand,betweenmeandYash,
we choppedthe onionsfinely andslit andchoppedthe lesspungentgreenchillies we hadcarefully
selectedfrom themarket.We beatat leastteneggsandfolded theonionsandchillies into the frothy
mixtureandmadeouromelettesandburjis (anotherdishmadeof fried eggs)in themakeshiftkitchen.
Thearomawould spreadto thetableslaid outsideandwe would haveothereggloverspeepingin and
joining the feast.

I lovedoutdoorwork becauseof theemancipationit offeredto my spirit. I guessit hadsomethingto
dowith theplayful daysspentin openspacesin PeshawarandDeolaliasaboy. It wasChopraSahabÕs
ideato shootin Bhopalandhehadidentified theexactlocationsalongwith Dharam.I rememberall
of us stayedin a large governmentbuilding with an opengroundnearit whereYashaswell asmy
co-artistesAjit, Jeevan* andJohnnyWalkerandI playedfootball.Sometimes,wepackedupearlyand
sometimesthemanbringingtheraw stockby train wasdelayedandthis causeda lull in theshooting
schedule.

It wasduring theproductionof NayaDaur that I beganto form thestory ideaof GungaJumnain
my mind. I decidedtoo that if I went aheadandmadeGungaJumna, I would castVyjayanti in the
lead.
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NayaDaur turnedout to be a hugesuccessandChopraSahabinvited MehboobSahabasthe chief
gueston the hundredthday of its run at the main cinemain Bombay. It wasmagnanimousof Me-
hboobSahabto acceptthe invitation andtell theaudiencehow wronghewasandhow right Chopra
Sahabwasin judging the potentialof the subject.He complimentedChopraSahabandthe two film
makersstoodtriumphantlyon thestagewhile coinsflew from all directions.As I mentionedearlier,
theaudienceswe hadin our timeswerevery receptiveto goodcinema.Theyshowedtheir happiness
andappreciationin overt displayslike showeringcoinson thescreenanddancingwhile thepopular
song sequences were being shown.
*PranKrishan Sikand,the acevillain and characteractor, and JohnnyWalker (born as Badruddin
Qazi), a comedian par excellence.
*HrishikeshMukherjee,director, script writer and editor, who went on to makea string of superb
films. In fact, I acted in his first directorial venture:Musafir (1957).
*Ajit, whosereal namewasHamid Ali Khan, startedasa herobut later went on to play villainous
roles.Jeevan,bornasOmkarNathDhar, appearedin manymythologicalfilms beforegoingonto play
negative characters.
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15
ON THE DOMESTIC FRONT

AsI look backat thoseyearswhenI wasrising in theprofessionandsettingmypriorities, I feela
senseof achievementthat I wasableto live upto AghajiÕsexpectationsandgivehimtheassurance
that I couldtakeoverthemantleof family responsibilitiesfrom him asa parent-brotherwhenthe
weariness of age began to catch up with him.

I FELT AMMAÕSABSENCEWHENEVER I HAD TIME TO SPENDIN thehouse.More thananyof us,it wasAghaji
who wasmissingherquietpresenceandthecarewith which shekepthis clothesin thewardrobeand
placedhis personalbelongingsin placeshe liked themto be.SakinaAapa,my eldestsister, couldnot
measureup to his expectationsin runningthehouse,which led to frequentaltercationsbetweenthem.
He did not approveof her high-handednesson manyoccasionswhensheunceremoniouslydismissed
thosefrom thelower strataof societylike thedhobi, thelocal bakerandsomeof thewomenwho came
to thehouseto sell laceandhand-embroideredhouseholdlinen.My motherhadbeenverykind to them
andsheneverlet themgo unfedor empty-handed.I remembergettinginto an argumentwith Sakina
Aapa once when she spoke rudely to the barber who had come home to give me a ÔniceÕ haircut.

Thepoormanalwayshada problemwith my hair, which grewat jet speed,demandingfortnightly
trimming. He wasconstantlycrestfallenby my hairÕs refusalto becombedbackandkept in placethe
way he wanted.He wasat a lossto explainto his regularpatronsthat my hair wasnaturally tousled
andwasnot styledby him that way. He got a fillip to his businesswhenmy films, especiallyNaya
Daur (1957),becamesuperhitsandthesong,Udenjab jab zulfenteriÉ * toppedthepopularitycharts.
He hadyoungmencomingto him throughouttheweekaskingfor theDilip Kumarhair cut,which, in
reality, wasnothingbutmy unmanageablythick hair falling disobedientlyonmy forehead.I hadreason
to think that thegrowthwasin vengeanceat all thehumiliationmy poorheadhadto endurewhen,as
orderedby my grandmother, a barberhadcomehomeandshavedoff all thehair to makemetheugly
child in the school I attended in Peshawar.

ThebarbercamehomeoneafternoonandI hadinstructedhim to wait if I did not reachthehouseon
time.He took theliberty of sitting in thedrawingroomandmy eldestsistertook it asimpudenceonhis
partandgavehim a dressingdown,which wasin progresswhenI mademy entry. I apologizedto him
andI foundhim morebewilderedthanangry. Later, I took up thematterwith SakinaAapaandwe had
an unpleasant spat.

Much asI wantedto I couldnot spendquality time with Aghaji. Therobustnessof his constitutionwas
giving way to invasionsof muscularpainsand,morethananythingelse,I felt hehadlost thezestfor
living afterAmmaÕsdemise.He,however, seldommissedhisweeklyvisits to theCrawfordMarket.As
thedayspassed,heneededhelpto getin andout of thecar. Not thathecouldnÕt walk or anysuchhan-
dicap;it wasa persistentkneecrampthatmadehim halt in his stepssometimeswhenhewalked.The
ramrod-likeuprightnessof his walk, the broadshouldersandthe twinkle in his eyeswhenhe smiled
remainedintactandNaushadMiyan, who becameoneof his closefriends,neverceasedto admirehis
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goodlooksandhis naturalnoblebearing.NaushadMiyan wasoneof thefew regularvisitorshetruly
gotalongwith andwhatmadethebondingeasyfor Aghaji wasNaushadMiyanÕsability to regalehim
with impromptu recitations of good, meaningful Urdu ghazals and poetry.

Around our houseat Pali Mala, therewerea numberpeoplefrom the easternpart of India, who
hadbuilt quaintcottagesandfollowed theirowndistinctlifestyle.My eldestbrother, NoorSahab,had
foundhis ladylovebutNasir, my youngerbrother, whowashandsomeandarticulate,hadyoungladies
vying for his attentionwhereverhe went. I did not fail to noticehis interestin a particulargirl who
gavemea knowingsmilewheneverI passedby in my car. I usedto seehim talk to herand,whenI
indicatedto him that I knewwhatwasgoingon, hebecamewary and,like Noor SahabÕs romanceat
our earlier residence (described in an earlier chapter), NasirÕs infatuation also met a premature end.

When AghajiÕs visits to Crawford Market becamerare due to his losing interestin the business
asmostof his friendsin the fruit tradehadretiredandhandedover the managementto their sons,I
thoughtit wasright that Noor Sahab,who wasthe eldestsibling, shouldrun the showandkeepthe
familyÕs reputationin themarketalive.Like me,Nasirtoo wasin films. Neitherhenor I hadanytime
to devoteto the business.It becamea matterof concernfor me asChachaUmmer, too, took ill and
was no longer keen to keep the business going.

Going from Bandrato CrawfordMarket did not takemuchtime thosedays.It wasa pleasureto
drive to town when I had to meetanybodybecausethe very roadsthat are now jam-packedwith
vehiclesusedto stretchinvitingly for themotoristto stepon theacceleratoranddrive fearlesslyover
them. There was unlimited parking space near the market and outside the marketÕs main entrance.

I liked beingat the wheel if I wasnot tired or thinking too muchaboutmy work. I usedto drive
to HughesRoad(in SouthBombay)andfind myself a tablethat would not attractmuchnoticeand
ordera plateof chickenor muttonbiryani asthemooddictatedat GeorgeÕs Restaurant.Thedishused
to beservedwith shorba(brothor soup)anda plateof greensalad.All thewaitersknewmefrom my
collegedaysatWilson,whenI usedto taketheboyswhowerein my teamthereaftereveryvictorious
soccermatchwe playedagainstSt XavierÕs. TheyknewI wasanactornow but, thatmadelittle dif-
ferenceto theway in which theygreetedmeandattentivelyservedthedishesI hadordered.I always
tried not to makemyselfconspicuouswhereverI wentbut oneafternoon,whenI took Aghaji there,a
crowdgatheredoutside.Themanagercameto our tableandtold methattherewerefanswaiting to see
meandtalk to me.Aghaji askedmewhatwasgoingonandI told him aboutthefans.Surprisingly, he
looked pleased and told me to go and meet them without delay.

I wasthrilled not becausepeoplewho liked my work hadcometo meetmequiteunexpectedlybut
becauseI sawthe glint of pride in AghajiÕs eyesthat day. On our way back,he wasasquiet ashe
alwayswas.On reachinghome,I heardhim describethe whole episodeto ChachaUmmerwith the
excitement of a child and the joy of a proud father.

Aghaji did not meetany of the producerswho cameto seeme at home.However, wheneverRaj
Kapoorcameover, hewashappyto seehim andhemadefond enquiriesaboutPrithvirajji. He knew
MehboobSahabvaguely. He wascontentjust knowing thathis sonmaynot havefulfilled his dream
of securinganOBEasasuffix to hisnamebuthewascertainlyanachiever. At times,ChachaUmmer
usedto cometo meelatedlyandwhisperhow Aghaji hadcarefully foldeda newspapercarryingmy
photographandkept it nearhis bedaftergazingat it for sometime. Surprisingly, heneveraskedme
why I hadadopteda screenname.Beinga manof theworld andhavingabundantnativewisdom,he
must have understood the reasons.

He wasvery happythat I wasinsistingthatmy youngersistersbeeducatedat thebestinstitutions.
Heneversaidso,buthelived with thethoughtthathadSakinaAapareceivedthegroomingmy young-
ersistersgotat themoresophisticatedEnglishmediumschools,shemighthavenotbeenriding rough-
shodandunintentionallyrubbingpeoplethewrongway. He knewit wasa priority for meto give my



youngerbrothersandsistersthebesteducationat well-knownschoolsandcollegesto equipthemto
meet the challenges of an advancing world they were growing up in.

As I look backatthoseyearswhenI wasrisingin theprofessionandsettingmy priorities,I feelasense
of achievementthat I wasableto live up to AghajiÕs expectationsandgive him the assurancethat I
couldtakeoverthemantleof family responsibilitiesfrom him asa parent-brotherwhentheweariness
of agebeganto catchup with him. I donÕt think my elderbrotherNoor Sahabandmy youngerbroth-
ersreally knewwhatit entailedfor meto keepmy professionalvaluesfrom slippingin thefaceof the
challengeof generatinga substantialincometo meetthe growing demandsfor householdexpenses,
fees, clothes, pocket money, books, daily travel and so on.

I remembera producercomingto mein thelate1940swith a briefcasefull of moneyandthescript
for a film heintendedto make.I hadnot seenhim beforeor heardof him. He narratedthestoryto me
andI listenedtill hecameto a point wheretheherostartsmovingaroundthevillage astridea buffalo.
I stoppedhim thereandasked:ÔWhya buffalo?ÕHe repliedit washis ideaof blendingcomedyinto
theheroÕscharacter. WhenI askedif I couldmakenecessarychangesin thescript,hesaidthatI could
but the buffalo had to be retained.

I stealthilylookedat thericketybriefcaseon thetable,whichhadthehardcashI neededsomuchat
thatpoint of time. It wasshakinga little dueto thebreezecomingfrom thewindow andseemedto be
leering at me silently.

I thenpolitely refusedto spendmoretime listeningto thestoryandhecouldnÕt believethat I was
turningdownsuchanimpressivestoryandsuchagoodamountof money. It wasa learningexperience
for mebecausethereweremanymoresuchfilm makerswhowantedto cashin onthepopularityI was
enjoying.Thespontaneitywith which I refusedthebriefcaseenhancedmy self-esteemandfirmed up
my resolve to work according to my terms.

I couldinstinctivelyfeelAghajiÕs lonelinessandpainafterAmmaleft usall. Heseemedto beliving in
a vacuumandhehadlost thewill to live. He passedawaypeacefullyon 5 March1950,leavingall of
usin a void. I did not inform everybodyI knewin theindustrybecauseI did not wantsyntheticsym-
pathyandcondolencesfrom busyandmaterialisticpeoplewho did not know him andwhathemeant
to me.Raj Kapoor, NaushadMiyan, MehboobSahab,AshokBhaiyya,Bimalda,Nitinda,S. Mukher-
jeeSahab,thefamily doctors,closerelativesandsomeof AghajiÕs friendswerethereto consolemeas
I quietly fought the lossof yet anotherpreciousanchorof my life. As desiredandwishedby Aghaji,
his body was laid to rest near my motherÕs qabr (grave) in Deolali.
*Composedby O. P. Nayyar, written by SahirLudhianvi andsungby AshaBhosleandMohammed
Rafi.
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16
THE TRAVAILS OF FILM MAKING: GUNGA JUMNA AND AFTER

Film making,unlikesomeotherart formslike paintingor writing poetry,for instance,hasa great
deal to do with communication.I meanthe communicationbetweenthe actor and the director,
betweenthedirector and thecameramanand theart director, betweenthedirector and theedit-
or, betweentheartisteand thecameramanandsoon. If thecoordinationis well orchestrated,it
shows in the final product. If not, it shows equally in the frayed look of the product.

LIFE HAD TO GO ON AND THE STORY OF GUNGA JUMNA WAS developingin my subconscious.It wasneces-
saryfor me to relaunchmy brotherNasir Ðhe wasfacing a slumpin his careerafter havingactedin
a few films Ðandalsoto havemy own productionhouse.The subjectwassuchthat it neededsound
financingto depictit on celluloid in themannerI hadvisualized.Therewasno dearthof moneyin the
market but I knew that I would have to tread carefully and avoid the Shylocks.

I knew ShapoorjiMistry andPallonji Mistry quite well. I hadmet theminformally at their homes
andthemannerin which theladieshadplacedsomePersiandelicacieson thetablewhenwe satdown
for tearemindedmeof thegoodiesthatalwaysappearedon the tablein our houseat Peshawarwhen
we hadour family get-togetherson holidays.Theyweregood,hospitablepeopleandI hadgot to know
themwhenthey beganfinancially backingK. Asif ashe setout to makeMughal-e-Azam. Shapoorji
heardthestoryof GungaJumnafrom meandhehadno doubtsaboutits viability but my brotherNasir
felt it wasnot a goodideafor me to play an outlaw. He insistedthat the public would not acceptme
joining thedacoitsandtakingrefugein their lawlessnessto getbackat thewickedzamindarwhosteals
hisownsisterÕs jewelleryandframestheftchargesonGungaÕspoorandhonestmother. (I wasplanning
to play theroleof GungaandcastNasirasJumna,apoliceman.)Nasirhadstrongviewson thissubject
and advised me to think about it.

I thoughtaboutit andconcludedthatI wouldgoaheadwith theventuresinceShapoorjiwasconfident
aboutthe movieÕs success.The moreI workedon the basicconflict in the script betweenthe brother
who hasto upholdthe law of the countryandthe brotherwho fleesfrom the law, which favoursthe
rich andthepowerfulandunjustlyincriminatesthepoorandthedefenceless,themoreI felt it wastime
for meto makea picturethatraisedsomecritical issuesaboutthepeopleof rural Indiawho hadgained
little from thecountryÕs independencefrom foreign rule. Theoppressedfarmersandtillers of thesoil
wereleadinga life of slaveryandwerebeingexploitedandswindledby themercenarylandlords.The
situationhasnot changedmuchtoday, more thanhalf a centuryafter both MehboobKhanÕs Mother
India (1957)andGungaJumna(1961)exposedtheexploitationof farmers,for whomthesoil theytill
and plough is sacred.

MehboobSahabhadmadeMother India with a similar missionandthefilm becamea classicstudy
for the Westernworld of the ruthlessmanipulationsthat wereprevalentin the long-existingmoney-
lendingsystemin therural economyof India.WhenMehboobSahabdiscussedMother India with me
in theearly1950s,I thoughtit wasabrilliant andtimely conceptandit hadto bemadeatanycost.The
role hecouldoffer mewasof oneof thesonsof theheroineNargis andI pointedout that it would be
anincongruouscastingafterall theromancingsheandI haddonein earlierfilms, suchasMela (1948)
andBabul(1950).I felt thatit wasa greatopportunityfor Nargis to play thetitle role andtherewasno
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doubtthatshewastheaptchoice.It wascrucialto giveherunchallengedpositioningin thestarcastas
themostimportantcharacterandthepivot of thestory. Besides,I wasin no moodto dip into intense
tragedy again.

MehboobSahabwasknownfor theoffbeatcastingin his films. He hadcastmein a swashbuckling
villagerÕs role in Aan(1952),in total contrastto my public imageat that time of a tragedian.He took
greatpleasurein doingtheimpossibleandrevellingin theapplausehereceivedwhenhis experiments
succeeded.Aanwasaworldwidehit andhefelt triumphantthathehadmadeIndiaÕsfirst film in Tech-
nicolor. All saidanddone,I did not agreewith him whenhe wantedto castme asNargisÕs son in
Mother India.

Comingbackto GungaJumna, I told Shapoorjiaboutmy intentionto tour the interior partsof North
India, especiallyin Uttar PradeshandMadhyaPradeshfirst andthentravel all over interior Maha-
rashtra.I haddecidedto havethedialoguein thedialectI hadheardandstoredawayin my subcon-
sciousasa boy squattingin the maliÕs kitchenat Deolali (asmentionedin an earlierchapter).I did
not know if it wasa UP or a Bihari dialectat that age.It soundedfascinatingandtherewasa vivid
expressivenessaboutit while conveyingraw emotions.The way in which Bihari, the mali, andhis
wife, Phoolwa,conversedandquarrelledwasasamusingasit wasdramatic.I neededto hearandfeel
thedialectagainwith theexpresspurposeof usingit in thefilm. Thesceniccanvasof rural regionsin
thestatesof India Ðbeit in theNorth or theSouthÐhasits own variationsandsingularattractiveness
with vivid reliefsbroughtaboutby geographicalfeaturesandclimatechanges.I waskeento witness
it first-hand.

I wantedto breathethe air that the charactersGungaandJumnagrew up on andalso takestock
of thepangsof suffering themenwho sworeby thesoil they tilled went throughat thehandsof the
heartlesslandlords.It is onething to know it for knowledgeÕs sakeandquiteanotherto geta feel of it
asawriter. I wasin chargenotonly asaproducerandactorbutalsoasthewriter of thescreenplayand
I wasexperiencingastimulatingchallenge.In away, I wasveryconsciousof thefact thatI wasgoing
to be judged at several levels and the thought inspired me more than it hassled me.

A poster ofGunga Jumna(1961).

Themostwonderfulthing aboutplayingGungawasthat it wasnot difficult at all for meto under-
standtheemotionalcurrentof thestory, especiallythefeelingof adorationandprotectionfor thesmart
youngerbrother. It took me backto my relationshipwith my brotherAyub Sahabwho wasintellec-
tually aheadof all of us andI alwaysfelt he could havebecomesomebodyimportantin the admin-



istrationhadhe not beenphysicallydebilitated.I hadnourishedgreataspirationsfor all the younger
siblings,too, andneverhesitatedto put their needsabovemine in everythingso that they could be
educatedandfulfil their ambitions.So GungawasnÕt unfamiliar to me asa characterunlike in most
otherfilms whereI felt asif my own self wason onesideandtheotherpersonality, thecharacter, was
on the other side and it was imperative for me to bring them together.

Recently, while we were chattingcasually, Amitabh Bachchanmentionedto me that he had re-
peatedlyviewedGungaJumnaasa studentin Allahabadto understandhow a Pathanwaseffortlessly
playingarusticcharacterof UPandspeakingthedialectwith suchease.I think hehasapoint.It hadto
bedifficult for anyPathanto feel at homewith thepersonalityandspeechof Gunga.Yet, this Pathan,
whosestoryyouarereading,did it by instinct,carefulstudy, untiring rehearsalsanda temperamentto
succeed even in those ventures that were new for him.

I knewthatmy scriptof GungaJumnahadmeritsfor measanactor. Sincethecharacterwason the
wrongsideof the law, it wasimportantfor meto acquainttheviewerwith thereasonsfor his taking
to a lawlessway of life andI hadto makehim pay the penaltyfor taking to that life, howeverright
hemayhavebeenunderthecircumstanceshewascaughtin. Gunga,I decided,shouldgetno reprieve
from thelaw whenhetriesto explainthathewasthevictim of a trapsetby thezamindarandthathe
could fight the powerful feudal system only by becoming an outlaw.

When I waswriting the story and the screenplayof GungaJumna, my brotherNasir, for whose
comebackthepicturewasbeingmade,told meI wasmakinga mistake.As mentionedearlier, hefelt
thatpeoplewouldnot like to seemeasabanditanda law breaker. I thoughtaboutthematterseriously
andI decidedto goaheadwithoutmakinganyof thechangesthatfriendsandwell-wisherssuggested.
The film eventually opened to a splendid response and admiring notices.

Whenwe wereat PinewoodStudiosin theUK, sometimein thesummerof 1960,for theTechnicolor
processing,the techniciansin the lab werevery impressedandtheysuggestedthatwe enterthe film
for the Oscarsbecauseit reflectedthe tyrannyof the feudallords or zamindarsin independentIndia
andthe intrinsic honestyof thedowntroddenfarmersdespitethepovertyandoppression.Theywere
full of praise for the performances, the colourful song sequences and the rugged, rural setting.

WhenGungaJumnawasscreenedatKarlovy Vary in Czechoslovakia,BostonandCairo,I wasbe-
siegedby film critics,whoappreciatedthemovieandwereintriguedby my acting.Theywerecurious
to knowhowmuchresearchhadgoneinto it becausea film like GungaJumnawouldhavebeenmade
aftermuchstudyanddeliberationin their countries.I told themhowmuchI hadworkedon thescript,
thecharacters,theBhojpuridialect,thelogical conclusionof thestoryandsoon.Anotherhighlightof
thefilm wastheimpressivemusicalscoreby NaushadMiyan, whosefolk tunesin thefilm arepopular
to this day.

GungaJumnaÕsenduringachievementis theinspirationit providedto writersto givetheheroaflaw
or whatyou call a negativeshade.I haddoneÔanti-heroÕrolesearliertoo. For instance,thecharacter
I hadplayedin MehboobKhanÕs Amar (1954)did commit an outrage.Thereforethis characterwas
flawedandwasnot theconventionalblemish-freehero.ThecharacterI playedin Zia SarhadiÕs Foot-
path(1953)wasablackmarketeerandsohewasalsoa tarnishedhero.However, thosefilms werenot
assuccessfulasGungaJumna. In the caseof GungaJumna, the herowason the wrong sideof the
law but hehadtheaudiencesympathywith him andtheconflict in thestory is not somuchbetween
thebrothersasit is betweenthe law of thecountryandthemoral freedomof a humanbeingto fight
injustice and corruption and take the world forward.

It took monthsof reflectionandself-questioningto arrive at the climax but it waswell worth the
painstakenbecauseI still hearpraisesfrom discerningfilm enthusiastsfor GungaÕs deathscene.This



scenewasfilmed on thesetsat a studioat dusk.I took thecameraman,V. Babasaheb,into confidence
andtold him to keepeverythingreadyastherewouldnotbearehearsalor asecondtake.I stressedthe
point that the synchronizationbetweenthe actionandthe runningcamerawould haveto be perfect.
He understoodandwasabsolutelyready. Theotherunit membershadno cluewhatI wasgoingto do.
What I did wasmy own idea.I took severalroundsof thestudioÕs premises,joggingat first andthen
running.WhenI felt breathlessandI thoughtthat I would just collapse,I enteredthesetswhereBa-
basahebwasreadywith thecamerarunningto perfection.Thesceneof GungaÕs collapsein his house
at the feetof thedeity whomhis motherworshippedso trustinglyanddevoutlycouldnot havebeen
achievedin any otherway. It wasa victory for the law whenGungasuccumbsto his bullet wounds
but I wantedto tell the audiencethat it wasGungawho hasachieveda bigger triumph Ðthe moral
victory Godhasgivenhim by fulfilling his objectiveof establishinghis poormotherÕs innocenceand
restoring her reputation in the village.

Thesearchfor theideallocationsfor GungaJumnawasanewresponsibilityfor me.I amtold thetask
is left nowadaysto ÔproductiondesignersÕwhocreatethelook of thefilm onpaper. Whichmustbethe
reasonwhy the films appearsohybrid andamalgamoustoday. In our times,thedirector, cameraman
andart director took painsto scoutfor locations,andfor GungaJumnait wasentirely up to me to
find theappropriatebackdropfor theunfoldingof thestory. As per thesketchesI hadmade,someof
thesceneshadto beshotindoorson setsthat I hadpicturedin my mind andhadto bebuilt at Kardar
Studios and Mehboob Studios, both located in Bombay.

It took a monthof searchingfor me to pick a locationcloseto Igatpuri in Maharashtra,about120
km north-eastof Bombay. I visitedtheplacequiteby chancewhile onanoutingwith BaddruddinQazi
(whom you all know asJohnnyWalker). It caughtmy attentionat oncefor its virgin beautyandits
unexplorednaturalruggedness.I later took alongto thelocationBabasaheb,thecameraman,anddir-
ectorNitin Bose,andthey wereall for it. Little did I know thenthat I wasdiscoveringa localethat
would be repeatedin severalfilms after GungaJumnawasreleased.The natureof the subjectwas
suchthat it demandeda locationof craggyhills anda valley besidesa flowing river that would be
skirtedby a slopingland coveredwith tall treesandbushes.Babasahebhadseenthe sketchesI had
madeof the locationthat I desiredandit surprisedhim pleasantlythat therewasindeeda placelike
theoneI haddrawnfor him. For someminuteshestoodsilently with Nitinda on thehill from where
Gungaslidesdownto seizethevillain (playedby Anwar Husain)andsaveDhanno(playedby Vyjay-
antimala).After gazingthelocalefor quitesometimewith hiscameramanÕseye,heclappedhishands
spontaneouslyin delightandstampedhisapprovalonthespot.It wasunderstoodthatthevalleywould
providethebackdropfor thevillagersÕhousesandthezamindarÕs haveli (mansion),which we would
have to build. (The zamindar was the villain in the movie.)



With Vyjayantimala inGunga Jumna(1961).

MakingGungaJumnawasamammothexerciseat thattime.ThoughNitindawasthereasthedirector,
GungaJumnawasessentiallymy baby. Whenshootingbeganfor GungaJumnaon location,K. Asif
was reshootingsomeof the desertsequencesof Mughal-e-Azamin Rajasthan.I had to endurethe
scorchingheatof the desertwith all the heavyarmourthat I wasgiven to wear for the scenesthat
Asif hadreworked,fly backto Bombayandtravel by car to the GungaJumnalocation.The make-
up materialavailablethosedayswaslimited andit wasquitea testfor my personalmake-upartist to
camouflagethesuntanandthereddishpatchesI usedto developdueto themetalarmourcoveringmy
body in the war scenes shot on desert locations.

Shapoorji,whowastheco-producerof Mughal-e-Azam, usedto call hissonsandhisoffice staff and
tell themto imbibethevirtue of ceaselesshardwork from me.He usedto arrangefor meto travel in
asmuchcomfortaspossibleandtheconcernedexpressionI couldseeon his faceremindedmeof the
pain that would flit acrossAmmaÕs facewhenshewould seethe afternoonsunÕs impacton my fair
skin whenI got homeafter rigorousfootball practiceon the groundsnearMetro Cinemaduring my
college days.

I enjoyedmy long chatswith Shapoorjiwho lovedmeperhapsno lessthanhis sons.We discussed
everythingunderthe sun.While it fascinatedme to hearhim talk to his sonsaboutthe construction
businessand the moneymattersthey weredealingwith everso facilely, Shapoorjioften wondered
howI wasableto copewith thecomplexandunusualdemandsof theactingprofession.Shapoorjiwas
a toweringgiant in theconstructionbusinessandhecommandedinstantrespectfrom theauthorities
becauseof his untaintedreputation.He wasa manof smallbuild andof mediumheight,his intrinsic
goodnessbeingreflectedin theradianceonhisgentleface.Hevisitedthelocationwheneverhefound
time and, at other times, he dropped in at my new house I had bought on Pali Hill.

Thosewere the dayswhenPali Hill, Bandra,meantan addressto reckonwith. Therewereopen
spacesandbungalowsandthe bungalowI selectedwasat an elevationstrategicallycommandinga
goodview from theupperfloor. I gavemy sistersandbrothersasurpriseby driving themto thehouse
andopeningthemainentrancedoorwith a key from my pocket.In onevoice,theystartedaskingme
whosehousewasit andhow comeI hadthekey. I told themthenthat it wasmy housefrom now on-
wards. The house was big and had enough room for the girls to have the privacy they needed.

LifeÕssurprisesnevercease,really. I washopingto find my ownexclusivespacein thehousewhere
I could restwhenI wantedto or just stay in the room andread.It was importantfor me to be left
aloneat times.I wasusedto beingalonefrom a very early agebecauseI hadmy own thoughtsand
fancies,which I did not wish to share.As a child, I enjoyedgoingout of thehousealoneandit often
causedpanicandgot meinto trouble(asnotedin earlierchapters).Here,in thelargehouseI hadlov-
ingly bought,I foundmyselfoftenunwillingly draggedinto senselessargumentsandbickering.I felt
completelyoutof synchwith my brothersandsisterswhowerebecomingincreasinglyconcernedonly
with their comforts and luxuries, which they did not hesitate to ask me to provide.

Consequently, I spentmoretime in the outhouseandthereI felt a senseof relief becauseit gave
methemuch-neededfreedomto pursuemy interestin readingandspendingquality time with people
whose company I truly enjoyed.

In thefilm industrytherewasa call from producersÕbodiesto placea ceiling on actorsÕassignments
(sometimein themid-1960s,if I rememberrightly). I knewit wouldnotaffectmesinceI did notwork



in morethanonefilm at a time but I felt it wasanencroachmenton anindividualÕs personalandpro-
fessional freedom.

My decisionto moveto Madrascameat this juncturepartly becauseI wantedto beawayfrom the
perennialcacophonyin my houseandpartly becauseI could not agreewith the BombayproducersÕ
moveto restrictthework of actors.Thereweretwo very cordialproducersin Madraswantingmeto
starin theHindi remakesof their Tamil andTeluguhits andI liked themandthestoriestheynarrated
to me.Onepromisedamplescopefor humourandcomedyandthe otherofferedme an opportunity
to delveinto thetroubledandsuspiciousmind of anunfortunate,lonely man.Thefilms wereB. Nagi
ReddyÕsRamAur Shyam(releasedin 1967anddirectedby TapiChanakya)andP. S.VeerappaÕsAadmi
(releasedin 1968anddirectedby A. Bhim Singh).Both wereto bemadein thecity thathadcaptured
my heart when I had worked inPaigham(1959).

RamAur Shyamstartedwith a bit of turbulence.Vyjayantimala,who wassignedto play the lead,
upsetNagi Reddy, the producer, with a tantrumthat wasuncalledfor. Whenshestuck to her stand
aboutsomethingvery trivial like a sari or a pair of earringsshehadselectedandwasgiven to an-
otherartisteunknowinglyby thedirectorÕs assistant,Reddypolitely informedhershewasout of the
film. In a weekÕs time, I wasinformedthatWaheedaRehmanÐwhoseoeuvreincludedfilms suchas
Pyaasa(1957),KaghazKe Phool (1959),Kala Bazar(1960)andGuide(1965)Ðwould bereplacing
Vyjayanti.Thewholeepisodewasmisconstruedby Vyjayantiwho,afterworkingwith mein six films,
imaginedthat I hadbroughtin Waheedabecauseshewasmy heroinein Dil Diya Dard Liya (1966)
andAadmi!

In Dil Diya Dard Liya(1966).

Althoughshootingfor Aadmibeganlong beforeRamAur Shyammountedthesets,its paceslowed
down halfway throughthe productionbecausethe cashflow camein dribs anddrabs.While I was
shootingsomehilariousscenesfor RamAur Shyam, I hadto agreeto dub for poignantsceneswith
Waheedafor AadmibecauseVeerappawould sendword thatsomefundshadcomein andtheywere
in a positionto hire a dubbingstudioandpay the technicians.Likewise, theeditorof Aadmiusedto
invite meto takea look at theeditedreelsandI spentmanyevenings(afterpack-upat Nagi ReddyÕs
Ram Aur Shyam) in the suites whereAadmiwas being edited.

AadmiwasessentiallyapsychologicaldramaandI tried to give it theedgeandslicknessit deserved
on the editing table.Thosedays,the Frenchnew-wavedirectors,especiallyJean-LucGodard,had
createdan interestin our editorsto employthe jumpcutunnecessarily. Although I wasnot formally
trainedin the job of editing, I hada fair ideaof thecontributionaneditor couldmaketo engagethe
viewer in the storytelling process. The subject ofAadmiwas such that it needed imaginative editing.

As anactorI wasstruckby thepromisethatthecharacterI playedin Aadmiheld.I hadto bringout
theprotagonistÕscerebralstruggleto leavehispastbehindandmoveon.Thebasicconflict in thestory,



whichhadtheexternalappearanceof acommonlove triangle,wasunusualin thesensethatit wasnot
somucha conflict betweentwo menoveronewomanasis commonin film stories.Thefriction was
in the minds of the characters.

ThecharacterI playedwasto beexploredfrom a psychologicalangleandthat intriguedme.From
my experienceandunderstanding,I concludedthatthefilm hadto havea moodandanambiencethat
wouldgowith thevicissitudesin theprotagonistÕs life andtheFreudianthoughtprocesseshegetsinto.
So I got involved in two vital aspectsof its making,besidesthewriting. I took a keeninterestin the
camera movements and lighting and also in the selection of shots on the editing table.

Film making,unlike someotherart forms like paintingor writing poetry, for instance,hasa great
dealto dowith communication.I meanthecommunicationbetweentheactorandthedirector, between
thedirectorandthecameramanandtheart director, betweenthedirectorandtheeditor, betweenthe
artisteand the cameramanandso on. If the coordinationis well orchestrated,it showsin the final
product. If not, it shows equally in the frayed look of the product.

It wasmy practiceto takean activeinterestin the makingof a film. In RamAur Shyamtoo, my in-
volvementwasonehundredpercent.However, beforeI go into thedetails,I mustsaythatRamAur
Shyamwas very special for me (as explained in the next chapter).



17
THE WOMAN IN MY LIFE

Asshequietlygazedout at thesea,welistenedto thegentlesoundof wavesthat spreada serene
calmthat descendedon usandI lookedat her andsaid: ÔSaira,youare not thekind of girl I want
to drivearoundwith, or beseenaroundwith É I wouldlike to marryyouÉ will youbemywife?Õ

RAM AUR SHYAM WAS VERY SPECIALFORME IN A PERSONALway becauseI marriedSairawhentheproduc-
tion of thefilm wasnearingcompletionandI would like to digresshereandnarratethetruestoryof our
marriageastherearequitea few fanciful accountscirculatingsincetheday thenewsmadeheadlines
in all publicationsin the country in 1966.Until thenI wasreluctantto evenwork with her for some
reasons, which I must explain.

First of all, I knew that shewasthe daughterof MohammedEhsanSahabandNaseemBanuji,* a
greatlady whom I muchrespectedandadmiredfor her dignity andself-relianceandfor the way she
mostgracefullyconductedherselfin thefilm industry. NaseemAapahadworkedin a film madeby Ay-
ubSahab,my brother, andtherewerealwayssmallget-togethersatour residenceat48PaliHill. I recall
wonderfulmusicaleveningswhentherewasa sitar recital by UstadVilayat Khan Sahabor a singing
soirŽewith thegreatBadeGhulamAli KhanSahab,asI havebeenvery fond of classicalmusic,be it
vocalor instrumental.NaseemAapawould alwaysbe invited by Akhtar, my sister, who hadgreatad-
miration and regard for her.

Ammaji (Shamshad Abdul Waheed Khan) performing at a small gathering.

I donÕt recallwhenbutatonesuchevening,Saira,who wasonavisit to Indiaduringherschoolhol-
idays,accompaniedher motherto our house.SinceI usedto meetNaseemAapaat manyformal and
informaloccasions,I hadunderstoodfrom herthatSairawasgrowingup in London,wheresheandher
brotherSultanAhmedwerestudyingin schoolandtheywereundertheguardianshipof NaseemAapaÕs
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motherShamshadAbdul WaheedKhan,therenownedclassicalsinger. Apparently, Sairahadseenmy
film Aan at ScalaTheatrein LondonandI got to know from differentsourcessuchasMrs Akhtar
MehboobKhan,whomI calledBhabiji, Mrs BahaarKardarandS.MukherjeeSahabthatthis little girl
wasbrewingup quitea stormin hermind abouta liking for me,wantingto know throughher letters
from Londonto herown mother, my likes anddislikes,my way of life andeventhefact that I loved
poetry and the Persian language.

Later, I got to know thatassoonasshefinishedschoolin Londonandreturnedto India, shecon-
vincedNaseemAapato gethera tutor, a Maulvi Sahab,who wasa partof theHyderabadNizamMir
OsmanAli KhanÕs royal entourage,to coachher in fine, pristineUrdu andPersianat the sprawling
HyderabadEstateon NepeanSeaRoadin Bombay!This washerplan to impressme! At best,I was
pleasantlyamusedanddelightedat thiswonderfuleffort by thisyoungster. Naturally, I nevergavethis
ÔcrushÕ,directedatme,anyimportance,sincefor meit wasdifficult to reconcilemyselfto thefact that
there was anything serious in her mind about me!

Next, I got to know thatthis younglady wasprecariouslyperchedto takeoff on a film career, which,
all saidanddone,in thosetimes,wasconsideredtaboofor girls from conservativeMuslim families
andI knew that this waswhy NaseemAapahadwantedto sendher to schoolin London,far away
from the atmosphere of films.

Of course,whenthis subjectwasbroachedby S.MukherjeeSahab,who wasa closeconfidantand
well-wisherof thefamily, I myselfvoicedanemphaticÔNOÕto this ideaandtold him thatSairashould
be restrained from embarking on a film career.

In theearly1960s,wewereaboutto beginthecastingfor A. R. KardarÕsDil Diya Dard Liya (even-
tually releasedin 1966),when,at a closeget-togetherat MehboobKhanÕs place,MukherjeeSahab
said:ÔYousuf,this younggirl is crazyto work with you.ÕI smiled,andtrying to deterher from this
idea,I ranmy handthroughmy salt-and-pepperhair andsaidto Saira:ÔHaveyou seenthis greyhair?
I amsomuchelderto you, andI eatlike a pig!ÕTo which, I still remember, shelaughedandsaid:ÔI
think grey hair looks very distinguished on you! Very handsome.Õ

After hermaidenventure,Junglee, therewasno lookingbackfor Sairaand,curiouslyenough,Gunga
JumnaandJungleewerereleasedsimultaneouslyin 1961! Both werestupendoushits! Shebecame
the mostsought-afterleadinglady in the industryandshewaspairedwith all the successfulleading
menof thetimeÐsuchasRajKapoor, DevAnand,SunilDutt, ShammiKapoor, RajendraKumar, Joy
MukherjeeandManoj KumarÐexceptDilip Kumar. Therewasa hugedemandin thefilm marketfor
a film starringheroppositemeandtalkswereon,amongstmany, for HabbaKhatoonwith Mehboob
Sahab,for which the illustrious film makerrequiredhugechunksof uninterruptedshootingdates(as
the film wasset in Kashmirandhadto be shot there).Thereforeshehadto forgo doing Vijay An-
andÕs Guidewith Dev Anand,S. U. SunnyÕs Palki (alsodirectorof my 1960film Kohinoor) and,of
course,Leaderfor FilmalayaÕs S. MukherjeeSahab,for which theywerealsoconsideringnewcomer
PriyaRajvansh,who hadcometo Bombayfrom TheRoyalAcademyof DramaticArts, London.Wa-
heedaRehmanwaschosenastheheroinefor bothGuide(1965)andPalki (1967).PriyaRajvanshlater
wenton to teamupwith producer-director-actorChetanAnand,andworkedwith him in films suchas
Haqeeqat(1964),Heer Ranjha(1970) andHanste Zakhm(1973).

Meanwhile,from SairaherselfI wouldgetfrequentandinsistentmessagesandrequeststhroughthe
popular producers whom she was already working with to pair us in their forthcoming movies!



Unfortunately, I hadto withdrawfrom HabbaKhatoon, asI couldnot foreseemyselfdoingYousuf
ChakÕs (HabbaKhatoonÕs husband)character, which hadsomeslantsof negativity. Moreover, Me-
hboobSahabandI did not seemto be like-mindedon this aspectanddid not seeeyeto eye.I also
remembertelling NaseemAapaat FilmalayaStudiosthatNaushadSahabÕs story ideaof Palki hada
lot of jhols. In other words, the story sagged under its own weight and lacked in content.

Giving themahuratclap forSaaz Aur Awaz(released in 1966).

As theseprojectsfizzledout,at thesametime,I wasmuchin demandto give theauspiciousmahur-
at* clap at manyof SairaÕs films. SaazAur AwazwasonesuchmahuratandHabbaKhatoonwas
another. At themahuratof the latter film, I told her, to herdismay, thatall contendersfor therole of
YousufChakwerepresent,whereasI wasonly theclapperboy! Exasperated,sheretortedthatshewas
now grownup andtaller too, to work with me,andaskedif I would only give mahuratclapsfor her
films or one day also work with her?

Unfortunately, I hadto keepon refusingproducerswho wishedto castmeoppositeher, finding it
verydifficult to cometo termsthatthisvery fair andslim girl whomI hadmetonmanyoccasionshad
indeedgrownup,andwasalreadydoingfilms with Raj andDev, who werealmostthesameageasI.
I was working with actresses who matched my age and maturity.

I confidedin MukherjeeSahabandSultanthat I wantedto casther in a speciallywritten subject
thatI hadin mind for herwhereour pairingwould beidealandperfect.This wasa subjectbasedwith
Kashmirasthe backdrop,a script that I hadwritten myself entitledÔSongof the ValleyÕ,whereshe
had a wonderfully vivacious, effervescent role that ran the gamut of emotions.

At this longwait, shebecameveryannoyedwith me.I sensedthatthepolite,graciousandwell-bred
younglady wasturning into anangrytigresswho wilfully wantedto scornmeandseemedto bede-
liberatelyimpolite to highlight the fact thatshewasterribly offended.For instance,in theFilmalaya
Studiocompound,if I wereleavingin my car andspottedAmmaji (SairaÕs grandmother)andSaira
making their way from the stagefloor towardstheir make-uproom for a break,I would asalways
stepout of my carandwish themSalaamAlaikum (peacebeuponyou).Ammaji would respondgra-
ciously, whereasSairawould turnawayimpetuouslyandstrutawaylike aproudpeacockasif shedid
not know meor hearme! I wasamazedat this attitude!Whata turn of events!Shethoughtthis kind
of behaviour would have some effect on me!
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In a double role inRam Aur Shyam(1967).

The incredible beauty of life is that we never know what is about to happen next!

As we were to startRamAur Shyam, B. Nagi ReddyandA. Chakrapani(co-producerof the film)
had,at the outset,suggestedSairaÕs namefor the heroineoppositeRam,the timid characterbullied
to nervousshredsby Gajendra,his brother-in-law (playedby Pran).Ramrunsawayfrom homeand
finds himself in a village anddoesnot know whatto do with theenergetic,sprightlygirl Shanta,who
thinksheis herbeauShyam(a lookalikeof Ram),who hasmysteriouslydisappearedfrom thevillage
for quite sometime. Nagi Reddywasall admirationfor Sairaandher recentperformancesandwas
certainthatherpairingwith mein thecomedysituationswould bea hugedrawsinceshepossesseda
wonderfulflair for spiritedcomedy. Sinceit wasmy practiceto takeanactiveinterestin themaking
of my film, I voicedmy opinionthat I did not agreewith Nagi Reddyon this issuebecauseI felt she
wastoo delicateandinnocentin appearancefor a characterthathadto haveloadsof seductiveappeal
anda bold, buxomappearance.At thesametime, MehmoodAli, the famouscomedian,waspersist-
ent that for this role we shouldcastvivaciousMumtaz,his co-starin manyof his andwrestlerDara
SinghÕsmovies.Hewassosincerein his recommendationof herthatheevencarriedtinsof film reels
depicting Mumtaz to exhibit how talented she was. Mumtaz eventually bagged that role.

My refusalto work in RamAur Shyamwith herwastheproverbiallaststrawon thecamelÕs back!
Hell hathno fury like awomanscorned!Sureenough,I receivedmorethanmy fair shareof brickbats
from Saira in various ways!

RamAur Shyamwasprogressingon the floors at a hecticpaceand,asusual,I wascompletelyim-
mersedin my work whenI receivedaninvitationfrom NaseemAapato join herandhermotherSham-
shadBegumSahibain thecelebrationof SairaÕs birthdayandthehousewarmingof their newly built
bungalow, which was a stoneÕs throw from my own bungalow on Pali Hill.



With Saira and Mumtaz during the shooting ofRam Aur Shyam.

On the eveningof 23 August1966,whenI speciallyflew to Bombayfrom Madrasto attendthe
partythatwasbeinghostedby NaseemAapa,I hadno inkling thatthecourseof my life wasall setto
change and the evening was destined to remain indelibly imprinted in my memory to this day!

WhenI alightedfrom my carandenteredthebeautifulgardenthat leadsto thehouse,I canstill re-
call my eyesfalling onSairastandingin thefoyerof hernewhouselookingbreathtakinglybeautifulin
abrocadesari.I wastakenaback,becauseshewasno longertheyounggirl I hadconsciouslyavoided
workingwith becauseI thoughtshewould look tooyoungto bemy heroine.Shehadindeedgrownto
full womanhood and was in reality more beautiful than I thought she was.

I simplysteppedforwardandshookherhandandfor usTimestoodstill. Foronce,shelet goof her
annoyancewith meandlookedstraightinto my eyesandit did not takemorethananinstantfor meto
realizethatshewastheoneDestinyhadbeenknowingly reservingasmy real-life partnerwhile I was
refusing to pair with her on screen!

We movedfrom the foyer to the large drawing room, which was fast filling up with friends of
NaseemAapa,who includedMrs MehboobKhan, Mrs S. Mukherjee,R. K. Nayyar (producer-dir-
ector), Shankarand Jaikishen(music directors),Fali Mistry (a famouscinematographer),Subodh
Mukherjee(theproduceranddirectorof Junglee), SanjeevKumar(thenanupcomingactor)andher-
oessuchasDev Anand,RajendraKumar, SanjayKhanandManoj Kumar, who werecloseto meas
well. While conversingwith Saira,I realizedthatfor someonewho hadgrownup in Englandandhad
studiedataprivilegedEnglishschool,I foundherto beintrinsicallyvery Indianandrootedto hernat-
ive culture in the way she spoke respectfully to her motherÕs friends and conducted herself.

My mindwentbackto oneof my sojournsin Coimbatore(now in Tamil Nadu)whereI hadshotfor
Azaad(1955).I happenedto meet,throughS.S.VasanSahab,a notedastrologerwho wasknownfor
theaccuracyof his predictions.He madea chartsimply by observingmy facial features,expressions
andthe lines on my palm. I rememberhis narroweyes,the sacredashsmearedacrosshis brow and
his thin arms,chestandneck.HesatbeforeussilentlystudyingthecharthehadmadeandI remember
thesmilehegaveuswhenhewasreadyto unveilmy future.Hespokeglowingly aboutmy careerand
literally hadmespellboundasheproceededto describein detail our housein Peshawar, the flowing
waterby theside,whereI spentmy childhood,aboutmy parents,my siblingsandmy grandparents!
Then,hepausedandsaidthathis forecastwassourcedfrom ancientBhrigu Sutrasandcategorically
told methat I would marry latewhenI would be in my fortiesandmy bridewould bea girl half my
age,asfair andbeautifulasthemoonandshewouldkeepmeonthelids of hereyesandloveandwor-
shipmeunselfishly, unconditionally. He alsopredictedthatshewould befrom thesameprofessionÐ
to this I categoricallycommented:ÔNever!I will not marry a girl from my profession!ÕUnfazed,he



wenton to saythat,soonafterthemarriage,shewould taketheblow of my ÔkarmasÕwith aprolonged
and near-fatal illness to absolve me and she would go through it ungrudgingly.

Both VasanSahabandI did not expectthis categoricalpredictionaboutsomethingthatwasneither
onmy mindnoronVasanSahabÕs.It shookmeupfor amomentbut,at thatpointof time,I wasneither
a believernor a disbelieverof astralconfigurationsthatcouldmakeor maroneÕs life. As mentioned
earlier, I hadhadthechildhoodexperienceof my Dadi (paternalgrandmother)who took theforecast
of a fakir soseriouslythatsheunintentionallydisfiguredmy facewith sootall throughmy school-go-
ing yearsin Peshawar. I wasrestoredmy smart,goodlooksasa schoolboy only whenwe movedto
Bombay and I began to study at Anjuman Islam.

Thewholeepisodedid not meanmuchat thatpoint of time and,asa busyyoungman,I gavelittle
importance to it and moved on, forgetting about it in the flurry of day-to-day existence.

Strangely, the memory of that chance meeting surfaced now.
After the birthdaycelebarations,beforetaking my flight back to resumemy shootingin Madras

the next morning,I calledup, wantingto thankNaseemAapafor the wonderfulget-together. Saira
answeredthephoneandwhenI saidÔMain Yousufbol raha hoonÕ(I amYousufspeaking),shemis-
chievouslyreplied:ÔWho?Yousuf?Kis sebaatkarni hai?Õ(Whomdo you wantto talk to?)Knowing
fully well who I was,shewashell-benton pulling my leg! I thensaidthat I wantedto thankher for
beinganexcellenthostessat herpartyandthatI hadenjoyedtheeveningvery much,unwindingfrom
all thestressandhecticwork thatI hadbeenploughingthroughrecently. I finally told herthatI would
call from Madras,andI did. I found myself sooncalling up againafter a coupleof days,strangely
missingthis sprightly, mischievousgirl who wasa raremixtureof traditional,deep-rootedIndianval-
ues and Western culture and education.

I plannedto fly downandmeether in theeveningsoonafterherbirthday. I hadlandedin Bombay
whenI receiveda call of distressfrom a colleaguewho wasin a fix with regardto a tax problemand
neededthehelpof my auditor. Sairawasthenshootingat MehboobStudiosfor Lekh TandonÕs Jhuk
GayaAasmaan(releasedin 1968)andI couldnot contactherastherewereno mobilephonesthose
days.Shecameout from thesetsto Mrs MistryÕs (thestudiooperator)kiosk in thefoyerof thestudio.
Shewastotally drenchedfrom a rain songthey weredoing and,whenI told her that I may not be
ableto seeherthen,well, shesuggestedthatI hadbetternot seeherat all! As simpleasthat! Sensing
SairaÕs disappointment,I suggestedthat I would attendto theexigencywith my auditorfriend G. N.
Joshiandhelpmy colleagueandthenaskedif I could takeher to theTaj SeaLoungefor sometime.
We did just that,but, unfortunately, at theSeaLoungealsoI waspagedrepeatedlyon thephoneby a
lady friend with whomI hadbrokenoff a relationshipmonthsago.This hadbeena stressfulphaseof
my life. Anyway, asSairaandI wereon our way home,I askedthechauffeurto parkat theseafront
on Cuffe Parade, and there was just silence between us for some time.

As shequietly gazedout at the sea,we listenedto the gentlesoundof wavesthat spreada serene
calmthatdescendedon usandI lookedat herandsaid:ÔSaira,you arenot thekind of girl I want to
drive around with, or be seen around with É I would like to marry you É will you be my wife?Õ

Still upsetwith theirritating, disturbingcallsthatI hadreceivedandansweredwhile sittingwith her
andG. N. Joshiat theSeaLounge,Sairajust turnedaroundsharplyto answermewith ÔÉ andhow
manygirls haveyou saidthis to?ÕNormally, I would havebeenenragedwith sucha line, but instead,
enamouredwith herstraightforwardnessandsimplicity, I foundmyself telling her thatshewaslove-
ableandI wantedherto bemy wife. My innervoice,which I havealwaysbelievedis AmmaÕs voice,
hadsealedtheapprovalwithouthesitationandI knewdeepwithin methatI hadfoundthewomanwith
whomI wantedto sharemy life, my sorrowsandmy joys.As shesmiledandheldmein hergazewith
the love of a womanwho hadlovedmesinceshewasin her teens,we slowly drovebackto Nepean
SeaRoadto her motherÕs SeaBelle flat. I saidI wantedNaseemAapa,Ammaji andSultanandhis
wife Rahat BegÕs approval, that I sought her hand.



I knewthatSairaÕs careerhadsoaredto extremelypopularheightsandalsothatshewaspassionate
aboutherwork, alwaysprayingeverynightbeforehersleep:ÔAllah,makemeabig moviestarlike my
mother, PariChehra* NaseemBanuandmakememeetandInshallahsoonbecomeMrs Dilip Kumar.Õ
It would be very hard to relinquish the work that generated such euphoria of popularity.

In Leader(1964).

We found Ammaji andher eldersister, KhursheedBajijan, at homeandI presentedmy proposal,
like a goodPathan,to both the eldestmembersin the family. Ammaji mosthappily kissedmy fore-
head,blessingusandwasoverwhelmedwith tearsof joy for thetwo of us:ÔAllah har khushideaap
donoko aur Yousufmian ka iqbal bulandrakhenÉ. Aameen.Õ** Ammaji, alwaysafter, blessedme
with this duaon everyoccasionthroughoutmy life. We thenproceededto meetNaseemAapa,Sultan
andRahat,at the Pali Hill bungalow, to which they werein the processof shifting. As a youngster,
Sultanandthebunchof theMukherjeeboys,Rono,JoyandDebu,hadalwayscycledaroundPaliHill
for fun andthenstoodoutsidemy 48 Pali Hill gatelike eager, keenchildrento havea glimpseof me.
Later, Sultan,whenhe camebackafter schoolingin London,joined the teamof Leader(releasedin
1964) to watch the making of the film, learning the ropes of becoming a film director.

NaseemAapareceivedusat herPali Hill bungalowin ecstaticwonder;shewasoverwhelmed,joy-
ously embracingus with the love that this gracefullady alwaysshoweredon us.SheandSultanbe-
camemy greatsupportsystemin everydaylife, asalsomy own extendedfamily, readyto love and
protect me.

We werefirst giventheauspiciousdahi (curds)andmeetha(sweets)on this occasionwith Naseem
AapaÕshandandthenservedasumptuousmealsynonymouswith herrefinedandexquisitehospitality.
Sairawassoexcitedandmusthavebeenraringto eat,butself-consciouslyjustbit onamorsel,chewed
soslowly, until I hadto tell her:ÔSairaaap isseyapnahi ghar samajhiyeaur khanakhaiye!Õ(Saira,
consider this your own house and have your food!)

Soonafter, Sairatook permissionfrom NaseemAapato go for a shortdrive andthento drop me
home,just a stoneÕs throw awayfrom herown bungalow. AlthoughLondonschooledandbred,Saira
hadbeenvery protectivelybroughtup by Ammaji andNaseemAapaasa younggirl, taking thebest
out of Westerneducationandupbringingbut essentiallyandstrictly inculcatingIndian values.This
waswhatappealedto memostaboutherpersonality. Hershadbeena close-knitfamily of four mem-
bers(apartfrom herself)Ðhergrandmother, motherandelderbrother, who weretheworld shegrew
up to know, love and understand, even as she became an entity on her own: a successful film star.

Wedroveby CarterRoad,pastDelphin,a two-storeystructurewheremy dearbrotherNasirandhis
wife, actressBegumPara,lived with their childrenon the top floor andmy friend ÔGobindoÕ(actor
Abhi Bhattacharya)residedon thefirst floor. I askedmy chauffeur to honkloudly until Gobindocame
runningout to thewindow, alarmed,thinking thatsomethingwaswrong.I shoutedout to him to hurry
andbring downa bottleof drinking water. No soonerthanhescurrieddown,hebentinto thecarwin-
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dow to speakto meandhepracticallyfainteduponseeingthemostunexpectedsight:Sairasitting by
my side, smiling away at him!

It seemedincredibleto Gobindobecausehewasjust recentlyshootingwith SairaonK. AsifÕsSasta
KhoonMehngaPani (a film thatremainedunfinished)at theoutdoorlocationsin thedesertsof Jodh-
pur, Rajasthan.Gobindowasoneof themanyemissaries,apartfrom actorNazir HussainSahaband
SanjeevKumar, who carriedmessagesof how upsetSairawaswith me! Theseartisteswereworking
with me too and I would meet them frequently.

After that,we turnedtowardsthebeachat Juhufor ashortstroll Ðthesky wasbeautiful,ladenwith
layersof dreamyAugustcloudsandwe silently walked,handin hand,enjoyingthe bracing,placid
breezewhensuddenlyabeautiful,light showerdescendeduponusasthoughGodhimselfhadblessed
thisunionof two hearts.I immediatelytookoff my jacketto wrapit aroundSairaÕsdelicateframeand,
to this day, amongst a thousand things she has safely kept in her treasure trove, is the same jacket!

As wewerereturninghome,atmy gate,I sawNasirÕscarparked,indicatingthathewasthere.Nasir
commutedbetweenour poultry farm at NasikandBombayto keepthe family businessgoing. I was
sovery happythat I wantedhim to be the first in my family to know theglad tidings.Nasirwasmy
much-loved,ever-smiling, outgoingandwarm-heartedbrother. He wasthereforemy favouritecom-
panion, born just after me and so dear to me.

We took thestairsup to thehall andfinding Sairavery nervous,I heldherhandreassuringly. Nasir
wasaloneandlookedupwith ahugewarmsmileashealwaysdid,andwesatdown.In thenextcouple
of minutes,I saidto him: ÔNasir, SairaandI aregettingÉ married!ÕTo whichhereplied:ÔOye! Yaar!
YouÕrepulling my leg! YouÕrejoking! How did this happen?ÕHe thenlaughedandtightly heldmein
his embrace and exclaimed: ÔI canÕt believe this yaar! Wonderful news!Õ My happiness was complete.

During thenextweek,I flew downeveryothereveningto Bombayfrom Madras,anddinedandspent
wonderfultime with Saira,hergrannyandNaseemAapaat their NepeanSeaRoadhomewhereSaira
still was living, or at her newly built bungalowat Pali Hill whereat timeswe would be joined by
Mrs AkhtarMehboob,MukherjeeSahabandmy dearfriendsPranandSatishBhalla.(PranÕsdaughter
Pinky later married Satish BhallaÕs son.)

Yearslater. Sairajovially sangto meÔIk ghar banayahai, tereghar kesamneÕ,* telling methat,in
actuality, whenshewantedto build herown home,thefamily setaboutlooking for a suitableplot of
land around48 Pali Hill, holding my houseasthe landmark,beingcloseto which wasthe first cri-
terion in their choice!

Events moved at a fast pace thereafter, as the news spread everywhere.
*NaseemBanujiÕs mostfamousfilm is Pukar(1939),in whichsheplayedNoorJehan,thewife of the
Mughal Emperor Jehangir.
*An opportune time for beginning something new.
*Literally meaning Ôwith a face like a fairyÕ.
** May Allah give you both every happiness and may the fortunes of Yousuf be on the rise. So be it.
*ÔIhavebuilt a housein front of yours.ÕShewasinspiredby the title songof the 1963movie Tere
Ghar Ke Samne, starring Dev Anand and Nutan.
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18
THE BIG DAY

Camethedayof themarriage: 11 October1966.Whatdid I feel?Wastherea gushof nervous-
ness?Havingremaineda confirmed,eligible bachelorfor so long,did I haveanytrepidationsor
any qualms as the hour of the relinquishment of my bachelordom drew near?

AT THE OUTSET, I FELT IT VERY NECESSARY TO ACQUAINT MY future wife, my life partner-to-be,with the
scenarioat home,with my family andwith my dearestoneswho wereof paramountimportanceto me.
Yearsago,after losing Aghaji andAmma so early in my life, I suddenlybecamethe Ôparent-brotherÕ
to my five brothersandsix sisters,of whomthreewereelderandtherestyoungerto me.I hadliterally
steppedinto my parentsÕshoes,caringfor themandtakingtime off from my shootsto bewith them.I
would takegreatjoy in personallyshoppingfor their everyneed,evenfor fabricsfor theyoungersib-
lings andgive themto our family tailor to be stitched.WhenI neededsomehelp in this area,Bhabi
Akhtar Mehboob would give me helpful guidance for the girls.

We would spendlong holidaysat Lonavala(a hill stationin Maharashtra,about100km from Bom-
bay), in thehouseI rentedeveryyearwherethechildrenwould rompin thegardenhappilyandnever
want to go backhomesoonenough.Whenthey all grew up, whetherthe boysor the girls, I endeav-
ouredto give themthebestareasof studytheychosefor themselves.Whentheywishedto go abroad
for further studies,I encouragedthemwithout any secondthoughts.Their happinessbecamethe pur-
pose of my existence.

Oneday, I satwith Sairaon a quietstretchof beachandtold her that I hadbeensucha confirmedeli-
gible bachelorfor so long with a family in tow that wasvery accustomedto being in charge of me,
whetherwe attendedfunctionstogether, armin arm,or we reserveda wholerow of seatsin a popular
cinemahousefor films basedon TennesseeWilliamsÕstories(for instance,A StreetcarNamedDesire,
1951,andCatona Hot Tin Roof, 1958).I pointedout to herthatit wouldbedifficult, if not impossible,
for themto easilyreconcileto a newpersonin my life, asalsofor her to live togetherwith the family
withoutanyproblemsarisingbetweenthem.I wentonto tell herthatit wasinevitablethatÔMain saatve
aasmaanki hoor bhi laaoonga,to useyacceptnahinkar paigi meri familyÕ.(Evenif I bring a celestial
angelfrom the seventhheaven,my family will not be able to accepther.) They wereso usedto my
being a loner and were not used to sharing me with anyone.
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With my sisters. (L to R): Sakina Aapa, Saeeda and Taj.

In suchcircumstances,I told herthatto give our marriagetheright beginningandenvironment,we
would haveto live separately, on our own. I assuredher that I would getsuitablealternativeaccom-
modationfor my unmarriedsistersSakinaAapaandFaridaandfor my brotherAhsan,who lived with
me,asalsofor all themarriedÔvisitingÕsisterssuchasTaj, SaeedaandFauzia,whooftencameto stay.

Sairaexplainedto me that sinceI knew that shewasherselfthe prime memberof her own small,
close-knitfour-memberfamily, whichshedearlyloved,henceI shouldunderstandthatshewouldnev-
er want to separateme from my brothersandsisters,whom I loved very much.Another thing she
statedwasthatjustayearagoherelderbrotherSultanhadmarriedRahatBegandtheywerenaturally
living in thenewbungalowthatSairahadbuilt just acrosstheroad.By accedingto my decision,she
did not want to seta badprecedencefor her own family Ðsheinsistedthat SultanandRahatmust
continueto live with Ammaji andAapaji, or her elderswould be alonein the autumnof their lives.
Sairawantedto live in togethernesswith my family; thatwasherfirm decision,sayingthatif sheand
I moved out to be independent of the family responsibilities it would be wrong on our part.

As notedearlier, I hadalreadytold Nasirof our proposedmarriageandI proceededto breakthenews
with mild trepidationto SakinaAapa.Shewastotally in chargeof thehouseandthemembersof the
family, particularlythegirls, andwaslovedandfearedat thesametime. Earlier, Aghaji usedto have
frequentaltercationswith herashedid not approveof herhigh-handedness,which wasquite in con-
trast to AmmaÕs gentle ways.

WhenAmmahadturnedveryunwell andbedriddenwith asthma,shehaddevisedthishabitof stor-
ing a numberof cleansocks,hankiesandothersuchitems,meantfor Aghaji andall of usboys,right
under her bed. She would draw them out, doling them out to us as needed!

I hadmy own fearsof how shewould receivethis newsfrom me, knowing fully well that poor
Nasir, wheneverhemetSakinaAapa,theoccasionwould neverbebereftof thescaldingcriticism he
wassubjectedto time andagainfrom her aboutmarryingactressBegumParano matterhow many
yearshadgoneby! I would alwaysspringto thedefenceof my dearbrotherwho constantlywarded
off theseattackswith smilesandlaughter. Hesaidthiswasthebestway to dealwith a tricky situation!

As I facedSakinaAapanow, I knewwhatwasgoingon in hermind.Her thoughtswerecrisscross-
ing betweendisappointmentat havinghadno sayin thedecisionandalsogreatsurpriseat my having
chosen a partner who was from the same profession as mine and much younger to me.

I tried to sethermindat rest,by clarifying thatit wasnodoubtaquickdecision,but it was,without
doubt,aconsideredoneasall my decisionshavebeen.Yes,I hadalteredmy earlierstandthatI would



not marry a girl from the samefield, but I hadchangedmy mind becauseI hadgoodreasonto do
so,becauseI knewSairaÕs illustriousfamily lineage.Her grandfatherwasKhanBahadurMohammed
Solaiman,OBE,whohadbeenthechiefengineerof theDelhi MunicipalCorporationandhadthedis-
tinction of structuringtheViceroyÕs House(now knownasRashtrapatiBhavan)asalsothesurround-
ing ParliamentHouseandtheotherbuildingsin thatarea.MohammedEhsanSahab,her father, edu-
catedandbroughtup in London,hadturnedinto a notedfilm producer. Her motherwasthebeautiful
NaseemBanu,a first-rate film heroineof her time with a flawlessreputation,andher grandmother
ShamshadBegumAbdul WaheedKhan,a renownedclassicalvocalist,who usedto singlive overAll
India Radio Delhi and had recorded for Columbia Records.

Aboveall, Sairaby herselfpossessedvirtuesandqualitiesthatI consideredessentialin thewoman
I wasgoingto spendtherestof my life with. I did not feel theneedto explainmoreto SakinaAapa.I
concludedby sayingthatI wasconvincedthatI hadtakentheright decisionandthatI wasveryhappy.
Sheheardmeoutwith avacantexpressionanddid notarguesincesheknewit wasafait accompliand
she had to accept it.

The announcementof our engagementon 2 October1966reverberatedwith sensationalandjoyous
tidings all over the country. It was an indescribable experience.

The mediawas splashingthe newsall over and the radio stationskept on announcingthe event
everycoupleof hours.Therewasanair of greatfestivity in Bombay(andprobablyelsewhereaswell)
as all available loudspeakers belted out our favourite film songs!

With Saira and Satish Bhalla among others.

The newsof our forthcomingmarriagecameasa surpriseto all thosewho hadthoughtI wasan
unrelenting,highly eligiblebachelorwhowouldneversettledown.My fansandalsomy friends,such
asSatishBhalla,Raj Kapoor, producerVedPuri,Hiten Choudhary, PranandBalraj Kohli, wereagog
with Ôhowdid this happenÕ?SairaÕs careerwasjust five yearsold; we hadneverworkedtogetherand
wereneverlinkedromantically. Consequently, thereliterally wasastormin peopleÕsminds,whowere
eager to see us together and have a glimpse of us together.

As for Saira,NaseemAapahadtold me, in herown dignified manner, thatshewasbesideherself
with joy, celebrating the granting of a long-cherished desire of being my wife.

At that point of time, I was to finish the final schedulesof RamAur Shyamin Madrasand then
travelwith producer-directorH. S. Rawail to Calcuttato do somescriptingwork andalsoto finalize



a templeoutdoorlocationtherefor the film Sunghursh(eventuallyreleasedin July 1968).Sairaand
NaseemAapawerealsoheadedfor Calcuttato shootoutdoorsfor directorLekh TandonÕs JhukGaya
Aasmaan.

At theCalcuttaairport, therewasa tumultuousseaof peoplesuchaswe hadneverseenbeforein
our lives Ðnot evenat premieres,functionsandralliesthatI wassofamiliar with. As thedoorsof the
aircraft wereopenedfor the passengersto disembark,we hadto beata hastyretreat.Heavenknows
how, despitesecuritybarriersput up by the police, fanshadaccessedeventhe tarmac,not just the
airport.Eventually, we somehowgot to our car, which wassurroundedby thousandsof fansand,as
a gestureof greatlove, thecarwaslifted up by themaswe satinside!We couldhearjust onevoice
chanting: ÔMubarak! Mubarak!Õ (Congratulations! Congratulations!)

Somehow, we managedto drive away from the airport and were rushedinside the GrandHotel
(wherewe were to stay) throughthe kitchenentranceandup to our suiteson an upperfloor. Soon
enough,therewasa stormof ÔknockknockÕon all thedoorson our floor! Lo andbehold!How had
the fansgot pastsecurityandreachedoutsideour suites?The hotel managementwasflusteredand
nervousandNaseemAapaandfilm producerH. S. Rawailwereof theview that it would be impos-
sible to go out andwork in theseconditions.Sureenough,at seventhenextmorning,on looking out
of our windowswe sawtheextensivemaidanin front of thebuilding strewnwith oddpairsof shoes,
umbrellas,clothingandotheritemsasthoughit hadbeenabattlefieldtheearliernight! SairaÕsoutdoor
unit of JhukGayaAasmaansimply hadto packup.Therewasno way anyonecouldaccesstheshoot
spot because of the happy fans blocking the area in their joyous delirium, hoping to find us there!

All of us conferredandI decidedthat it wasbestthat to fulfil the yearningof our fansto seeus
together. I insistedwe mustat onceaccelerateour marriageplansfrom theendof theyearto imme-
diately. Now! I suggestedto NaseemAapa,andphonedSultanwho wasin Bombay, that we should
getbackhomeforthwith. I wasclearin my mind that I wanteda simplenikah (marriage)with Saira
in thenextcoupleof days.At thesametime, I lost no time in conveyingmy decisionto SakinaAapa,
my elderbrotherNoor SahabandAquila Bhabi, taking their ijazat (permission)for themostimport-
antstepin my life. Similarly youngerbrothersNasir, Ahsan(Aslamhadsettledin America)andmy
sistersTaj, Saeeda,FaridaandFauziawereinformed.Akhtar wasestrangedfrom thefamily afterher
alliancewith K. Asif. Therewould be no time for any grandarrangementsfor the event;nor would
therebe any finery vis-ˆ-vis weddingclothesandjewellery. In fact, I saidthat all we neededwasa
Maulvi Sahabto solemnizeournikahandchuaaras(drieddates)to distributeaspertheritual. Wedid
notevenhavetimeto print cardsor prepareaproperlist of guests!Closefriendswerejustaphonecall
away!

So,SairaandI, who hadin our professionallives andotherwise,worn the mostelegant,custom-
madeapparelthroughout,justworewhatNaseemAapacouldquickly mustertogetherin ashortwhile!
NaseemAapahadbeenthepowerhouseof guidanceto Saira,in hermake-upandwardrobe,thelady
whodesignedandcreatedall of SairaÕsgorgeouscostumesandjewelleryata timewhentherewereno
designersassuchandhernamehadbecomesynonymouswith greattaste.Peoplelookedforward to
see what Saira would wear in her films, or even at a premiere.

Coverageof our marriageby themedia,asthedatewashurriedlyfixed andannouncedas11 Octo-
ber1966,generatednationwideattentionandcreatedheadlinesin newspapers.Wehadvery little time
to ourselvesasthe attentionwe continuedto get from the media,friends,relativesandclosefamily
members just wouldnÕt stop!



Themehndiceremony, with Rahat (SairaÕs bhabhi) and Naseem Banuji.

Therewasa beautiful,but simple,haldi (turmeric)andmehndi(henna)ceremony, during which the
ladiesof my family headedby SakinaAapaandmy youngersisterscarriedthaals(plates)of finely
groundhennadecoratedwith bright, illuminatedcandlesto Sairaandsacredlyanointedmy emotional,
ecstatic bride. This was the first step towards ournikah.

Similarly, awholecontingentof glamorousladiesfrom SairaÕs family headedby NaseemAapaand
RahatBhabhi(SultanÕswife) swoopeddownto makemirth andmischiefwith thebridegroomandput
some pep into thehaldi andmehndiceremony at my house!

SairaandI hadgot so usedto spendingtime togetherduring the whole of September1966,that
whenafter the announcementof the marriageandthe nearingof the rituals began,we wereput into
individual isolation!Oureldersforbadeusfrom seeingeachotherandwe foundit heart-wrenching.If
I went to herhouseto discussformalitieswith SultanandNaseemAapa,I hadto remaindownstairs
and Saira would mischievously try every window of the house to get a glimpse of me!

Camethedayof themarriage:11 October1966.Whatdid I feel?Wasthereagushof nervousness?
Havingremainedaconfirmed,eligiblebachelorfor solong,did I haveanytrepidationsor anyqualms
as the hour of the relinquishment of my bachelordom drew near?

No. Instead,what I felt wasa serenecalmandtranquillity, asthoughhavingreacheda safeHaven
of Peace.I alwayshadAmmaÕs innerstrengthto takeon life with grit anddrawthebestoutof it. I had
beenlucky to attainfameandall thatgoeswith it, but now I hadthepersonwho would sharemy life
andwouldbemy veryown,to look aftermein everywayto put in theirplacemy shirts,my socksand
my hankies,insteadof my thingsbeingbundledandpushedanywhich way into drawerssomewhere
in the house by my man Friday, Anwar.



19
CELEBRATIONS GALORE

SairaandI beganour livestogetherashusbandandwifein themosteruditeandculturally wealthy
city of India, enjoyingpeacefulmorningswith breakfastservedin the gardenfollowedby hectic
work on the sets, with breaks for tiffin and coffee and ending with a quiet dinner in the room.

I HAD THE BENEFIT OF MY SISTERSLIVING IN MY HOUSE,BUT THEY weregrowingup too, finding their feet
in life; someweremarriedoff andwereaway. My food waswhat I would drawgaramgaram(piping
hot) from thepateela(cookingvessel),in thekitchenandwrapit up with breadandoff I would go for
my shooting.A bachelorÕs domain,freeasa bird, but with its disadvantageof no attentionbeingpaid
to the small, but important, things in life!

To comebackto theshaadi(marriage),I spentthebusymorningin anatmospherethat seemedto be
electrifiedwith excitement;my little cabinhadthehustleandbustlecreatedby Noor SahabandNasir,
who astheeveningproceeded,ceremoniouslyplacedthePeshawarikulla (topee)on my headandtied
thegorgeoussilkensaafa(a longpieceof cloth)aroundit with greatloveandpride,whichwerevisible
in their eyes. Their brother Yousuf was adulha(bridegroom) at last!

My own luxurious limousinewasgorgeouslybedeckedwith tonsof flowers to takeme to SairaÕs
house,andbringmy bridehomewith me,but lo andbehold!LalayNoorandNasirdisclosedto methat
theyandSakinaAapawantedmeto ride a ghodi(a mare)andtakethebaraat(marriageprocession)to
SairaÕs home.ÔHeavens,ÕI tried to tell them,Ômeon a mare!ÕI alsotold themthat I would go in my
carandpointedout to themthat,downtheroadtowardsthebrideÕs gate,therewasa steepslope.I was
apprehensivethat themarewould slip andfall and,god forbid, I would too! It would besucha sorry
spectacle!

My argument,however, was in vain and as I hesitatinglysat astridemy magnificentlydecorated
ÔsawariÕI neverimaginedthat the distanceof just two minutesto SairaÕs housefrom my own home
wouldtakeanhour. Wehadthoughtthatabout500guestswouldturnupfor themarriage,butgoodness,
the multitude of fans and friends was legion.

As my marewashappilyledby Prithvirajji, ShashiKapoorandNasir, I couldfeel theenormouspush
of thepeoplebehindandaroundusand,to maketheproceedingsall themorealarming,eachstepof the
way therewouldbeanunceremoniousÔthudÕonmy kulla- andsaafa-boundheadfrom theoriental,za-
ri -*studdedumbrella,which auspiciouslyÔprotectedÕthebridegroomastridehis mare!My headreeled
with the impact each time!

To makemattersworse,thepoormare,in all its finery andwell-manicuredhoovesandnaal (horse-
shoe)kept religiouslysliding andslippingon thepolishedandcementedslope.It wasa miraclethat I
survived the Ôdhab, dhabÕ on my head and the Ôgrrrh, grrrhÕ of the slippery slope!
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As thegateof thebrideÕshouseopenedin full splendourto admitmeandmy entourage,lo andbehold!
Thousandsof peoplewho just couldnot beheldbackby anysecurityon earthbargedin! I couldgeta
glimpseof dearfriend andcolleague,producer-directorNasirHussain,who wasdangerouslyperched
ontopof avanwith hisunit, photographingtheentireproceedings.It wassuchawonderfulandloving
gesturefrom afriend.In therushof theenthusiasticcrowd,heandhis teamwerealmostthrownto the
ground. Thank God that no one was injured.

Our marriagewasa surpriseto all thosewho knewme.NaushadSahabwastheonly oneamongmy
closefriendswho hadtheforthrightnessto askmeif I wasnÕt makinga mistake.ÔHowcanyou think
of marryinga girl who is morethantwentyyearsyoungerto you?Õheaskedmewith theauthorityhe
alwayshadasa friendandwell-wisher. I hadnohesitationin telling him thatI hadconsideredthestep
I wastakingwith seriousintrospectionandI knewSairawasthegirl AmmaandAghaji would have
approved had they been alive.

As alreadynoted,NaushadSahabknewmy parentswell andhewasspeciallyveryattentivetowards
Aghaji whenhe visited our homein Bandra.Aghaji, too, liked talking to NaushadSahaband they
spenttime makingeasy, casualconversationwheneverhedroppedin. Aghaji hadalmoststoppedgo-
ing to CrawfordMarketdueto failing healthandheenjoyedthecompanyof friendswhentheycalled
on him at home.Now that they wereno morethere,NaushadSahabwasjustified in wonderingand
askingme: ÔWhataboutyou?Are your sistersandbrothershappyaboutyour decision?ÕI answered
that the leastI couldexpectfrom my family wasa warm,good-naturedwelcometo Saira.Therewas
nopressureonSairato marrymeandtherewasnopressureonmeto marryher. It wasthewill of God
that wasbringing us together. Her mother, NaseemAapa,hadtold me in her own dignified manner
thatSairawasbesideherselfwith joy, celebratingthegrantingof a long-cherishedwish by Allah. As
for me,I wasmorethansurethattheCoimbatoreastrologerÕs words(mentionedearlier)werecoming
true and I was being blessed with a loving and adoring wife.

NaushadSahabdid not attendour nikah. His absencewascompensatedby thepresenceof all my
otherfriendswho wentall out to maketheoccasiononeof thehappiestof my life, whosememoriesI
still cherish.

RajKapoorhadjokedoncein amediainterviewthatthedayI wouldmarryhewouldwalk into my
houseon his knees.So,whenRaj arrivedat 48,Pali Hill, hewaspromptlyremindedof his jovial de-
claration.He instantlywentdownonhiskneesto everybodyÕssurprise.My eldestsister, SakinaAapa,
wasin the balconyandshecalledout to him, bidding him to get up on his feet at once.Raj wasas
close to me as any of my brothers and Sakina Aapa knew it.

I wasoverwhelmedby the warmthandthe affection I receivedfrom all my relativesandfriends
who throngedthehouse.As alreadymentioned,it took anhour for thebaraat to reachSairaÕs house.
Sairawasnotoverdressedasbridesusuallyare.Hermother, whoalwayshadasayin hermake-upand
fashionedher wardrobe,hadkept the finery to the minimum to let her daughterÕs geneticallygifted
graceandbeautystandout in thesimpleeleganceof herbridal attire.Both our weddingattireswere
quickly put together as there was hardly any time.

Eventually, NasirandSultanmanagedto instil someorderinto themeleeandsuccessfullycordoned
off theareasmeantfor themediaandthe inviteesfrom thegatecrasherswho hadfloodedthegarden
andthesurroundings!Later, I got to know thatSultanandhis aideshadscattereda dozenmenin an
attemptto getmorefood from all therestaurantsaroundsothattheycouldfeedeventhegatecrashers.



The nikah wasbeautifulÐall my loved anddearoneswereby my side,GeneralShahnawaz,Raj
Kapoor, Nasir, Sultan,Mukri, SatishBhallaandeveryonewhomI heldimportantin my life. Pranhad
braved a storm in Srinagar and yet flown in to Bombay for my marriage.

The wedding function. (L to R): Qazi Murghey, Ahsan, me, Raj Kapoor, Mukri and Nasir.

As required,SairaandI signedthe nikahnama(marrigedocument)andindividually saidÔqubool
haiÕ(I/we acceptthemarriage)in reply to thequestionaskedby QaziMurgheya smiling,saintly, be-
nevolentandholy maulana(a religiousscholar).ThenRajescortedmeto thebride,whowaitedto see
mefirst in anaainamusaf(mirror) ritual, in which thebrideandgroomfirst seeeachotherthrougha
reflection.

After that,Raj askedfor a bowl of milk anddippedthe weddingrings in it beforewe exchanged
them and became man and wife.

The next eveningwas the walima (marriagefeast)at my home,whereall our dearfamily friends
gathered, headed by the chief minister of Maharashtra, Vasantrao Naik, for a wonderful celebration.

SairaandI spentthe walima night in my own little outhousein the garden.Initially, I felt a little
awkwardto tell SairathatI wantedusbothto stayin thissmall,segregatedpartof my bungalow, which
hadbecomemy frequentdomain.It hadits own independententryfrom theroad.HereI neededto be
aloneat times,to begivenmy own spacewhenI workedon thescriptsof my films, ensuringthatthe
peoplewho cameto seemeregardingmy work did not intrudeinto theprivacyof thewomenin my
family. Much to my relief, Sairashowedno dismay;her eyeseloquentlyexpressedher contentment
andhappinessto do asI hadsaid.In later years,asshesharedmy life with me, this onequality to
happily fall in line with what I saidwastheessenceof thesuccessof our marriage.I will talk of this
in detail in later chapters.



The day of the marriage. With Naseem Banuji and Saira.

Early nextmorning,we wereto leavefor Madras.I hadto finish thepatchworkon RamAur Shyam
andSairawasto spenda dayor two with meandproceedto Darjeeling(a hill stationin WestBengal)
to shoot and finishJhuk Gaya Aasmaan.

Sairawasreadyandeagerto travelwith meandwefelt weweregoingto beleft aloneat lastin each
otherÕscompanyawayfrom theceaselessbustleof Bombay. Madrashadbecomesecondhomefor me
and I was already making arrangements to purchase a house in a quiet and exclusive locality.

Arriving at the Madras airport for the shooting ofRam Aur Shyam, along with Pran, Baby Farida,
Nagi Reddy (behind Farida), Saira, Nirupa Roy and A. Chakrapani

Whenwe arrivedat theMeenambakkamairporttherewasa marvelloussurpriseawaitingus.There
wereredrosepetalsstrewnfrom thetarmacto thearrivalareaandtherewasNagiReddyhimselfwith
thecastandcrewof thefilm waiting with garlandsandwide grinsto greetuson thetarmac.We were
told that huge crowds had gathered outside the airport and so we would have to leave quietly.

On reachingNagi ReddyÕs studio,hetold usthat therewereevenbiggersurprisesfor us.My suite
at the OceanicHotel was decoratedfabulouslyanda large, ornatebedhad replacedmy old single
bed.Tonsof fragrantmogras(jasmineblossoms)coveredeverynookandcornerof theroomandthe



bed,too,wasdecoratedwith mogragarlands.Whentheairconditionerwasswitchedon,theheadyfra-
granceof themilky white blossomsfilled theentireroomandgaveusthefeelingof beingin a distant
world.

I hadoncejokingly told ReddySahabÕs sonPrasad,who hadbecomea dearfriend, that I liked the
incredibly large sizeof a bedandits brassknobsandornatebedsteadsthat gaveit an antiquelook.
Prasadhadjokingly repliedthathewouldgift methebedwhenI married.Sinceat thattime therewas
no brideon thehorizon,hehadhumorouslysaidthathis offer of thebedasa gift shouldbetakenas
an incentivefor me to look aroundfor a suitablebride at the earliest.That wasstrangelyprophetic
because,soonenough,I foundmyselfseekingthehandof thebeautifulgirl I beganto loveandwanted
to marry.

Silken bedlinen hadtakenthe placeof the cottonsheetsthat coveredmy bedearlier. It wasasif
the room hadbeenreadiednot for Mr andMrs Dilip Kumar but for an emperorandempress.Can-
didly speaking,thesurprisewasmostwelcome.WhatI wantedto offer to Sairain my own houseand
I couldnÕt dueto shortageof time washerein full splendourbeforemy eyes.In morewaysthanone,
SairaandI beganour lives togetherashusbandandwife in the mosteruditeandculturally wealthy
city of India,enjoyingpeacefulmorningswith breakfastservedin thegardenfollowedby hecticwork
on the sets, with breaks for tiffin and coffee and ending with a quiet dinner in the room.

Everythingwas idyllic and,sincewe both loved the delicaciesservedby first-rate SouthIndian
cooks,we hardlymissedthefood we relishedat homein Bombay. In fact,Sairabecamea permanent
fan of idlis, dosasandmedhu vadas.

WheneverI packedup early from theshooting,we usedthe time we got to drive throughthecity,
takingin thesightof cyclerickshawsjostlingwith carsandbusesfearlesslyonbusystreetslinedwith
flower stallsthat displayedstrandsof jasmineandmultihuedflowers readyto be sold to womenfor
the adornment of their long, flowing braids.

I becameawarethatSairawasnot oneto makefriendswith anyoneinstantly. Evenso,I foundher
amiableandfriendly towardsmy co-starsin RamAur Shyam. We spentmosteveningsafterthedayÕs
work meetingtheunit membersandhavinginterestinginteractions.I noticedthatshewasshyanda
trifle reservedby naturebut wasmakinganeffort to comeout of theshell.I couldunderstandherat-
titudebecauseI wasawarethatherswasa close-knitfamily of four members.For Saira,hermother,
grandmotherandherelderbrother, Sultan,wastheworld shegrewup to know, understandandlove. I
felt sheneededto havefriendsof herown ageandmeetmorepeoplefrom all walksof life. In subse-
quent years, she did just that and her sprightly personality began to emerge.
*Fine gold thread work.
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20
COLLEAGUES AND FRIENDS

Kohinoor[1960] will remainetchedin mymindfor theeffortsI madeto learn to play thesitar. It
wasanotherchancefor meto testmyflair for thecomedygenrein actingÉ. I enjoyedthemaking
of Kohinoor also for the camaraderiethat grew betweenmeand MeenaKumari after Azaadas
we,whowereknownfor our forte with emotionaldramaandtragedy,cametogetherfor another
light-hearted film.

RAM AUR SHYAM WAS COMPLETEDAHEAD OFSCHEDULE. Its work wasa jolly experiencefor all of us.I was
workingwith my friendPranin RamAur ShyamandAadmiat thesametime.PranandI werefriendsin
therealsenseof theterm.We metat thework placeandwe metinformally asoftenaswe couldeither
at his houseor mine sincewe lived in the samelocality: Bandra.At work, we wereinvariably pitted
againsteachotherÐourcharacterswerealwayscaughtin aconflict oversomethingor theother. It used
to be very amusingfor onlookersto watchthe changethat would comeover him whenhe facedthe
camerawith mein theframeafterall thefriendlinessandaffectiontheyhadseena while agobetween
us.Well, thatÕs thechallengewe actorsfaceall the time. To becomewhatwe in reality arenot andto
assumethecharacterandpersonaof anunfamiliarchapwhohasnoresemblancewhatsoeverto our real
self is not as easy as it appears.

For Pranonecouldsayit musthavenot beeneasyat all whenheplungedinto thosewily, indecent
anddeceitfulcharactersin the films that madehim famousasa first-ratevillain. It musthavetaken
quitesomeeffort for him to keepthegoodness,gentlemanlinessandhonestyin his realnaturesubdued
andhiddenunderthe ferocioussneerandfiery looks he adoptedfor that transientmomentbeforethe
camera.

We hadenjoyedbeingtogetherduring theshootingof Bimal RoyÕs Madhumati(1958)in the forest
location wherealmosteverybodyelsespokein Bengali while we conversedheartily in Punjabi.He
lovedtheeveningswe spentsitting arounda bonfirerecitingexquisitepoetry. We hadsomewonderful
timesin Madraswhenwe wereshootingfor RamAur ShyamandAadmi. We hadjust completedDil
Diya Dard Liya (1966)andthejokeon thesetsin MadraswasthatPranaapkapeechahi nahinchodta
(Prandoesnotstoppursuingyou). It wasfine with meandfine with him becausewe liked eachotherÕs
company and respected each other as artistes and co-stars.

The mostmemorabledemonstrationof his careandaffection for me waswhenhe braveda storm
in Srinagar, from wherehe determinedlytook a flight to Delhi, whenall otherpassengershadwisely
decidednot to boardtheflight, andthenaflight to Bombayto reachmy housebeforethebaraatleft for
SairaÕs house. He hugged me again and again without uttering a word.

Pranhadmadeyet anothercontributionto the solidarity of our friendshipwhenI wasshootingfor
Azaad(1955).I wasdoing full-fledged comedyin that film andit wasa stepI hadtakenagainstthe
adviceof someof my well-wishersandclosefriendswho thoughtI shouldnotdepartfrom theposition
I hadacquiredasa tragedian.After the first schedule,Prancameup to me andtold me with utmost
sinceritythat I wasgoingto give a wonderfulsurpriseto all thosewho thoughtI wasmakinga wrong
careermove.He saidthe picturewould run to full housesandpeoplewould want to seeme in more
films with comedycontent.As forecastby Pran,Azaadturnedout to be a blockbusterandits accept-
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anceby themassesprovedto my detractorsthatmy fanswerereadyto acceptmein aperformancethat
madethemlaughasmuchastheyacceptedmein performancesthatmadethemshedtears.Pranwas
very happythat in RamAur ShyamI would behavingsometruly funny scenesandit gavehim great
delight to watchmy rehearsalsandfinally tell mewhich of my innovationswasthebest.Onceagain
heandI (in RamAur Shyam) werepittedagainsteachother. As thetimid Ram,I wasto cringebefore
the despoticandcruel ThakurGajendraand,asthe flamboyantShyam,I wasto give him a tasteof
his own medicineby overpoweringhim with whip lashesin a scenethatis now partof Indiancinema
history.

With Manoj Kumar inAadmi(1968).

In thatscene,Shyamseizesthewhip from hiscruelbrother-in-lawÕshandsandstartswhippinghim.
Foraquick rehearsalI took thewhip andgentlytouchedPranÕsbackwith its tip. Thecameraunit was
waiting for Pranto give theshockedexpressionhewassupposedto in thatsituation.Insteadof giving
theshockedlook, Pranstartedlaughingandrunningawayfrom me.Therewassurpriseandshockbe-
causenobodyknewwhy hewasrunningaway. I wentafterPranwith thewhip to find out whatwas
happening,unintentionallypointingthewhip towardshim, and,to my bewilderment,hewaslaughing
uncontrollably. The entire unit was now laughing.

ÔIhavea problemLalay [asheaffectionatelyaddressedme].Mujhegudgudibahutjaldi hoti hai. I
gettickled very fast.ÕWe hadto shootwithout a rehearsaland,goingby theexpressionsPrangaveas
I ÔlashedÕ him with the whip, I think he made it one of the most gripping scenes in the film.

RamAur Shyamalsofeaturedanotherfriend who wasvery dearto me.Mukri wasmy schoolmate
at AnjumanIslamandhehadbecomeanactorbeforeI joinedBombayTalkies.Sothatgavehim the
leverageto tell meat timeswhenI tickedhim off aboutsomethingthathewasseniorto me.At school
I hardlyknewhim andit wasduringtheproductionof Pratima(1945)atBombayTalkiesthatI got to
know him asanold schoolmate.By thenMukri hadworkedin a coupleof picturesandhewasvery
friendly with my brother Nasir.

After Pratimawefoundourselvesgreetingeachotheragainonthesetsof AnokhaPyar(1948).This
time we spentconsiderabletime togetherandwe becamefriendsdespitetherebeinglittle in common
betweenus. In my view, it is not mandatorythat the friendsonemakesalongoneÕs journey in life
shouldbeof thesametemperamentandnature.Mukri wasfun loving andhappy-go-luckyandheoften
took libertieswith me,which occasionallyembarrassedme.I mustdigressslightly hereto narratean
amusingandawkwardepisodeinvolving Mukri andNadiraduring theshootingof MehboobKhanÕs
Aan(1952) at Igatpuri (in Maharashtra).

MehboobSahabwasa gemof a humanbeingwho took goodcareof his actorsand technicians
whenwe shoton locations.He hadarrangedroomsfor everybodyin a decenthotel.Mukri, without



mentioningit to me,wentto thereceptiondeskof thehotelandtold thepersonon duty thathewould
besharingmy roomandsohedid not really requirea separateroom.ThehotelÕs housekeepingstaff
thereforedid notbotherto keeptheroomallottedto him equippedwith itemssuchasblankets,towels
and bedspreads.

It was late in the night whenwe packedup on the first day andI retiredto my room for a good
nightÕs sleep.It waswinter andit waspleasantlycold. I hada quick, smallmealandslippedundera
quilt on my bedandwassoonasleep.I hadprobablynot lockedthe door for, half way throughmy
sleep,I felt someonecreepunderthe quilt. I woke up with a startand,to my greatsurprise,it was
Mukri in his pyjamas and kurta all set to share my bed!

I wasnaturallyvery irritatedbecauseI ama normalPathanwith normalinstincts.I askedhim what
hewasdoingin my bedandhewentinto a lengthyexplanation,whichwasashilariousasit wascrazy.

Apparently, Mukri did notwantto sleepin a roomthatwascoldandhadnoblankets.Sohewalked
downthecorridorand,without knocking,entereda room,which heassumedwasmine.As hecould
not seein thedarkwho wasasleepin theroom,hecreptinto thebedandtherewasNadirascreaming
in fright andembarrassmentandshoweringchoiceabuseson him. He wastoo scaredto movefor an
instantbut hegatheredhis wits andapologizedprofuselybeforesheorderedhim to leaveat onceor
else É

With nowhereto go,hehadtakenrefugein my room.Heexpectedmeto bekind andunderstanding
but I wasin no moodto toleratehis nonsense.I madesurethathewentbackto his roomanddid not
comeback.The episodedid not endthere.The repercussionswereevenmoreseriousthe next day.
While a furiousNadirarecountedwhathadhappenedthepreviousnight, a suspiciousMrs Mehboob
KhanÕs imaginationwasrunningwild andthequestionthatnaggedherwas:why wasNadirasleeping
with herroomunlocked?Wasthedoorleft openfor MehboobSahab,whowasrumouredto behaving
a soft spot in his large heart for the pretty, young newcomer?

A showdownwas in storebetweenthe couple.I sensedit becausea tearful Mrs MehboobKhan
expressedhersuspicionsto me in private.It took all thediplomacyandtact I possessedto erasethe
doubts from her mind and calm down Mehboob Sahab who was enraged at MukriÕs audacity.

Fromthenonwards,I cautionedMukri againsttakingrashdecisionsof hisownandgaveastanding
instructionabouttwo issues.Onewasthathewould not trail behindmein hotel roomsandmake-up
roomsbecauseI valuedmy privacyandindependence.Theotherrequestto my dearfriendMukri was
to stayawayfrom alcoholduringworking hours.I wasawarethatheslid awayquietly betweenshots
at timesto gulp down a small doseof what he calledan energizer. It wasalright aslong asit wasa
smallmeasurebut therehadbeenoccasionswhenhewentoverboardandembarrassedme.Sohewas
told very strictly by menot to touchthestuff duringtheshootingof S.U. SunnyÕs Kohinoor(released
in 1960).I alsogaveinstructionsto the unit handsnot to oblige him if he askedfor a drink during
shoots.

Oneafternoon,while I waswrappedup in a seriousdiscussionwith Sunny, I wastakenby surprise
by a swayingMukri walking up to me andaskingme asto what I thoughtof myself! He wasvery
angrythat theunit boysrefusedto arrangea drink for him, sohehadmadehis own arrangementand
hadgotholdof abottle.Herepeatedlyslurredthequestion:ÔYouthink I canÕt helpmyself?I amMukri
your best friend and you told the boys not to give me a drink!Õ

In thatstate,hewasnot in apositionto work andit upsetmy concentration.I calledfor pack-upand
droveoutof thestudioleavingMukri to find hiswayback.HesoonrealizedI wasangrywith him and
for the right reasons,too. As it alwayshappensbetweenfriendswe forgot theepisodewhenwe met
after a few days and he promised me that it would not happen again.



Kohinoorwill remainetchedin my mind for theefforts I madeto learnto play thesitar. It wasanother
chancefor meto testmy flair for thecomedygenrein acting.I wasvery confidentafterAzaadÕs suc-
cessandI hada fine rapportwith S. U. Sunny, who understoodme andmy tenacityto get asclose
to perfectionasis possiblein everythingI did. He gaveme amplefreedomandtime to takelessons
beforeI did a scene.I enjoyedthe makingof Kohinoor alsofor the camaraderiethat grew between
me andMeenaKumari afterAzaadaswe, who wereknown for our forte with emotionaldramaand
tragedy, came together for another light-hearted film.

While on Kohinoor, I mustnarratean interestingandeerieexperiencewhile locationhuntingfor
thatfilm. SunnyandI decidedto goby roadbeyondNasik(in Maharashtra,about190km from Bom-
bay) to find an apt location to shootsomenocturnaloutdoorscenesfor the picture. I suggestedto
Sunnythat we start in the eveningso that we could reachthe proposedlocationafter duskandthus
gaugethe appealof the placein the night. Sunnyagreedandhe went hometo packa few essential
things for our travel and was to return by evening to my house.

With Meena Kumari inKohinoor(1960).

SunnyÕswife alwaysseemedto beamysteriouslady, full of unusualandcuriousquestions.Shewas
greatlyinterestedin thesupernaturalandkeptaskinghim if shecouldaccompanyusfor thetrip. She
wasperhapsin no moodto buy SunnyÕs genuinereasonsfor settingout in theeveningandhis sudden
decisionto gowith me.Sunnyatoncedismissedherrequestto goalongwith usandhequickly packed
his bag and came to my house much in the adventurous spirit of the Sagitarian in me.

Heneithertold meabouthis wifeÕs desireto travelwith usnordid helet out thesecretthathis wife
practisedwitchcraft.We werefour men(including the cameraassistantandthe driver) in a car and
there was no room for a woman and Sunny thought it pointless to explain this to his indignant wife.

As we drovea few miles, the sunbeganto go down andthe night wassteadilysettingin. Quite
unexpectedly, theweatherchanged,takinguscompletelyby surprisewith gustsof wind andrainbeat-
ing on thecarÕs front glassferociously. We still hadquitesomedistanceto go.Sunnyandthecamera
assistant,who wasseatedin front besidethe driver, felt we shouldstopsomewhereandwait for the
rain to ceaseandthenproceedon our onwardjourney. I agreedandwe beganlooking for anysignof
habitationalongthestretchof barrenlandon eithersideof thehighwaywe werecautiouslymoving
on.

Soon,we spotteda remote,dilapidatedshedandwe stoppedthecargingerly. SunnyandI got out
andbeganwalkingto theramshackleshedthatwecouldnowclearlysee.It hadabrokenthatchedroof
andtherewasan opengunnybagtied acrosswith a bit of rope,like a curtainwhile a goattied to a
shrub was shivering and eyeing us with the forlorn hope of being taken into the shed for shelter.

Insidetheshed,therewerelogsof wood,somedebrisanda brokenbench.I saton thebenchand
Sunnystrolledover to the goat to seeif he could free the poor animal.The gunnybagfluttered in



the wind andlightning flashedin the sky. The galecontinuedunabated.Sunnywaswalking backto
whereI wasseatedwhenthegunnybagpartedandtherein front of uswas,suddenly, believeit or not,
SunnyÕs wife. Shewasstandingdefiantly andstaringat us puissantlywith a victorioussmile on her
faceasherhandcrossedoverher faceto mysteriouslywipe somethingcrimsonfrom her lips. If I re-
mainedunshakenby thesightof thewomanwhowasphysicallymilesawayfrom us,it wasbecauseof
my steelyPathangrit. ThecameraassistantwastremblingandSunnywasrootedto thespothestood
on.

The downpourceasedandwe silently resumedour journeyin the car. Sunnywasspeechlesswith
shameor embarrassmentandthecameraassistanthadnowordseither. Thedriverwasobliviousof the
wholeepisodesincehehadremainedin thecar. I tried to easethechill I couldfeelby hummingasong
I knew in Pushtu.

We reachedthe location,surveyedit andreturnedto Bombay. Back in thesafetyof my home,the
nextafternoonI hadjust narratedthegrisly experiencedgraphicallyto my sisterswho heardmeout
spellboundasif theywerewatchinganAlfred Hitchcockmoviewhenwe heardthehornof a carthat
hadenteredthroughthegatesof ourbungalow. Thegirls ranto look downfrom theterraceon thefirst
floor asis their wont whena visitor droveinto the front yard.To my shocktheywereshriekingwith
fearandtheyoungergirls weretrembling.ThevisitorswerenoneotherthanSunnyandhis wife. Was
it coincidence or some mumbo jumbo of black magic?



21
TAKING CARE OF SAIRA

Sir FrancisAvery-Jones[the doctortreatingSairaBanu] paid a handsometribute,sayingthat he
hadneverseensuchloving caretakingof a patientby a husbandanda mother.He wenton to say
thiscouldonlyhappenwith Easternpeoplewith Easternvaluesandemotions.Sairarecoveredal-
most miraculously as a result of our collective efforts and by the grace and benevolence of Allah.

AS MY CAR DROVE IN TO THE LOCATION FORHER WORK SPOT, SHE joyouslycamerunningdownthehill and
we left thereandthenin a luxuriouslimousineon a long drive for our honeymoonin nearbyBhutan.
By now shewasfamiliar with my preferencesfor obscure,or ratherunfrequented,placesfor outings,
ratherthanthepopular, celebrity-studdedareas.Having travelledtheworld overduringherchildhood
andteens,first with her motherandthenfor her shoots,Sairawasvery muchaccustomedto Europe,
seven-starcomfort and the hubbubof big towns.Wheneverin later yearswe travelledto somespot
abroad,shehadalreadybeenthere!However, asa bachelor, I liked thesolitudeandthequietudeof a
daakbungalow. My chauffeur andmanFriday usedto load my car dicky with eggs,onions,potatoes
andall the basicnecessitiesfor survival on homecooking.My love of natureandof pristineisolated
surroundingswith agoodbookby my sideÐthatwasmy recipefor goodliving andasatisfactoryholi-
day.

BhutanÕs beautiful landscapesanddifficult accessthroughsheerdropsof mountainousterrainheld
greatpromiseof an unusualÔnever-beforeÕholiday. It was gorgeous.We had beeninvited to visit
Bhutanby the royal family. Therewasa beautifulforestedareawhereintherewerewonderfully con-
structedlog housesamidstthegreeneryall aroundandwe optedto spendour night there.It wasvery
cold andthe wind wasgushingandstrong,indicating the adventof a chilly winter. With no heating
assuch,excepthugecharcoalburners(sigdis) that warmedup our log cabins,we snuggledinto our
blanketsanddozedoff to sleep.Noorjehan,SairaÕschiefmaid-in-waiting,whocameaspartof theÔda-
hejÕ (dowry), as was jokingly mentioned, was deep in slumber in the next cabin.

All wasquietandwell asthebreezeoutsidesangits ownsongmerrily. I suddenlyawoketo thefeel-
ing thatSairawasnotby my side.I hurriedlygotup, lookedeverywherepossibleandthendartedto the
bathroom.

What I sawwasa nightmare.Shewaslying unconscious,herbodycurledandquitestill in a white
nightgown,herlongbraidof haircascadingonthefloor. By sheerprovidence,herheadhadnotbeenin-
jured.Shehadmissedfalling on thebasin.As I quickly bentandcarriedherin my armsto theroom,all
I couldutterwasÔYa Allah! Nothingmusthappento you,nothingmusthappennow that I havefound
you.Õ

Hurriedly, doctorswerecalledandtheypointedout thatwehadmadetheterriblemistakeof shutting
off freshair by closingall windowsandsincetherewasa sigdi with burningcoal in somepartof the
cabin,obviously, someof thecoalwasleft unburntandhencethedangerouspresenceof carbonmonox-
ide everywhere inside the cabin. It could have been lethal.

My minddartedto theCoimbatoreastrologerÕspredictions,which I hadjustdismissednonchalantly.
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Wequickly returnedhometo Bombay. Sairahadto reportfor theshootingof oneof thefilms shewas
committed to.

SinceI hadbeensinglefor so long, I sensedthat it wasdifficult for my sistersandbrotherAhsan
to sharemewith Saira,my wife. This wassomethingI hadanticipatedandwaspreparedfor, but the
surprisethatawaitedmewastheir resentmentof thefact thatmy wife hadherown fameandherown
lifestyle. In herown houseshelived like a princess,theappleof herfamilyÕs eyewho hadeverything
donefor herwithoutasking.Hereshewasin a joint family, ruledby my eldersisterSakinaAapa,who
wasnoteasyto getonwith, andapartfrom that,my marriedsisterssuchasSaeedaandFauziaandthe
latterÕs husbandalsodecidedto comeandstaywith usafterour wedding.As a working personwho
reportedfor hershootswell on time, Sairaneededherown spaceandparticularfacilities to meether
schedules.

Unfortunately, commonplaceamenities,suchastheavailabilityof herownwashroomfor ashower,
werenoteasyto comeby, since,for instance,Fauziawould invariablywantto useit at thesametime.
Sairaneveroncecomplainedandshefound it easierto simply walk acrossin a coupleof minutesto
her own bungalow, bathe and then get ready in her make-up room, before leaving for her shoot.

Saira with my sisters andbhabhi. (L to R): Farida, Saeeda, Taj, Sakina Aapa, Aquila Bhabhi and
Fauzia.

I couldseethatit wasnot theidealsituationfor us.Unfortunately, our familyÕs old maidRabiaand
my valet Anwar wereon a trip of their own, making thingsdifficult for SairaÕs maid Noorjehanto
muster together breakfast for her. It was in a way a very comic strategy, as you see in film situations.

I wassilent andquietly observedthe happeningstill a given time, alwaysbeingsupportiveof my
sisters,so that they would not feel that I was letting themdown. In suchsituationsSairaandI had
anunderstandingandI wonderedhow this youngpersonhadsuchpatienceandforbearanceto ignore
annoying,trivial issues.In all fairnessto Saira,who wasat thetime a very timid andvulnerablegirl,
I mustacknowledgethatshetried to cementher relationshipwith my sisterswith a genuineeffort to
win them over with love and respect.

Thestressbeganto tell on herhealth.SoonSairabecamevery ill with ulcerativecolitis. It wasthe
resultof theemotionalstressthathadbeenbuilding up within her in thehostileatmospherethatshe
wasliving in andthe unfriendlinessshewassuddenlyexposedto after leadinga happy, secureand
shelteredlife in herown home.Thephysicianstreatinghermadeno secretof themedicallypsycho-
somaticcausativeandpredisposingfactorsthathadled to suchpainful intestinalinflammation.Saira
andNaseemAapagracefullytried to coverit up by blamingit on a badomelettethat sheate.As it
was,to caterto SairaÕs doctorprescribedbland,stipulateddiet, NaseemAapatook it uponherselfto
send us breakfast and lunch, if we were home, and also dinner if we were not dining out.



Thedebilitatingeffect of theintestinalmalfunctioningbeganto showand,for a while, we hadto treat
this conditionat St ElizabethÕs NursingHomein Bombay. This decisionwasindeedwiseandtimely
andsheseemedto recoversomewhat.However, physiciansadvisedusthatto repairthedamagecom-
pletely it would berecommendedto shift her to theLondonClinic (oneof thelargesthospitalsin the
UK) undertheexpertsupervisionof theworld-famousgastroenterologistSir FrancisAvery-Jones,one
of Queen ElizabethÕs doctors.

Ammaji (SairaÕs grandmother),SultanandRahatrallied aroundto quickly enablemeandNaseem
Aapato carryout all therequiredformalitiesandimmediatelysendusoff to London.Amongstother
dearfriends,YashChopra,SatishBhalla andBalraj Kohli werealwaysaroundto help us andcame
right up to the airport to see us off.

At the LondonClinic, I felt completelyhumbledby my helplessnesswhen I satby her bedside,
herbeautifuleyessmiling feeblyat me,expressingevenin herfearandpainhow muchshelovedme
andappreciatedmy beingthereall the time. TheLondonClinic wasvery strict andwould not allow
outsidersin thepatientÕs room,but throughthesympatheticgoodofficesof Sir FrancisAvery-Jones,
NaseemAapawasallowedto sit in achairall dayandnightasSairareceivedthespecializedcortisone-
basedtreatment.Sir FrancisAvery-JonesknewthatNaseemAapaherselfhadbeendebilitatedearlier
in Bombaywith a slippeddiscproblemandyet shecontinuedto sit in a smallchair thatwasallotted
to herby herdaughterÕs bedside.Sir FrancisAvery-Jonespaida handsometribute,sayingthathehad
neverseensuchloving caretakingof apatientby ahusbandandamother. Hewentonto saythiscould
only happenwith Easternpeoplewith Easternvaluesandemotions.Sairarecoveredalmostmiracu-
lously asa resultof our collectiveefforts andby thegraceandbenevolenceof Allah. Sherestedfor
aboutamonthin theclinic andresumedhershootingfor ManojKumarÕs PurabAur Pacchimin Lon-
don. (The film was eventually released in 1970.)

HereI mustsaythatManojÕs standastheproducer-directorof the film wasadmirable.He assured
me he would wait for Sairato recoverfully andonly thenshootfor Purab Aur Pacchimashe had
writtenthescriptwith Sairain mind.If shedid notdo it, hewouldshelvetheproject,hetold me.Years
later, whenManojwantedmeto considerdoingKranti (releasedin 1981),I mustadmitthisonemem-
orabledeedon his part mademe takeup the projectwithout my customaryreadingof the complete
script.I agreedto work in thefilm after listeningto thesubjectin a nutshellbecauseI wantedto pay
back a debt.

Ontheotherhand,SubodhMukherjeeÐwith whomSairahadmadeherdebutin Junglee(1961)and
hadworkedin threefilms thereafterfor hisproductionhouse(andwhowasconsideredpartof herown
family) Ðlet her down completely. Shehadspeciallyacquireda subjectfrom writer GulshanNanda
(Sharmeelee) for Subodhto makewith her in the leadingrole andshehadallottedoutdoorshooting
datesfor thepicture.However, whenshetookunwell,shewasunceremoniouslyreplacedwith another
artistewithout asmuchastelling her! So muchfor courtesyandethics!Sharmeeleewasreleasedin
1971, with Raakhee as the heroine (in a double role).

In theearly1970s,wespentsomeweeksin thefashionableFirst-World city. (It washerethatSairahad
spentherchildhoodandadolescence.)We spentour daysjust beingwith eachotheror goingon long
drivesacrossthe countryside.As is well known to thosewho havebeenvisiting Londonfrequently,
thefaceof thecity hasa deceptiveconstancyaboutits appearanceandit takesa keeneyeto observe
andrecognizethe changes.At that time, the skyscrapershadnot comeup andthe grey skyline held
out a unique appeal of grandeur combined with simplicity in its famous sights.



SairaandI enjoyedrevisiting placeswe both found interestingand,during oneof our drivespast
Westminster, shementionedto mehowwonderfulit wouldbeif wecouldjust drive into Buckingham
PalaceandmeetQueenElizabeth.As luck would haveit, thatvery weekI hadreceivedaninvitation
to attenda teapartyto behostedby theQueen.This wasanannualeventmeantfor importantcitizens
andforeignvisitorsbesidesmembersof thediplomaticcorps.Wantingto giveSairaasurprise,I chose
not to tell her aboutthe invitation. I excitedher by sayingI wishedto takeher out to a nice placeI
knewfor teaand,asexpected,shewasdelightedandgotdressed.Shewasrathersurprisedto seemein
formal attirebut shedid not askwhy I wassodressed.We got into thecarandI couldseethesparkle
in hereyesasshequizzedmeabouttheplacewewereheadingfor. Shewasquitewell by thenandthe
pallor thattheillnesshadcausedwasgoneandshewasglowing with hernaturalhealthyfairnessand
she was indeed looking beautiful and regal.

The chauffeur-driven Rolls Roycetook the routeto the palaceandyou could haveknockedSaira
downwith a featherwhenthecarenteredthegatesof BuckinghamPalace,which werethrownopen
for theinvitees.ShecouldnÕt believeit whenI told herweweregoingto meettheQueenandhavethe
tea served in her garden.

Wewalkedthroughtheawesomehallsandpassagesof thebreath-taking,many-splendouredpalace,
to thesprawlinggardenswhereQueenElizabeth,PrincePhilip, theQueenMother, PrinceCharlesand
PrincessAnneweremeetingguests.As we enteredanddrewnearHer Majesty, lots of Asianofficials
from our own andvariousotherhigh commissionsandembassiesswarmedarounduslovingly, seek-
ing autographsandchattingwith us,muchto QueenElizabethÕs amusement.As shegraciouslyshook
handswith us,shesmiledandtold me: ÔYou area very popularman! Delighted!How nice to meet
you!

On our returnto India, I took thedecisionto now shift with Sairajust acrosstheroadto herown bun-
galowbecausesheneededspecialcaretakingandalsoa specificdiet thatwasprescribedby Sir Fran-
cis Avery-Jones,theessenceof thetreatmentof ulcerativecolitis. Thecortisonetherapyadministered
at LondonClinic had,of course,relievedthe alarmingconditionthat shewasadmittedwith, but we
soughta completecurefrom alternativemedicalpractices.NaseemAapa,SultanandI took theadded
help of the besthomoeopathsin the countrysuchasDr Pathak,Dr Kundert,Dr Sankaran,Dr Anil
Bhatia,Dr Naidu of Poonaandthe creamof hakeemssuchasJanabAleemuddinSahabandDelhiÕs
Harbanslalji.Theycameandstayedwith us,to treatSairaandobserveherhealthgraphandto study
the reactionsto their medicines.All thesefactors,and the careandattentionbestowedby Naseem
Aapa,helpedSairain makinga quick recovery. Caretakingof this dimensionwaspossibleonly at her
newly built bungalow, which was constructed keeping in view her comforts and requirements.

As the treatmentwasgoingon, I hadto keepherawayfrom disturbingandvolatile situationsbe-
causethey would exacerbateher ailmentandwould leadto setbacksin the recoveryprocess.In my
own place,tempersranhigh.Thatwasonereasonwhy I hadmyselfspentmoretime in my outhouse.
Earlier, for instance,after the premiereof RamAur Shyam, I rememberthat Manoj Kumar andhis
wife (Shashi)hadcomehome,speciallywantingto speakto me regardingthe go-aheadfor Sairato
do Purab aur Pacchim. After sometime, ShashiandSairawere to go upstairsfrom the hall to the
washroom,but on the stairs,they wereabruptlyticked off andrudely told to be quiet by oneof my
sisters.Saira,asI havesaidearlier, hada very happy, child-like dispositionandbelongedto a small,
close-knitfamily andhadbeenveryprotectivelybroughtup.Shewasunbelievablytimid. After aspate
of unsavouryincidents,which I would not like to mention,I calledin Nasir, thebrotherclosestto my
heart,andI saidto him that I wantedto shift to theSun-n-SandHotel or to NasirÕs emptyflat (since
Nasirandandhis wife Parawereliving in theNasikfarm).Oncemore,my wife pleadedwith methat



all theseweremeaninglessincidentsandsherequestedmeto let thingsbe.Therearesomanyqueries
from peopledown the yearson issuesregardingmy life, that I felt I shouldtakethis opportunityto
address them.

Being a man, I hardly took any time to batheand get ready, whereasSaira did everythingso
minutelythatit tooka lot of time.Her life patternwasmarkedby specificappointmentsandaparticu-
lar protocol,whereasI wasusedto my guestsjust beingwelcomeat anygiventime Ðbeit a celebrity
or a commonmanÐandI hadthegoodhealthto supportthis gregariousdispositionto just casually
meet my friends and visitors.

Soonenough,Sairaadaptedto my lifestyle and my pace.NaseemAapa and Ammaji madethe
necessaryarrangementsfor threehugedeepfreezesto stock provisionsenoughfor a cricket team,
becausesureenough,visiting cricket andsportsteamsasalsootherswould comeunannouncedand
would bewelcomed.It wasno issuefor meto announceat 1.30p.m. that lunchshouldberustledup
for themassoonaspossible.I mustmentionherethat SairaÕs staff waswonderful.Shestill hasthe
samestaff of 45 yearsagoandtheir successivegenerationsthat servedAmmaji andAapa.Starting
from Noorjehanandher family, to greatcooks,NarmadaGawdeandKavita, therewaslatera line of
themwhothoughtnothingof presentingafull mealto numerousguestsatveryshortnoticeonthespur
of themoment.In fact,believeit or not, theyevenjoinedour family andrelativesto makeformidable
sportsteams!Saira,Sultanandaretinueof closefriendsandrelativessuchasFaridaJalal,herhusband
TabrezBarmavar(whoalsoflew kitesfrom abuildingoppositeourhouseto to takeonmy ownkites),
BabyFarida(a child actress),my nephewsAmjad andJaved(Noor SahabÕs sonswho usedto spend
mostof their time with us),Al-Huma (actressVeenaÕs daughter)anddozensof otherswould form our
own little teamsto playandrevelin goodsportingfun Ðbeit cricketor footballÐall dayon thelawns
of our house.

I hadatravellingÔchakrÕ(wheel)in my feetsaidtheold wisemenandsodid Saira(hernamemeans
Ôonewho travelsÕ).A teamof our staff travelledwith us with the necessarymirch masalasin trunks
andtheycookedbiriyanis, irrespectiveof beingin far, forsakenlocaleswith no amenitiessuchasin
Mercara(nowin Karnataka),wherewelived surroundedby awesomegiganticmothsin acoffeeplant-
ation.

A marriagethat is for keeps,evenwith all thegoodintentionsof thecouple,is not easyto sustainfor
eitherpartner. Wehavehadourshareof upsanddowns,butapartfrom ouroutwardlycontrastingper-
sonalities(to look at us,we seemeddifferent:I would bethequiet,introspective,broodingmangiven
muchto silencesandSairatheeffervescent,carefree,vivaciousyoungwoman),we alsohadmuchin
common.We wereboth the headsof our respectivefamilies, committedto our dearestoneswhole-
heartedly and, in essence, we shared the joy of living.



Playing a prank on Saira.

Despitemy seriousdemeanour, I wasalwaysfond of playingpranks.If we werein a lonely, mys-
teriouslocalesuchasPanhala(a placein southernMaharashtra),where,at thattime (in 1967),power
supplywould time andagaingo off, I would quietly slip awayunnoticedinto thecompoundandpelt
the windowswith tiny stones.The tick tick, tick of the stonesin the eeriewildernessof that place,
chargedwith thefright of anominous,whistlingwind, hadSairaandherstaff shrieking!Wewereboth
addictedto long walks after pack-upevenin the mostdesertedlocales.As we strolled,whenthere
would bea lull in theconversation,I would stopmid-track,turn aroundto herandask,with my most
mysteriousexpression:ÔAndthe manyou arewalking with just now, who do you think he is? Your
husband? No ÉÕ Saira would nearly faint with the impact of this little drama!

At othertimes,I scaredthe life out of her old maid Noorjehan.In 1968,from the airport at Ban-
galore,Sairaand I got into our car and drove to our favourite suite at the West End Hotel, had a
sumptuousbreakfastandwaitedfor Noorjehanto comejoin uswith theluggage.Soonenough,I dis-
appeared.Sairalookedhelter-skelterbut in vain. No soonerdid SairaandNoorjehanenterthe room
andmovetowardsthe tall, spaciouscupboardsto placethesuitcasesinsidethanI suddenlypounced
on themferociouslywith a roar of a lion! Noorjehanwasdown on the floor andSairawasshaking
uncontrollably. After that,backhome,NaseemAapahadto ÔsamjhaoÕ(explainto) me:ÔYousufbeta,
Saira is a very timid girl, God forbid, she will have a heart attack like this!Õ

Soon,however, I toughenedher up andthenshestartedplaying prankson me! Justa few weeks
ago, we have,by the graceof God, affectionatelybeengiven a mementofor being the ÔTimeless
CoupleÕandpeoplewantto know whathasgoneinto thelastingof a 48-year-old relationship.(Amit-
abhBachchancamehometo handover themementoasSairaandI couldnot makeit to theevent.)I
changed myself a lot and Saira changed herself more than I did!

No soonerthanwe weremarried,my malefriendssuchasPran,SatishBhalla andBalraj (Balli)
Kohli would stopby outsidemy gateat 2 a.m.,blow the car horn to its crescendoandexpectme to
comedownandgo for a drive. This hadbeenour ritual asof old, andwe boyswerefull of zestand
theeveningwould beof wonderfulfood at SatishÕs BatesHill home(Pali Hill wasalwaysanaddress
to bereckonedwith). Therewould besomegreatpoetryrecitationsandsingingsessionsasour group
wasfull of joie devivre. PranandSatishwerewell versedwith theworksof greatUrdu poetssuchas
Mirza Ghalib,Mir Taqi Mir andFaizAhmedFaiz,but soonenough,our bhabhi(SatishÕs wife Shalu)
would draw out a big Diwaan-e-Ghaliband,in her heavily accentedUrdu readout a sher(couplet)
asfar asshecould; for therestof thecoupletsheÕdfinish off with Ôsomething,somethingÕ.It wasso
funny that I copied this inRam Aur Shyam.



Foraglamorousyoungwomanto stepin line with my five-minuteroutineof dressingupmeantcutting
shorther time drastically. At the startof the marriage,oneevening,shetook an hour to get ready.
Finally sheemerged,looking bedeckedandbeautiful.Shehadgreatlove andgoodtastefor jewellery
designedandmadefor herby NaseemAapaand,on thatoccasion,shehadput on a lot of ornaments.
Naturally sheaskedme: ÔHowam I looking?ÕI could only reply with a smile: ÔBeautiful!But you
haveto carrya tokra [basket]andput all your jewellery in it, becausepeoplemustknow you haveso
much!ÕAfter that,moreoften thannot, Sairawould restrictherselfto just a stringof pearlsandear-
rings when stepping out with me.

In short,theglamorousgirl who took anhourfor puttingon hermakeupanddoingup herlong hair
before a grand function, suddenly, changed totally.

I rememberanoccasionwhenwe werenewto eachotherandshewasjust into films, I hadunex-
pectedlyvisited at her flat at SeaBelle. On ringing the doorbell,Sairahadopenedthe door and,on
seeingme,sheshriekedsoloudly thatonecouldhavefainted.Her hair wasin well-oiled pigtailsand
shewaswearinga simplecottonsalwarkameez.Sheraninto herroom,anddid not comeout, telling
Naseem Aapa: ÔNow he has seen me like this, he will never work with me!Õ

In contrast,soonafterour marriage,if shehadappliedmehndi(henna)to herhair to conditionher
tressesandI calledout to herto comewith meto a friendÕsplacefor aceremony, shewould justcover
herheadin a turbanandthink nothingof accompanyingmein thatstate.OncewhenI wastravelling
to Hyderabadfor attendinga marriage,shecameto seemeoff at theairportasusualandgot to know
therethat her shootfor the day hadbeencalledoff. I suddenlythought:ÔWhynot askher to come
alongandhopon to theflight with me?ÕShedid just that,attendedthegrandmarriagefunctionin the
casual salwar kameez she was attired in!

WhatI got to loveandappreciateaboutSairadowntheyearsthatI havelived with heris herinnate
simplicity andsoftnessof heart.Herotherqualitiesincludeherquicknessto saysorryto rectify asitu-
ation andnot harbouringany falsepride.Any spator tif f givesher heartacheandshenevercanrest
until shehasmendedfences.As aman,I wasusedto takingtime to cooldownafterI hadbeenruffled
in family encounters.

I haddistancedmyselffrom my mostbrightandintelligentsisterAkhtaronhersurprisemarriageto
K. Asif. I was not seeing her at all.

Onedayat lunch,Sairagot up to takea call. On theotherline wasa doctorfrom BombayÕs Breach
CandyHospitalinforming usthatAkhtar wantedto seeherbrotherandthatshewascritically unwell.
Shehadlost Asif by then(hehadpassedawayon 9 March1971)andwasliving with herdaughters.
I told Sairaemphatically:ÔIwill NOT go.ÕSairarequestedmeto go andseeher, asshewasafterall
my sisterandalsovery unwell. I repeatedthat I would not seeher. Shehadshamedme andwe had
distanced ourselves after a life of doting and affection.

In her own gentleway, Sairacoaxedme to just seeher for now, at her behest,lest, God forbid,
anythinguntowardhappened.Shetook meto BreachCandyandtherebegana reunionof brotherand
sisterwherein,for thefirst time,Akhtar (who hadbeenvery muchagainstmy marriageto Saira),got
to know andunderstandmy wife. In lateryearsandevennow, Sairais theoneAkhtar is theclosestto
and they are constantly tuned to each other.

By thegraceof Godour longrelationshipalsoenduredandbenefitedbecausewebothhadÔnofuss,
no bloatedegoÕpersonalities.It waspainful to seecouplesgo on relentlesslybickeringover minute
details and for us there was no keeping up with the Joneses either.

Actor RichardBurtononcefamouslyproclaimedto themedia:ÕYouhaveto pity poorLiz [Elizabeth
Taylor thecelebratedstarandhis wife]. Sheis travellingwith lastyearÕs diamonds.ÕSairaandI were



alwayscontentanddownto earth,beingsoveryblessedin everyway. Our life hasalwaysbeenfull of
fun and laughter.

If I saidto Saira,Ôbereadyto go to a functionwith me,wait athomeÕandI quiteforgotaboutit and
wentaloneto thevenue,Sairaneverpickedupaquarrel.Instead,shejust laughedatmy forgetfulness
andwasdonewith it. I mustrecallhereanincidentthataptly illustratesthiswonderfultrait in her. We
wereinvited to a grandeveningto felicitate the greatOscar-winning actressShirley Maclaine.Saira
andI, amongstothers,wereinvited to havedinnerwith herand,understandably, my wife wasa great
fan of Shirley Maclaine.The hitch wasthat I wasin Delhi on the day of the event.Anyway, I flew
backto Bombayin theeveningandSairawasat theairport to receiveme.Shewasdressedandready
for the occasion and had thoughtfully carried my necessary dark suit and the needed accessories.

As I sat in the car with her, I gently askedher if shereally wantedto be lost in sucha crowd of
admirersandguestscircling aroundShirleyor would shepreferto spendsomequality time between
just thetwo of us,sincewe hadbeenawayfrom eachotherfor a coupleof days.Thatwasit! We had
a candlelight dinner, just the two of us, which we never got to do too often.

Anothersterlingquality shepossessesis herability to forget thepastandlive in thepresent.Soon
after our nikah (marriage),while we werestayingin Madras,I receiveda messagefrom Madhubala
that shewishedto seeme urgently. I confidedin Sairaassoonaswe returnedto Bombayaboutthe
message.Sairaat onceinsistedthat I shouldmeetMadhusinceit mustbe somethingshewasdis-
tressedabout.WhenI went to MadhuÕs home,I waspainedto seethatshewasfrail andlookedvery
weak.Thepallor on her facenot only beliedher ill health,but hermagnificent,impishsmileseemed
suchaneffort. Shewashappyto seemeandsaid:ÔHamareyshehzadeko unki shehzadimil gayi hai,
main bahut khush hoon!Õ (Our prince has got his princess, I am very happy!)

Shewasworriedaboutsomepersonalmattersthatsheneededmy adviceonandwediscussedthem
until shewassomewhatsatisfiedthattheycouldbesortedout.Shethenrelaxed.Thatwasthelasttime
I saw her. She passed away on 23 February 1969.

On anotheroccasion,whenI wassuffering from a heartailmentin 1998,Uma(Kamini Kaushal),
aftermanyyears,calledmy office. Shehadsomecloselady friendswhowantedto meetmeandSaira
arrangedfor themto comehome.Shealsomademespeakto Uma,who hadcometo know aboutmy
condition and that I was to undergo open heart surgery.

Umasaidthatshewould sendsometapesof childrenÕs films shehadliked. Shewaswriting stories
in childrenÕsmagazinesandsomeof themhadbeenchosenfor filming. Shethoughtit wouldbeagood
ideafor meto watchsomeentertainingchildrenÕs films to while awaymy time post-surgery. Shealso
sentlotsof little toysfor usto stringup in ourcars.SairaandI appreciatedthegestureandI felt it was
very thoughtful of her.

I canneverforgetour sojournsin Madras,be it for work or for pleasure.As luck would haveit, our
first film together, Gopi (released in 1970), was set to roll, of all places, in Madras.



22
THE HUSBANDÐWIFE TEAM

I beganto discoverthecapacitymywife hadfor hard work andthepursuit for flawlesswork.She
wasreceptiveto soundadviceandwasquick to absorbtheguidanceI gaveher in thesceneswe
cametogether.Sheco-starredwith mein threefilms andI sawher tenacityanddeterminationto
get the nuances and emotional curves of the performance right.

GOPI (DIRECTEDBY A. BHIM SINGH) WAS A DELIGHTFUL experience.It waslike anextendedhoneymoon
for me andSaira.We hada secludedhouseÐmore like a cottageÐat Kodambakkam(a locality in
Madras)in themidstof a lot of greenerywith mangotreesall over thebackyardandwith goldenyel-
low sandcoveringtheentirecompound.Forour recreationandexercise,NagiReddyhadahuge,high-
walled badminton court made for us close by with a thatched roof of palm leaves.

Sairawasvery happynot only becausewe wereleft alonein the largehouseafterpack-upfrom the
shootingduring thedaybut alsobecauseshewasworking with mefor the first time. By now shehad
shedsomeof hershynessandthe reservationsof a conservativeupbringing.On thesets,sheenjoyed
thejokesbetweenmeandOm PrakashjiÐa renownedcomedianandcharacteractorÐandsherespon-
dedwarmly to theupcomingactressFaridaJalalÕs attemptto befriendher. In fact, sheandFaridaJalal
struckupafriendshipthatcontinuesto thisday. SairaÕsKathakguru,RoshanKumari,whowaschoreo-
graphinghersonganddancenumbersin thefilm wasalsoa friend,who providedcompanyin Madras.
RoshanKumariandSairawouldspendhoursin their rehearsalof thechoreographedmovementsfor the
songpicturizedon bothof us,Gentleman,Gentleman,GentlemanÉ, * which becamea crazeafter the
film was released.

Onthefirst dayof shooting,afterour first shottogetherasco-starswascanned,adreamSairahadcher-
ishedfor years,RajinderKrishan,thepoetwhowaswatchingthewaySairawasfollowing my brief and
performingperfectly, took her asideafter all the clappinghaddied down,andtold her: ÔBeta, I think
you performedbrilliantly. However, I musttell you somethingin your own interest.You shouldnot try
to be Dilip Kumar in your enactment.Be yourself,be SairaBanu.This is what all his heroineshave
beendoing.All of themhavetried to beDilip Kumarandfailed. It is only naturalwhenyou havean
actor of his stature in the same frame. DonÕt do it. Try to be yourself.Õ

Whenwe werebackat our cottage,Sairarelatedto mewhatRajinderKrishanhadtold her. It then
struckmethathisobservationwasright. I hadalwaystried to helpmy co-artistesby enactingtheir part
for themin a sceneduringthepreparationnot becauseI wishedto overpowerthembut simply because
I wantedthemto bea scalebetterthanI was.It wasalsosomethingI hadimbibedfrom S. Mukherjee
SahabandMehboobSahabwhowerewell knownfor depictingfacialexpressionsandbodymovements
before actors.

MukherjeeSahab,for instance,couldbecomea gracefulwomangiving thatglanceof loving accept-
anceto her lover whenhe enactedit for VyjayantimalaÕs observationduring the shootingof Leader
(1964).Likewise,MehboobSahab,with all his avoirdupois,could demonstratethe gait of a slim and

C:\Users\kunal\AppData\Local\Temp\don83A2\OEBPS\Text\..\Text\part0005.html#pc24
C:\Users\kunal\AppData\Local\Temp\don83A2\OEBPS\Text\..\Text\part0029.html#fnt35


agile village maidenwhenhe wasdirectingNimmi (born asNawabBanuon 18 February1933) in
Amar(1954).

I explainedthe finer pointsto Sairaby showingherhow MehboobSahabfeignedtheshynessand
thegait of thevillage girl with his bulky figure andchubbyfaceundergoinga metamorphosisall of a
sudden.Sairawent into pealsof laughterbut sheunderstoodhow helpful thetwo greatmenwereand
howpassionatetheywereaboutgettingtheresulttheydesiredin aperiodof Indiancinemawhenthere
was no formal training available to artistes and directors.

As a matterof fact, whenmy brotherNasirandI wereworking togetherin GungaJumna(1961),
Nasirwould sit quietly andwatchmeexplainscenesanddemonstratethefacial expressionsI wanted
from theartistes.During lunchoneafternoon,I heardhim telling Nitin Bose(thedirectorof thefilm)
abouta younglady who wassmittenby him andhow I hadreadherfacial expression,which hadbe-
trayed her feelings for Nasir who was hardly aware of the young ladyÕs interest in him.

Thetruth is thatI wasfascinatedby facialexpressionsright from my childhood.I foundoutevenas
a child thatfacial expressionscouldconveywhatwordssometimesfailed to. WhenAghaji wasangry
or upset,healwaysremainedaloof andsilent.But his eyesandthelineson his brow couldneverhide
his feelings.I observedall themembersof our family residingin thelargehousein Peshawarbecause
I waseithertrailing behindAmma or sitting by her sidewhenshemadefree-wheelingconversation
with visitors from her side of the family.

I tooklessinterestin whatshespokeor theyspokebut I paidkeenattentionto thewayin whichthey
expressedtheir feelingsandthoughts.I enjoyedobservingtheirexpressions,theuseof theirhandsand
themodulationof theirvoices.AmmasometimesnoticedwhatI wasdoingandgentlytold meto leave
the room,explainingthat childrenshouldnÕt be listeningto conversationsbetweenelders.ThoughI
neversatnext to Aghaji whenhe conversedwith his friends,I observedthem,too, from a distance.
ThereweremenwhoseheartylaughterenlivenedtheatmosphereandthereweremenwhodidnÕt react
at all. The strong silent ones, I guess.

With Saira inGopi.

Amongmy leadingladies,it wasNargiswhooncejovially askedmehowI knewsomuchaboutthe
waywomenexpressedthemselves.It amusedhernoendwhenI told heraboutmy childhoodobserva-
tions.

To getbackto Gopi, I beganto discoverthecapacitymy wife hadfor hardwork andthepursuitfor
flawlesswork. Shewasreceptiveto soundadviceandwasquick to absorbtheguidanceI gaveher in



thesceneswecametogether. Sheco-starredwith mein threefilms andI sawhertenacityanddeterm-
inationto getthenuancesandemotionalcurvesof theperformanceright. In thetwo otherfilms wedid
together, Sagina(1970and1974)* andBairaag(1976),shehadto bring to life charactersthatboreno
resemblanceto herrealselfor anyonesheknew. Shehadto drawfrom thewell of herownimagination
and take the helpful directions given to her by the directors and writers with a sincere commitment.

We signedSaginawhile Gopi wasin themakingandit entailedmy going frequentlyby the time-
consumingflights to Calcutta(now Kolkata) for meetingsthat directorTapanSinhaarranged.I had
met Tapandaearlier in the companyof my friend Hiten Choudhary, but we did not talk muchabout
films. Tapandawasa manof few wordsandhe preferredto converseasmosthighly educatedmen
do.I understoodhewasapostgraduatein physicslike S.MukherjeeSahabandhadstartedhis journey
in cinemaasa soundengineerlike thelatter. While MukherjeeSahabwasvery eloquentandenjoyed
a lively conversationwith peoplehe knew well, Tapandaspokeonly whenneeded.Ashok Bhaiyya
(AshokKumar)hadspokenhighly aboutTapandaafterhehadworkedin theBengalifilm HateBazare
(1967)with thatdirector. I hadwatchedthe1957Bengalifilm Kabuliwalain BimaldaÕs(Bimal RoyÕs)
company. I hadliked TapandaÕs adaptationof thestoryby NobelLaureateRabindranathTagoreandI
had complimented the actor Chabi Biswas for his performance in the film.

Tapandacameacrossasadirectorwhowasreceptiveto suggestionsandobservationsnotonly from
mebut alsoequallyfrom otheractors.He hadlong academicdiscussionswith meaboutthebackdrop
andtheperiodof thestoryandheurgedmeto readsomeliteraturehehadcompiledaboutthepre-inde-
pendencelabourunionmovementsandaboutthebirth andspreadof Naxalismin certainpartsof east
andnorth-eastIndia. Suchliteraturewasvery helpful to mein understandingthecharactersandtheir
vulnerabilities against the backdrop of the revolutionary political scenario that had surfaced there.

I was fascinatedby the characterof SaginaÐ his completelack of guile in dealingwith critical
issuesandconnivingpeople,hisperceptionsandinstinctiveabilities,hismaverickbehaviourat times,
his love for Lalita (to beplayedby Saira)and,aboveall, his chequereddestiny. Therewasdepthand
realismin the way Tapandahadcreatedthe characterof Saginaon paperandhe told me that I was
freeto improviseif I wished.In fact,hewasadirectorwho left muchto theactorsto studyandunder-
standthedemandsof thesituationsin thescreenplayandcomeup with their improvisations.To work
with sucha director is a genuinepleasurefor actorswho possessfertile mindsandhavethe will to
enhancetheappealof thecharacterby repeatedimprovements,whereasit becomesaburdenfor actors
whopreferto follow directorialguidelines.Theactorsin SaginaMahatowere,to my delight,eagerto
participatein improvisationsandimprovements.As mentionedearlier, thefirst versionwasin Bengali
andit meantmy deliveringmy lines in that language.I hadalreadya soft cornerfor theBengalilan-
guagein my heart,havingbeenin theconstantcompanyof AshokBhaiyya,MukherjeeSahabandso
manyscholarlyBengaliwritersanddirectorsin theearlyyearsof my career. As suchit did not take
a Herculeaneffort on my partto speakthelinesin Bengalibut thenon-Bengaliartistesfrom Bombay
(including Saira)hadto be given recordedtapesof their Bengalidialogueto hearandrehearse.The
rewardfor all theeffort I put in to rendermy Bengalidialoguewith convictioncameafter the filmÕs
release,whenthelocal mediawroteglowingly aboutit. I wasmorethanhappythereforeto acceptthe
prestigiousBengalFilm JournalistsAssociationÕs awardfor my actingin the Bengalioriginal. Four
yearslater, theproducers,J.K. KapurandHemenGanguly, encouragedby thesuccessof theBengali
film, went on to remakeit in Hindi at considerableexpense,reshootingthe scenesat the sameloca-
tions.

The songsituationswereinsertedin the Hindi versionafter somethinking to providerelief in the
originalnarrative,whichwasmovingataslowpacethatcouldborethemassaudiencein thenorthern
Indiastates.Thesong,Tumhresangto rain bitayi É, * picturizedonmeandSaira,waschoreographed
in the mostunconventionalmannerwith our own inputs in the movements.It wasa songsuggest-
ing the intimacy betweenSaginaandLalita the previousnight in muchthe sameway that Dhoondo
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dhoondore sajanamorekaanka bala É ** suggestedtheconsummationof therelationshipbetween
GungaandDhannoaftertheywerehurriedlywedby acaptivepurohit (priest)in thejunglesin Gunga
Jumna.

With Saira inSagina.

If therewasonething thatI insistedon while suchsituationswereconceivedwasthatthereshould
beno explicit depictionof physicalintimacy. My conditionwentdownwell with themajority of dir-
ectorsI workedwith, thanksto our like-mindednesson the subject.It wasalwaysleft to me thento
work out thescenes.This did not meanthat I was(or am)puritanicalor orthodox.I certainlyunder-
stoodthe massaudienceÕs expectationsbut, at the sametime, I wasacutelyawareof the moral re-
sponsibilityI shoulderedasanactor. As theheadof a family comprisingsix girls andfive boys,I was
innatelyaverseto any displayof indecencyandthe first thoughtthat alwayscrossedmy mind was
aboutthe embarrassmentsuchscenescould causeto my own sistersif they watchedme in, albeit,a
make-believesituationin a film. The film I choseto do maybea comedy, a labour-orientedsubject,
a historical,or a socially relevanttheme,but I havegenerallychosenscriptswith a socialconcernas
its corecontent.OnecanÕt getwhatonewantsall thetime,but,giventhechoice,I gavepreferenceto
such scripts.

SaginaMahato, therefore,interestedmeasa subjectfor its inherentcommenton,andexposureof,
thepolitics thatimpactedtheproletarianlabourmovements.It wasalsointerestingasanunusuallove
storywoveninto a turbulentflow of events.Sairawasoriginally not supposedto becastin therole of
Lalita. Shehadherown workloadto carryandthecharacterwasnot majorenoughfor herstarstature
at thatpoint of time. But SairabeingSaira,shevolunteeredto play thepart just so thatshecouldbe
with meat thesecludedhilly locationschosennearKurseongandGayabari(nearDarjeelingin West
Bengal)for the film. The characterturnedout to be quite a fiery oneandshetook up the challenge
ÔmanfullyÕandplayedthepartwith a courageandvigour thatsurprisedme.Thereviewsshereceived
for her performance and the compliments she got from her colleagues made her justly proud.

Her work in SaginaMahatoconvincedmefurtherthat it would beunjustto aborthercareerjust to
haveherby my sideasmy wife. Within weeksafterour marriage,I hadwatchedrushesof Shagird*
andit wasthefirst time I wasseeingheron thescreen.At theendof thescreening,I told herit would
be criminal on my part if I stopped her from continuing her career.
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Thelocationfor SaginaMahatowasa treatfor theeyes,asbeautifulandmountainousassomeparts
of Peshawarthatstill linger in my memory. It wasbleakandgreyon mostdays,with mist andwhite
cloudsdescendingfrom themountainsin thedistance.Beinganoutdoors-lovingman,I spentmuchof
my free time trekkingup thehills or exploringthemarketswhereI would stopto buy white orchids
to presentto my wife. On onesuchouting,I wastakento watcha play stagedby a local theatregroup
andthereI discoveredapromisingactornamedKaderKhan,whometmebackstageandexpressedhis
wish to work in Hindi films sincehewaswell acquaintedwith Urdu. I spoketo Tapandaandcasthim
in a small part in Saginaandlater in Bairaag. Kaderjustified my faith in his abilitieswhenhewent
on to makea marklateron in numerousHindi films asanactorandwriter. I havenot seenanyof the
films that made him famous but I learned he was in great demand.

While shootingfor Sagina, as always,I had a badmintoncourt madenext to our cottage,whereI
playedthegameeverydaywith whoeverwantedto play with me.In theevenings,whenthetemper-
aturedippedandthedarknessof thenight eclipsedtheskylineandthelandscape,we got togetherand
formeda jolly ring arounda bonfire singingandevendancingandmiming. It wasour way of dis-
pelling our alienationandlonelinessat a beautifulbut far-awaylocation.OneeveningSairaÕs guru,
RoshanKumari,ashyconservativeKathakexponent,whoonly performedbeforeconnoisseursasper
thetraditionof theJaipurgharana* shebelongedto,spontaneouslyputonherghungroos(anklets)and
performedextempore.Shecameup with variationsof tatkaar(footwork) while a unit memberplayed
thetablafor her. We watchedspellboundthedifficult pirouettessheeffortlesslyperformedwhile she
danced with abandon.

I mustnot forget to mentionthe sceneI greatlyenjoyedperformingin SaginaMahato. It wasthe
sequencewhereSaginafeelsclaustrophobicin theoffice andhegetsout to enjoya breathof theopen
air he lovesand therehe seesa speedingtrain. He takesoff in a sprint alongsidethe running train
competitivelykeepingpace,runningfasterandfasterwith thewind beatingagainsthis face.WhenI
suggestedthe sceneto Tapanda,he liked the ideavery much.He lookedat me andaskedme in his
quietmannerif I couldwait for a doubleto bearrangedfor therun.He staredat mein disbeliefwhen
I told him I woulddo thesprintmyself.I told him aboutmy athleticdaysbuthecouldbelievemeonly
whenthescenewasactuallyfilmed in onetake!To thisdayI receivecomplimentsfrom avidfilmgoers
for the bracing impact the scene had on them and the emotional empathy it evoked.
*Sungby Lata Mangeshkarand MahendraKapoor, pennedby RajinderKrishan and composedby
Kalyanji Anandji.
*The film wasfirst madein Bengali (asSaginaMahato) in 1970andin Hindi in 1974.Saginaand
Sagina Mahatohave been used interchangeably.
*Sungby Lata MangeshkarandKishoreKumar, written by Majrooh Sultanpuriandset to tuneby
Sachin Dev Burman.
** Sung by Lata Mangeshkar, written by Shakeel Badayuni and composed by Naushad.
*Releasedin 1967anddirectedby SamirGanguly. TheherowasJoyMukherjee,thesonof S.Mukher-
jee Sahab.
*Gharanameans a specialist school of classical music or dance.
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23
A NEW ROLE: TAKING UP NOBLE CAUSES

I do not knowif it is in my genesor if it is somethingI haveassimilatedfrom the environmentI
was brought up in. It gives me great contentment and joy to espouse a good cause.

SAGINA MAHATOWAS DESCRIBEDBY MANY CRITICSAS A POLITICAL film. Journalistswho metmethenwere
keento know whetherI hadany interestin joining a political party andgettingactively involved in
politics. I hadno hesitationin replying thatmy involvementwith politics would be limited to thepre-
electioncampaignsthat I would takepart in andI would nevereverhankeraftera seatin eitherof the
houses of Parliament.

Thefirst timeI campaignedfor aLok Sabhacandidatewasin early1962whenPrimeMinisterJawa-
harlal Nehru (popularlyknown asPanditji) personallyspoketo me on the phonefrom Delhi asking
me if I could taketime off to visit the office of the Indian NationalCongress(INC) in Bombayand
meetV. K. KrishnaMenonwhowascontestingfrom NorthBombay. His opponentwasnoneotherthan
AcharyaJ.B. Kriplani, a formerpresidentof theINC whohadbrokenawayfrom thepartyandfounded
theKisanMazdoorPrajaParty, which, in 1952,hadmergedwith theSocialistPartyof India to become
the Praja Socialist Party.

I obeyedPanditjiatonce,my loveandrespectfor him beingnextonly to theaffectionandadmiration
I hadfor Aghaji. I visitedtheoffice of theINC in Juhuasinstructedby Panditji.As KrishnaMenonwas
delayedin arriving at the office, I waitedfor him. I waseagerlylooking forward to my meetingwith
him, havingreadsomuchabouthim andhisbrilliant marathonspeechin January1957Ðlastingalmost
eight hours Ð defending IndiaÕs stand on Kashmir at the UN Security Council.

With Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru.

As I waited,awell-dressedmanhurriedlyenteredtheoffice and,seeingmeseatedalonein theroom
adjacentto themainoffice, hecameupto meandintroducedhimselfsaying:ÔMynameis Rajni.I prac-
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tiselaw for a living.Õ(I latercameto knowthathis full namewasRajniPatel.)I stoodupandextended
my hand, saying: ÔI am Yousuf. I donÕt do anything for a living.Õ

He was somewhattakenabackand he held out his handratherhesitantly. As we shookhands,
KrishnaMenonwalkedin, takingbrisk, long stridestowardsus.He greetedmewith a familiarity and
warmththatbroughta look of surpriseto RajniÕs face.He walkedinto themainoffice room,talking
to mein his impressiveandrefinedvoiceaboutPanditjiÕs phonecall to him informing him aboutmy
visit to the local office at Juhu.

Rajni andI followed him silently. In the main office, KrishnaMenonintroducedus properlyand
Rajni, apologeticaboutnot recognizingme,confessedthat he wasnot a movie buff andhe hadnot
beeninsideacinemahousefor ages.Therewerequitea few attendantsin theroomandKrishnaMen-
on smiledat all of themandjokedthattheywereall thereperhapsto takea goodlook at me.Krishna
Menonhadanimposingpersonalityandanair of authoritywhenhespoke,which couldhaveseemed
like arrogance to many.

KrishnaMenondid not losetime in senselesstalk. He cameto thepoint andtold mehewantedme
to campaignfor him in the forthcomingstiff contestfor theNorth BombayLok Sabhaseat.Panditji
hadspokento him aboutme andhe (KrishnaMenon)waswonderingif I could oblige andalsoget
thesupportof thefilm fraternityto join in someralliesto supporttheCongressparty. He emphasized
thatPanditjihadstatedthat I wasfluent in Urdu, Hindi andMarathiandI wasvery articulatewhenI
took off on a subjectI waspassionateabout.As hespoke,Rajni waslisteningintently but remained
silent. It wasasif no onespokewhenKrishnaMenondid. I wantedto inform KrishnaMenonthat it
wasgoingto beanewexperiencefor me,havinghadvery little to dowith publicspeakingin reallife.

I couldunderstandhowPanditjihadbeenimpressedby my ability to speakeffectively. In late1960,
my film GungaJumnahadbeenrefusedacertificateby theFilm CensorBoard.This refusalwasmost
unjustasRaj KapoorÕs Jis DeshMein GangaBehtiHai, which hadalsobeenseenby theboardin the
sameweekhadbeenclearedwith minor cuts.RajÕs film too haddacoityanddacoitsasthebackdrop
and also its fair share of depiction of violence.

My appealto Dr B. V. Keskar, theninformationandbroadcasting(I & B) minister, fell ondeafears
becausehehadhis own ideasaboutmorality, decencyandviolenceandhadurgeda stringentapplic-
ationof thecensorshipguidelinesto all mainstreamfilms. He would not listento my reasoningandit
becamedifficult to communicatewith him. Desperate,I hadsoughta meetingwith Panditji andhad
madea strongpleabeforehim not only for my film but alsofor all thefilms heldbackby theCensor
Boardfor flimsy reasons.Convincedby my appeal,Panditji ordereda reviewof GungaJumna. The
boardclearedthefilm just daysbeforeits scheduledrelease;not just thatfilm, but alsoall othersheld
up until then.

As I took leaveof KrishnaMenon,Rajni saidweshouldmeetthefollowing dayto plananddiscuss
the campaign strategy and other details. When we shook hands, it was a firm and warm clasp.

Rajni PatelandI becameclosefriendsasour meetingsbecameregularandpurposefulfrom then
onwards.His intellectualsharpnesswascomplementedby hiscaringnatureandtheprincipleshestood
for. The1962electionfor theNorth BombayLok Sabhaseatwasoneof themostdramaticcontests
in thepoll historyof thecity. I wentwhereverI wastakenby Rajni andit wascustomaryfor him to
acquaint me with the agenda of each rally that I addressed only at the last minute.

Actually, thevery first largepolitical gatheringI addressedwasat theCooperagegroundsin South
Bombay. Rajni andI weretravellingby carto thevenueandI hadno ideathatI would becalledupon
to makea speech.SomewherenearMarineDrive, Rajni informedmethat I wasamongthespeakers
who would becalledto addressthelargecrowd.I got annoyedwith him andtold him it wasnÕt funny.
I pointedout that I wasno politician to takeoff on a topic andenthrala crowd with extemporever-
biage.He merelypattedmy handandsaid:ÔWhoexpectsa political speechfrom you?Leavethat for
thepoliticians.You speakto thecrowdasDilip Kumar.ÕI couldnot fathomwhathewassaying.We



wereat thevenueby thenandI couldsensetheexcitementof thecrowdwaiting to seemeandhear
me.Rajni wasavoidingeyecontactwith menow, havingput mein themostchallengingsituationof
my life.

As I wasusheredin, I heardpeoplecalling out for Dilip Kumarandit becameimperativefor meto
go on thestage,graspthemicrophoneandspeak.Theshoutingwasmoreaudiblenow thatI wasface
to facewith the crowd. I rememberedhow I recitedthe poem,ÔIhavetwo eyesÉÕ, beforea cheer-
ing audiencein PeshawarandtherepeatedencoresI received.I drewa deepbreathandspokefor 10
minutes!TheapplausewasdeafeningwhenI concluded.Thecrowdwasreluctantto leavethegrounds
andRajni wasbeamingat mewith a look of triumph.It wasthestartof a newchapterin my life asa
public speaker.

I havebeencomplimentedsofrequentlyby my relativesandfriendsfor themanyspeechesI made
duringmy campaignfor KrishnaMenon.I hadto addressnot onebut severalpublic meetingsevery
day. Everywhere,I wasgiventhemicrophoneandaskedto speak.It requiredsomeamountof prepar-
ationbutgenerallyI reliedon theknowledgeI hadgainedby readingbooksonvirtually all subjects.I
amabookloverandmy closestfriendsandmy sistersandbrothersknewhowhappyI waswhenthey
brought a good book for me as a gift.

My campaigningfor theCongresspartybecamearegularexerciseafterthesplendidsuccessachieved
by Krishna Menon, who emerged victorious. My bondingwith Rajni becamestrongeras we dis-
coveredour commongoals,interestsandvalues.Although Rajni wasleadingthe Congressparty in
Bombay, hewasnot a politician in thestrict senseof theterm.He wasmoreof a barristerandwe had
manycommonfriendsfrom the legal fraternity. Neitherhenor I yearnedfor powerandrecognition.
Oneday, while chattingcasually, I told Rajni that a cosmopolitancity like Bombaydeserveda spa-
ciousandgrandvenueto hold exhibitionsandclassicaldanceandmusicrecitals,literary exchanges
betweeneminentwritersanda sciencecentrethatwould give a fillip to theyoungupcomingscient-
istsof thecity. I hadimmenseadmirationfor thework goingon in the field of spacetechnologyand
I waskeenlyfollowing theprogressandadvancementsin thefield underProfessorVikram Sarabhai.
Rajni respondedexcitedlyand,in the early 1970s,he beganpreparingthe first-everproposalfor an
art, cultureandsciencecentrein Bombayto bepresentedto PrimeMinister Indira Gandhi.Like her
fatherPanditJawaharlalNehru,shetoo tookvery little time to decideandshecategoricallystatedthat
a culturalvenuethatwould alsoexhibit theprogressof scienceandtechnologywasa requirementin
Bombay;shegavethegreensignalto Rajni to preparea proposal.Thusthefirst steptowardsthecre-
ation of the Nehru Centre at Worli was taken.

For Rajni andme, the meaningof politics wasto servethe commonpeople.Both Rajni andI could
havewon electionsandbeenin the fray asactivepoliticiansbut that thoughtwasfar from my mind
andhis. We werehappyandsatisfiedevery time we organizeda fund collectiondrive to swell the
governmentÕs kitty for flood, famineor earthquakerelief work. It took considerableplanningandlo-
gisticsmanagementprowessto organizethe processionsof starsin vehiclesmoving slowly through
the busiestroadsof Bombay. I rememberthe truck processionswe took out in Bombayafter every
natural calamity to provide relief to the victims.

We hadto bevery polite to thepeoplewho broughtclothes,money, medicines,groceries,blankets
andotheritemsastheir contributionto therelief fundsandwantedto shakehandswith their favourite
starsin return.At thesametime,we hadto takeoptimumcareof thesafetyof theactorsaswell. Not
all fansbehavewith decencyandrespectwhentheyareallowedto shakehandswith theleadingladies.



It wasup to us,themen,in the trucksto takecareof thataspect.On thewhole,all of usenjoyedthe
drivesthroughthe main roadsof the city andexperiencingthe adorationof the peoplewe entertain
with our acting.At the endof the day our collectionsmadeus feel rewardedandproudthat, in our
own small way, we had done our duty as citizens.

Thedaychosenfor thelayingof thefoundationstonefor theNehruCentreatWorli by IndiraGandhiÐ
2 November1972Ðwasoneof greatfulfilment andhappinessfor Rajni andme.In theeveningRajni
decidedto addto his happinessby gettingmarriedto Bakul, a charmingandaccomplishedcolleague
in his professionhehadlong beenwantingto proposemarriageto. You canreadBakulÕs accountof
the surprise midnight event in her own words in the second section of this book.

Rajni hada habit of springingsurprises.Onemorning(sometimein early 1980),he woke me up
while I washolidayingat Mahabaleshwar(a hill stationin Maharashtra,locatedabout220 km from
Bombay)to announcethatheandSharadChandraGovindraoPawar, who wasthenchief ministerof
Maharashtra,haddecidedto appointmethesheriff of Bombay. ForamomentI thoughtit wasaprank.
I wasaboutto laughit off whenRajni explainedthattherewasno goingbackfor measthenewshad
been officially given to the media and I could myself hear it if I switched on the radio.

SharadRao(asI calledhim) hadbeenintroducedto meby Rajni whentheformerwasin theCon-
gress.(He hadquit thatparty in 1978,but rejoinedit in 1987.)I hadtakentime off from my work to
campaignfor SharadRaowhenhehadcontestedin theMaharashtraLegislativeAssemblyelections
from Baramati (about 250 km from Bombay) in 1967.

Thethreeof usmetoftenatmy residenceor atRajniÕsapartmentatWorli. Mentionof my becoming
the sheriff of Bombayhadcroppedup a coupleof timesearlierandI hadexpressedmy inability to
acceptthepositionsinceI hadjustbegunwork onManojKumarÕsKranti (releasedin February1981).
In my absence,my wonderfulfriends,SharadRaoandRajni,hadacceptedthepositionon my behalf.
While I wastrying to deterthemfrom going ahead,Rajni informedme that therewould be a great
controversyleadingto embarrassmentfor bothof themif I did not accepttheposition.He assuredme
my newjob wasnotgoingto interferewith my work. Heclarified thatit wasanapoliticalpositionand
it did not entailmy goingto anoffice everyday. Now that it wasa fait accompli,I hadno optionbut
to accept.

Thefirst personto getwind of thenewsandexpresshishappinessabouttheappointmentwasManoj
Kumar who wasmakingperhapshis mostambitiousmovie,Kranti, andit surprisedme that he was
leastconcernedaboutthe schedulesof his film possiblygoing haywireduring my tenureassheriff.
Instead,hewasagogwith excitementaboutthehonourbeingbestowedon me.He wantedmeto seek
permissionfrom theRajBhavanto film theswearing-inceremonybeforethegovernorof Maharashtra,
Sadiq Ali.

As expectedthenewscreateda stir asit wasthefirst time anactorwasbeinggiventhepositionof
the cityÕs sheriff. Therewasno respitefor me for an entireyearfrom the day of the swearingin till
the lastdayat thesheriffÕs office asthenumberof functionsto attendstartedasearlyas10 a.m.and
wenton till midnight.It wassohecticthatSairausedto keepasuitcasepackedwith thedifferentsuits
I would bewearingto thedifferentfunctionsin thedickeyof my carandshefoundplacesfor meto
change into the suits if she could.



Being sworn in as sheriff of Bombay.

EverywhereI wasexpectedto Ôsaya few wordsÕ,aclichŽthatannoysmefor its silliness.How does
onespeakonly Ôafew wordsÕ,for example,whenrequestedto speakontheugly stateof themunicipal
hospitalswherethepoorof thiscountrygo for medicaltreatmentandmedicines?Thisandmanyother
concernshadto beaddressedby meondifferentplatformsduringmy tenureassheriff. I wasinvitedto
speakoneverypossibletopicandI wasawarethatI wasunderscrutinyby thesmartalecswhowaited
to catch me on the wrong foot when I spoke on a specialized subject.

For somereason,thereis a misconceptionthat film personalitiesby and large havelittle general
knowledgecomparedto otherprofessionalsandarecapableof talkingonly aboutthemselvesandtheir
work. I hadto provethat assumptionwrong.Without soundingboastful,I mustsaythat I addressed
largegatheringsof professionalsfrom suchdiverseareasascardiologyandpoultry farming,horticul-
tureandpharmaceuticals,andanythingyou canthink of underthesunduringthetwelvemonthsthat
Bombaysufferedme as its sheriff. Although the shootingschedulesof Kranti were in disarraydue
to my numeroussocialengagementsassheriff, I foundtime to shootfor the film, which madeAmul
butter come up with a tongue-in-cheek hoarding: ÔSorry, pardner, the SheriffÕs out shootinÕ!Õ

My stintsassheriff andmuchlater(from 2000to 2006)asaRajyaSabhamemberfrom Maharashtra
weresignificantfor me only for the opportunitythey gaveme to do somegoodsocialwork. As the
sheriff I enjoyedmy interactionswith peoplefrom variouswalksof life and,asamemberof theRajya
Sabha,I felt very happywhenI wasableto makea contributionto deservingcausesfrom the gov-
ernmentfundsthat wereat my disposal.I derivedimmensepleasurefrom the contributionsI made
over the years.I contributedto hospitalsin the stateso that they could acquireessentialequipment
andambulances.I providedfinancesto build primary schoolsin rural areasof Maharashtraand to
schoolsacrossthestate(includingsomein Bombay)to purchasecomputersandothermodernlearn-
ing devices.I allocatedmoneyfor laying roadsin severalplacessuchasBombay, Satara,Nasikand
Nanded.I allottedfundsto beautifygardensandcreatenewparksin Bombay, especiallyat BandraÕs
Bandstand.Aboveall, I contributedresourcesto constructcleanandmodernpublic washroomsin the
slum areas of Bombay.

I am of the firm belief that thewell-beingof any societyhasmuchto do with thehealthcareand
basiceducationthatit canoffer to its poorersections.Thereneverwasa requestI ignoredwhenI was
approachedfor fundsto startaschool.Unfortunately, notall my gooddeedsboretheresultsI desired.
I waspressurizedby a friend in thepolitical sphereof Maharashtrato giveawayaprimepieceof land
I possessedin Bombaynearmy residenceat Bandrafor developmentby the Municipal Corporation
into a park.Unfortunately, thesadstory is that thesamelandhasremainedundevelopedandunatten-
ded to this day.



The Amul hoarding.

I havealwaysstronglyendorsedthe necessityfor actorsto possessa reasonabledegreeof socialre-
sponsibility. Theactorwho is adoredby millions of peopleowessomethingto thesociety, which has
givenhim anelevatedandhighly respectedposition.I haveconsideredit a blessingthat I havebeen
ableto give a helpinghandto theNationalAssociationof theBlind (NAB), of which I wasthechair-
manfor manyyears.It wassomethingI got involvedin at theinstanceof Vijay Merchant,acecricketer
anda formercaptainof India,who wasa dearfriend. I wascalleduponto play a characterwho loses
his eyesightin Nitin BoseÕs Deedar(1951)andit wasratherdifficult for meto determinehow a blind
personwould look at thecameraor at othercharactersin the film while enactinghis scenesbecause
of his handicapespeciallysincehehadhadsightin theearlyportionsof thefilm. I spoketo Mehboob
Sahababoutthis aspectandheadvisedmeto go to BombayCentralRailwayStationandfind a blind
beggarwho camethereeverydayandsatoutsidethestationaskingpassersbyto dropa coin in his tin
box. MehboobSahabsaidI shouldsit by his side,observehim, try to talk to him andunderstandhis
dark, lonely world.

I did just thatandlet metell you it wasa revelation.I usedto go at a time whenit wasdarkandthe
peoplepassingby wouldbehurryingto catchthetrainsto theirdestinationsandtheydid notbotherto
give themanor meseatednext to him a secondlook. Oneday, I spoketo him andit sohappenedhe
hadavisitor, whowasalsoblind, sitting by his side.Whenthevisitor heardmy voiceheasked:ÔWho
areyou?You soundlike anactorwhosefilm I haveseenrecently.ÕI wasstumped.I askedhim: ÔHow
did youseethefilm? Youcannotsee.ÕHesaid,verypoignantly:ÔYoudonÕt haveto seeafilm; youcan
hearandfeel a film if you havea heartto feel.Humdekhnahinsaktelekin humsochsakte,mehsoos
kar sakte, hans sakte, ro sakte.Õ*

I wasdeeplytouchedby his courageandoptimism.He blithely told me he hadseenthe film in
which I hadacteda few timesbecauseheliked thesongsandthewords.WhenVijay Merchantplaced
the ideaof theNAB beforemeandleft it to meto do whateverI could to raisethe fundsrequiredto
championthe cause,it wasthe beggarÕs facethat camebeforemy eyesandI felt I shouldnot shirk
my responsibilityfor wantof time or patience.A voiceinsidemesaidthatI shouldgo wholehogand
maketheNAB self-sufficient andresourcefulenoughto helpasmanysightlesspeopleaspossibleto
lead their lives with dignity and the self-respect that comes with self-reliance.

I was fortunateto get the wholeheartedsupportof a young,vivacious,positive-thinkingwoman,
VeeraRao,whohadjustemergedfrom BombayÕsTataInstituteof SocialScienceswith flying colours,
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andwhoseforte wasfund raisingandfund management.Shecameup with severalideasandoneof
themwasto run a specialtrain from Bombayto Poonaonceeveryyearwith ticketsthatpeoplewould
buy for thesheerpleasureof travellingwith Dilip Kumarandtalking to him andtakingphotographs
with him. Shehadpersistedin telling theoffice bearersof theNAB aboutthe train that ranbetween
BombayandPoonaon the Derby daysandhow the possibility of gettinga seatin that train wasas
remoteasgettinga seataboarda spaceshipto Mars.Nobodypaid heedto what the excitedgirl was
saying and the idea remained in her head till I listened to her and adopted it at once.

Greeted by a passenger on the festive train.

Despiteoppositionfrom thepessimistswhoalwayslike to jeopardizefruitful ideas,thetrainstarted
its first journeywith a largenumberof passengersanda lot of mediaattention.I wastold thatI would
haveto walk from theguardÕs cabinto thevery endof thetrain andI would stopto talk andexchange
pleasantrieswith peoplealongtheway. I hadnohesitationin doingsoand,everyyear, I madethefirst
announcementof thedonation,whichwasRs50,000.Thefirst trip, in 1960,wasa thumpingsuccess.
Somuchmoneywascollectedfrom donationsalonethatwe couldorderthebestBraille booksin the
world market for the blind students.

For tenyears,I travelledby thespecialfestivetrain to Poona.It wasanexperienceI lookedforward
to becauseof theenjoymentit gavemeandthepleasureI got whenI satdownwith peoplewho had
broughtsomethingspecialin their tif fin boxesfor meandI alsohadfood packetsto offer themfrom
theNAB. It waslike a picnic andthebestpartof thejourneywastheopportunityI got to speakto the
passengersin differentIndianlanguages.Theyweresimplefolks whohadseenmy films andtherewas
theinitial shynessto openup andspeakto meandmy wife who accompaniedmeon mostoccasions.
ThediffidencedissolvedinstantaneouslywhenI spokein theirowntongueandtheyrealizedthatDilip
Kumarwasa simplechapwith simpletastesanda simplewife who walkedtwo stepsbehindhim and
gazedadmiringlyat him whenhetalkedin Tamil, Telugu,Konkani,Gujarati,Bengaliand,of course,
Punjabi,English,Hindi andUrdu.On differentoccasionsI invited my friendsfrom thefilm fraternity
to join me and I recall the most popular guest I had on the train was Johnny Walker.

I do not know if it is in my genesor if it is somethingI haveassimilatedfrom theenvironmentI was
broughtup in. It givesmegreatcontentmentandjoy to espouseagoodcause.Sometimein early1988,
I receiveda letter from a well-wisherin Peshawar(thecity of my birth, now in Pakistan)sayingthat
thecity, despiteall its materialprogress,hadbeenwithout a bloodbankfor yearsto providethatvital



liquid to thosewho suffer from thalassaemiaand,for the first time, a socialservicebody hadcome
forwardto setup a blooddonationcentreanda bloodbankfor thetreatmentof patientsafflicted with
theseriousblooddisorder. My well-wisheraskedwhetherI couldmakeit convenientto visit Peshawar
and inaugurate the services of the blood bank.

Peshawarwas no longer occupyingmy thoughts,thoughRaj (Kapoor) and I often recalledour
childhoodyearsspenttherewheneverwe met. The invitation to visit Peshawarfor a worthy cause
was,however, irresistible.I discussedthe invitation with Sairaandshetoo wasof theopinion that I
shouldlendwhateversupportI couldto theFatimidFoundation,whichwassettingup theblooddona-
tion centreandthebloodbank.I acceptedthe invitation andwassurprisedwhenI wasinformedthat
PakistanPresidentGeneralMuhammadZia-ul Haqhadcometo knowof my acceptanceof theinvita-
tion and he had decided to host my visit and invite me as a state guest.

The simpleinvitation to inauguratea blood bankhadturnedfrom a quiet personalvisit into a big
eventnow, with thePakistanpresidentdeclaringit astatevisit by anIndiandignitary, whichsomewhat
bothappalledandhumbledmefor thesimplereasonthatI havenevereverseenmyselfasanyonebut
anindustriousactorwhomadeit to thetopby dint of hardwork andsomeluck. I wasnoheadof state
or envoyof theIndianGovernmentto merit thehonour. As canbeimagined,thepreparationsfor the
visit from our sidehadto beon a muchbiggerscalesinceI wasgoingto travelwith anentourageof
attendants, family members and media persons.

In the midst of the flurry of arrangementsfor the journey that wasbeingmarshalledby Naseem
AapaandSaira,I foundmyselfoverwhelmedby theprospectof settingfoot onceagainin Peshawar
on thesoil thatoncebelongedto India, thecountryI proudlycall my own. Whenthepartitionof in-
dependentIndia occurredin August1947andAghaji cameto know thathis landandhis belongings
werenow in Pakistan,thenewcountrythathadtakenbirth, hewasno doubtdisturbed.Evenso,his
first spontaneousreactionto thosewhourgedhim to goto Peshawarandholdonto hispropertieswas:
ÔWe will remain in India and die in India.Õ

A caravanof memorieskeptpassingbeforemy innereyeasI immersedmyself in thementalpre-
parationfor thevisit. Thesoundsandsmellsof ourhouseandits surroundings,thefacesof friendsand
family members,the resoundingsoundof the templebells that often mergedwith the deep-throated
azaan(a call to prayer)resonatingfrom the nearbymosquein the twilight hours,the commanding
voiceof Dadi,thechill of winterandtheheatof summerÉ wereall backin my consciousness.I felt a
pangin my heartthatAmmaandAghaji werenotwith meto sharethejubilationof my visit asastate
guest,anhonourconferredusuallyonheadsof state.Aghaji wouldcertainlyhavefelt proud,asproud
as he would have been if I had secured an OBE!

We weredueto travel in early April 1988to Karachi.Aheadof our visit, we learnedthat the pilots
in Pakistanwerevying with eachotherasto who would beflying thePakistanInternationalAirlines
flight carryingme on my first-evervisit to their country. Anyway, the captainÕs excitedvoice wel-
comedmeandmy entouragewith emotion-packedwordsconveyingtheprideheandhis crewfelt to
haveme on boardandbe part of what wasdescribedby themasa historic visit. Likewise,whenhe
announcedthe transitof the flight acrossthe IndoÐPakborderinto Pakterritory, his voice wasonce
againfull of prideandhappinessthatPIA hadbeenaccordedtheprivilegeandhonourof flying meto
Pakistan.

It wasunderstandablethatminewasa significantvisit thatgavetheinhabitantsof Pakistana sense
of jubilation andthrill becausePeshawar, my nativecity, wasnow in their country. Theboy, Yousuf
Ðwith theshavenheadanddisfiguredfacewho hadleft Peshawarin themid-1930sfor Bombaywith
Aghaji, MohammadSarwarKhan,who hada goodsocialstandingin that city asa prosperousfruit



merchantÐwasnowreturningasDilip Kumar, theactorwhohadworkedhardandearneda fine repu-
tationfor his work. It gavethenativesof PeshawarandPakistana just senseof pridethatwasnatural
andexpectedin thecircumstances.It wasappropriatefrom their point of view, but for me,theemo-
tional import of thevisit hadmoreto do with thereliving of a pastthathadrecededfrom my mind in
theperennialbustleof my professionalandpersonalcommitmentsin Bombay, whereI hadlongsince
grown roots.

Ontheappointedday, 2 April 1988,Saira,yourstruly andagroupof closefriendsandfamily mem-
bersbesidesour attendantsanda cameracrew, took off for Karachi.We landedto a tumultuouswel-
comeat theKarachiairportand,for everysingledaythereafter, wemovedaroundin amotorcadethat
tookhoursto reachanydestinationbecauseof theexcitedcrowdsbreakingthesecuritybarricadesand
makinga beelinefor theopencarthat I travelledin. We lived throughanunforgettableexperienceof
love andadulationthatmovedall thosewho wereaccompanyingme,includingmy brotherAhsan,to
tears.

Thetrip washecticandtiring, with eversomanygrandstatefunctionshostedby Zia Sahab,plusdin-
ners,lunches,teasandvisits to familiar andnow-famousplaces,suchasmy housein KissaKhwani
Bazaar, besidesget-togetherswith cousinsandtheir families,umpteeninteractionswith theelectronic
andprint mediaandpowwowswith schoolfriendswho weresurprisedthat I hadnot forgottentheir
namesandtheir pranks!Whatgladdenedmy heartwasthat I wasableto makemy visit to Peshawar
purposefulwith the inaugurationof theFatimidFoundationÕs blooddonationcentreandbloodbank.
WhatwasevenmoreheartwarmingwastheloudandclearaffectionateresponseI got from thecrowds
whenI addressedthemandI visualizeda day whenthe two countriescould havefriendly ties and
fruitful and productive trade relations for the mutual betterment of their economies.

No striking changeswere visible in Peshawar. Our old housewas as it was and so were the other
housesin the street.The bazaarbristledwith the appetizingflavoursandthe sizzleof chapli kebabs
andthemanwho wasat the teastall, wherethemenaccompanyingmestoppedto havethehot, fra-
grantbrew, wasas friendly ashis predecessorswere.The teaservedin the teastallsalwayshada
strongaromawhetherit wasservedwith milk or without milk askahwah. Theold placesI passedby
wereunchangedexceptfor a new structurehereandtherebut the cityscapeat otherplacescertainly
confirmed the impact of welcome modern architectural influences.

Thedrive throughthemain roads,especiallyat night, wasanunusualexperience.The roadswere
carpetedand,at everyhundredfeet,thereweredecorativearcheswith lights andchandeliershanging
from them.It wasasif the city wascelebratinga festival of lights. The crowdslining the two sides
weretoo excitedto bekeptbackby thepolicemenon duty. Theyweredaringenoughto defy thepo-
lice officersandclimb on to thebonnetof my carto shakehandswith me.Theexperiencewaslike a
dream and it filled me with a feeling of gratitude to the Almighty.



During my visit to Peshawar in 1988.

I returnedto Bombayto receivethebadnewsthatmy dearfriend Raj (Kapoor)wasin hospitalin
Delhi. ThenewsshatteredmecompletelyasI hadspokento him whenthe invitation hadcomefrom
PeshawarandagainbeforeI hadleft for Karachi.I flew to Delhi to visit him at theApollo Hospital
wherehehadbeenadmitted.I prayedin vain to Allah not to takehim awayfrom us.Raj passedaway
on 2 June 1988.

My secondvisit to Pakistanwasin thelatterhalf of March1998to receivePakistanÕs highestcivilian
award,theNishan-e-Imtiaz,which translatedmeansOrderof Excellence.It is moreor lessequivalent
to theOrderof theBritish EmpireandtheUnitedStatesPresidentialMedalof Freedomandit is not
restrictedto Pakistan.Therecognitionstirreda controversywhentheShiv Senasupremo,Balasaheb
Thackeray(known for his anti-Pakistanstance),proclaimedthat I shouldnot receivethe award.He
indirectlycastaspersionsonmy integrityandpatriotism,whichwereuncalledfor andhurtmedeeply.
I soughttheadviceof thethenprimeministerof India,Atal Bihari Vajpayee,andhedeclaredcategor-
ically that I shouldreceivetheaward.As heeloquentlyput it: ÔYou areanartisteandassuchyou are
not restrainedby political or geographicalbarriers.You havebeenchosenfor thehumanitarianwork
youhavedoneandyourefforts to improvetherelationsbetweenthetwo nationsis well known.ÕHadI
evenconsidereddecliningtheaward,which hadno political or communalcolourto it at thatjuncture,
it could have only soured relations further and produced bad vibes between India and Pakistan.

The pleasantpart of the story, which mustbe told, is that my dearfriend Sunil Dutt (a notedfilm
maker, actor, Memberof Parliamentand cabinetminister known for his humanitarianwork) came
to my houseandaskedme if he could go with me to Pakistanto witnessmy receivingthe award.
I wasnaturallymorethandelightedandit wasagreedthat we would all travel togetherup to a cer-
tain point and,after that, Sunil would takeoff to his birthplace,Chotala(in the Punjabprovinceof
Pakistan),while I was visiting Peshawar. During this visit I had also undertakento inaugurate,in
Lahore,PakistanicricketerImran KhanÕs charitableShaukatKhanumMemorial Trust Hospital, for
cancer patients, named after his mother, Shaukat Khanum.

I donotwishto dwell onunsavourymemories.BalasahebThackerayis nomore(hepassedawayon
17 November2012)andwe forgot our differencesandre-establishedour relationswithout muchado
sinceneitherhenor I believedin makingourselvesandothersaroundusmiserable.To his followers



andthepolitical world hedominatedhewasknownasÔTigerÕ.But I alwaysfelt heledmorelike a lion
thana tiger Ðinspiringtrust,loyalty andadmirationin his followers.We hadbeenintroducedto each
otherbeforehebecametheShiv Senachief in June1966.We respectedandliked eachotherÕs work Ð
he liked my output as an actor and I admired his sharp, incisive cartoons.

In our long, enduringfriendshipwhat remainedconstantwasour respectfor eachotherÕs profes-
sions.Whenwe met at his homein Bombayto iron out differencesthatarosebetweenus, it did not
takemorethana secondfor usto overcomepastdifferencesandto put asideeverythingto renewour
respectandaffection for eachother. He waswitty andentertainingwhenhe wasin his element.He
andhis wife MeenaTai werewonderfulhostsandit wasalwaysa treatto sharethesimplicity of their
life thatneverchangedwith thepassageof time andthe riseof his political career. In herown quiet
way, MeenaTai kepthim groundedandin touchwith reality. Shewastheonewho wasin touchwith
old friendslike us,callingusoverto theirhomefor simplemealsandgiving usa feelingof belonging.
MeenaTai wasa gemof a womanwho taughttheir sonUddhavgoodmannersandtheimportanceof
respecting elders.

On oneoccasion,whenSairaandI wereinvited to a commonfriendÕs housewheretheThackerays
hadalsobeeninvited,Sairawassuffering from a severebackache.MeenaTai noticedherdiscomfort
andshementionedit to Balasaheb.Hestoppedall thepartyingandwentinto thekitchen,askedfor an
emptyglassbottle,hadavesselof waterheated,pouredit into thebottleandbroughtit to Sairato rest
herachingbackon it. His wife anddaughter-in-law told Sairathathewould showthesameconcern
for them when they took ill at home.

Wesawthesensitiveandnoblesideof Balasahebduringthetrying timesSunilDutt facedwhenthe
latterÕs sonSanjaywasin jail.* He respondedto Sunil Dutt with patienceandunderstanding,which
wasexemplaryat a time whenall theso-calledwell-wishersSunil counteduponwerediscreetlydis-
tancing themselves from him.
*We cannot see but we can think, we can feel, we can laugh, we can cryÕ.
*SanjayDutt wasaccusedof beinginvolvedin the12 March1993serialBombayblastsandin April
1993hewasarrested.He waspermittedto bereleasedon bail by theSupremeCourt in October1995
but was rearrested in December 1995.
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24
ÔTHE SECOND INNINGSÕ

After thecompletionof Bairaag[1976], I foundmyselfoncemoreat thecrossroadsand,this time,
I madea firm resolvethat I wasnot goingto work for thesakeof workingasmanyactorsdo for
wantof otherpursuitsin life É. It wasduring É this trying phasethat Manoj Kumarcameto me
with the ideaof Kranti É. By thetimeKranti wasreleasedin 1981,I wasonceagainseizedwith
theurge to bring thecurtainsdownon myactingcareerandgo on a holiday.Destiny,however,
would not have it my way. Subhash Ghai came to me with the story ofVidhaataÉ

I AM OFTENASKED WHY I TOOK A SABBATICAL FROM WORK FOR nearlyfive yearsafterAsit SenÕs Bairaag
(1976)till I signedManoj KumarÕs Kranti (releasedin 1981),followed by SubhashGhaiÕs Vidhaata
(1982).I wasfifty-four whenBairaagwasreleasedandI workedarduouslyto definethe threerolesI
enactedin it differentlyanddistinctively. I felt I hadworkedfor longanddeservedaholiday. As amat-
terof fact,I hadseriouslydecidedto call it adayafterthereleaseof RamAur Shyam(1967)whenI was
just a little morethanforty-four. ThedecisionshockedSairawhenI disclosedit to herconfidentially.
Shecouldnot reconcilewith my reasoningthatI felt I hadmadeanunmistakablemarkandI thoughtI
shouldnot beaccusedof milking thestardomandpopularityI hadachieved.I explainedto SairathatI
wasmorethancontentwith all thatI hadachievedby ceaselesshardwork andI did notwishto continue
to tire myselfout. RamAur Shyamwasheadingfor record-breakingcollectionsthenandI washappy
aboutit but thematureactorin mewasmissingthedeepsenseof satisfactionandachievementthata
Devdasor aNaya Dauror aKohinooror anAanstirred within when the product reached the audience.

With Saira inBairaag(1976).

Sairawasequallyseriousin herdisagreementanddid not give up herpersuasionto changemy re-
solveandbrushedasidemy attemptsto temptherwith thevisionof bothof usgoingonlongholidaysto
virgin destinationsandexploringtheflora andfaunaof thoseplaces.Sairais nowild-life enthusiastand
shuddersat the thoughtof living in seclusionandtranquillity with only the roarof a lion to breakthe
silence,whereasI love spendingdaysin wild-life sanctuariesandwakingup to thesightandsoundsof
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beautifulbirdswith exoticplumes,cockingtheirheadsandinspectingusfrom thelushgreentreetops.
It wasa prospectthat stimulatedmy imaginationmorethantheprospectof perusingscriptsof films
that held little or no promise.

After thecompletionof Bairaag, I foundmyselfoncemoreat thecrossroadsand,this time, I madea
firm resolvethatI wasnot goingto work for thesakeof working asmanyactorsdo for wantof other
pursuits in life.

I thankedtheAlmighty that I wasnot desperatefor work andI hadotherengrossinginterestslike
reading,music,theatre,studyinglanguagesandmaybewriting my ownfilm scripts.Knowingthesitu-
ation in Indiancinema,which differedgreatlyfrom thesituationin Hollywood andWesterncinema,
whereactorswho hadattaineda certainmaturity andstaturein the profession,got meatierroles to
performastheyadvancedin age,I felt the time hadcomefor meto write my own scriptsanddirect
movies.

Also, therewas an influx of unknownand unseenfacesin the productionsectorand they were
mostly from othershadybusinesses,who wantedto be seenwith well-known starsin public. Since
they hadsurplusmoneywhich could not be accountedfor andhadto be squanderedaway in cash,
theyapproachedestablishedactorswith abominablescriptsandtried to lure themwith thepromiseof
unheard-of remunerations. The situation was not unfamiliar to me.

I couldnot seeeyeto eyewith thestrangerswho weretrying to enterthe industrythroughthedu-
biousbackdoor. It wasalsothe time whena law suit thatwasslappedon meby a producerÐA. R.
KardarÐwascomingup for repeatedhearingandI wasdeterminedto fight tooth andnail to prove
thefalsehoodof his charges.Theirony wasthat theconfrontationwasprovokedby anindividual for
whomI haddoneall thatI coulddo asa starto redeemhim from sinkinginto abjectpenurywhenhis
wife andchildren,who werein dire straits,cameto my houseseveraltimesto pleadwith meto work
in thefilm hewishedto produce.I acceptedthefilm, Dil Diya Dard Liya (releasedin 1966),without
giving it theseriousthoughtI wasknownto give to thefilms I wasoffered.I workedtirelesslyto hone
thefilm andmakeit memorablesothatI couldgive themanaplaceamongthesuccessfulfilm makers
of thecountryandendhis hardships.In return,heperfidiouslyframedmeon thebasisof falseallega-
tions and accusations.

I amoneof thosepatientmenwhocanwithstandimmensetroubleandpainto fight for justiceif the
needarose.I wassoprovokedby the ingratitudeof themanthat I diligently studiedall thecomplex
lawsgoverningtaxationin thecountrywith thehelpof my dearfriend, NarendraKumarSalve(pop-
ularly knownasN. K. P. Salve),a professionalin thefield, who wenton to becomea Union minister
in the early 1980s.

Until this vexing situationarosein the mid-1970s,SalveSahaband I enjoyedour conversations
aboutthesplendidfutureof Indiancricket.Salvewasanenthusiasticcricketplayerduringhis college
daysandsowasI. Wespentoureveningsat thepicturesqueCricketClubof India (CCI) andtheBom-
bayGymkhanaexchangingrecollectionsof somefine matcheswe hadwatchedwith brilliant players
on thefield in ouryouth.By 1982Salvehadbecomethepresidentof theBoardof Controlfor Cricket
in India (BCCI) andhe wasdreamingof India winning the one-dayWorld Cup asa true patriot and
lover of the sport. His dream came true in June 1983.

I wasawarethat SalveSahabwasa charteredaccountantby professionbut it neveroccurredto
eitherof usthatwewouldbeputtingourheadstogetherto fight a legalbattleoneday. As a friendand
well-wisher, SalveSahabstoodby meandgavemetheencouragementandfillip to succeedin convin-
cing the tax tribunal that I was no wilful tax evader or law breaker.



SalveSahabÕsableandeminentson,Harish,hasgivenadetailedaccountof thetraumaI wasforced
to experiencefor six longyearswhich, like all theunsavourymemoriesin my professionallife, I have
long sincerelegatedto oblivion. Thosewho will readandrelish HarishÕs uninhibitedaccountin the
secondsectionof this bookwill not only geta pictureof thementalharassmentandignominyI faced
butalsorealizethatgoodmenlike SalveSahab,Purohitji andG. N. JoshiareGodÕsgoodmensentby
Him to help the honest to prove their honesty and redeem their honour.

With Saira and Harish Salve at a party.

The regretapart,the woundI havenursedfor years,aboutthe five yearsof self-imposedabsence
from thescreensacrossthecountryandelsewhere,which hasmystifiedthosewho havefollowed my
careergraphavidly, is thatI couldnot focusattentionon thescriptsI hadwritten for myselfandSaira
to actasa leadpair in films that I wishedto launch.Themostengrossingof them,ÔKashmirValleyÕ,
waswritten for Sairato co-starwith mebeforewemarried.It hadaspectacularbackdropandacanvas
comparableto that of David LeanÕs epic creationDr Zhivago(1965).I hadthoughtof producingit
afterBairaag. The otherscriptsincludedÔKaliSarsonÕ,which focusedon a dark-skinnedgirlÕs saga
andwasalsowritten with Sairain mind,apartfrom ÔKalaAadmiÕandÔBabajanÕ.Thelastmentioned
hada riveting, suspenseplot centeringon a schizophrenicbankerÕs diabolicbid to rob a bank.I had
severalmeetingswith JabbarPatelto whom I wishedto entrustthe directionof ÔBabajanÕ.I hadto
shelve all the projects for which financiers were more than willing to loosen their purse strings.

With Shatrughan Singh inKranti (1981).



It wasduringthefagendof this trying phasethatManojKumarcameto mewith theideaof Kranti.
I havealreadyexplainedin anearlierchapterhowandwhy I agreedto work in Kranti without reading
the full script.

By thetimeKranti wasreleasedin 1981,I wasonceagainseizedwith theurgeto bring thecurtains
downon my actingcareerandgo on a holiday. Destiny, however, would not haveit my way. Subhash
Ghai cameto me with the story of Vidhaata. He met me a few timesandhe impressedme with his
credentialsandhis sincerity. He washonestthat his previousfilm wasnot a successandhe saidhe
hopedto makethatsetbackthesteppingstoneto his futuresuccess.I liked his optimisticenthusiasm
andhis passion.The subjectwasinterestingandofferedthe actor in me the scopeto do somegood
work. Whatwasmore,like my role in Kranti, therole in Vidhaatawasof anearthycharacter, a rail-
way engine driver, who becomes the axis of the screenplay as the protagonist.

By thetime we finishedwork on Vidhaata, we wereaheadof its completionscheduleandSubhash
wasvery triumphantandbubblingwith joy like aschoolboywhohadreceivedagoodreportcard.The
reasonwasthatsomeof his friendsin the industryhadtold him thata film with Dilip Kumarwould
saphim of all his youth andenergy andhe would be an old, totteringmanwhenthe film would be
complete.Justtheoppositehadhappened.His so-calledwell-wishershadmademeout to beanogre
who would destroyhim. He disclosedthis to me on the last day of the last schedulefor the film. I
laughedandtold him that it shouldteachhim not to believeall that is saidaboutanyoneandit was
always prudent to judge people by oneÕs own discernment.

With Amrish Puri inVidhaata(1982).

Subhashwasevenmorethrilled whenthe film becamethehighestgrosserof 1982.It wasthebe-
ginningof anenduringfriendshipbetweenusthatmadeit possiblefor meto feel at homeandengage
myself in two more productions,Karma(1986) andSaudagar(1991), which he directed.

Curiously, Subhashcameto me eachtime with an apprehensiontuckedawayin his mind. When
heapproachedmefor Karma, hewasafraid that I would askfor anastronomicalremunerationsince
Vidhaatahadbecomeablockbuster. After somecasualconversation,hecameto thepoint. It naturally
irked mebecauseI expecta directorto talk aboutthebasicpremiseof thescripthewantstheactorto
reador a differenttreatmentof thescripthewasplanningto employ. Moneyandmoneytalk should
have no place in such a conversation.



With Anupam Kher inKarma(1986).

Sincewehadestablisheda rapportby thenandSubhashwaslookingup to measanelderbrother, I
took theliberty of telling him heshouldnotbetalking thelanguageof a traderin thecommoditymar-
ket andheshouldbetalking like a director. He took my mild reprimandin theright spirit anddid not
broachthesubjectthereafter, buthedefendedhimselfsayingit wasjust theindustrynormthathewas
following. I certainlyagreedwith his point, but I told him I washappynot to bea partof thenorm.
We had a good laugh after that and our bond was strengthened.

WhenSubhashvisited my hometo talk to me aboutSaudagarandhe briefedme aboutthe inter-
estingplot revolvingroundtwo thick friendsthathewasdeveloping,I couldseethathewasslightly
fidgety andhewaswaiting for theright momentto saysomethingthatwason his mind.Sureenough,
hecameout with it whenhewasaboutto leave.He told merathernervouslythathehadtheveteran
RaajKumarin mind to playmy friendwhoturnshostilein thedramatictwist thatwouldsurfacein the
critical junctureof theplot build-up.Apparently, heexpectedmeto reactadversely. I easedhis mind
by telling him it wouldbeapleasureto work with RaajandI hadquiteenjoyedhiscompanywhenever
hewasonthesetsof Paigham(1959).Instead,I suggestedheshouldaskRaajif hewelcomedtheidea
of workingwith me.Smilingnaughtily, Subhashsaidhehadalreadyspokento Raaj,whowaslooking
forward to working with me.

To my delight,Subhashalsohada love for shootingoutdoorsandhe found picturesqueandeye-
filling locationsto film notonly thesongsituationsbutalsosomedemandingdramaticsequences.For
Saudagarhehadselectedsylvanlocationsin HimachalPradeshÕs Kulu valley asbackdropfor some
crucialdramaticsequences,which madetherenderingmoreimpactfulthanit would havebeenif they
hadbeenshotindoors.After a long schedulein theHimachallocation,we movedto Mahabaleshwar
(a hill stationin Maharashtra).It waslike a long picnic andit mustbesaidto SubhashÕs credit thathe
understandstheneedto keephis actorsin goodhumourandextendsthekind of hospitalityfew film
makers care to.

The mediawas on the alert during the entire making of Saudagarto smell any kind of conflict
betweenmeandRaaj,thanksto themanysilly storiescirculatingaboutRaajÕs temperament.Cometo
think of it, in someways,Raajwasdifferentfrom mostof us actorsof his age.During the shooting
of Saudagar, heinsistedon two heavyvehiclesfollowing him to theplacesmarkedby theart director
andcameramanfor the shooting.Raajsat in a car alone,in solitary splendour, without an attendant
while thevehiclestrailing behindhis carcarriedtheentirewardrobeof costumescreatedfor him for
the entirefilm with his browbeatenattendantin charge of the suitcasesandtrunksfilled with items
suchasclothes,footwearandwigs. It amazedmeandtheothersandled to all kindsof hush-hushtalk
behindhis back.Subhashstoically dismissedit asa quirk andhadgiven standinginstructionsto his



assistantsto seethatthevehicleswerereadyeachdayandtheclothesandaccessoriesweretransported
exactly as Raaj wished.

With Raaj Kumar inSaudagar(1991).

Oneeveningat Mahabaleshwar, thecameraman,his assistantsandall theyoungspotboyswerein
a nervousflutter becauseRaajwasmissingat theactuallocationandtheyhadfoundhim seatedon a
chairon theperilousedgeof a clif f. If hetook onestepforwardfrom thechair, it would haveplunged
him into thedarkmysteriouschasmbelow. Theboyscamerunningto Subhashandtherestof usseated
comfortablyat theshootingspotto tell uswhattheyhadseen.Subhashaskedthemwhattheythought
hewasdoingthereandtheysaidhewasseatedon his chairwith a farawayexpressionin his eyesthat
were fixed on the misty horizon.

Subhashrequestedme to accompanyhim to the spotwhereRaajwassitting. We went up to him
quietlyandengagedhim in aconversation,whichdistractedhim from thehazyhorizonhewasstaring
at. Fortunately, healwaysrespondedto me in a friendly manner. So I managedto bring him backto
the shooting location without much ado.

Raaj,I could see,wasa thinking man.He preferredto be aloneat timesperhapsto immersehis
mind in thoughts.He alsoreadbooksanddiscussedthecontentswith mewhenhewasin themoodto
doso.Hewasknownfor his idiosyncrasiesandeccentricitiesbut I foundhim alwaysverynormaland
gentlemanly. He wasamongthemanyfriendswho arrivedearlyat my houseon thedayof my nikah
(marriage)with Saira.WhenSairaandI invited him to our silver weddinganniversary, hecameto at-
tendthepartywith his wife but seeingthelargegatheringof film personalities,heleft quietly without
meetingus.He wasperhapsnot keento minglewith theothers.He left a gift for us,a beautifulsilver
platter with an inscribed message: ÔTo Lalay and Lalay ki Jaan, many happy returns!Õ

With Amitabh Bachchan inShakti(1982).


